

DISSERTATION / DOCTORAL THESIS

Titel der Dissertation /Title of the Doctoral Thesis Biodiversity and Landscapes: Where is the missing link?

> verfasst von / submitted by Mag.rer.nat. Michael Kuttner

angestrebter akademischer Grad / in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr.rer.nat.)

Wien, 2015 / Vienna 2015

Studienkennzahl It. Studienblatt / degree programme code as it appears on the student record sheet:	A 091 444
Dissertationsgebiet It. Studienblatt / field of study as it appears on the student record sheet:	DrStudium der Naturwissenschaften UniStG Ökologie (Stzw)
Betreut von / Supervisor:	UnivProf. Mag. Dr. Stefan Dullinger

"A real environment has a hierarchical structure. That is to say, it is like a checkerboard of habitats, each square of which has, on closer examination, its own checkerboard structure of component subhabitats. And even the tiny squares of these component checkerboards are revealed as themselves checkerboards, and so on. All environments have this kind of complexity, but not all have equal amounts of it."

Robert MacArthur (1972)

Table of Contents

Declaration	7
Abstract	8
Zusammenfassung	10
Synopsis	12
Short introduction to the underlying scientific projects	12
Introduction to Section A	14
Article i)	21
Article ii)	
Article iii)	51
Article iv)	61
Introduction to Section B	75
Article v)	79
Introduction to Section C	93
Article vi)	
Article vii)	111
Article viii)	161
Article ix)	
Danksagung	213
Curriculum Vitae	

Declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Vienna. I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, in total or in part, on request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of research. I acknowledge that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works. I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository.

Abstract

Around 15 years ago, the term 'Anthropocene' was popularized by Nobel Prize-winning meteorologist Paul J. Crutzen, who described a new era of human induced global environmental change that put an end to the Holocene epoch with beginning of the industrial revolution in the late 18th century. Hence, the adverse consequences of this development regarding global biodiversity pools are manifold either being caused by direct actions such as urbanisation, land transformation and associated land use change among others or insidiously affecting our biosphere by ever-increasing CO₂ emissions.

Accordingly, as a landscape ecologist and conservation biologist my doctoral thesis is dealing with various human induced impacts that affect ecosystem functioning and biodiversity patterns on different spatial scales.

In the first section of this thesis I refer to the 'pattern and process paradigm' which basically states that landscape structure is always reflecting its underlying processes. As the structural attributes of basic spatial units that constitute a landscape, i.e. landscape elements can be quantified by certain indices, they may in turn being used as a toolset to quantify certain ecological key functions a landscape is able to provide to both, local biodiversity as well as human society. The four associated research articles presented within this first section are addressing i) the development of a rule set to quantify ecological key functions based on landscape structural parameters; ii) major services landscapes are able to provide for human well-being; iii) a comparison if landscape structure is able to landscape service provision throughout protected and unprotected areas and iv) a spatially explicit assessment to estimate landscape service potential. The scientific works listed above have been conducted in a trans-boundary study region around Lake Neusiedl.

In the scientific fields of ecology and nature conservation, one major restraining factor that limits spatially explicit research assessments on broader scales is the availability of comprehensive and recent base datasets. Although advances in remote sensing techniques, data processing and storage capacities have facilitated the emergence of new environmental raw data, the issues of data validation and subsequent post-processing still remain. In the second section of the thesis I present v) the results of a combined approach including spatial data aggregation and harmonization from various sources complemented by additional modelling steps to establish a new habitat distribution map which covers the eastern alps and adjacent regions. This spatially and thematically fine scaled map facilitates application within a broad range of research fields such as ecological modelling and network planning, landscape/ecosystem service provision or invasion biology to name a few.

In the third and final section of my thesis I present four articles in the frame of spatiotemporal assessments in nature conservation. Article vi) presents a spatially explicit study

8

targeting Emerald Ash Borer invasion risk in Central Europe in the course of changing climate while article vii) outlines climate change impacts within a typical Austrian cultural landscape towards farm profits, landscape appearance and biodiversity. Article viii) focusses on phylogeography and range dynamics of a high mountain Cerastium species endemic to the western Balkan Peninsula and article ix) compares predicted distribution patterns of various plant and insect species between Central European lowlands and the alpine region in view of the disproportional availability of suitable target habitats.

Zusammenfassung

Vor etwa 15 Jahren wurde der Begriff des "Anthropozäns" immer mehr ins Licht der öffentlichen Wahrnehmung gerückt, allem voran durch den Nobelpreisgewinner Paul J. Crutzen. Hierbei beschreibt das Anthropozän ein neues, das Holozän ablösendes Zeitalter, welches sich grob mit Beginn der industriellen Revolution und den damit beginnenden, und von der Menschheit selbst induzierten Umweltveränderungen globalen Maßstabs datieren lässt. Die negativen Auswirkungen dieser Entwicklung auf unsere Umwelt, und insbesondere wie in dieser Arbeit behandelt, auf die weltweite Artenvielfalt gehen mit dem immer stärker werdenden Grad an Urbanisierung, Industrialisierung, sowie der von der Agrarwirtschaft forcierten Landschaftsumwandlung und Intensivierung von Landnutzung einher. Zudem führen vor allem die im letzten Jahrhundert immer unkontrollierter von Statten gegangenen Treibhausgasemissionen zu einer anthropogen provozierten Klimaveränderung, die bereits jetzt deutliche Auswirkungen zeigt.

Im Rahmen dieser Dissertation beschäftige ich mich aus landschaftsökologischer und naturschutzfachlicher Sicht mit verschiedenen menschlichen Einflussfaktoren die auf ökosystemarer Ebene einwirken und sich folglich in sich verändernden Verteilungsmustern an pflanzlicher und tierischer Artenvielfalt manifestieren.

Im ersten Abschnitt meiner Doktorarbeit beziehe ich mich auf das sogenannte "Muster-Prozess-Paradigma", worin ausgegangen wird, dass landschaftsstrukturelle Muster immer die vor Ort einwirkenden Prozesse reflektieren. Da sich die Geometrie einzelner Landschaftselemente durch verschiedene mathematische Maße quantifizieren und vergleichen lässt, können diese Indikatoren wiederum dazu verwendet werden um den Grad an ökosystemaren Prozessen, die die Elemente im Stande sind zu erfüllen, abzuleiten. Die vier, in diesem Themenkreis durchgeführten Arbeiten beschäftigen sich im Detail mit i) der Entwicklung eines methodischen Ansatzes um den Grad verschiedener ökosystemarer Kernfunktionen die für den Erhalt von in-situ Biodiversität immanent sind von landschaftsstrukturellen Parametern ableiten zu können; ii) der Entwicklung eines Bezugssystems, das anhand eines kombinierten Ansatzes aus Experteneinschätzung und durch Kartierungen erlangten Parametern eine räumlich extrapolierbare Erfassung von Ökosystemdienstleistungen die eine Landschaft erbringen kann, ermöglicht; iii) eine vergleichende Arbeit der zuvor angeführten Studien; und iv) der Entwicklung einer Methode um auch das Potential von Landschaften in Bezug auf Ökosystemdienstleistungen quantifizieren zu können. Alle, in diesem Abschnitt beschriebenen Studien wurden in einem grenzüberschreitenden Arbeitsgebiet rund um den Neusiedler See durchgeführt.

In den wissenschaftlichen Disziplinen der Ökologie und des Naturschutzes schränken der Mangel an Datenverfügbarkeit bzw. deren Uneinheitlichkeit durch unterschiedliche

10

Erhebungsmethoden auf unterschiedlichen räumlichen und/oder thematischen Ebenen überregionale Studien oftmals ein. Obwohl durch moderne Fernerkundungstechniken und der Weiterentwicklung an Datenverarbeitungskapazität immer mehr Rohdaten erzeugt werden, bleiben dennoch einige Hürden wie die Datenharmonisierung bestehen. Im zweiten Abschnitt meiner Dissertation präsentiere ich v) eine Studie, in deren Rahmen eine neue, thematisch und räumlich hochauflösende Habitatkarte für die Länder Österreich, Liechtenstein, Schweiz, sowie Südtirol, Bayern und Baden-Württemberg generiert wurde. Der letzte Abschnitt der Dissertation umfasst vier angewandte Arbeiten die sich mit den Themen der invasionsbiologischen Risikoabschätzung, dem zukünftigen Landnutzungswandel, sowie der räumlich-zeitlichen Modellierung von Artverbreitungsmustern auseinandersetzen. In Artikel vi) findet die in Artikel v) vorgestellte Habitatkarte ihre erste Anwendung, um eine Invasionsrisikoabschätzung des Asiatischen Eschenprachtkäfers für Mitteleuropa durchführen zu können. Artikel vii) beschäftigt sich mit Anpassungsstrategien von Landwirten auf den prognostizierten Klimawandel und deren unterschiedliche Auswirkung auf Landschaftsbild, ökosystemare Funktionen und pflanzliche Biodiversität. Im Zentrum der Artikel viii) und ix) stehen Artverbreitungsmuster, wobei viii) sich im Detail mit der Phylogeographie eines Westbalkanendemiten (Cerastium dinaricum) auseinandersetzt und ix) das Gefährdungspotential verschiedener alpiner und nichtalpiner Pflanzen- und Insektenarten in Hinblick auf zukünftige Artverbreitungsmodelle in Kombination mit Habitatverfügbarkeit vergleicht.

Synopsis

This dissertation evolved during my employment at the former Department (now Division) of Conservation Biology, Vegetation Ecology & Landscape Ecology at the University of Vienna. As the first section of this thesis includes articles resulting from scientific projects in the frame of the Landscape Ecology workgroup, sections two and three include various studies also targeting the fields of Vegetation Ecology and Conservation Biology.

The respective study areas encompass a transboundary Austrian-Hungarian region around Lake Neusiedl; a substantial part of Central Europe including Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, South Tyrol and the German federal states of Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg; the Dinaric mountain region located in the Western Balkans; and a Lower Austrian cultural landscape located between the Danube basin and the Alpine foothills.

Short introduction to the underlying scientific projects

Within the scope of my dissertation I address several aspects in the frame of environmental and human related drivers that affect biodiversity patterns. Thus, assemblage of the various research works was only made possible through participation within several national and international research projects during the years of 2010 – 2015.

The articles summarized in the first section were derived from the projects ' Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services as scientific foundation for the sustainable implementation of the Redesigned Biosphere Reserve "Neusiedler See" (BIOSERV), financed by the Austrian Academy of Sciences and 'TransEcoNet –Landscapes without borders', financed by the EU's Central Europe programme.

Within the frame of BIOSERV different possibilities of re-defining and re-designing the first generation Biosphere Reserve Neusiedler See were developed by applying the concept of Ecosystem (i.e. Landscape) Service provision in order to achieve compatibility with the Sevilla Strategy guidelines.

TransEcoNet aimed at investigating transnational ecological networks across Central Europe by following an interdisciplinary approach which integrated research from Landscape Ecology, Nature Conservation, Regional Development, Cultural Sciences and History. The project focussed on the analysis and comparison of protected and unprotected landscapes regarding ecological connectivity, landscape history and Landscape Service provision on different spatial scales, ranging from local case studies towards supra-regional assessments. Articles v) and ix) resulted from research activities within the frame of the project 'Climate change driven species migration, conservation networks, and possible adaptation strategies' (SPEC-ADAPT). This still running research project is dealing with species' range dynamics caused by changing climate and the role of nature conservation networks to mitigate potential range losses. It received funding from the Austrian Climate Research Program.

Article vii) was prepared in the frame of 'Analysing climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies for sustainable rural land use and landscape developments in Austria' (CC-ILA) and has been financed by the Austrian Academy of Sciences. There, a data-model-policy concept was elaborated to test cost-effective mitigation and adaptation strategies for farmers and sustainable landscape development in the context of climate, market, and policy instrument changes.

Last, article viii) resulted from the project 'Evolution, biodiversity and conservation of indigenous plant species of the Balkan Peninsula' (BALKBIODIV) which received funding by the SEE-ERA.NET PLUS scheme. This project focussed on molecular analysis on ploidy-levels among several endangered plant species native to the Western Balkan region in order to gain knowledge on intraspecific diversity and sympatric speciation which are at least with-causing the high levels of biodiversity in the area.

- Introduction to Section A -

Assessment of Ecological Key Functions affecting Biodiversity and Human Well-Being

In this first section of my doctoral thesis I present four thematically linked articles that are dealing with the overall topic of service provision and functional capacity that landscapes are able to provide for both, the natural environment as well as for mankind. At this, the first article (i) introduces the readership to a concept that relates geometrical aspects of landscape elements (i.e. landscape structure) to their inherent capacity for the fulfilment of ecological key functions such as habitat provision, connectivity or permeability to foster species migration and dispersal among the landscape. The assessment is loosely based on the matrix-patch-corridor model (Forman, 1995) and can be adapted for various species groups or guilds, provided that respective trait information is available. As numerous research studies focussed to unravel the underlying drivers and processes behind species demography patterns such as e.g. population dynamics, there is a broad consensus that habitat loss and fragmentation are critically contributing to local extinctions, as habitat loss reduces the carrying capacity and fragmentation additionally aggravates dispersal and gene flow within landscapes of interest. Such developments are thus leading to a decrease in species numbers and genetic variability within local populations (Baguette et al., 2013). As the composition of various land use/cover (LUC) classes throughout a certain target landscape in conjunction with their structural attributes (i.e. configuration) are affecting population dynamics (Noss, 1990) and latter are in turn influencing biodiversity patterns (Walz & Syrbe, 2013), a close relationship between different levels of species and structural diversity exists. Thereby, human induced impacts on the landscape do not equally affect all organismic groups. For example, alteration of the landscape configuration (e.g. by land use intensification) which is causing a decrease in geometrical complexity across agricultural landscapes (Wrbka et al., 2004) has been identified even more detrimental for plant biodiversity while changes in landscape composition (e.g. by land transformation) are particularly detrimental for mammal and bird diversity (Uuema et al., 2013). In this regard, we aimed to consider both aspects of composition and configuration within article (i) by assigning single LUC classes to functional groups first and then quantifying group-related ecological key functions by structural indices. In order to comprehensively measure the ecological state of our target landscape, we tested our study design for a pre-defined virtual umbrella species, serving as a surrogate for disturbance sensitivity. The outcomes of this study can be explicitly visualized on the level of single landscape elements within tested target sites but were also extrapolated to compare the functional state of larger geomorphological entities. Further, the assessment is easily repeatable in condition on the

availability of recent base data and thus it would serve suitable for monitoring purposes. In this relation, the indicator of structural based landscape functionality fulfils three main functions of indicators as mentioned by Walz 2015: (a) illustrating the status quo and thus serving as a communication tool for stakeholders; (b) being applicable as a monitoring tool; and (c) identifying areas where action is needed to set appropriate planning measures.

Although Lausch et al. 2015 state that extrapolation of results stemming from spatially explicit analyses of landscape sections only are limited in terms of general relevance, we tried to overcome this issue by the use of a random stratified sampling design within a wellelaborated spatial reference framework in order to select a statistically robust number of most representative sites across our study region. Other concerns listed by Lausch et al. 2015 according scale and thematically and/or spatially insufficient delineation of landscape elements and their borders can be ruled out in case of this study, as we applied a rather extensive list, consisting of 52 different LUC classes and a horizontal resolution of 1m for landscape metric evaluation. As the investigated study region consists of both, areas of agricultural use sharing distinct boundaries that are partly intermingled by remnants of (semi)natural habitats on the one side and larger near-natural dry and wet steppic grasslands, wetlands and forests on the other side, the meaningfulness of a gradient analysis of the latter mentioned habitats cannot be denied (cf. Lausch et al., 2015). However, we chose the landscape-element based approach for the sake of flexibility in analysis of landscape patterns and the ability for clear assignment of ecological key functions to certain LUC classes after literature review. At this, we developed a general and applicable assessment to quantify landscape functionality that is adaptable for various European cultural landscapes. If a more refined delineation is demanded in order to account for the particular fulfilment of certain ecological processes across larger patches or matrix elements, plant community analysis within the target patch may be one option, as plants serve well as ecological indicators (Niemi & McDonald, 2004; Sauberer et al., 2004). Additionally, upcoming research potential definitely lies in the development of combined assessments of gradient and element-specific landscape analysis.

Land use regimes and associated processes of intensification and transformation throughout cultural landscapes are not only altering ecological state and affecting biodiversity pools on various spatial levels but also impacting ecosystem service provision for the society (Haines-Young, 2009). Additionally, underlying feedback mechanisms that have been triggered by human induced global change processes which in turn affect biodiversity and thus also ecosystem services, indirectly fall back to society as well (Chapin et al., 2000). For example, the processes of habitat fragmentation in conjunction with ongoing climate change are causing a so called "deadly anthropogenic cocktail" for biodiversity as outlined by Travis

2003. On the other hand, as biodiversity loss leads to enhanced vulnerability within the remaining species pool (Duffy, 2003) it concurrently facilitates the invasion of non-native taxa (e.g. Hermoso et al., 2011; Alofs & Fowler, 2013). This, in turn, has a negative impact on both, in-situ biodiversity and society in terms of diminished capacity in ecosystem service provision (Vilá et al. 2011). Hence, there is a growing need for spatially explicit assessments and monitoring schemes to quantify a possibly broad range of ecosystem services. Article (ii) presented within this doctoral thesis is tackling this subject by introducing a refined approach of ecosystem service mapping on local (i.e. landscape element) level and corresponding upscaling towards a regional assessment of service supply. The survey aims at quantifying 25 different services which are sectioned by the main groups of "habitat", "regulation", "information", "provision" and "carrier". As it would not be reasonable to measure all single services at local level (full list of services included in Table 1 within article (ii)), some have been quantified on higher spatial level and subsequently combined with the remaining set by the use of an integrative framework. It is also important to mention that we used the term "landscape services" instead of "ecosystem services" under reference to Termorshuizen & Opdam, (2009). The underlying classification scheme of services applied within this current study is based on de Groot (2006) while the capacity matrix which indicates for the degree of service provision of certain habitat types (classified from "0" [no relevant capacity] to "5" [very high relevant capacity]) is adapted from Burkhard et al. (2009). Additionally we introduced a set of qualifiers for the refinement of capacity values that have been mapped throughout a field campaign on landscape-element basis. The major criticism on such expert-knowledge driven assessments centres on the fact that assignment of capacity values are always somehow with-depending on the expert's personal thoughts and opinions. Therefore, we tried counteract this issue by introducing additional field qualifiers within the landscapeelement specific service evaluation and further used demographic and spatial (remote sensing) data for the evaluation of services at the regional level. In order to quantify multifunctional aspects provided by the investigated landscape, different approaches and data sources are required (Gulickx et al., 2013). However, some open issues still remain unsolved such as the fact that provision of certain services simultaneously acts on various spatial scales. The same is true for temporal and spatial influence on service provision. Hence, our study rather tackles the status quo within the landscape of interest than being able to identify the spatiotemporal drivers which are responsible for the dynamics within service provision. Nonetheless, our assessment facilitated the comparison and visualization of service provision throughout various landscapes. At this, aggregation of single service values towards the aforementioned main service groups and according visualization by the use of spider-web diagrams helped to transport the outcomes of our assessment more concisely and further illustrated trade-offs between the sections of the study region as well as

between the single service groups (cf. Querioz et al., 2015). Moreover we could identify hot and cold spots of service provision which might serve as a useful basis for upcoming planning decisions. The establishment of a capacity matrix by expert knowledge is still one of the most popular tools for ecosystem service assessments, mainly due to its adaptability in different study regions, technical simplicity, and descriptiveness in terms of spatial explicit visualization of outcomes (Jacobs et al., 2015). Although this technique has recently attracted criticism in terms of being thematically too vague and relying on subjective perspectives of so called "experts" only, these issues can be resolved by either applying fine scaled base-data which is complemented by qualifiers and other empiric data sources as already conducted within the presented study, plus additional tests on model confidence, reliability and validation as suggested by Jacobs et al., (2015).

Although ecosystem services are usually emphasizing on human well-being, they may also act as indirect measure of biodiversity as Cardinale et al. (2012) revealed a strong interconnectedness between the magnitude of "provision" and "regulation" services and biodiversity. In this concern landscape connectivity appears to be a key point interlinking these aspects, as for many ecosystem services the degree of connectivity across the landscape of interest is directly or at least indirectly affecting the magnitude of service provision, e.g. the effectiveness of pollination and pest regulation as well as water regulation and the flow of nutrients amongst others (Mitchell et al., 2013). As the state of connectivity (see also article (i)) we evaluated the relationship between structure based landscape functionality and ecosystem service assessment. Here, the underlying hypothesis that structural landscape patterns, which are recapitulating "frozen" ecosystem processes (Wrbka et al. 2004) and thus serving as basic variables for the evaluation on landscape functionality, are concurrently determinants of various ecosystem services (Syrbe & Walz, 2012).

In article (iii) we examined this relationship by regressing outcomes of the landscape service mapping campaign (please refer to article (ii)) with the results obtained from the assessment of structural functionality. This study was made possible as both assessments had been conducted within the same field sampling sites and were both based on the spatial unit of landscape elements. However, we could not include the landscape main service groups "carrier" and "information" within this study as the service providing units were defined on a broader (i.e. regional) spatial scale. In particular, we found strong links between levels of metric driven landscape functionality and the "habitat", "provision" and "regulation" main landscape service outcomes. The results within article (iii) are thus underpinning the findings of Frank et al. (2012) who argue that the use of landscape metrics would considerably help to further improve actual ecosystem service assessment frameworks.

As already stated, the multi-functionality of landscapes has been measured in view of different aspects, either intrinsically towards the natural environment with special reference towards biodiversity and on the other hand towards society. Recent studies even went one step further by accounting for supply as well as demand of particular ecosystem services and thus enabling the development of so called ecosystem service footprints which are aiming to identify mismatches in the course of unsustainable exploitation of ecosystem services (Burkhard et al., 2012). The underlying drivers causing such imbalances in service provision are particularly associated with societal needs and expectations, regardless of whether the sustainable supply of certain services is provided or not (Paetzold et al., 2010).

On the contrary, the ecosystem service potential a pristine landscape could possibly provide has remained recently underresearched, although the basic concept of "landscape potential" already originated in the beginning second half of the 20th century (cf. Bobek & Schmithüsen, 1949). In this regard, article (iv) presented in this frame deals with the issue of how to deduce the potential service supply a landscape would possibly able to contribute. Thereof we are able to compare actual service supply rates (please refer to article (ii)) with the landscape 's potential in order to estimate if e.g. particular services are already overexploited.

The main challenge of how to grasp knowledge on landscape service potential is owed to the fact that pristine landscapes more or less entirely vanished throughout the whole of Europe, apart from small remnants of natural forest stands (Schnitzler, 2014) and some upper alpine and nival ecosystems. Especially within our study region we were lacking on reference information as almost no fractions that would represent the environment's natural state have been left, apart from the reed bed surrounding Lake Neusiedl. To overcome this issue we first had to model so called 'constructed vegetation types' (CVT) on a spatial explicit basis across the study area. Basic information on the CVTs was derived from rather coarse maps illustrating potential natural vegetation in the broader region which have subsequently been refined by geomorphological attributes specifically representing suitable site conditions for the according vegetation types. Thus, we could apply capacity matrix values for the designated CVTs and extrapolate potential landscape service values which consequently enabled us for a comparison with former results gained from the assessment of actual landscape service provision.

Reference List:

Alofs, K.M., Fowler, N. 2013. Loss of native herbaceous species due to woody plant encroachment facilitates the establishment of an invasive grass. Ecology, 94, 751-760.

Baguette, M., Blanchet, S., Legrand, D., Stevens, V.M., Turlure, C. 2013. Individual dispersal, landscape connectivity and ecological networks. Biological Reviews, 88, 310-326.

Bobek, H., Schmithüsen, J. 1949. Die Landschaft im logischen System der Geographie. Erdkunde, 3, 112-120.

Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Müller, F., Windhorst, W. 2009. Landscapes' Capacities to Provide Ecosystem Services – a Concept for Land-Cover Based Assessments. Landscape Online, 15, 1-22.

Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Nedkov, S., Müller, F. 2012. Mapping ecosystem service supply, demand and budgets. Ecological Indicators, 21, 17-29.

Cardinale, B.J, Duffy, E.J., Gonzalez, A., Hopper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivatsva, D.S., Naeem, S. 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486, 59-67.

Chapin, F.S., Zavaleta, E.S., Eviner, V.T., Naylor, R.L., Vitousek, P.M., Reynolds, H.L., Hopper, D.U., Lavorel, S., Sala, O.E., Hobbie, S. E., Mack, M.C., Diaz, S. 2000. Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature, 405, 234-242.

Duffy, J.E. 2003. Biodiversity loss, trophic skew and ecosystem functioning. Ecology Letters, 6, 680-687.

Forman, R.T.T. 1995. Land Mosaics – The Ecology of Landscapes and Regions. Cambridge University Press.

Gulickx, M.M.C., Verburg, P.H., Stoorvogel, J.J., Kok, K., Veldkamp, A. 2013. Mapping landscape services: a case study in a multifunctional rural landscape in The Netherlands. Ecological Indicators, 24, 273-283.

Haines-Young, R. 2009. Land use and biodiversity relationships. Land Use Policy, 26, 178-186.

Hermoso, V., Clavero, M., Blanco-Garrido, F., Prenda, J. 2011. Invasive species and habitat degaradation in Iberian streams: an analysis of their role in freshwater fish diversity loss. Ecological Applications, 21, 175-188.

Jacobs, S., Burkhard, B., Van Daele, T., Staes, J., Schneiders, A. 2015. 'The Matrix Reloaded': A review of expert knowledge use for mapping ecosystem services. Ecological Modelling, 295, 21-30.

Niemi, G., McDonald, M.E., 2004. Application of Ecological Indicators. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 35, 89-111.

Noss, R.F. 1990. Indicators for Monitoring Biodiversity: A Hierarchical Approach. Conservation Biology, 4/4, 355-364.

Paetzold, A., Warren, P.H., Maltby, L.L. 2010. A framework for assessing ecological quality based on ecosystem services. Ecological Complexity, 7/3, 273-281.

Querioz, C., Meacham, M., Richter, K., Norström A.V., Andersson, E., Norberg, J., Peterson, G. 2015. Mapping bundles of ecosystem services reveals distinct types of multifunctionality within a Swedish landscape. AMBIO, 44, 89-101.

Sauberer, N., Zulka, K.P., Abensperg-Traun, M., Berg, H.-M., Bieringer, G., Milasowzky, N., Moser, D., Plutzar, C., Pollheimer, M., Storch, C., Tröstl, R., Zechmeister, H., Grabherr, G. 2004. Surrogate taxa for biodiversity in agricultural landscapes of eastern Austria. Biological Conservation, 117/2, 181-190.

Schnitzler, A. 2014. Towards a new European wilderness: Embracing unmanaged forest growth and the decolonisation of nature. Landscape and Urban Planning, 126, 74-80.

Syrbe, R.-U., Walz, U. 2012. Spatial indicators for the assessment of ecosystem services: Providing, benefiting and connecting areas and landscape metrics. Ecological Indicators, 21, 80-88.

Termorshuizen, J.W., Opdam, P, 2009. Landscape services as a bridge between landscape ecology and sustainable development. Landscape Ecology, 24, 1037–1052.

Travis, J.M.J. 2003. Climate change and habitat destruction: a deadly anthropogenic cocktail. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, 270, 467–473.

Vilá, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P.E., Jarošik, V., Maron, J.L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y., Pyšek, P. 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 14, 702-708.

Walz, U. 2015. Indicators to monitor structural diversity of landscapes. Ecological Modelling, 295, 88-106.

Wrbka, T., Erb, K.-H., Schulz, N.B., Peterseil, J., Hahn, C., Haberl., H. 2004. Linking pattern and process in cultural landscapes. An empirical study based on spatially explicit indicators. Land Use Policy, 21/3, 289-306.

Section A - Assessment of Ecological Key Functions affecting Biodiversity and Human Well-Being

Article 1 (i)

Kuttner, M., Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Hermann, A., Wrbka, T. 2013. *Borders without barriers* – *Structural functionality and green infrastructure in the Austrian-Hungarian transboundary region of Lake Neusiedl.* Ecological Indicators, 31, 59-72.

doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.04.014

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolind

Borders without barriers – Structural functionality and green infrastructure in the Austrian–Hungarian transboundary region of Lake Neusiedl

Michael Kuttner*, Christa Hainz-Renetzeder, Anna Hermann, Thomas Wrbka

Department of Conservation Biology, Vegetation Ecology and Landscape Ecology, University of Vienna, Rennweg 14, A-1030 Vienna, Austria

A R T I C L E I N F O

Keywords: Landscape metrics Morphological Spatial Pattern Analysis Nature protection Travelling costs Landscape pattern Ecoprofile

ABSTRACT

Many ongoing processes in today's landscapes impact our environment considerably. Thus, it is enormously important to gather information on qualitative characteristics of our landscapes in order to effectively counteract the negative developments. Structural functionality as proxy for the assessment of habitat quality and species patterns has already proven potential to successfully describe ecological values. Completed by the measurement of green infrastructure information for a defined profile of a functional trait, a rapid and rough assessment of the qualitative state of habitats seems feasible. We therefore present in this study (i) an assessment of structural functionality based on the statistical analysis of landscape metrics, (ii) the measurement of green infrastructure and travelling costs for the ecoprofile of a Disturbance Sensitive Species Group (DSG) and (iii) an investigation if functionality and green infrastructure change between different types of landscapes and protection status. In the Lake Neusiedl region we selected 41 landscape samples based on a stratified random process. Based on orthophoto interpretation, we calculated landscape metrics with FRAGSTATS and reduced them to a core set of 13 indices by combining statistical results with literature review. Their relation to main ecological processes determined if the individual metric related positively or negatively with the land cover category and structural functionality was given by the average value of the landscape metrics. Green infrastructure elements were allocated with GUIDOS, whereas the travelling costs to move between them was also considered. Landscape elements of valuable matrix and connecting corridors ranked highest in structural functionality based on the calculated landscape indices but showed large differences between different land use regimes. Correlation and regression analysis confirmed the dependence of green infrastructure elements (corr. $r^2 = 0.877$) as well as travelling costs (corr. $r^2 = 0.669$) to functionality values. Protection status of the landscape samples proved to be a determining factor because functionality values as well as green infrastructure differed significantly (both with a p-value < 0.05) with the exception of dissecting corridors, stepping stones and travelling costs. We conclude that one simple guideline for a holistic assessment of structural functionality is hardly reachable but we did set up a comprehensive rule set. Based on a transparent sampling procedure, a qualitative assessment of habitats and landscapes can easily be conducted. The complementary use of an ecoprofile enables the valuation of green infrastructure elements and the identification of major driving forces along with scenario development for sustainable landscape planning.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Processes like urbanisation, industrialisation, large-scale land transformation, and climate change put our landscapes at risk (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003). These dangers have

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +43 1 4277 54381; fax: +43 1 4277 9575. *E-mail addresses*: michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at (M. Kuttner), induced a notable loss of habitats and therewith biodiversity. But the functioning of landscapes is essential for the provision of ecosystem services and affects human well-being enormously (Hermann et al., 2011; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003). Science, society and politics have realised the need to assess the impact of broad-scale changes in our environment and reacted with efforts in research and political will to counteract these developments with the implementation of a European-wide network on protected areas (Council of the European Union, 1992), agreements on halting the loss of biodiversity (European Commission, 2011) or the European Landscape Convention (Council of Europe, 2000) amongst others. All these conventions and strategies aim at

Abbreviations: LFT, landform type; GI, green infrastructure; DSG, Disturbance Sensitive Species Group; MSPA, Morphological Spatial Pattern Analysis.

christa.renetzeder@univie.ac.at (C. Hainz-Renetzeder), anna.hermann@univie.ac.at (A. Hermann), thomas.wrbka@univie.ac.at (T. Wrbka).

¹⁴⁷⁰⁻¹⁶⁰X/\$ - see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.04.014

preserving the values of the landscapes and the habitats and species they are including.

The central role of structural characteristics for the assessment of ecological quality per se and in particular the viability of sitebased biodiversity was demonstrated in a series of studies (a.o. Bierwagen, 2007; Moser et al., 2002; Pascual-Hortal and Saura, 2008; Torras et al., 2009; Vos et al., 2001). Especially in cultural landscapes it is essential to evaluate the qualitative state of remnant (semi)-natural areas along with the prevailing agrarian matrix in order to outline the major structural driving forces behind ecofunctional issues like the support of local/regional biodiversity (Walz, 2011). Turner et al. (2001) stressed the importance of the spatial configuration of landscape elements, and thus landscape functionality. This can be exemplified with intensive farming activities leading to geometrisation (Forman, 1995; Turner et al., 2001) which severely decreases the complexity of boundaries within landscapes, resulting in increased compactness of the affected landscape elements (Forman, 1995). As these processes are altering structural landscape complexity as such, often resulting in simplified landscape patterns, highly structured natural and semi-natural remnant areas are more and more facing decline (Mander et al., 1999; Wrbka et al., 2008) which in turn determines species diversity patterns (Eriksson et al., 2002; Moser et al., 2002). In the last decades, landscape structure has been very often topic of scientific literature and yielded in a high amount of papers. The use of landscape metrics computed with software packages like Fragstats 3.3 (McGarigal et al., 2002) aims at the analysis of landscape patterns, ideally in relation to their function (Forman and Godron, 1986). Many studies stress the importance of the statistical analysis of these landscape metrics in order to avoid correlations and redundancies and to distill the most meaningful indices (Bender et al., 2003; Bennett, 1998; Cushman et al., 2008; Fahrig, 2003; Richards et al., 2002; Tischendorf, 2001; van Lier, 1998; With et al., 1997). The main determining fundamentals in view of landscape composition and configuration, hence strongly influencing functional integrity as such (Botequilha Leitão and Ahern, 2002), need to be comprehensively examined and base the final selection of the metrics for further analysis of landscape functionality.

Opdam et al. (2008) stressed the point, that ecosystem type, quality area and connectivity are the main determinants for the distribution of species on the landscape level. They therefore suggested designing an "ecoprofile" for a certain target species group in order to allow for a measurement and planning tool for the spatial configuration of the landscape in question. Such a design is based on generalised ecological traits of species demanding for an ecosystem network which persists on the regional scale. With this concept, it is possible to measure the green infrastructures (Benedict and McMahon, 2002) and count the costs and effort to move between these structures as it targets the most important spatial characteristics of ecosystems. Functionally, such a network should serve as physical linkage between habitat patches within a landscape (Freemark et al., 2002) which is structurally specified by quality-determining factors like width and connectivity (Forman, 1995). This research topic also includes further investigating the role of protected areas in regards to landscape functionality and green infrastructure. Landscapes are generally protected because they exhibit a higher biodiversity or better ecosystem functioning. As such, one would assume that also functionality ranges higher and more networks are provided.

In this study we therefore tested (i) how landscape functionality can be analysed with landscape metrics, which allows to differentiate between Land Use/Cover Classes (LUCC) of different ecological functions. Additionally, we (ii) quantified green infrastructure (GI) for a predefined ecoprofile of Disturbance Sensitive Species Group (DSG) and their efforts crossing landscapes based on a cost surface model. At last, we (iii) tested the hypothesis if values of (i) and (ii) differed significantly between protected and unprotected landscape samples.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area and sampling design

The trans-frontier region of Lake Neusiedl is part of the Small Hungarian Plain in Central Europe, representing the westernmost extension of the Pannonian Basin. Although its origin can be traced to tectonic movements in the mid-Tertiary, the final shape of the landscape relates to the late Quaternary, when Tertiary sediments were partly covered by clay, sand and loess deposits during the glacial periods. The region is characterised by a hot, dry Pannonian climate with an annual precipitation of 600-700 mm and annual mean temperature of >9°C (ZAMG, 2002). It is dominated by the Lake Neusiedl itself which lies in a flat basin bordered by uplands to the west and a series of small satellite waters on the eastern part called 'Seewinkel' which together constitute the westernmost alkali lakes in Europe. The southern Hungarian part (Fertö) mainly consists of lowlands with gentle hills on the western side. The northern Austrian part shares contrasting western and eastern sides: the former is formed by the pronounced slope zone of a low mountain ridge, whereas the latter represents the lowest region in Austria with an altitude of about 115–125 m a.s.l. Adjacent to the lake, a semi-natural zone still forms Europe's second largest reed-wetland complex (Schmidt and Csaplovics, 2010), serving as internationally important sanctuary for migrating, wintering and breeding waterbird species (Steiner and Parz-Gollner, 2003). Beyond the wetlands the area is still extremely rich in habitats, from the unique dry alkaline steppe up to closed deciduous forests a series of different vegetation types with plants and animals of Alpine, Asiatic and Mediterranean biogeographic region, as well as northern species are present are leading to high overall biodiversity in the study region. Due to its bio-cultural richness parts of the study area are labelled by various nationally and internationally protected areas, including the national parks in Austria and Hungary, Ramsar sites, Biosphere reserves and NATURA 2000 sites. Additionally in 2001, the whole region of Lake Neusiedl/Fertö was designated as an UNESCO World Heritage Site.

The study region incorporates seven landform types (LFT; Konkoly-Gyuró et al., 2010) stretching over an area of >2000 km² (Fig. 1). These LFTs represent the main geomorphological features of the study area: 'Lake Basin' (LFT 1), 'Marshlands' (LFT 2), 'River Floodplains' (LFT 3), 'Low lying terrace' (LFT 4), 'Elevated terrace' (LFT 5), 'Hilly area and hill range' (LFT 7) and 'Low and middle range mountains' (LFT 8). In a stratified selection process (Appendix A), we randomly selected three protected and three unprotected $2 \text{ km} \times 2 \text{ km}$ samples in each LFT based on the regular raster of the European Grid system (INSPIRE, 2009). In all, the region was covered by 41 landscape samples thereof 15 were located in Hungary and 26 in Austria. This distribution pattern of sample sites resulted from single LFT proportions over the entire transnational investigation area, without considering a country-wise designation of sites.

2.2. Methods

The methodological implementation involved a series of sequential steps (Fig. 2). In principle, the main steps are (i) segmentation and interpretation of land cover, (ii) calculation of landscape functionality through statistical analysis of landscape metrics, (iii) defining an ecological profile for a DSG and (iv) allocating GI on basis of Morphological Spatial Pattern Analysis (MSPA) and cost surface analysis.



Fig. 1. Overview of the study area, located in a transboundary region in the east of Austria and western Hungary.

2.2.1. Segmentation and interpretation of land cover

The first step was to delineate landscape elements within the samples by an Object-Based Image Analysis (OBIA). This step was carried out in eCognition Developer 8 (Definiens AG, 2009a,b) by taking orthophotos as the operational base data. The OBIA resulted in quite properly segmented layers and hence quickened further interpretation work as it already delivered distinct segments. Still, especially in the agricultural landscapes, additional correction of the segments had to be done manually in ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI, 2008), whereas in more forested landscapes OBIA provided rather good results. Land Use/Cover Classes (LUCC) were based on the hierarchy

of CORINE (Co-Ordination of Information on the Environment) land cover 2000 (CLC 2000) with a few adaptions to local conditions made on the fourth and fifth level, all in all resulting in 52 different categories (Table 1). A minimum mappable unit (MMU) of 100 m² was set for all single landscape elements, except for hedgerows, tree-dominated fallow lands and woods where a MMU of 250 m² seemed more appropriate. In case of hedgerows, an additional maximum width, not exceeding 15 m was further applied. Important artificial centres of reference like small huts, wells or other control points superficially not exceeding 100 m² were also mapped as discrete entities.



Fig. 2. Flow chart providing an overview of the methodological steps implemented in the framework of this study. The chart consists of two interrelated sections, pointing out for (a) assessment of landscape functionality and (b) green infrastructure mapping.

Table 1

Definition table including all identified LUCC classes, their relation to a Functional group; Habitat suitability status for the DSG and defined Dispersal costs.

LUCC classes based on CORINE Land Cover (CLC) categories	CLC code	Functional group	DSG suitability	Dispersal costs
Residential discontinuous urban fabric	1.1.2.1.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	10
Residential discontinuous sparse urban fabric	1.1.2.2.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	9
Single building	1.1.2.3.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	10
Industrial, commercial, public units, mainly sealed	1.2.1.1.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	10
Industrial, commercial, public units, partly sealed	1.2.1.2.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	9
Fast transit roads	1.2.2.1.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	10
Main roads	1.2.2.2.1.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	9
Side road, tarmaced	1.2.2.2.2.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	8
Waterbound driveway	1.2.2.2.3.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	7
Non-waterbound driveway	1.2.2.2.4.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	6
Railways	1.2.2.3.	Dissecting corridor	Non-habitat	7
Mineral extraction sites	1.3.1.	Stepping stone	Non-habitat	3
Dump sites	1.3.2.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	7
Construction sites	1.3.3.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	7
Other green, man-made areas	1.4.1.3.	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	5
Other sport- and leisure facilities, sealed	1.4.2.1.2.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	9
Other sport- and leisure facilities, not sealed	1.4.2.1.3.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	8
Garden Plot	1.4.2.2.1.	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	8
Parks outside of town	1.4.2.2.2.	Stepping stone	Non-habitat	1
Arable land	2.1.1.1.	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	7
Garden and market gardening	2.1.1.2.	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	7
Foil tunnel- and greenhouse gardening	2.1.1.3.	Artificial matrix	Non-habitat	9
Vinevards	2.2.1.	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	6
Fruit tree meadows	2221	Valuable matrix	Habitat	3
Orchard	2222	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	5
Other fruit trees and berry plantations	2223	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	6
Meadows	2311	Valuable matrix	Non-habitat	5
Permanent pastures	2312	Valuable matrix	Habitat	4
Heterogeneous agricultural areas	2.4	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	6
Bosk grove	2.4.3.1	Stepping stone	Habitat	1
Treerow	2432	Connecting Corridor	Non-habitat	3
Hedge with distinct proportion of trees	2.4.3.3	Connecting Corridor	Habitat	1
Hedge	2434	Connecting Corridor	Habitat	1
Agro-forestry areas	2.4.4	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	2
Baulks	2451	Connecting Corridor	Habitat	5
Broad-leaved forests	311	Valuable matrix	Habitat	1
Black Locust forest	3111	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	2
Conjferous forests	312	Valuable matrix	Habitat	2
Mixed forests	313	Valuable matrix	Habitat	1
Natural grassland	3.1.5.	Valuable matrix	Habitat	1
Transitional woodland shrub	3.2.1.	Valuable matrix	Habitat	1
Beaches dunes and sand plains	3.2.4.	Valuable matrix	Habitat	1
Bare rock	337	Valuable matrix	Non-habitat	5
Sparely vegetated areas	332	Stepping stope	Habitat	5
Burnt areas	334	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	5
Fallow land	3/1	Disturbed matrix	Non-habitat	5
Fallow land high charo of chrubs	2 4 2	Stopping stopp	Habitat	1
Fallow land, high share of wooden plants	2.4.2.	Stepping stone	Habitat	2
I anow ianu, ingli share or wooden pidits	7. 4 .7.	Stepping stone	Habitat	5
Artificial water courses (capals/ditches)	-1.1.1.1. 5 1 1 0	Connecting Corridor	Non-habitat	5
Natural standing waterbodies	5.1.1.2.	Valuable matrix	Habitat	3
Artificial reconvoirs	5.1.2.1. 5.1.2.2		Habitat	5
/11 (11)(10) 1 (3)(1) (1)	J.1.Z.Z.	Stepping stone	TIAUIIAL	U

2.2.2. Landscape functionality

For the resulting LUCC maps, landscape indices on patch and class level were calculated in Fragstats 3.3. (McGarigal et al., 2002). Starting with 46 different class metrics (Appendix B), a correlation analysis in R 2.7.1. (R Development Core Team, 2008) with the function "cor" and Kendall–Tau method was performed to sort out all highly correlated indices (correlation coefficients of ± 0.8) leading to a remaining set of 21 metrics (see also Tischendorf, 2001). These were log- or squareroot-transformed except from Aggregation Index (AI) and *Contiguity Index* (CONTIG), where an arcsine squareroot transformation was applied (McCune and Grace, 2002) in order to approximate Gaussian distribution.

The landscape metrics of the different LUCC were pooled into six functionality groups (Table 1): [1] *connecting corridors* including water courses, hedgerows, line of trees and baulks; [2] *dissecting corridors* such as roads and railways; [3] *valuable matrix* consisting of categories considered to be of a certain conservation value like extensively managed grasslands, forests, bogs or other semi-natural habitats; [4] *disturbed matrix* including elements which are highly anthropogenic influenced, e.g. arable land, orchards, vineyards or planted black locust forests; [5] *artificial matrix* dominated by sealed surfaces like urban areas and associated classes and [6] *stepping stones* where categories are included which can serve as proxy- or transitional habitats like partly abandoned extraction sites, fallow land, vegetated cemeteries or parks.

For each of the functionality groups, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed on the 21 remaining indices using the function "principal" taken from the library "psych" (Revelle, 2011) with Varimax rotation.

Based on the statistical results and supported by literature review (Fahrig, 2003; Tischendorf, 2001; Bennett, 1998; van Lier, 1998; Richards et al., 2002; With et al., 1997; Bender et al., 2003), an assessment matrix with the final selection of 13 landscape metrics was set up (Table 2). The main determining fundamentals in view of landscape composition and configuration, hence strongly influencing functional integrity as such, are comprehensively examined by

Table 2

Assessment matrix indicating the relationship of the functionality groups to selected landscape metrics. A positive relation (+) indicates increasing metric values lead to increasing functionality while a negative relation (-) increasing metric values induce decreasing functionality.

Landscape metrics	Connecting corridors	Dissecting corridors	Valuable matrix	Disturbed matrix	Artificial matrix	Stepping stones
Aggregation index (AI)			+	_		
Mean patch area (AREA_MN)	+	-	+	-		+
Total (Class) area (CA)	+	-	+	-	-	+
Connectance index (CONNECT)	+	_				+
Mean contiguity index (CONTIG_MN)			+	-	-	+
Mean core area (CORE_MN)			+	-	-	
Area weighted mean Euclidean nearest-neighbour	_	+	_	+	+	_
distance (ENN_AM)						
Mean fractal dimension index (FRAC_MN)	+	_		+	-	
Largest patch index (LPI)		_	+			
Landscape shape index (LSI)	+	_			_	+
Patch density (PD)	+	_			_	+
Mean proximity index (PROX_MN)	+	_	+	_	-	+
Area weighted mean shape index (SHAPE_AM)	+		+	+	_	+

this classification system. The final selection of the metrics is supported by the findings of Cushman et al. (2008) who investigated strength, universality and consistency of diverse class-level metrics. 9 out of 13 metrics selected in the framework of our study were already tested highly significant regarding expressiveness and universal applicability. Additionally for metric Mean Proximity (PROX_MN) Schindler et al. (2008) revealed a high amount of expressiveness according to interpatch-distance/fragmentation measurement. The assessment matrix related the influence of landscape metrics on each functionality group as positive, negative or non-existent. All transformed values of the indices were normalised to the range of 0-100 for positive related indices and 100-0 for negative related ones. The functionality of the landscape elements were finally calculated as the mean of all normalised indices of the respective functionality group to which the element belonged to. For areal statistics, we classified the mean functionality values into five functionality classes based on an equal interval classification of 20% break-values for each functionality group in SPSS 16 (SPSS Inc., 2007). For overall functionality per landscape sample, the mean was calculated of all landscape functionality values per km².

2.2.3. Disturbance Sensitive Species Group (DSG)

The concept of ecoprofile was based on Opdam et al. (2008). We wanted to design the profile for a species group subtle to the general qualitative state of agricultural landscapes, therefore sensitive to regular disturbance. This Disturbance sensitive Group (DSG) was supposed to be sensitive to transformed and degraded agricultural LUCC and artificial areas. Hence, only remnants of natural and semi-natural areas would serve as viable habitat (Ferrier, 2002) irrespective of open- or woodland-dominated categories. Our method loosely followed the concept of 'ecologically scaled landscape indices' presented in Vos et al. (2001) but focused more on the general qualitative state of entire landscapes than predicting the viability of distinct (meta)populations. The different LUCC were classified as Habitat and Non-Habitat according to the DSG (Table 1). The selection criteria for habitat suitability of the single land cover types were again based on expert judgement and literature (Ferrier, 2002; Koellner and Scholz, 2008). Altogether 18 out of 52 land cover classes seemed suitable for the DSG, specifically including e.g. natural forests and grasslands, hedges, orchards, fallow lands and areas influenced by (ground)water. Additional information on the permeability of the landscape regarding to the DSG was needed, ranging from easily crossable (semi)natural LUCC to man-made infrastructures like heavily frequented roads or buildings which hinder movement almost completely (Adriaensen et al., 2003). It was also assumed that the DSG would incur higher risks by moving through open landscapes than woodland-dominated ones. Practically, a classification system ranging from 0 (easy to cross) to 10 (barrier) was applied to the LUCC (Table 1).

2.2.4. Green infrastructure

The habitat/non-habitat layers were rastered to 1.5 m pixel size binary input grids for further processing in the GUIDOS (Graphical User Interface for the Description of image Objects and their Shapes) software environment (Vogt et al., 2007; Vogt, 2010). This raster size has been chosen under the consideration of not losing any thematical information, respectively of not producing spatial inconsistencies on site level after the shape-file conversion process. GUIDOS allowed us to quantify the degree of habitat provision and interconnectedness of suitable core habitats by performing a Morphological Spatial Pattern Analysis (MSPA). Three sub-scenarios with different viable minimum core habitat sizes (0.1 ha, 1 ha, and 10 ha) were defined, depending on varying spatial requirements for DSG. An edge width of 9 m (6 pixels) was set, as a transitional zone between different habitat/non-habitat patches. However, 9 m edge width seemed appropriate to reveal the structural transitions between different LUCC (Gates and Mosher, 1981). Additional program settings in GUIDOS such as "Eight neighbour rule", "No Transitions" and "No Intext" were applied for the MSPA.

After the MSPA, the output classes BRANCH, BRIDGE, EDGE, ISLET, LOOP, PATCH and PERFORATION were combined to one metaclass of possible network structures in ArcGIS highlighting connections between single CORE areas, which represent large, compact patches of habitats. Together, detected possible network structures and core areas were summarised under the heading green infrastructure-network (GI-network).

The GI-network was taken as source location data for the cost distance modelling. Two cost distance layers, separately targeting core areas and network structures, were created and combined afterwards, using "Mean" aggregation technique in ArcGIS to reach one final cost surface layer. In order to allocate average travelling costs from one designated source location to single destination points within each sample site and to compare different outcomes between the sites, a standardised set of rules was applied. Initially, the centroid points of the largest core area within the GI-network were located in every site. Then a buffer zone, encompassing a 1 km radius was set starting from the centroids. The radius of 1 km has been chosen in subject to the $2 \text{ km} \times 2 \text{ km}$ size of the sample sites even if the centroid of the largest core area would be located in the centre of one designated site, the buffer circle would not exceed the site boundary. At the circular line of the buffer, points were set in 15°-intervals. To guarantee autonomy of the sampled points, subsets of seven points per site were randomly chosen (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Schematic overview of the travelling cost allocation process. Random stratified point sampling was followed by effective cost distance calculation and averaging of the resulting values to obtain one single value in each sample site.

To allocate cumulative travelling costs from the core area centroids to the endpoints the tool PATHMATRIX (Ray, 2005), operating in ArcView 3 (ESRI, 1995–2011) was chosen. It effectively computed geographic distances among samples based on least cost path algorithms, in fact resulting in seven different travelling cost values per sample site. The outcomes were first transformed via square-root transformation as a necessity to create a comparable range-level of least cost values between the sites. After that, one final travelling cost value per site was generated by calculating the mean of the seven single values. Since nearly the entire investigation area is located in a very flat basin, relief-caused obstructions were not included in the cost surface analysis but only information on basis of the LUCC classification.

In order to measure qualitative distinctions between structurally based landscape functionality levels of GI-networks, the landscape functionality values of the single landscape elements were referred to all detected possible core areas and network structures. To overcome the problem of spatial incoherence an area-weighted re-calculation was essential to assign proper functionality values for the GI-elements. In several cases the GIelements covered more than one neighbouring landscape element, unless that they were previously classified as suitable habitat for the DSG. Oppositely, network structures often covered just the inner parts of existing elements because of considered edge effects. Therefore area weighted proportions of element-based landscape functionality values were joined and averaged to gain one final output value per core area or network structure.

An Oneway Analysis of Variance [ANOVA] was performed in order to test for significant differences among the GI-elements concerning their functionality. On basis of a Pearson's correlation analysis, the relation between the area and number of GI-elements, travelling costs and overall functionality in the landscape samples were tested. Subsequently, quadratic regression analysis was calculated to stress the dependence of overall functionality with the area of GI-elements whereas logarithmic regression analysis confirmed their relation to the travelling costs.

Finally, we considered dissimilarities between protected and unprotected sites. Our hypothesis was that landscape functionality is higher in protected landscape samples than in unprotected ones independent from the functionality group and for each group separately. Additionally, we looked at the functional disparities of the GI-networks dependent on their protection status. This was tested with a Welch Two Sample *t*-test.

3. Results

3.1. Landscape functionality

The differences in functionality values among the six different groups were clearly visible (Fig. 4). As expected, connecting corridors (median = 53.10 ± 0.59) and valuable matrix (median = 65.13 ± 0.45) showed the highest values while dissecting corridors (median = 42.97 ± 0.37) turned out to be lower but still



Fig. 4. Boxplots showing the mean functionality of the different functionality groups, derived by transforming, normalising and averaging landscape metrics on class level; [1] connecting corridors, [2] dissecting corridors, [3] valuable matrix, [4] disturbed matrix, [5] artificial matrix and [6] stepping stones.

Table	3
-------	---

Areal percentages of functionality classes ('very low' to 'very high') in the individual landform types.

	Very low	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Lake basin (LFT 1)	57.8	2.8	2.8	9.2	27.4
Marshland (LFT 2)	40.8	3.5	3.9	11.5	40.4
River floodplain (LFT 3)	70.9	4.0	2.7	5.4	17.1
Low lying terrace (LFT 4)	78.8	3.8	3.9	2.6	10.9
Elevated terrace (LFT 5)	76.3	3.6	2.6	5.8	11.7
Hilly area and hill range (LFT 7)	29.6	3.4	3.5	12.8	50.6
Low and middle range mountains (LFT 8)	3.2	1.6	3.8	7.8	83.6

ranging higher than the disturbed matrix (median = 18.62 ± 0.27), which clearly differentiated from the other functionality groups.

The areal distribution of single functionality classes (ranging from very low to very high) showed large dissimilarities (Table 3). The share of functionality class 'very high' is highest in LFT 8 (83.6%), followed by LFT 7 (50.6%) and LFT 2 (40.4%). Vice versa functionality class 'very low' turned out to be negligible in LFT 8, but was prevailing in LFTs 3 (70.9%), 4 (78.8%) and 5 (76.3%). In LFT 2 low and high functionality classes appeared to be most balanced, but class 'moderate' was covering only a very small part of its total area (3.9%) which was also true for the other LFTs.

At the local scale, varying distribution patterns of landscape functionality were mainly due to significant differences in the major land use regimes of the samples. Fig. 5a exemplifies a landscape sample located in the low lying terrace of the study region (LFT 4), representative for intensive arable land of medium field size. Although field margins were loosely accompanied by tree rows and hedges, highly-functional nonlinear elements were very rare in this transformed agricultural landscape, resulting in rather low overall functionality of 16.86. The opposite was true for the sample landscape in Fig. 5b, located in the marshland landform (LFT 2). Extensive wetland meadows and (semi)natural forest remnants constituted its matrix, complemented by small arable fields and reed beds, thus resulting in a various but multifunctional landscape, quantified by overall functionality of 57.85.

Altogether 1,263 different habitat and network elements were detected within the 41 investigated sample sites, thereof 515 were identified as possible core areas and 748 as possible network structures. The area of designated GI-elements extended around 5800 ha, compared to the total investigation area of 16,400 ha the share of the GI-network is about 35%. However the distribution of these areas differed widely according to regional disparities between the single LFTs. More than 56% of GI-elements were located in LFT 7 and LFT 8, whereas LFTs 3, 4 and 5 together only covered 15.5%. Regarding the distribution of possible core area size classes, 229 elements extended over 1 ha, encompassing a total area of 4700 ha while 70 elements were ranging greater than 10 ha covering approx. 4200 ha. Most of the biggest core areas were located in the forest dominated regions within the investigation area. This trend was also replicated by the travelling cost distribution between the samples and consequently between the LFTs. Mean travelling costs turned out lowest in LFTs 8 (188.8), 7 (202.6) and 2 (257.5); ranging up to 745.2 in LFT 4. Plot related travelling costs ranged between 122.6 (located in LFT 8) and 1,417.9 (located in LFT 5).

The Oneway ANOVA revealed the dependencies of the different GI-elements to landscape functionality values (F=169.226, p<0.01). Possible network structures showed lowest functionality values (mean=50.15, std.=13.59) followed by 0.1 ha core areas (mean=60.36, std.=11.83) and 1 ha core areas (mean=65.43, std.=12.46), whereas core class >10 ha ranked highest (mean=71.27, std.=9.50). Pearson's correlation analysis confirmed the dependence of functionality of GI-elements. The relation between the area and number of GI-elements, travelling costs and overall functionality in the landscape samples were tested. Overall functionality of the landscape samples correlated significantly with functionality of GI-elements (cor = 0.921, p < 0.01) and area of GI-elements (cor = 0.934, p < 0.01) whereas the travelling costs correlated negatively with functionality of GI-elements (cor = -0.641, p < 0.01) and area of GI-elements (cor = -0.704, p < 0.01).

Quadratic regression analysis approved the strongly significant dependencies of functionality values per landscape sample with GI-area (corr. r^2 = 0.877, Fig. 6).

Further statistical testing revealed significant relationships between sample-based travelling cost allocation and areal proportion as well as functionality values of the GI-network structures. Two logarithmic regression models showed medium to strong interdependency of travelling costs from the areal proportion of GI elements (corr. $r^2 = 0.723$, Fig. 7a) and their functionality (corr. $r^2 = 0.669$, Fig. 7b). Interestingly, the dependency of travelling costs from overall functionality per se turns out to be rather loosely related.

3.2. Protection status

Welch Two Sample *t*-test proved that landscape functionality is higher in protected than in unprotected sample sites regardless of the single functionality groups a (t=5.5741, df=12,020.66, p-value < 0.01). Also all groups showed significant differences (pvalue < 0.05) among protected and unprotected samples except for dissecting corridors and stepping stones.

According to functional disparities of GI-networks between protected and unprotected sites, functionality values ranged significantly higher (mean_(prot) = 59.9, std. = $1.422/mean_{(unprot)}$ = 52.8, std. = 1.191) in protected sites among the pooled classes of GIelements. Functionality levels of each GI core and network class were also tested significantly higher in protected than in unprotected sites (*p*-value > 0.05) (Fig. 8). While the ratio of network structures areal proportions was almost balanced, the core area cover turned out to be 1.5 times higher in protected areas (2940 ha/1866 ha). However, no apparent differences between the previously calculated site based travelling costs could be outlined between protected and unprotected sites.

4. Discussion

4.1. Landscape functionality

Landscape functionality outcomes strongly were depended on the relationship of the different functionality groups in respect to the sets of landscape metrics that have been assigned to the single groups. The according assessment matrix was the crucial driver for the resulting functionality values and therefore is discussed and argued for at this place in more detail.

According to the *artificial matrix* group we anticipated that its arrangement least affecting landscape functionality is characterised by possibly small land consumption, low areal density, low contiguity, low proximity and compact shapes. Especially the latter



Fig. 5. Example landscape samples; (a) in intensive agricultural landscape disturbed matrix was prevailing resulting in low functionality values; (b) seminatural landscape sample constituted by valuable matrix showing high functionality values.

three factors are pointing out to be indicators for urban sprawl and hence strongly influencing landscape connectivity and dispersal success (Bierwagen, 2007). The *disturbed matrix* reaching for optimal functionality values follow similar outlines as the artificial matrix, except from ideally having irregular instead of compact patch shapes and a high fractal dimension. Smaller field sizes with raised shape complexity support higher structural and substrate diversity (Wrbka et al., 1999), allow for better sharing of resources (Haberl et al., 2004; Fahrig et al., 2011) and thus provide higher overall species diversity (Sauberer et al., 2004; Moser et al., 2002; Zechmeister and Moser, 2001). In case of the *Connecting Corridors* we assumed that a well-developed natural corridor network contribute with the most for a multifunctional landscape (Beier and Noss, 1998; Walz, 2011) but its efficiency is further depending on predominant land use regimes in the disturbed matrix (Dormann et al., 2007). Structural requirements for connecting corridors are expressed by a possibly high-density network of optimal width to guarantee dispersal and migration success for a wide range of species (Gustafsson and Hansson, 1997) and increased genetic variability of populations (Moonen and Bárberi, 2008). Moreover, increased shape complexity and linkage to remnant (semi)natural habitats and stepping stones are crucially contributing for the functional efficiency of connecting corridor networks (Metzger and Décamps, 1997). Stepping stones relate to the metrics similar than connecting corridors. They mainly fulfil the same ecological key processes of supporting species dispersal by decreasing inter-patch distances and providing habitat and shelter. However, especially high mobile species even prefer stepping stones than corridors for movement (Jepsen et al., 2005). Hence, stepping stones appear as inevitable parts in sustainably managed landscapes, mostly



Fig. 6. Quadratic regression of overall functionality with the area of GI-elements. Lines indicate a confidence interval of 95%.

depending on patch location (isolation) and patch size/shape (Bender et al., 2003). Especially edge species would suffer most from a decline of stepping stones, while interior species would be more affected from habitat loss and fragmentation processes of larger habitat patches (Bender et al., 1998), subjected under the frame of the valuable matrix. It is in fact true, that the valuable matrix group pooled a variety of different LUCC and thus selective conservation measures for e.g. 'Open land categories' would not gain much direct benefit to forest-interior species (Holzkämper et al., 2006). But with regard to only structural attributes of the valuable matrix, similar major driving factors influencing landscape functionality and hence biodiversity as such can be specified over all incorporated LUCC (Schindler, 2010; Walz, 2011). They are characterised by large, complex shaped and well aggregated areas which allow for the maintenance of natural trophic chains, provide viable habitats for a possibly broad range of different organisms and buffer against human caused environmental influences (Fahrig, 2003; Heegaard et al., 2007; Saura and Carballal, 2004; Aune et al., 2005). Besides the artificial and highly disturbed matrix dissecting corridors are most problematic in diminishing the structural functionality of landscapes. In particular habitat fragmentation and impediment of species migration/dispersal patterns are the most severe negative driving factors caused by dissecting corridor networks, especially roads (Alexander and Waters, 2000). Though fragmentation processes are rather difficult to generalise and can also entail positive or neutral effects like enhancing immigration rates and habitat heterogeneity (Fahrig, 2003) or promoting edge effects, it must be considered that these drivers are strongly related to the (i) designated LUCC which would lead to fragmentation and (ii) the target categories suffering from dissection. E.g., a road corridor dissecting a large forest patch would just cause a migration barrier, despite of introducing further drawbacks like air and noise pollution or the risk of road kill (Forman and Alexander, 1998). Former habitat would be lost, the remaining patches would become more isolated and related ecological key processes would significantly deteriorate (Fischer and Lindenmayer, 2007). Consequently, only LUCC which tend to cause obvious negative effects within the target landscape were integrated in the dissecting corridor group.

For generally maintaining a high level on landscape functionality of dissecting corridors we suggest a wisely connected but yet loose set which should require as little area as possible and thus resulting in low overall fractal dimension and variable mesh size (Forman and Alexander, 1998), similar to our suggestions for artificial matrix arrangements.

Due to the random stratified sampling process, we set the rule that artificial areas must not cover >10% to overcome the problem of an unbalanced share of artificial areas between the landscape samples. This resulted in rather high functionality values because of unbalanced values of the corresponding metrics. Especially for artificial areas, a structurally based functionality assessment needs to be further tested. Hence, the resulting functionality values for artificial areas cannot be interpreted consistently. The slightly high functionality values of the dissecting corridors can be explained by the fact that metrics react quite sensitive to long but narrow strips, consequently resulting in higher values than more compact elements would perform (Moser et al., 2002; Höbinger et al., in press). As such, only the two corridor functionality groups should be compared directly and here the better function of the connecting corridors was clearly visible.

4.2. Ecoprofile Disturbance Sensitive Species Group and green infrastructure

In the view of the landscape and regional perspective, we orientated ourselves on the ecoprofile approach (Opdam et al., 2008) as this concept allows for a flexible adaptation for the functional trait in question, especially considering the lack of comprehensive and reliable data on species distribution. It stresses also the argumentation that single-species approaches may also be inappropriate to evaluate functionality on the landscape level. Investigations on one target species however could only provide meaningful results for intrinsic functional requirements but would not admit for drawing general conclusions on the landscape scale. Additional scaling effects, particularly in combination with chosen landscape metrics and their ecological meaning for the designated group must be also taken under consideration (Schindler et al., 2008).



Fig. 7. Logarithmic regression of (a) travelling costs with the area of GI-elements and (b) travelling costs with the functionality of GI-elements. Lines indicate confidence interval of 95%.

In this context, we considered the combination of MSPA with cost surface modelling most valuable to overcome the dilemma of just displaying the landscape as habitat and non-habitat. Seminatural areas and ecological barriers were also taken into account for estimating dispersal possibilities between different habitat sources (Watts et al., 2010). Again, this method allowed for generally comparing cost-efficiency of movement paths in variably managed landscapes rather than predicting the best ways to cross a certain area of interest. Moreover, concrete trails in comparison to predicted movement paths for a distinct target species are further determined by numerous co-factors such as feeding places or the opportunity to choose several ways of passing through a hostile matrix which cause non-directional movement patterns (Pullinger and Johnson, 2010) that are hardly predictable. Thus cost path allocations complement the landscape related connectivity approach as part of the functionality assessment by pointing out movement opportunities between ecologically valuable habitats of the former derived GI-elements.

Large GI-networks proved to be most important for DSGviability, especially in agriculturally dominated landscapes. High



Fig. 8. Differences between functionality values of GI-classes between protected and unprotected landscape samples visualised as boxplots. The asterisks on the right side of the legend are pointing out for significant differences between protected and unprotected sites on the 95% (*) and 99% (**) level according to each investigated GI-class when a Welch Two Sample *t*-test was performed.

functionality values were closely tied to size and number of possible cores and network structures as validated by the regression analysis. Vice versa, these results confirmed the negative influence of the predominant land use systems agriculture and viticulture on landscape's overall functional capacity, most evidently in LFTs 3, 4 and 5.

4.3. Protection status

According to functional disparities between protected and unprotected sites dissecting corridors along with stepping stones did not show significant differences. Especially for the dissecting corridors, almost comprised of roads and other linear transport features, it was not very surprising because they more or less shared the same geometrical characteristics, unaffected by the state of protection. Regarding the stepping stones several explanations may be drawn: (i) Conservation measures may have been focused more on extensification and setting-aside of previously existing cultivated areas than on the implementation of new elements to enhance network connectivity up till now. (ii) Significant differences could not be detected due to our stratified sampling procedure where particularly high-natural but inaccessible areas were left out of the study region. (iii) Some of the protected sites were predominantly comprised by valuable matrix, e.g. dominated by forests and hence the share of stepping stones was inherently lower than in landscapes dominated by agriculture where stepping stones still exist as small remnants of a former matrix. The travelling cost allocation

turned out insignificantly between protected and unprotected sites, what can however be also explained by sampling effects. Especially in LFTs 3 and 5 only marginal differences occurred in terms of structural characteristics between protected and unprotected sites, thus resulting in almost balanced travelling costs within the sample plots. The protected areas therein have been recently assessed by the Natural Habitats and Wild Birds Directive (NATURA 2000), mainly focusing on breeding areas of the Great Bustard (Otis tarda) which is listed in the Annex I of the EU Birds Directive. As land-use regimes have already been adapted to the demands for the protection of local Great Bustard populations, conservation measures are focused on use-extensification but also on the maintenance of the open cultural landscape. In reflection to an ideally well-connected landscape with appropriate share of (semi)natural residual areas following the demands of the DSG as previously outlined, functionality of the respective landscape samples turned out rather poor in combination of high travelling costs because of lacking in corridors and stepping stones. These limitations of the assessment must be considered but methodological adaptions towards one single target species like the Great Bustard could be flexibly reached.

5. Conclusions

To conclude, one simple guideline for a holistic assessment of structurally driven landscape functionality was hard to reach because individual ecosystematical and species demands often differ widely (Walz, 2011). However, we tried to set up a comprehensive rule set, respecting as many ecologically decisive driving factors as possible with respect to the designated target area. Processing single structurally based functions separately from the first seemed therefore most appropriate to reach more distinctive and unambiguous results. Combining the outcomes of the single groups afterwards crucially contributed to the assessment because lacking values in one group were consequently affecting landscape functionality en bloc.

Still, we consider the transparent sampling and selection procedure of the landscape metrics as an advantage of our method. It was easy to conduct and generally applicable. Same is true for the combined predictive modelling approach which was rather general in our study, but is flexibly adaptable for a various range of species profiles, target habitats and research questions in context. Classifying and comparing landscapes on the basis of functional disparities as well as the identification of the major driving forces behind, along with scenario development for sustainable landscape planning and nature conservation is facilitated.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Stefan Schindler for his ideas and hints on the handling and interpretation of landscape metrics in general and two anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments on the manuscript. We are further grateful to Iris Wagner for software support, especially in eCognition developer and to all the persons who are involved in the project management and administrative support within the framework of TransEcoNet. This study was facilitated in the scope of the project TransEcoNet, which is implemented through the CENTRAL EUROPE Programme co-financed by the ERDF.

Appendix A.

Detailed overview of the study region, including information on the LFTs and sample sites. An additional table points out for the rules that have been applied during the random stratified site selection procedure.



Appendix B.

Based on correlation analysis and subsequent Principal Component Analysis, the initial 46 landscape metrics were gradually reduced to a final set of indices used for the calculation of landscape functionality.

Landscape metric full name	Landscape metric abbreviation	Metrics left after correlation analysis	Final set of metrics after PCA and literature review
Class area	CA	CA	CA
Percentage of Landscape	PLAND		
Patch density	PD	PD	PD
Largest patch index	LPI	LPI	LPI
Landscape shape index	LSI	LSI	LSI
Area	AREA_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	AREA_MN; _CV	AREA_MN
Shape index	SHAPE_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	SHAPE_AM; _CV	SHAPE_AM
Fractal dimension index	FRAC_MN; _AM; _SD_CV	FRAC_MN; _CV	FRAC_MN
Perimeter-area ratio	PARA_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	PARA_CV	
Contiguity index	CONTIG_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	CONTIG_MN; _CV	CONTIG_MN
Perimeter-area fractal dimension	PAFRAC	PAFRAC	
Total core area	TCA		
Core area percentage of landscape	CPLAND		

Landscape metric full name	Landscape metric abbreviation	Metrics left after correlation analysis	Final set of metrics after PCA and literature review
Number of disjunct core areas	NDCA		
Core area	CORE_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	CORE_MN	CORE_MN
Disjunct core area distribution	DCORE_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV		
Proximity index	PROX_MN; _AM; _SD; _CV	PROX_MN; _CV	PROX_MN
Euclidean nearest-neighbour distance	ENN_AM	ENN_AM	ENN_AM
Interspersion and juxtaposition index	IJI	IJI	
Connectance index	CONNECT	CONNECT	CONNECT
Patch cohesion index	COHESION		
Landscape division index	DIVISION		
Aggregation index	AI	AI	AI

References

- Adriaensen, F., Chardon, J.P., De Blust, G., Swinnen, E., Villalba, S., Gulinck, H., Matthysen, E., 2003. The application of 'least-cost' modelling as a functional landscape model. Landscape Urban Plan. 64, 233–247.
- Alexander, S.M., Waters, N.M., 2000. The effects of highway transportation corridors on wildlife: a case study of Banff National Park. Transport Res. C – Emerg. 8, 307–320.
- Aune, K., Jonsson, B.G., Moen, J., 2005. Isolation and edge effects among woodland key habitats in Sweden: is forest policy promoting fragmentation? Biol. Conserv. 124, 89–95.
- Beier, P., Noss, R.F., 1998. Do habitat corridors provide connectivity? Conserv. Biol. 12, 1241–1252.
- Bender, D.J., Contreras, T.A., Fahrig, L., 1998. Habitat loss and population decline: a meta-analysis of the patch size effect. Ecology 79, 517–533.
- Bender, D.J., Tischendorf, L., Fahrig, L., 2003. Using patch isolation metrics to predict animal movement in binary landscapes. Landscape Ecol. 18, 17–39.
- Benedict, M.A., McMahon, E.T., 2002. Green infrastructure: smart conservation for the 21st century. Renew. Res. J. 20, 12–17.
- Bennett, A.F., 1998. Linkages in the Landscape: The Role of Corridors and Connectivity in Wildlife Conservation. IUCN, Gland/Cambridge, Switzerland/UK.
- Bierwagen, B.G., 2007. Connectivity in urbanizing landscapes: the importance of habitat configuration, urban area size, and dispersal. Urban Ecosyst. 10, 29–42.
- Botequilha Leitão, A., Ahern, J., 2002. Applying landscape ecological concepts and metrics in sustainable landscape planning. Landscape Urban Plan. 59, 65–93. Council of Europe, 2000. European Landscape Convention. European Treaty Series
- No. 176, pp. 1–9. Cushman, S.A., McGarigal, K., Neel, M.C., 2008. Parsimony in landscape metrics:
- strength, universality and consistency. Ecol. Ind. 8, 691–703.
- Definiens AG, 2009a. Definiens eCognition Developer 8 Reference Book. Definiens AG, Munich.
- Definiens AG, 2009b. Definiens eCognition Developer 8 User Guide. Definiens AG, Munich.
- Dormann, C.F., Schweiger, O., Augenstein, I., Bailey, D., Billeter, R., de Blust, G., DeFilippi, R., Frenzel, M., Hendrickx, F., Herzog, F., Klotz, S., Liira, J., Maelfait, J.-P., Schmidt, T., Speelmans, M., van Wingerden, W.K.R.E., Zobel, M., 2007. Effects of landscape structure and land-use intensity on similarity of plant and animal communities. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 16, 774–787. Eriksson, O., Cousins, S.A.O., Bruun, H.H., 2002. Land-use history and fragmentation
- Eriksson, O., Cousins, S.A.O., Bruun, H.H., 2002. Land-use history and fragmentation of traditionally managed grasslands in Scandinavia. J. Veg. Sci. 13, 743–748.
- ESRI Inc., 1995–2011. ArcView 3x. Redlands, CA.
- ESRI Inc., 1999–2008. ArcMap 9.3. Redlands, CA.
- European Economic Community (EEC), 1992. Council directive 92/43EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. Off. J. L206, 7–50.
- European Commission, 2011. Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020. COM.
- Fahrig, L., 2003. Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 34, 487–515.
- Fahrig, L., Baudry, J., Brotons, L., Burel, G., Crist, T., Fuller, R., Sirami, C., Siriwardena, G., Martin, J.-L., 2011. Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Ecol. Lett. 14, 101–112.
- Ferrier, S., 2002. Mapping spatial pattern in biodiversity for regional conservation planning: where to from here? Syst. Biol. 51, 331–363.
 Fischer, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2007. Landscape modification and habitat fragmenta-
- Fischer, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2007. Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 16, 265–280.
- Forman, R.T.T., 1995. Land Mosaics The Ecology of Landscapes and Regions. Cambridge University Press.
- Forman, R.T.T., Godron, M., 1986. Landscape Ecology. Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Forman, R.T.T., Alexander, L.E., 1998. Roads and their major ecological effects. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29, 207-231+C2.
- Freemark, K., Bert, D., Villard, M.-A., 2002. Patch-, landscape-, and regional-scale effects on biota. In: Gutzwiller, K.J. (Ed.), Applying Landscape Ecology in Biological Conservation. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Gates, J.E., Mosher, J.A., 1981. A functional approach to estimating habitat edge width for birds. Am. Midl. Nat. 105, 189–192.
- Gustafsson, L., Hansson, L., 1997. Corridors as a conservation tool. Ecol. Bull. 46, 182–190.
- Haberl, H., Schulz, N.B., Plutzar, C., Erb, K.H., Krausmann, F., Loibl, W., Moser, D., Sauberer, N., Weiz, H., Zechmeister, H.G., Zulka, P., 2004. Human appropriation

of net primary production and species diversity in agricultural landscapes. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 102, 213–218.

- Heegaard, E., Økland, R.H., Bratli, H., Dramstad, W.E., Engan, G., Pedersen, O., Solstad, H., 2007. Regularity of species richness relationships to patch size and shapes. Ecography 30, 589–597.
- Hermann, A., Schleifer, S., Wrbka, T., 2011. The concept of ecosystem services regarding landscape research: a review. Living Rev. Landscape Res., 5, http://www.livingreviews.org/lrlr-2011-1.
- Höbinger, T., Schindler, S., Seaman, B., Wrbka, T., Weissenhofer, A. Impact of oil palm plantations on the structure of the agroforestry mosaic of La Gamba, southern Costa Rica: potential implications for biodiversity. Agroforest. Syst., in press.
- Holzkämper, A., Lausch, A., Seppelt, R., 2006. Optimizing landscape configuration to enhance habitat suitability for species with contrasting habitat requirements. Ecol. Model. 198, 277–292.
- INSPIRE Thematic Working Group Coordinate reference systems and Geographical grid systems, 2009. D2.8.1.2 INSPIRE Specification on Geographical Grid Systems – Guidelines. http://inspire.jrc.ec.europa.eu/documents/Data_Specifications/ INSPIRE_Specification_GGS_v3.0.pdf.
- Jepsen, J.U., Baveco, J.M., Topping, C.J., Verboom, J., Vos, C.C., 2005. Evaluating the effect of corridors and landscape heterogeneity on dispersal probability: a comparison of three spatially explicit modelling approaches. Ecol. Model. 181, 445–459.
- Koellner, T., Scholz, R.W., 2008. Assessment of land use impacts on the natural environment. Part 2: generic characterization factors for local species diversity in Central Europe. Int. J. LCA 13, 32–48.
- Konkoly-Gyuró, E., Tirászi, A., Wrbka, T., Prinz, M., Renetzeder, C., 2010. Der Charakter grenzüberschreitender Landschaften (Határon átivelo tájak karaktere). University of Western Hungary, Sopron.
- Mander, Ü., Mikk, M., Kulvik, M., 1999. Ecological and low intensity agriculture as contributors to landscape and biological diversity. Landscape Ecol. 46, 169–177.
- McCune, B., Grace, J.B., 2002. Analysis of Ecological Communities. MjM Software Design, Oregon, USA.
- McGarigal, K., Cushman, S.A., Neel, M.C., Ene, E., 2002. FRAGSTATS: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical Maps. Computer Software Program Produced by the Authors at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst.
- Metzger, J.-P., Décamps, H., 1997. The structural connectivity threshold: an hypothesis in conservation biology at the landscape scale. Acta Ecol. 18, 1–12.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: A Framework for Assessment. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Moonen, A.-C., Bárberi, P., 2008. Functional biodiversity: an agroecosystem approach. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 127, 7–21.
- Moser, D., Zechmeister, H.G., Plutzar, C., Sauberer, N., Wrbka, T., Grabherr, G., 2002. Landscape shape complexity as an effective measure for plant species richness in rural landscapes. Landscape Ecol. 17, 657–669.
- Opdam, P., Pouwels, R., van Rooij, S., Steingröver, E., Vos, C.C., 2008. Setting biodiversity targets in participatory regional planning: introducing ecoprofiles. E&S, 13.
- Pascual-Hortal, L., Saura, S., 2008. Integrating landscape connectivity in broad-scale forest planning through a new graph-based habitat availability methodology: application to capercaillie (*Tetrao urogallus*) in Catalonia (NE Spain). Eur. J. Forest Res. 127, 23–31.
- Pullinger, M.G., Johnson, C.J., 2010. Maintaining or restoring connectivity of modified landscapes: evaluating the least-cost path model with multiple sources of ecological information. Landscape Ecol. 25, 1547–1560.
- R Development Core Team, 2008. R: A Language and Environment For Statistical Computing. www.r-project.org/.
- Ray, N., 2005. PATHMATRIX: a GIS tool to compute effective distances among samples. Mol. Ecol. Notes 5, 177–180.
- Revelle, W., 2011. psych: Procedures for Personality and Psychological Research Northwestern University, Evanston. http://personalityproject.org/r/psych.manual.pdf (accessed 01.01.09).
- Richards, W.H., Wallin, D.O., Schumaker, N.H., 2002. An analysis of late-seral forest connectivity in western Oregon, USA. Conserv. Biol. 16, 1409–1421.
- Sauberer, N., Zulka, K.P., Abensperg-Traun, M., Berg, H.-M., Bieringer, G., Milasowszky, N., Moser, D., Plutzar, C., Pollheimer, M., Storch, C., Tröstl, R., Zechmeister, H., Grabherr, G., 2004. Surrogate taxa for biodiversity in agricultural landscapes of eastern Austria. Biol. Conserv. 117, 181–190.
- Saura, S., Carballal, P., 2004. Discrimination of native and exotic forest patterns through shape irregularity indices: An analysis in the landscapes of Galicia, Spain. Landscape Ecol. 19, 647–662.

- Schindler, S., 2010. Dadia National Park, Greece an integrated Study on Landscape, Biodiversity, Raptor populations and Conservation Management. PhD Dissertation, University of Vienna.
- Schindler, S., Poirazidis, K., Wrbka, T., 2008. Towards a core set of landscape metrics for biodiversity assessments. A case study from Dadia National Park, Greece. Ecol. Ind. 8, 502–514.
- Schmidt, J., Csaplovics, E., 2010. Mapping the Austrian reed bed of lake neusiedl by means of airborne optical scanner imagery. In: International Symposium on Advanced Methods of Monitoring Reed Habitats in Europe, Illmitz, p. 2010.
- SPSS Inc., 1989-2007. SPSS 16.0 for Windows, Version 16.0.1 (2007-12-07).
- Steiner, W., Parz-Gollner, R., 2003. Actual numbers and effects of recreational disturbance on the distribution and behaviour of Greylag Geese (*Anser Anser*) in the Neusiedler See – Seewinkel National Park Area. JNC 11, 324–330.
- Tischendorf, L., 2001. Can landscape indices predict ecological processes consistently? Landscape Ecol. 16, 235–254.
- Torras, O., Martín-Queller, E., Saura, S., 2009. Relating landscape structure, environment and management to biodiversity indicators estimated from forest inventory data in Catalonia (NE Spain). Invest. Agr.: Sist. Recursos Forestales 18, 322–337.
- Turner, M.G., Gardner, R.H., O'Neill, R.V., 2001. Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice, Pattern and Process. Springer, New York.
- van Lier, H.N., 1998. The role of land use planning in sustainable rural systems. Landscape Urban Plan. 41, 83–91.
- Vogt P., 2010. GUIDOS 1.3: Graphical User Interface for the Description of Image Objects and their Shapes. http://forest.jrc.ec.europa.eu/download/software/ guidos.

- Vogt, P., Riitters, K.H., Estreguil, C., Kozak, J., Wade, T.G., Wickham, J.D., 2007. Mapping spatial patterns with morphological image processing. Landscape Ecol. 22, 171–177.
- Vos, C.C., Verboom, J., Opdam, P.F.M., Ter Braak, C.J.F., 2001. Toward ecologically scaled landscape indices. Am. Nat. 15, 24–41.
- Walz, U., 2011. Landscape structure, landscape metrics and biodiversity. Living Rev. Landscape Res. 5, http://www.livingreviews.org/lrlr-2011-3.
- Watts, K., Eycott, A.E., Handley, P., Ray, D., Humphrey, J.W., Quine, C.P., 2010. Targeting and evaluating biodiversity conservation action within fragmented landscapes: an approach based on generic focal species and least-cost networks. Landscape Ecol. 25, 1305–1318.
- With, K.A., Gardner, R.H., Turner, M.G., 1997. Landscape connectivity and population distributions in heterogeneous environments. Oikos 78, 151–169.
- Wrbka, T., Schindler, S., Pollheimer, M., Schmitzberger, I., Peterseil, J., 2008. Impact of the Austrian Agri-Environmental Scheme on diversity of landscapes, plants and birds. ComEc 9, 217–227.
- Wrbka, T., Szerencsits, E., Reiter, K., Plutzar, C., 1999. Which attributes of landscape structure can be used for sustainable land-use? Experiences from Alpine and lowland landscapes in Austria. In: Kovar, P. (Ed.), Present and Historical Nature-Culture Interactions in landscapes – Experiences for the 3rd 815 Millenium. Proceeedings of the CLE Conference 9/1998, Prague.
- ZAMG, 2002. Klimadaten von Österreich 1971–2000. Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik.
- Zechmeister, H.G., Moser, D., 2001. The influence of agricultural land-use intensity on bryophyte species richness. Biodivers. Conserv. 10, 1609–1625.
Section A

Article 2 (ii)

Hermann, A., **Kuttner, M.**, Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Konkoly-Gyuró, É., Tirászi, Á., Brandenburg, C., Allex, B., Ziener, K., Wrbka, T. 2014. *Assessment framework for landscape services in European cultural landscapes: An Austrian Hungarian case study.* Ecological Indicators, 37, 229-240.

doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.01.019



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Ecological Indicators



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolind

Assessment framework for landscape services in European cultural landscapes: An Austrian Hungarian case study

Anna Hermann^{a,*}, Michael Kuttner^a, Christa Hainz-Renetzeder^a, Éva Konkoly-Gyuró^b, Ágnes Tirászi^b, Christiane Brandenburg^c, Brigitte Allex^c, Karen Ziener^c, Thomas Wrbka^a

^a University of Vienna, Department of Nature Conservation, Vegetation Ecology and Landscape Ecology, Rennweg 14, 1030 Vienna, Austria

^b University of Western Hungary, Institute of Forest Resource Management and Rural Development, Cházár András tér 1, H-9400 Sopron, Hungary

^c University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences, Department of Landscape, Spatial and Infrastructure Sciences, Institute of Landscape Development, Recreation and Conservation Planning, Peter Jordan-Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 May 2012 Received in revised form 13 November 2012 Accepted 18 January 2013

Keywords: Landscape services Ecosystem services Assessment framework Mapping Capacity Matrix Spatial reference framework

ABSTRACT

European cultural landscapes are characterised by a high level of anthropogenic fragmentation which is known as a major reason for the loss of biodiversity in industrialised countries. To receive support for adequate choices in sustainable landscape planning, information on the spatial distributions of landscape functions and services is needed. Therefore, the objective of this study was to develop an integrative assessment framework to evaluate a wide range of landscape services at different spatial scales. The proposed methodology was applied within the cross-border region of Austria and Hungary. Embedded in a spatial reference framework we assessed and visualised five main landscape services within the investigation area: regulation, habitat, provision, information and carrier. Considering location and spatial extent three different levels of service assessment were distinguished: (1) the Landform Approach was based on seven different Landform Types within the study area. All services were directly observable either by the use of Corine land cover or by clearly identifiable spatial indicators. (2) The Broader Habitat Approach focused on the assessment of services at the landscape element scale within randomly selected landscape sample sites. It was based on the use of an expert driven capacity matrix, which values were revised by semi-quantitative data gained from field work. (3) The information services occurring at a broader scale were assessed at the Landscape Character Type scale within the Socio-cultural Approach. Additional indicators mainly based on geo-data were defined. Finally, all services were extrapolated to the Landform Types revealing the actual landscape service provision within the study area. The results presented hot and cold spots of service provision at different spatial scales as well as the trade-offs between the different services. The landscape service maps might provide regional stakeholders with valuable information on service supply and can therefore be used as knowledge basis in cross-border landscape planning decision processes. Making landscape services spatially explicit and combining empirical data with spatial information presents an innovative approach to landscape research in the field of assessing and visualising landscape services. This would enable the development of a decision support tool, which can be used for the systematic evaluation of goal attainments and conflict detection.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

European cultural landscapes are known to provide a wide range of functions and services that are useful for humans. However, the supply of ecosystem services and biodiversity is threatened, mainly caused by a high level of habitat loss and fragmentation (MEA, 2005). One reason for the loss of ecosystems in cultural landscapes is the lack of integrating ecosystem service values in regional spatial planning projects. The ecosystem service concept is therefore aiming at supporting the development of policies and instruments by integrating ecological, socio-cultural and economical perspectives to provide insights into human impacts on ecosystems and the welfare effects of management policies (TEEB, 2010). This scientific concept has experienced increasing attention in the last decades as it provides the means of documenting the importance and benefits of ecosystems and landscape for human society. One of the most relevant publications is the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA, 2005) which provides the basic framework for assessing the interactions between ecosystems and humans and

Abbreviations: LFT, Landform Type; LCT, Landscape Character Type; BHT, Broader Habitat Type; BHS, Broader Habitat(type) value; LESV, Landscape Element Service value.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +43 1 4277 54382; fax: +43 1 4277 9575. *E-mail address:* anna.hermann@univie.ac.at (A. Hermann).

¹⁴⁷⁰⁻¹⁶⁰X/\$ - see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.01.019

how these can be measured, evaluated and strengthened for future human well-being. After the release of the Millennium Assessment (MEA, 2005), which focused on the benefits people derive directly and indirectly from ecosystems, the literature concerning ecosystem services has increased exponentially all over the world (Fisher et al., 2009). Several authors have been dealing with classifying, quantifying, mapping and valuing of ecosystem services in order to integrate the concept into decision making processes (e.g. Costanza et al., 1997; Daily, 1997; de Groot et al., 2010; Fisher et al., 2009; Hermann et al., 2011). However, despite the enhancing interest in ecosystem service research, still many open questions remain to fully integrate the ecosystem service concept in landscape research and decision making.

Because landscape sciences focus on spatial pattern and scale, they can provide useful insights into how the spatial distribution of human activities influences important landscape processes and structures from which services are derived (Jones et al., 2008). The central notion in landscape development has always been that people are part of the landscape and that landscapes are changed for their benefit (Antrop, 2001; Linehan and Gross, 1998). Especially, in Central and Eastern Europe both the analysis of landscape pattern and processes and the assessment of landscape functionality as a basis for land use planning have a long tradition (Bastian and Schreiber, 1994; Buchwald and Engelhardt, 1968; Lee et al., 1999). In recent years, the terms 'landscape function and service' have become more important in literature (Bastian and Schreiber, 1999; de Groot et al., 2010; Willemen et al., 2010). To receive support for adequate choices in landscape planning, information on the spatial distributions of landscape functions and services is needed. Although in the last years considerable progress has been made in assessing, quantifying and mapping a multitude of landscape services, implementing the concept into sustainable landscape planning and management still remains a challenge (Hermann et al., 2011; Norgaard, 2010). Regarding the state-of-the-art, better insight into interactions between land cover, use and function and methods to assess and map land use and landscape function is still needed (e.g. Verburg et al., 2009). Visualisation should illustrate the spatial heterogeneity in quality and quantity of services provision, which is due to differences in biophysical and socioeconomic conditions at different scale levels (Meyer and Grabaum, 2008; Wiggering et al., 2006). Therefore, landscape services are to be addressed and assessed on various scales (Hein et al., 2006). Assessing and mapping the multitude of services provided by different landscapes at different scales is seen as prerequisite for sustainable landscape management (Verburg et al., 2009). This would enable the development of a decision support tool, which can be used for the systematic evaluation of goal attainments and conflict detection. As assessing and mapping of services is mainly dependent on data availability and finding the appropriate indicator, most publications focused either on selected landscape services and/or emphasised only on one assessment scale (e.g. Burkhard et al., 2009; Troy and Wilson, 2006; Willemen et al., 2008). An integrative framework that takes a wide range of ecosystem/landscape services into account is still under development. Such a framework should be comprehensible, feasible and able to be applied at wide range of scales to different ecosystems or landscapes (Hein et al., 2006). We want to meet these challenges by the development of a framework which will link the processes in the landscapes with the services provided at different scales.

The aim of this paper is therefore to present a spatially explicit methodology evaluating a broad set of landscape services by meeting the following research objectives: (i) mapping the hot and cold spots of service provision within different landscape types (ii) visualising the trade-offs between the services within the investigation area (iii) testing the concept of landscape services as an operational tool to evaluate ecologically sensitive regions.



Fig. 1. Location of the study area in the transboundary region of Austria and Hungary in Central Europe. Topographical map is made with Natural Earth and www.ArcGIS.com.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area

The project region covers the Austrian-Hungarian transboundary region of the Neusiedler See/Fertő (Fig. 1) extending over 2000 km². It is part of the Small Hungarian Plain in Central Europe representing the westernmost extension of the Pannonian Basin. The shallow lake Neusiedler See which lies in a flat basin is dominating the landscape view. The southern Hungarian part (Fertő) is mainly lowland with gentle hills on the western side. The northern part belonging to Austria has contrasting western and eastern sides: the former is formed by the pronounced slope zone of a low mountain ridge, whereas the latter, the Seewinkel, represents the lowest land in Austria. The region is characterised by a hot, dry Pannonian climate with an annual precipitation of 700-800 mm and annual mean temperature of >9°C (ZAMG, 2002). In a relatively small area, plants and animals with Alpine, Asiatic and Mediterranean affinities, as well as northern species, are present, resulting in high species diversity. Thus, on both sides of the border, different protection categories were declared in the last decades: Nationalparks Neusiedler See-Seewinkel and Fertő-Hanság, Ramsar Sites, UNESCO World Heritage Site, Biosphere Reserves, various Natura2000-areas and different national conservation labels can be found throughout the region.

Today two main economy sectors dominate the area: intensive agriculture particularly crop-growing, wine growing and greenhouse-vegetable gardening and tourism, which is especially centred around the lake and focused on rather small areas. In the last decades the typical lake tourism changed to a more diversified tourism based on nature, the national park, cycling and other sports activities, cultural traditions and events. Nowadays severe problems arise from the growing conflict between these two demands caused by increasing requirement of land for their anthropogenic uses, additionally interfering with nature conservation issues. Because of the multifunctional landscape and the diverging claims on land utilisation we used that region to develop the proposed approach.

2.2. Landscape services

In our study we used the concept of landscape services (Termorshuizen and Opdam, 2009). As 'landscapes' may be more attractive to non-ecological scientific disciplines in contrary to the term 'ecosystem' and may be associated with people's local environment, we preferred the term 'landscape services' instead of 'ecosystem services'. In contrast, 'ecosystem' may be related with natural processes and conservation instead of with human habitat and cultural patterns. In our definition landscape services are therefore all goods and services that landscapes provide for well-being. They include potentials, materials and processes of nature (e.g. biomass, raw materials, primary productivity) and services of cultural elements and constructions that come into being through human creation (e.g. buildings, settlements, infrastructure) (Konkoly-Gyuró, 2011). Based on the list provided by de Groot (2006), a general set of landscape services was derived (Table 1). The individual sub-services are grouped into five main services (1) regulation, (2) habitat, (3) provision, (4) information and (5) carrier. Whereas the regulation services are related to the capacity of cultural landscapes to regulate essential ecological processes and life support systems through biogeochemical cycles, the habitat services describe the capacity to provide refuge and reproduction habitat to wild plants and animals. As the habitat requirements differ from species to species they are defined in terms of the carrying capacity and spatial needs (minimum critical biotope size) of the specific biotope type. The *provision* services

are targeting the supply of natural resources concerning 'edible wild plants and animals', 'raw materials', 'genetic' and 'medicinal resources'. Whereas the *information* services include all services referring to spiritual enrichment, cognitive development, recreation and aesthetic experiences, the *carrier* services describe the capacity of landscapes to provide suitable substrate (soil) for 'cultivation', 'habitation', 'tourism facilities', 'energy conversion' and 'transportation'.

2.3. Overall methodology

The overall methodological framework (Fig. 2) is based on data availability and spatial scales of assessments. Individual subservices were assessed at the specific service providing unit and were finally aggregated to the main services (Table 1). Driven by the link between landscape service and service providing unit, three different scales for landscape service assessment were distinguished and integrated into a spatial reference framework representing different homogenous assessment units (Renetzeder et al., 2008). Landform Types (LFT) by Konkoly-Gyuró et al. (2010) formed the common basis for our integrative assessment of Austrian and Hungarian landscapes. They represent the main geomorphological and hydrological features of the study area (Fig. 3): 'Lake Basin' (LFT 1), 'Marshlands' (LFT 2), 'River Floodplains' (LFT 3), 'Low lying terrace' (LFT 4), 'Elevated terrace' (LFT 5), 'Hilly area and hill range' (LFT 6) and 'Low and middle range mountains' (LFT 7). Because spatially explicit data was not available for all sub-services, we selected landscape sample sites within the different Landform Types. This was done by a stratified random sampling method. In each Landform Type, six sample sites of $1 \text{ km} \times 1 \text{ km}$ size according to the European Grid System (INSPIRE, 2009) were randomly selected after applying a list of sampling rules resulting in 41 landscape sample sites (Fig. 3). These sampling rules included terms for the exclusion of grid cells with more than 1% not accessible areas, >30% water surfaces, or >10% artificial areas. The cells needed to be 99% within the same Landform Type and have at least 500 m distance to the border of the investigation area. The assessment of the information services that required another spatial scale was based on Landscape Character Types (LCT) representing a combination of relief, dominant land cover and land use intensity within the different Landform Types (Konkoly-Gyuró et al., 2010; after Swanwick, 2002).

This spatial reference framework served to link the individual landscape services and their assessment approaches on the different scales with each other in a hierarchical way. Dependent on the different service providing units at the different scales three assessment approaches, namely the (a) the Broader Habitat Approach based on the sample sites (b) Landform Approach based on the LFTs, and (c) the Socio-Cultural Approach based on the LCTs were distinguished (Fig. 2).

- (a) Broader Habitat Approach: As the service providing units were located at the landscape element scale (Forman and Godron, 1986), this approach was carried out within the 41 landscape sample sites. The assessment was based on the use of a capacity matrix (Burkhard et al., 2009), which values were revised by qualifiers, that derived from field surveys.
- (b) Landform Approach: Assessment of landscape services that were directly observable for the entire Landform Types either by the use of Corine land cover CLC 2006 (EEA, 2007), or by clearly identifiable spatial indicators.
- (c) Socio-cultural Approach: For the assessment of the *information* services we used the 14 LCTs as spatial units. Landscape metrics, biophysical and socio-economic landscape components were used to describe the location and the capacity of LCTs to provide

Table 1

List of main landscape services and their related sub-services with examples and information about the applied assessment approach (adapted from de Groot, 2006). The three Approaches Broader Habitat, Socio-cultural and Landform Approach are dependent on the service providing unit and are explained in more detail within the section 'overall methodology'.

Services	Definition	Examples	Applied approach
Regulation services			
Local climate regulation	Influence of broader habitat type on local climate	Maintenance of a favourable local climate (e.g. temp., moisture) e.g. human	Broader habitat Approach
Disturbance prevention	Influence of broader habitat on	Storm protection and/or flood prevention	Broader habitat Approach
Water regulation	Role of broader habitat type in regulating runoff and river discharge	Drainage and natural irrigation	Broader habitat Approach
Water supply	Filtering, retention and storage of fresh water	Provision of water for consumptive use (e.g. drinking, irrigation and industrial use)	Broader habitat Approach
Soil retention	Role of vegetation root matrix and soil biota in soil retention	Maintenance of arable land; prevention of damage from erosion/siltation	Broader habitat Approach
Soil formation	Weathering of rock, accumulation of organic matter	Maintenance of natural productive soils	Broader habitat Approach
Nutrient regulation	Role of biota in storage (buffer) and recycling of nutrients (e.g. N, P and S)	Maintenance of healthy and productive ecosystems	Broader habitat Approach
Pollination	Role of biota in movement of floral gametes (is there any suitable habitat available for pollinators?)	Pollination of wild plant species and crops	Broader habitat Approach
Habitat services			
Refugium	Suitable living space for wild plants and animals	Maintenance of biodiversity, in particular	Broader habitat Approach
Nursery	Suitable reproduction habitat	Maintenance of commercially harvested species	Broader habitat Approach
Provision services			
Food	Conversion of solar energy into wild edible plants and animals	Maintenance of edible wild plants and fungi (not cultivated), game and fish	Broader habitat Approach
Raw materials	Conversion of solar energy into biomass	Material for human constructions (building and manufacturing), like lumber, fuel and energy wood	Broader habitat Approach
Genetic resources	Genetic material and evolution in wild plants and animals	Improve crop resistance to pathogens and pests and maintenance of old cultivated plants	Broader habitat Approach
Medicinal resources	Variety in chemical substances in natural biota	Drugs and pharmaceuticals	Broader habitat Approach
Information services			
Aesthetic information	Attractive landscape features and views	Enjoyment of scenery (scenic roads, housing etc.	Socio-cultural Approach
Recreation	Variety in landscapes with (potential) recreational uses	Travel to natural ecosystems for eco-tourism and (recreational) nature	Socio-cultural Approach
Cultural and artistic information	Variety in natural and cultural features with cultural and artistic value	Use of natural and cultural landscape elements as motive in books, film, painting, folklore, national symbols, architect advertising etc	Socio-cultural Approach
Spiritual and historic information	Variety in natural and cultural features with spiritual and historic value	Use of natural and cultural landscape elements for religious or historic purposes (i.e. heritage value of natural ecosystems and features)	Socio-cultural Approach
Science and education	Variety in nature with scientific and educational value	Use of nature for scientific research	Socio-cultural Approach
Carrier services			
Habitation	Providing suitable space for human living	Living space (ranging from small settlements to urban areas)	Landform Approach
Cultivation	Providing suitable substrate for cultivation (actual available)	Cultivated food and fodder	Landform Approach
Energy conversion	Providing suitable substrate or medium for energy conversion	Energy facilities (only wind)	Landform Approach
Waste disposal	Providing suitable substrate for waste disposal	Space for solid waste disposal	Broader habitat Approach
Transportation	Providing suitable substrate or medium for transportation	Main and side roads as well as railroad tracks	Landform Approach
Tourism-facilities	Providing space and facilities for human activities related to tourism	Tourism and leisure activities (e.g. outdoor sports)	Socio-cultural Approach

services. These different landscape data were translated into spatial indicators and linked to the related services.

Finally, to compare the different landscape types regarding their provision of landscape services, all individual

sub-services were extrapolated to the Landform Types and aggregated to the main services. The main services *regulation, habitat, provision, information* and *carrier* were plotted onto a 5 axes spider web diagram illustrating their trade-offs.



Fig. 2. Methodological assessment framework based on three scales: Landform Types, Landscape sample sites and Landscape Character Types. Dependent on the different service providing units at the different scales the Landform Approach, the Broader Habitat Approach and the Socio-cultural Approach can be distinguished. Finally, the aggregated service groups were visualised at the Landform Type scale; CLC = Corine land cover CLC 2006 (EEA, 2007).



Fig. 3. Location of 41 sample sites within the seven Landform Types as defined by Konkoly-Gyuró et al. (2010). Topographical map is made with Natural Earth and www.ArcGIS.com.

In the next sections the three approaches as well as the extrapolation and the aggregation of data are presented in detail.

2.4. Assessing landscape services

2.4.1. Broader habitat approach

As data availability for specific service indicators (e.g. crops/ha; kJ/ha for cultivation service) was limited or often not comparable within our approach, *regulation, habitat, provision* and partly *carrier* (only 'cultivation' and 'waste disposal') services (Table 1) were consequently related to a specific Broader Habitat by the use of a capacity matrix (after Burkhard et al., 2009; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2008). The list of about 181 Austrian Broader Habitat types (BHT) was based on the definition lists of Essl et al. (2002). During field work (May to September 2010) each landscape element in the 41 landscape site samples was assigned a BHT. All field data were stored in a personal geodatabase in ArcGIS 10 (ESRI, 2011). In principle, the subsequent work flow (Fig. 2) consisted of four steps which were implemented within ArcGIS Modelbuilder in ArcGIS 10 (ESRI, 2011):

- (i) As a first step towards creating the matrix, the capacities of all 181 BHTs regarding their provision of individual landscape services were set up by expert evaluations during several workshops on different disciplines of ecology (Vegetation Science, Zoology, Pedology and Climate Science). The so-called Broader Habitat (type) Service (BHS) values ranged from categories '0' (no relevant link) to '5' (very high relevant link). The resulting capacity matrix (Table A1) served as input table for subsequent analysis.
- (ii) To enhance the expert based approach, further attributes gathered by field mapping were used for a closer look on the actual service provision of each landscape element. During field survey, additional qualifiers on 'broader habitat structure', 'management', 'pressure' and 'valuable attributes' within the 'landscape site samples' were separately collected for each investigated landscape element. These qualifiers exerted either a positive ('1'), negative ('-1') or no influence ('0') on the provision of a specific service (Table A2) and served as a further input table within the modelbuilder environment by calculating a specific 'landscape element service value' (LESV). Thus, the former values from the capacity matrix were revised by increasing, decreasing or remaining constant for each landscape element depending on qualifiers found in the field.
- (iii) As the area of a landscape element has also an impact on the provision of a service (e.g. a large forested area has more impact on climate regulation than a small one), additional area-weighting was integrated into the assessment. Regarding waste disposal, area-weighting was not appropriate because direct relationships between area share and functional capacity could not be outlined.
- (iv) The resulting values for each service were re-categorised ranging from '0' to '5' based on 20%-percentiles and then each service-specific layer, including the final 'landscape element service values' (LESV) was stored in the geodatabase.

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2013.01.019.

2.4.2. Landform approach

Location and extent of the *carrier* services 'transportation', 'habitation' and 'energy conversion' were clearly distinguishable.

Transportation service: To measure the actual state of 'transportation' within the investigation area, absolute running metres of transportation networks were calculated for each Landform Type.

For this reason, main and side roads as well as railroad tracks that derived from regional road maps were integrated into the assessment. Due to traffic densities, the lengths of the main roads were double-weighted. Resulting track lengths were divided by the total area shares of the single LFTs, resulting in area density values of the transportation network.

Habitation service: To comprehensively include settlement areas and other man-made facilities such as industrial and commercial sites or sport and leisure facilities into the assessment, Corine land cover CLC 2006 (EEA, 2007) was taken as source layer. Area proportions of the aforementioned CLC classes of interest were again separately calculated for all LFTs by multiplying class areas with class specific BHS values.

Energy conversion service: The 'energy conversion' service considers facilities for the conversion of wind energy into electricity (see Table 1). On the basis of a map sheet 'Regionales Rahmenkonzept für Windenergieanlagen' ('regional framework for energy plants'), provided by the 'GIS Koordinationsstelle, Raumord-nung Burgenland' all actual locations and suitable zones of wind power stations within the investigation area were detected and the area proportion was calculated and re-categorised. As this base layer was only available for Austria, wind power stations on the Hungarian side of the study region were mapped after visual interpretation of the latest aerial imagery available.

2.4.3. Socio-cultural approach

Information services and the sub-service 'tourism facilities' of the carrier services were assessed on the level of the LCTs as defined by the spatial reference framework (see Fig. 2). Indicators were developed for each sub-service and derived for the whole investigation area with the help of topographic-, tourist- and land cover maps, online Landmark Cadastral Register (Kollányi et al., 2012) database, as well as statistical data. The indicators for the 'tourism facilities' comprised touristic nodes (Ziener, 2003), length of all touristic trails and water sport facilities (the access of lake or pond and the existence of basic infrastructure like boat bridges). For the information services three main types of indicators have been developed: (1) areal landscape elements (e.g. water bodies, wetlands, forests), (2) linear landscape elements (e.g. forest edge, water edge, vineyard edge) and (3) point landscape elements (e.g. churches, chapels, look-out towers). All data were stored and processed in a personal geodatabase in ArcGIS 10 (ESRI, 2011). First, based on expert evaluations each of the indicators was assigned a service weight between '0' and '5' reflecting the relevance of the indicator for the sub-services (Table A3). In the next step, depending on the geometry of the data, the area percentage and the line/point density per LCT was multiplied with the service weight, then normalised between 0 and 5 and finally the mean of each indicator type was calculated. To reach one final information service value per LCT the sum of the mean values of the three indicator types were calculated. In the end the values were normalised again, in order to be comparable with the landscape service values assessed within the other approaches.

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2013.01.019.

2.4.4. Extrapolation and aggregation of the different landscape services to the main services

The services assessed by the Broader Habitat Approach had to be aggregated onto the Landform Type scale in a stepwise approach, for further comparison with the services assessed within the Landform and Socio-Cultural Approach.

To receive one single value for each sub-service per sample site, area-weighted mean values of all LESVs were separately calculated for the different sub services. The outcomes can be interpreted as

Water regulation service



Fig. 4. 'Water regulation' service maps of the LFTs Lake basin, Low lying terrace and Hilly area and hill range (one sample site per LFT). 1 = low service provision, 2 = modest service provision, 3 = medium service provision, 4 = high service provision, 5 = very high service provision.

the actual state of each investigated sample site in the fulfilment of the individual services. These were extrapolated to LFT-level by calculating mean values for all six sample sites per LFT. Consequently, the main service values of *regulation*, *habitat* and *provision* were obtained by combining and calculating the mean values of the specific sub services on LFT level.

Hereby LFT 1, the 'Lake Basin', was regarded as special case, because representativeness of the sample sites for the up-scaling process was limited due to location of the 'Neusiedler See' itself plus its adjacent reed belt and satellite lakes within the LFT 1. However, these inaccessible areas make up more than 60% of LFT 1 and therefore must be taken into account for landscape service provision. To overcome these difficulties, LFT 1 was split up into 4 subparts such as the terrestrial region, characterised by the Broader Habitat outcomes, the lake itself, the reed belt and the satellite lakes. For the latter three, provision of landscape services was derived by calculating area-weighted values from the BHS table and afterwards combining them with sample site based results for the terrestrial area according to their area shares.

The services evaluated by the Socio-Cultural Approach also had to be scaled-up on LFT level. As the different LCTs were embedded within the LFTs (refer to spatial reference framework), area-weighted values of the LCT-based main services were calculated for each LFT. Finally, the area-weighted main service values within each LFT were summed up to reach one final value for the *carrier* and the *information* main services.

3. Results

3.1. Individual landscape service maps – hot and cold spots

3.1.1. Broader habitat approach

Resulting from the GIS model the individual LESVs can be mapped for each landscape sample site within the different LFTs, in order to explicitly visualise local differences in landscape service delivery. As an example we present the 'water regulation' service within one sample site of the LFT 'Lake basin', 'Low lying terrace' and 'Hilly area and hill range' (Fig. 4). Within the LFT 'Lake basin' the sample site shows grassland matrix interspersed by patches of arable land and vineyards providing medium to very high 'water regulation' values. Whereas the sample site of the 'Low lying terrace' represents an open and intensively used landscape supplying very low 'water regulation' service (cold spot), the sample site of the third LFT displays a heterogeneous land cover mosaic with very high landscape service values (hot spot) for the most part of the area.

3.1.2. Socio-cultural approach

The values of the individual landscape service 'tourism-facilities' were presented at the LCT level (Fig. 5). The very high value (hot spot) of the northern part of the lake basin which is dominated by open water (LCT 1b) resulted mainly from water sports. The big and middle divided touristic nodes (Ziener, 2003) on the lakeshore are only partly located in the lake basin (lake resorts), while the villages and towns are situated in the neighbouring LCTs. The hill areas on the western shore of the lake (LCT 3b) gained higher values than the flat areas on the eastern shore (LCT 1c and 2c), because of the diversified landscape pattern resulting in different structure of settlements and touristic nodes and a partly dense network of touristic trails. The marshland areas (LCT 1d and 2a) as well as the southern part of the lake basin which is dominated by the reed belt and wetlands (LCT 1a) showed the least 'tourism-facilities' values (cold spots). In former times the Hanság area was covered by extensive wetlands with the result that the settlements are very small. There, land use is dominated by agriculture and tourism is underdeveloped.

The distribution of the aggregated *information* services were visualised at the LCT level as well (Fig. 6). In general, these values ranged between 1.4 and 3.3 (low to medium service provision). The hot spots of *information* services were found in the LCTs 3a, 3b, and 1c, where hill ranges and foothills of low mountains with medium or intensive human use are dominated by a mosaic of forest, grasslands and water surfaces. Relatively high values also occurred in low intensity human use areas, which are remnants of marshlands. The lowest values were provided by LCT 2b, where the similar visual appearance is due to the equally flat surface and to the overwhelming intensive arable land parcels.

3.2. Trade-offs between the main landscape services within the investigation area

The resulting values ranging [0–5] showed the actual provision of the main services *carrier*, *information*, *habitat*, *regulation* and *provision* within the seven Landform Types (Table 2). They



Fig. 5. 'Tourism facilities' service values for each LCT (1a, Lake basin dominated by reed and wetland; 1b, Lake basin dominated by open water; 1c, Satellite lake basin dominated by grassland and divers agriculture; 1d, Marshland dominated by a mosaic of forest, grassland and water; 2a, Reclaimed marshland and lake basin with arableand grassland dominance; 2b, Flatland dominated by homogenous arable land cover; 2c, Slightly undulating flatland dominated by vineyards; 2d, Slightly undulating flatland with heterogeneous land cover; 3a, Hill range and foothills with heterogeneous land cover; 3b, Hill range and foothills with vineyard dominance; 3c, Low mountains and foothills covered by closed forests; 3d, Foothills and basins with historic towns and peri-urban areas; 3e, Foothills and basins, mainly arable and grassland dominance); 0 = no service provision, 1 = low service provision, 2 = modest service provision, 3 = medium service provision, 4 = high service provision, 5 = very high service provision.

represented the high diversity within the investigation area ranging from natural and semi natural areas such as the shallow lake and its immense reed belt, the remaining marshland and flood plains, the extensively used hilly area up to the intensive agricultural regions in the low lying terraces. Whereas most service values ranged between '0' and '3' the values calculated for the LFT 'Low and middle range mountains' mainly covered by forests resulted in very high *regulation*, *provision* and *habitat* service supply. The diversifying LFTs 'Lake basin', 'Low lying terrace' and 'Hilly area and hill range' were selected to present the trade-offs between the main service categories (Fig. 7). The *regulation* and *carrier* services comprised the most different landscape services based on very diversifying individual sub-service values within the three selected LFTs (see Fig. 8, 9) The LFT 'Lake basin' presented a high provision of *habitat* and medium provision of *regulation* and *information* services, which was mainly due to the dominating shallow lake surrounded by the reed belt as well as on the natural and



Fig. 6. *Information* service values for each LCT (1a, Lake basin dominated by reed and wetland; 1b, Lake basin dominated by open water; 1c, Satellite lake basin dominated by grassland and divers agriculture; 1d, Marshland dominated by a mosaic of forest, grassland and water; 2a, Reclaimed marshland and lake basin with arable- and grassland dominance; 2b, Flatland dominated by homogenous arable land cover; 2c, Slightly undulating flatland dominated by vineyards; 2d, Slightly undulating flatland with heterogeneous land cover; 3a, Hill range and foothills with heterogeneous land cover; 3b, Hill range and foothills with heterogeneous land cover; 3e, Foothills and basins, mainly arable and grassland dominance). The single values were pooled into five groups displaying the range between the lowest value (cold spots) and highest value (hot spots) reached within the investigation area.

Table 2

Aggregated service values of *carrier, information, habitat, regulation and provision* services for the seven Landform Types. The values can range between 0 (no service provision) and 5 (very high service provision).

LFT	Carrier	Information	Habitat	Regulation	Provision
Lake basin	1.15	2.64	3.53	2.66	1.80
Marshland	0.88	1.74	2.80	3.06	1.73
River floodplain	1.51	1.90	1.62	1.77	0.89
Low lying terrace	1.77	1.73	1.67	1.78	0.55
Elevated terrace	1.97	1.87	1.75	1.78	0.58
Hilly area and hill range	1.65	2.59	2.93	2.99	2.45
Low and middle range mountain	0.81	1.90	4.45	4.45	4.12



Fig. 7. Trade-offs between the main landscape services: carrier, information, habitat, regulation and provision for the LFTs 'Lake basin', 'Low lying terrace' and 'Hilly area and hill range'.

semi-natural area in the southern and eastern part of the Landform Type. These areas are intrinsically providing conservation functions, as they serve as nesting and feeding habitats for colonies of reed-nesting birds (e.g. egrets, spoonbills). Within the *regulation* services the 'water and nutrient regulation' as well as the 'disturbance prevention' services were dominating (see Fig. 8). Although 'tourism facilities' are very important in that area, the *carrier* services had only reached low values due to the low values of the other sub-services ('energy conversion' and 'habitation' services) in that category.

Compared to the other LFTs the 'Low lying terrace' at the same time presented the lowest values of the *provisioning* and *information* and high values of *carrier* services (Table 2). Predominant is the equally flat surface covered by intensive arable land parcels and peri-urban zones with growing horticultural establishments (see high values of 'habitation' and 'cultivation services' in Fig. 9). These areas are less attractive, sharing only little recreational nature conservation potential.

The service values of the LFT 'Hilly area and hill range' were well balanced (Fig. 7) reflecting a diversified landscape including



Fig. 8. Distribution of the *regulation* sub-services of the LFTs 'Lake basin', 'Low lying terrace' and 'Hilly area and hill range'.



Fig. 9. Distribution of the *carrier* sub-services of the LFTs 'Lake basin', 'Low lying terrace' and 'Hilly area and hill range'.

both extensive and intensive rural areas accompanied by some semi-urban settlements. The higher values of *regulation* and *habitat* services were based on the semi open landscape on the western sandstone hill, mainly in Hungary. These landscapes are intensively used mainly covered by vineyards. Tourism is based on the wine culture and the dense cycling road network inserted into the landscape, which led to high *carrier* services.

4. Discussion

4.1. Evaluation of the methodology

Within our study we assessed a wide range of landscape services at different spatial scales to provide a good overview of the services people derive from the investigated landscapes. It has to be acknowledged that the proposed framework is a model of reality trying to reduce the complexity of human-environmental systems in an appropriate, logical and reproducible manner. Hence, generalizations and simplifications have to be tolerated in order to receive a holistic picture of complex systems. As different landscapes have different functions based on their structure and related processes the individual landscape service provision are strongly linked to natural conditions: e.g. water holding capacity, soil conditions, fauna and flora, elevation, slope and climate as well as anthropogenic influences, such as changing land use, greenhouse and aerosol effects. However, finding appropriate indicators related to the specific service providing unit and exploring how functions and services are correlated with different landscape scenarios are still unresolved questions (Seppelt et al., 2011; Wallace, 2007). Current landscape service indicators are still limited by insufficient data and an overall low ability to convey information (Layke, 2009). Therefore, we used an expert driven evaluation in assessing most of the landscape services, extended by empirical data and spatial indicators. Earlier studies have already applied assessment matrices (e.g. Haines-Young and Potschin, 2008; Burkhard et al., 2009, 2011; Koschke et al., 2012), where land cover types were linked by hypothetical values to selected ecosystem service supply capacities. This method enables a rapid service assessment and supplies a good overview to see first trends for landscape service provision (Burkhard et al., 2009). Applying a relative five step scale enables a comparison between the different landscapes providing landscape service by harmonisation of the different indicators, and offers the opportunity to avoid value-laden units, such as monetary terms. However, we are aware, that these expert based values are dependent on the observer's ability to make appropriate evaluations and often lack objectivity. By including additional data from a field survey (for the Broader Habitat Approach) and spatial data (for the Socio-Cultural Approach) into our assessment, we tried to reduce this expert bias. The way forward to explicitly address each subservice would be to develop indicator sets including data from monitoring, measurements, and computer based modelling targeted to each of these. But this would encompass the need of very detailed data and statistical relationships which are not available yet for the wide range of services.

Whereas most previous studies used CORINE data as service providing units (e.g. Burkhard et al., 2009, 2011, Naidoo and Ricketts, 2006; Koschke et al., 2012), we applied land cover data of higher spatial resolution within our Broader Habitat Approach, in order to be locally explicit and further to be able to integrate our approach in regional landscape planning projects. Using habitat specific qualifiers, such as 'habitat structure', 'management', 'pressure' and 'valuable attributes' gives researchers the possibility to identify and quantify site-specific relations between landscape services and the environment. However, to fully assess services, both temporal and spatial scale effects additionally have to be integrated into the assessment framework (Bastian et al., 2012). For instance, regulation services can occur both at landscape scale (e.g. water regulation of the whole marshland area) and landscape element-scale (e.g. water holding capacity of a single mire) (de Groot, 1992). Also pressures on ecosystem services can have effects at different scales. In general, physical processes on small scales are often driven by the impact of long term phenomena at larger scales (climate patterns, hurricanes, fires) (Limburg et al., 2002). Hence, for the analyses of the dynamics of service supply it is very important to consider the drivers and processes at scales relevant for service generation. To integrate effects at broader scales e.g. the landscape scale, both spatial configuration of the landscape elements (see Frank et al., 2012), effects of neighbouring features (e.g. power plant) and temporal dynamics have to be considered in future projects.

Embedded within a spatial reference framework the individual landscape services of all three approaches were extrapolated to the Landform Type scale, in order to grasp the main differences between different landscapes and land cover types. Such a spatial framework enabled us to map locally explicit service provision as well as to visualise different service supply at the landscape scale. However, it has to be taken into account that the aggregation of the sub-services to the main 5 services as well as the extrapolation to the Landform Type scale blurred to some extent the picture of the services' provision due to the averaging. Also the effects on the Landform Type scale might be different from that at the Landscape Character Type or landscape sample site scale. Investigations on the extent of service delivery as well as on interactions among multiple landscape services across different scales (Willemen et al., 2010) have to be undertaken by further investigations.

Our approach was based on the assessment of the single subservices that were finally aggregated to the main service groups, which resulted in a loss of information. A sort of weighting of the single sub-services within one main service group could partly solve the problem. Such a weighting might be carried out within a stakeholder workshop. In the present state our levelled [0–5] and aggregated service values only provided information on service provision with limited accuracy (Table 2). This may also be with the reason why the differences between the final main service values are not very big.

Another delicate issue is the proper assessment of socio-cultural (*information*) services. Although such cultural services play an essential part in the enhancement of human welfare, they are only marginally present in the current research activities due to yet unsolved assessment difficulties (Benayas et al., 2009; Vejre et al., 2007; Gee and Burkhard, 2010). Within our Socio-Cultural Approach, the indicator development for the *information* services was highly dependent on data availability. For linear elements, we currently used only the indicator of visually relevant edges in the landscapes. This set could be enlarged by integrating data on e.g. roads with panoramic view or tree rows. Areal indicators would profit from the inclusion of data on accessibility, visibility and diversity of land cover. Unfortunately the lack of data availability limited us to the actual set.

4.2. The concept of landscape services as an operational tool to evaluate ecologically sensitive regions

By applying the proposed methodological framework, users will be provided with information on the landscape without intensive new data gathering. Although the methodology has been specifically targeted to our investigation area, the framework should be applicable in other regions as well. Especially in regions, where data availability on specific landscape services is limited or incomplete (e.g. transboundary areas are often lacking homogeneous data) it would deliver a good overview of the service provision of the different landscapes. Certainly, other areas will require an adaptation of the spatial reference framework as well as of the service providing units and will be also dependent on a certain extent of available data (qualifiers for the Broader Habitat Approach and indicators for the Socio-Cultural and Landform Type Approach). However, there is the possibility to use only one of the proposed approaches to generate information of selected services, depending on the research question.

The service values resulting from the presented methodology may support spatial planners by providing information on service distribution within the target region. Whereas the aggregated results at the Landform Type supply an overview on total service provision, the distribution of the individual sub-services at lager scales (landscape sample sites and LCTs) can provide a detailed insight into the service provisions of landscapes. In this way, areas of high nature conservation value or potential for demographic development can be identified. Especially, for areas with high pressure on land resources, a visualisation of the actual service provision can help policy makers and spatial planners to make informed choices.

The implementation of our assessment framework into participating sustainable landscape planning has already started within our investigation area. We tried to integrate the landscape service concept into the establishment of the nature conservation and regional development project: 'Biosphere Reserve Neusiedler See'. According to the Statutory Framework of the World Network of Biosphere Reserves, the recognition of new and already existing Biosphere Reserves requires, among other things, 'the involvement and participation of a suitable range of inter alia public authorities, local communities and private interests'(UNESCO, 1996: 17, Art.4, 6). Only the involvement and participation of the resident population and all stakeholders could increase the acceptance and traceability of decisions, strengthen the identification of citizens and stakeholders with decisions, as well as increase confidence in politics and public administration (Standards der Öffentlichkeitsbeteiligung, 2008). Therefore, to promote the expansion of the territory of the already existing Biosphere Reserve 'Neusiedler See' and the implementation of the Seville Strategy, representatives of important interest groups, landowners and NGOs were involved in an opinion-forming process. The stakeholders were asked to discuss and evaluate some of the related services of different types of landscapes within the region 'Neusiedler See', in order to identify sensitive areas, where land use pressure is very high. Preliminary results of discussions showed that the landscape service concept has potential to be the basis of a participatory approach, but still needed to be further developed to be used as a successful communication tool. In following projects an advanced version of the proposed framework is planned to be developed, in order to be applied for finding an overall concept for the Biosphere Reserve 'Neusiedler See'.

5. Conclusions

Embedded in a spatial reference framework a good overview of the distribution of the different landscape services within the transnational study area could be provided. Additionally Hot as well as Cold spots of the individual service provisions were identified. Thus, the concept of landscape services might be a useful tool to evaluate sensitive regions and provide a basis for cross border landscape planning decisions. Applying such a spatially explicit methodology provides useful information on how spatial patterns contribute to different service provision. Whereas in most cases homogenous landscapes only emphasise on one specific landscape service, complex landscapes reveal a more diversified picture. However, for more detailed analyses further investigations, especially on scaling effects and spatial characteristics as well as interactions between the different services have to be conducted. Making landscape services spatially explicit and combining empirical data with spatial information offers an innovative approach to landscape research in the field of visualising the provision of landscape services. While most other assessment methods only focus on selected services occurring at one scale, we present a first step in the methodological development to assess and map spatial variability of landscape services.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the project TransEcoNet (Transnational Ecological Networks), which is implemented through the Central Europe Programme co financed by ERDF. We would also like to thank the project Bioserv (Biodiversity of ecosystem services as scientific foundation for the sustainable implementation of the Redesigned Biosphere Reserve 'Neusiedler See') within the Man and Biosphere programme funded by the Austrian Academy of Sciences. Our personal thanks go to Tamara Zhuber and Kathrin Euller for helpful comments and revising the language.

References

- Antrop, M., 2001. The language of landscape ecologists and planners: a comparative content analysis of concepts used in landscape ecology. Landscape Urban Plan. 55, 163–173.
- Bastian, O., Schreiber, K.-F. (Eds.), 1994. Analyse und ökologische Bewertung der Landschaft. Gustav Fischer, Jena, Stuttgart.
- Bastian, O., Schreiber, K.-F. (Eds.), 1999. Analyse und ökologische Bewertung der Landschaft., second ed. Spektrum, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- Bastian, O., Grunewald, K., Lupp, G., Syrbe, R.U., Wachler, C., 2012. Verfahrensansätze der Landschaftsökologie zur Erfassung und Bewertung von Ökosystemleistungen. BfN-Skripten 320. Bundesamt für Naturschutz Bonn, 78–90.
- Benayas, J.M.R., Newton, A.C., Diaz, A., Bullock, J.M., 2009. Enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services by ecological restoration: a meta-analysis. Science 325, 1121–1124.
- Buchwald, K., Engelhardt, W. (Eds.), 1968. Handbuch f
 ür Landschaftspflege und Naturschutz: Planung und Ausf
 ührung, vol. 4. Bayerischer Landwirtschaftsverlag, M
 ünchen, Basel, Wien.
- Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Müller, F., Windhorst, W., 2009. Landscapes' capacities to provide ecosystem services - a concept for land-cover based assessments. Landscape Online 15, 1–22.
- Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Nedkov, S., Müller, F., 2011. Mapping supply demand and budgets of ecosystem services. Ecol. Indic. 21, 17–29 (http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X11001907-aff0005).
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R.S., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., Oneill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P., vandenBelt, M., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387, 253–260.
- Daily, G.C. (Ed.), 1997. Nature's Services: Societal Dependence on Natural Ecosystems. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- de Groot, R.S., 1992. Functions of Nature: Evaluation of Nature in Environmental Planning, Management and Decision Making. Wolters-Noordhoff BV, Groningen.
- de Groot, R.S., 2006. Function-analysis and valuation as a tool to assess land use conflicts in planning for sustainable, multi-functional landscapes. Landscape Urban Plan. 75, 175–186.
- de Groot, R.S., Alkemade, R., Braat, L., Hein, L., Willemen, L., 2010. Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning management and decision making. Ecol. Complex 7, 260–272.
- E.S.R.I. Inc., 2011. ArcMap 10. 1. ESRI Inc., Redlands, CA.
- Essl, F., Egger, G., Ellmauer, T., Aigner, S., 2002. Rote Liste der gefährdeten Biotoptypen Österreichs: Konzept. UBA-Monographien, Umweltbundesamt, Wien.
- European Environment Agency (EEA), 2007. CLC 2006 technical guidelines -Technical report 17/2007, http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/technical_ report_2007_17
- Fisher, B., Turner, R.K., Morling, P., 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. Ecol. Econ. 68, 643–653.
- Forman, R., Godron, M., 1986. Landscape Ecology. Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Frank, S., Fürst, C., Koschke, L., Makeschin, F., 2012. A contribution towards a transfer of the ecosystem service concept to landscape planning using landscape metrics. Ecol. Indic. 21, 30–38.
- Gee, K., Burkhard, B., 2010. Cultural ecosystem services in the context of offshore wind farming: a case study from the west coast of Schleswig-Holstein. Ecological Complexity 7/3, 349–358.
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., 2008. England's Terrestrial Ecosystem Services and the Rationale for an Ecosystem Approach. Full Technical Report to Defra, Project Code NR0107, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), London, pp. 1–89.
- Hein, L., van Koppen, K., de Groot, R.S., van Ierland, E.C., 2006. Spatial scales, stakeholders and the valuation of ecosystem services. Ecological Economics 57 (2), 209–228.
- Hermann, A., Schleifer, S., Wrbka, T., 2011. The concept of ecosystem services regarding landscape research: a review. Living Rev. Landscape Res. 5, 1 (Online Article): cited (10.11.2012), http://www.livingreviews.org/lrlr-2011-1
- INSPIRE Thematic Working Group Coordinate reference systems and Geographical grid systems, 2009. D2.8.1.2 INSPIRE Specification on Geographical Grid Systems – Guidelines. http://inspire.jrc.ec.europa.eu/documents/Data. Specifications/INSPIRE.Specification.GGS.v3.0.pdf
- Jones, K.B., Krauze, K., Müller, F., Zurlini, G., Petrosillo, I., Victorov, S., Li, B.-L., 2008. Landscape approaches to assess environmental security: summary, conclusions, and recommendations. In: Petrosillo, I., Müller, F., Jones, K.B., Zurlini, G., Krauze, K., Victorov, S., Li, B.-L., Kepner, W.G. (Eds.), Use of Landscape Sciences for the Assessment of Environmental Security. NATO Science for Peace Series C (Environmental Security). Springer Publication, Dordrecht, pp. 475–486.
- Kollányi, L., Csemez, A., Jombach, S., Szilvácsku, Zs., 2012. The On-Line TÉKA Database, An Integrated Approach to Landmark Inventarisation. Department of Landscape Planning and Regional Development, Budapest Corvinus University, Budapest, Hungary (manuscript).
- Konkoly-Gyuró, E., Tirászi, A., Wrbka, T., Prinz, M., Renetzeder, C., 2010. Der Charakter grenzüberschreitender Landschaften (Határon átivelo tájak karaktere). University of Western Hungary, Sopron.
- Konkoly-Gyuró, É., 2011. Definition of landscape services. In: Wrbka, T., et al. (Eds.), Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services as Scientific Foundation for the Sustainable Implementation of the Redesigned Biosphere Reserve 'Neusiedler See'. Biological Sciences. ISBN-13 Online: 978-3-7001-7289-5; http://dx.doi.org/10.1553/bioserv-neusiedler-sees

Koschke, L., Fürst, C., Frank, S., Makeschin, F., 2012. A multi-criteria approach for an integrated land-cover-based assessment of ecosystem services provision to support landscape planning. Ecol. Indic. 21, 54–66.

- Layke, C., 2009. Measuring Nature's Benefits: A Preliminary Roadmap for Improving Ecosystem Service Indicators. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.
- Lee, J.T., Elton, M.J., Thompson, S., 1999. The role of GIS in landscape assessment: using land-use-based criteria for an area of the Chiltern Hills area of outstanding natural beauty. Land Use Policy 16, 23–32.
- Limburg, K.E., O'Neill, R.V., Costanza, R., Farber, S., 2002. Complex systems and valuation. Ecol. Econ. 41, 409–420.
- Linehan, J.R., Gross, M., 1998. Back to the future back to basics: the social ecology of landscapes and the future of landscape planning. Landscape Urban Plan. 42, 207–223.
- MEA, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis Report. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Meyer, B.C., Grabaum, R., 2008. MULBO: model framework for multicriteria landscape assessment and optimisation. A support system for spatial land use decisions. Landscape Res. 33, 155–179.
- Naidoo, R., Ricketts, T.H., 2006. Mapping the economic costs and benefits of conservation. PLoS Biol. 4, 2153–2164.
- Norgaard, R.B., 2010. Ecosystem services: from eye-opening metaphor to complexity blinder. Ecol. Econ. 69, 1219–1227.
- Renetzeder, C., van Eupen, M., Mücher, C.A., Wrbka, T., 2008. A spatial regional reference framework for sustainability assessment. In: Helming, K., Tabbush, P., Perez-Soba, M. (Eds.), Sustainability Impact Assessment of Land Use Changes. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 249–268.
- Seppelt, R., Dormann, C.F., Eppnik, F.V., Lautenbach, S., Schmidt, S., 2011. A quantitative review of ecosystem service studies: approaches, shortcomings and the road ahead. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 630–636.
- Standards der Öffentlichkeitsbeteiligung, 2008. (Decided on 2. Juli 2008 by the Council of Ministers): http://www.partizipation.at/fileadmin/media_data/ Downloads/Standards_OeB/standards_der_oeffentlichkeitsbeteiligung_2008 _druck.pdf (01.04.2012).

- Swanwick, C., 2002. Landscape Character Assessment Guidance for England and Scotland. The Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage.
- TEEB, 2010. In: Kumar, P. (Ed.), The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Ecological and Economic Foundations. Earthscan, London.
- Termorshuizen, J.W., Opdam, P., 2009. Landscape services as a bridge between landscape ecology and sustainable development. Landscape Ecol. 24, 1037–1052. Troy, A., Wilson, M.A., 2006. Mapping ecosystem services practical challenges and
- opportunities in linking GIS and value transfer. Ecol. Econ. 60, 435–449. UNESCO, 1996. Biosphere Reserves: The Seville Strategy and the Statutary Frame-
- work of the World Network. UNESCO, Paris.
- Vejre, H., Abildtrup, J., Andersen, E., Andersen, P., Brandt, J., Busck, A., Dalgaard, T., Hasler, B., Huusom, H., Kristensen, L., Kristensen, S., Præstholm, S., 2007. Multifunctional agriculture and multifunctional landscapes – land use as an interface. In: Mander, Ü., Wiggering, H., Helming, K. (Eds.), Multifunctional Land Use: Meeting Future Demands for Landscape Goods and Services, Springer, Berlin, New York, pp. 93–104.
- Verburg, P.H., van de Steeg, J., Veldkamp, A., Willemen, L., 2009. From land cover change to land function dynamics: a major challenge to improve land characterization. J. Environ. Manage. 90, 1327–1335.
- Wallace, K.J., 2007. Classification of ecosystem services: problems and solutions. Biol. Conserv. 139, 235–246.
- Wiggering, H., Dalchow, C., Glemnitz, M., Helming, K., Muller, K., Schultz, A., Stachow, U., Zander, P., 2006. Indicators for multifunctional land use – linking socio-economic requirements with landscape potentials. Ecol. Indic. 6, 238–249.
- Willemen, L., Hein, L., van Mensvoort, M.E.F., Verburg, P.H., 2010. Space for people, plants, and livestock? Quantifying interactions among multiple landscape functions in a Dutch rural region. Ecol. Indic. 10, 62–73.
- Willemen, L., Verburg, P.H., Hein, L., van Mensvoort, M.E.F., 2008. Spatial characterization of landscape functions. Landscape and Urban Planning 88 (1), 34–43.
- ZAMG, 2002. Klimadaten von Österreich 1971–2000. Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik.
- Ziener, K., 2003. Das Konfliktfeld Erholungsnutzung-Naturschutz in Nationalparken und Biosphärenreservaten (Habilitationsschrift), Aachen, 460 Seiten.

Section A

Article 3 (iii)

Kuttner, M., Schneidergruber, A., Wrbka, T. 2014. *Do landscape patterns reflect ecosystem service provision? – A comparison between protected and unprotected areas throughout the Lake Neusiedl region.* eco.mont, 6/2, 13-20.

doi:10.1553/ecomont-6-2s13

Do landscape patterns reflect ecosystem service provision? – A comparison between protected and unprotected areas throughout the Lake Neusiedl region

Michael Kuttner, Anna Schneidergruber & Thomas Wrbka

Keywords: ecosystem services, landscape indices, biodiversity, green infrastructures, sustainability

Abstract

Nowadays, anthropogenic landscape fragmentation and land-use change are recognized as major driving forces for the ongoing worldwide loss of biodiversity. Though nature conservation areas, such as Austria's national parks, serve as retreat habitats for a broad range of biota, they are embedded in a complex of landscapes where diverse conflicts of interests meet, for instance tourism, agriculture and nature conservation. As a first step to improving the multifunctional quality of landscapes in terms of connectivity and flows of energy, material and information across the boundaries of protected zones, the status quo of such landscape mosaics has to be evaluated. The main aim of this study was to test if protected areas generally supply a higher share of environment-related ecosystem services than the surrounding landscape. We also investigated to which extent the structural composition and configuration of landscape sections reflects their volume of ecosystem service provision. We selected our study sites within the Austrian-Hungarian transnational study region around Lake Neusiedl and developed a methodological framework for assessing and mapping ecosystem services based on expert knowledge, spatial information and field data. The crucial linkage between landscape structure and its contribution for sustaining distinct ecological key functions was investigated through comprehensive use of landscape metrics, habitat and connectivity mapping. We were able to verify that levels of ecosystem service provision as well as the share and function of ecologically viable landscape elements were higher within the national park and that a statistical correlation between the aforementioned assessments exists. The outcomes of this study may support local stakeholders with valuable information on the service provision capacity and functional state inside and outside protected landscapes and illustrate hot and cold spots of network patterns. This in turn will allow the development of well-focused and efficient planning measures to strengthen ecosystematic functioning in terms of sustainable landscape development vis-à-vis society.

Introduction

In recent decades the demand for natural resources has grown considerably due to exponential economic growth, resulting in an enormous pressure on the earth's ecosystems. As a consequence, our society is faced with various negative impacts on the environment, such as habitat loss, fragmentation and degradation, climate change, biological invasions, overexploitation and pollution at global, national and regional level. European cultural landscapes in particular are characterized by a high level of anthropogenic fragmentation and habitat loss which are known major reasons for the decline of biodiversity in industrialized countries and also have a negative influence on ecosystem service provision (Walz & Syrbe 2013). Old cultural landscapes, on the other hand, which have been shaped and used for centuries, like the region around Lake Neusiedl, are composed of a mosaic of different habitat types reflected in a highly diverse landscape structure. Based on these geometrical aspects, which

Profile

Protected area

Lake Neusiedl/Fertö Hanság Nati-

onal Park

Country

Austria & Hungary

can also be regarded as frozen processes (Wrbka et al. 2004), the crucial relationship between structural patterns and functional indicators in landscapes has been stressed repeatedly (Forman 1995; Turner et al. 2001; Moser et al. 2002; Blaschke 2006; Walz 2011). Such multifunctional landscapes not only share a rather high potential for biodiversity and ecosystem functioning but are also beneficial for society (Otte et al. 2007). The concept of ecosystem services is said to have great potential for adding value to current conservation approaches, in particular for local and regional planning (Maes et al. 2012; Chan et al. 2006; Daily & Matson, 2008; Nelson et al. 2009; Egoh et al. 2009). However, this potential remains poorly explored across Europe (Haslett et al. 2010; Harrison et al. 2010). Therefore we have investigated the relation of two promising options to provide a knowledge basis to meet the needs of sustainable landscape development and conservation management inside and outside protected areas. While Kuttner et al. 2013 introduced an assessment of structural landscape functionality that has been devel-



Figure 1 – Location of the study area within the cross-border region of Austria and Hungary.

oped to provide a comprehensive overview of location and quality of ecologically valuable landscape elements and networks, Hermann et al. (2014) created a flexible approach for mapping and spatio-thematic aggregation of various ecosystem services (ESS). Both assessments were conducted on the same sample plots throughout the transnational study region around Lake Neusiedl.

The main aim of our study was to find out if ecosystem service provision differs significantly, depending on status and category of protection, with a special focus on Lake Neusiedl / Fertö Hanság National Park (NP). As stated by Syrbe & Walz (2012), structural configuration and land-use regimes have a strong influence on several ecological key processes which have been quantified by ESS evaluation. We also tested if a statistical relation existed between the results of the former studies and identified hot and cold spots of ESS supply, which we subdivided into the main groups of Provision, Habitat and Regulation services. We tested the strength and quality of coherence between them and the outcomes of the structural assessment on landscape functionality. Innovative conservation assessment and planning may benefit from this approach because it allows for an integrative evaluation of conservation areas and their contribution to human wellbeing (Chan et al. 2006; Egoh et al. 2008).

Study region

The investigation area of approx. 2015 km² is located on both sides of the border between Hungary and Austria (see Figure 1). Therein the cross-border Lake Neusiedl / Fertö-Hanság NP, founded in 1993, covers an area of around 90 km² in Austria and 230 km² in Hungary. At 114 m, Austria's lowest elevation (47° 44.1' N, 16° 51.8' E) is situated in the centre of the study area near the village of Apetlon.

The predominant climate is Pannonian, with annual precipitation rates around 600-800 mm and an annual mean temperature of >9 °C (ZAMG 2002). The continental lake basin between the Alps and the Carpathians is a north-western overhang of the Small Pannonian Plain at the foothills of the Leithagebirge and the Ruster Hügelland.

Lake Neusiedl and a series of small satellite lakes on the eastern part, the Seewinkel area, constitute the westernmost alkali lakes in Europe and the seminatural zone around them still forms Europe's second largest reed wetland vegetation, which is one of the most important bird sanctuaries in Central Europe, both for breeding and migratory birds. Beyond the wetlands the area includes extremely rich habitats, presenting a transition zone between the mountain ranges and the lowlands of the Pannonian Basin. From the unique dry alkaline steppe up to the closed deciduous forests, a series of different vegetation types results in a high level of landscape diversity, also promoting biodiversity as such. Due to the biocultural richness of the region, a series of other nationally and internationally protected areas, such as species management areas (IUCN Cat. IV) and protected landscapes (IUCN Cat. V) (Dudley 2008), Natura 2000 sites and a transnational biosphere reserve that covers the entire surface area of the lake have been created here. While these sites largely overlap the outer zones of the NP, they add support to sustainable landscape management strategies inside the park. In contrast, the rather dispersed Natura 2000 network ensures target-oriented protection of single species, e.g. the Great Bustard (Otis tarda), and their required core habitats beyond the NP boundaries. Further, the entire Lake Neusiedl plus its adjacent reedbelt, covering a total area of over 440 km², have been added to the list of internationally important wetland ecosystems by the RAMSAR convention in 1983. Finally, the Fertö-Lake Neusiedl region was designated a UNESCO World Heritage Site in 2001 to foster the preservation of the traditional cultural landscape and to support sustainable regional development.



Figure 2 – Overview of the entire study region, including the division into LFTs and location of local sample sites. Lake basin and Marshlands are highlighted on the map and cover the area of the NP.

Methods

Landscape division and local site sampling procedure

In order to reach statistically neat results that could be scaled up and compared, we developed a common spatial reference framework, including a nested sampling design for the selection of test sites, which followed several stratifications. As a prerequisite, the region was subdivided into seven Land Form Types (LFTs) (Konkoly-Gyuró et al. 2010). These LFTs are expressed by geomorphological peculiarities that form the characteristic shapes of the target region and result in greatly varying land-use strategies: Lake basin, Marshlands, River floodplains, Low lying terrace, Elevated terrace, Hilly area and hill range, Low and middle-range mountains. Within each LFT, we randomly selected six 2 x 2 km² sample sites by applying a predefined set of exclusion criteria, including inaccessibility of NP core zones or minimum distance to adjacent villages. The final set consisted of a balanced proportion of sites located inside or outside protected areas (Figure 2).

Assessment of structural landscape functionality

We delineated single landscape elements across all sample sites through object-based image analysis of the latest available orthophotos and manually corrected spatial misclassifications afterwards by onscreen digitizing. Then we applied a key for visual land cover interpretation, where the CORINE land cover interpretation system served as thematic basis to identify 65 different land cover classes. The resulting land cover maps were used for landscape structure analysis, where we first calculated a comprehensive set of 46 landscape metrics at class level using Fragstats 3.3 (McGarigal et al. 2002) and computationally reduced them to 21 by sorting out all highly correlated metrics after conducting a rank-based correlation analysis in R 2.7.1 (R Development Core Team 2008). Then we performed a Principal Component Analysis to detect the metrics that emerged as most important in describing variance throughout the input dataset. We then compared these outcomes with other recent literature and reduced the final set of metrics to 13. This core set of indices is subdivided into AREA (mean patch area; largest patch; total class area), SHAPE (area-weighted mean shape; landscape shape index; mean fractality), CONNECTIVITY (mean proximity; connectance; contiguity), ISOLATION (patch density; Euclidean nearest neighbour; aggregation index) and CORE (mean core area). For a differentiated assessment of the landscape's ecological state based on its underlying structural features, we sectioned the different land cover classes into six discrete functional groups (connecting corridors, dissecting corridors, valuable matrix, disturbed matrix, artificial matrix, stepping stones) and set up a classification scheme where positive or negative relations between the selected metrics and each functional group were assigned in terms of quantifying structural landscape functionality. In case of ambiguous or negligible relations, we excluded the relevant metrics from subsequent group calculations. In order to reach one final functionality value per sample site, we transformed and rescaled metric values per group, with a range of 0-100 for positively correlated or 100-0 for negatively correlated metrics, and summarized their outcomes per site. Further, to detect most valuable Green Infrastructure (GI) elements and ecologically valuable network structures,

16



Figure 3 – Combined landscape functionality maps for each LFT, visualizing GI networks and results cost surface modeling approach.

we performed a morphological spatial pattern analysis plus additional cost surface mapping for a predefined virtual species group we called specialists, which would require less or non-disturbed parts of the landscape as their living space. At this, we set up a series of seven way points located at a standardized distance (=1 km) from the centroid point of the largest GI element per sample plot and simulated least cost path walks to each point. The parameterization quantifying accessibility of the various landuse types to cross have been specifically suited to our target species group and consequently one final least cost path value per plot has been generated by calculating the mean out of the seven single walks. For further details on the previously described technical part of this study, please also refer to Kuttner et al. (2013).

Evaluation of ecosystem services

We also assessed and mapped 14 ESS within the aforementioned spatial reference framework for each sample site of the single LFTs. The ESS were grouped into three main service categories: Regulation (local climate regulation, disturbance prevention, water regulation, water supply, soil retention, soil formation, nutrient regulation, pollination), Habitat (sanctuary, nursery) and Provision (wild plants and game, raw materials, genetic resources, medicinal resources) (mainly adapted from de Groot 2006). To distinguish different service providing units, we used the Broader Habitat Type (BHT) classification system (Bunce et al. 2008, 2011). BHTs were linked to their capacities for providing various ESS by an expert-based classification system, on a scale of 0 to 5, with the highest value denoting the closest general relation between the BHT and its related service. This so-called Broader Habitat

Approach (Hermann et al. 2014) is based on a capacity matrix, with values altered by semi-quantitative field data (qualifiers). These qualifiers describe *in-situ* characteristics of single service providing units (landscape elements) with regard to their structural peculiarities, management practices and disturbance regimes. We then aggregated the service data into the main service categories and extrapolated them to gain statistically comparable results between the LFTs and protected and unprotected areas.

Interrelation of the assessments and comparison between areas of different protection status

In order to test if the outcomes of the two divergent assessments were pointing in the same direction, we conducted various univariate and multivariate linear regression analyses to identify both single and main ecosystem services that are correlated with structural landscape functionality and the share of green infrastructure networks.

In a separate step we tested if protected landscapes could be distinguished from non-protected areas in terms of service provision by applying a series of One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) tests.

Results

Results of the structural functionality assessment

The combined outcomes of the structural landscape functionality assessment are represented in Figure 3, including sample GI maps for each LFT. Ecologically most valuable GI networks and corresponding functionality rating, which would serve as potential habitats and migration corridors for the virtual *specialist* species group, are marked. In the background, outcomes of the cost surface modelling approach are outlined, ranging from areas that are easy to cross (brown) to barriers (blue).

Results of the coparison of ESS provision in protected and unprotected areas

The resulting boxplots (Figure 4) represent LFTbased mean service values for the main categories of *Regulation*, *Habitat* and *Provision*.

The course of the lines is quite similar, reflecting that the three environment-related service categories are positively correlated to each other and that there are no specific trade-offs between them. However, the importance of the single main groups is different. Whereas the main services Regulation and Habitat ranked close to each other, the Provision services resulted in distinctly lower values. Considering the different LFTs, outcomes reflected the high diversity within the study area, from natural and semi-natural areas, such as the shallow lake and its reed beds, the remaining marshland and flood plains, to the extensively used hilly area and the intensive agricultural regions in the low-lying and elevated terraces. Results of ANOVA testing confirmed significant differences $(p \le 0.05)$ throughout main service values across the single LFTs.

When comparing main service values of protected and unprotected sites within each LFT, most of them differed significantly. However, of the protected sites only Marshlands and Lake basin resulted in clearly higher values (F=6.7902; $p \le 0.001$) for all ecosystem main services compared to the unprotected sites. These LFTs are particularly interesting with regard to their conservation value as large parts are covered by Lake Neusiedl / Fertö-Hanság NP (see also Figure 2). Another series of ANOVA testings also pointed to significantly increased levels of structural functionality ($p \le 0.001$) and share of GI elements ($p \le 0.05$) within the NP territory.

Comparison between ecosystem services and structural landscape functionality

The scatterplots displayed in Figure 5 represent results of three different regression analyses that tested the dependency of main ecosystem services from the outcomes of the survey on structural landscape functionality, which are based on mean values of the single sample sites (n=41). Relations proved to be significant (p ≤ 0.001) in all cases and the strength of the statistical models ranged from corr. r²=0.691 for the main service Habitat to corr. r²=0.737 for Regulation and corr. r²=0.802 for Provision.

The performance of a stepwise multivariate regression analysis, where all subservice variables (n=14) were chosen as predictors at once, resulted in corr. $r^2 = 0.875$ for the four service variables of Soil retention (Regulation), Sanctuary (Habitat), Food and Genetic resources (both Provision) for the final model. A second multivariate regression analysis that focused on the relation between subservice values and GI net-

and and a service Regulation The main Service Regulation The m

illy area a hill range

Figure 4 – Boxplots of ANOVAs targeting main service distribution between individual LFTs and subdivided into protected and unprotected areas. The NP is located in the LFTs Lake basin and Marshlands.

work area returned corr. $r^2 = 0.862$ using 8 out of 14 variables. The majority and most influential ones of those, when referring to the summary of the stepwise regression, belonged to the main group of Provision services.

Discussion

The remarkable higher outcomes of both ESS and structural functionality assessments within the protected sites of the LFTs Marshlands and Lake basin (Figure 4) might be due to the fact that most of these subregions are covered by Lake Neusiedl-Seewinkel / Fertó-Hansàg NP and thus follow a broad conservation concept with core areas and buffer zones. Figure 6 exemplifies the outcomes of the structural functionality and ecosystem service assessments for the LFT Lake basin. However, non-protected areas within these LFTs also range above average in ESS supply, leading to the assumption that large and effectively managed nature reserves support ESS supply beyond its borders. Apart from those cases, the majority of LFTs showed a rather unclear and partly contrasting picture of ESS provision inside and outside local protected zones. There are several possible explanations for this:

- Some protected area categories, such as the protected landscapes (IUCN Cat. V) or biosphere reserve buffer zones, only prescribe minor conservation conditions for local land use and forestry.
- Other special protection areas, e.g. those under the EU Birds Directive, often follow specific management plans to foster local populations. In the Lake Neusiedl region, protected nesting areas of the Great Bustard (*Otis tarda*) located in LFT Elevated terrace demand an open and extensively utilized agricultural matrix without high proportions of corridor networks and stepping stone elements. In turn, this leads to comparatively low structural landscape functionality (Kuttner et al. 2013) and mediocre provision of Regulation, Habitat and Provision services in the protected parts of this LFT.



Figure 5 – Three scatterplots visualizing outcomes of linear regression analyses between structural functionality and ecosystem main services.

Privately owned land like the extensive oak-hornbeam forests in the Leithagebirge region enjoy no protection status. Hence, within the LFT Low and Middle range mountains with its vast private forest stands, the protection status might not be a determining factor for ecological quality and ESS provision. The fact that some of the sample sites within the LFT Elevated terraces also include large privately owned forest areas explains the rather high values within the unprotected areas.

However, ESS provision did not turn out to be significantly higher in some of the protected areas within the single LFTs. Distribution of GI elements and structural functionality values consistently showed higher outcomes. While the investigated ESS main groups are rather highly correlated to the outcomes of the structural assessment, not all of the single subservices showed such strong interdependency and thus cannot be explained by structural proxies only, as Syrbe et al. had already found in 2012. For example, abiotic services such as climate-, nutrient regulation or soil formation shared a rather high service potential in nonprotected but still sustainably managed areas as well. Nevertheless, both assessments are strongly correlated as most ecologically valuable elements share a rather high potential for providing the investigated ESS. As our results confirm, land management generally does not seem to be overexploitative in the region, especially in non-favourable sites (e.g. wooded slopes and wet or dry areas that have not been reclaimed / drained). On the other hand, areas that have been intensively used for decades, such as the LFTs Low terrace and Elevated terrace, performed least well, both in ecosystem service provision and structural functionality. Future management of ecosystems to enhance their functioning and service provision must consider the trade-offs between the different services. While we found positive correlations between ecologically valuable areas and the supply of the environment related services, traditional food production and services of crops and livestock are likely to be higher in intensively used areas (Hermann et al. 2014; Maes et al. 2012).

Our results are congruent with the outcomes of a global study carried out by Naidoo et al. (2006), in which they demonstrated that regions selected to maximize biodiversity do not provide as many ecosystem services as regions chosen randomly. However, it strongly depends on the target of the respective conservation area. Despite the lack of general concordance, win-win areas - regions important for both ecosystem services and biodiversity - could also be identified, especially on smaller scales. However, the results might be biased by the methods chosen to assess ecosystem services. As some services, such as providing a sanctuary, are locally explicit, while other services, such as climate regulation, occur on a regional scale (Hermann et al. 2011), it is difficult to assess a wide range of services within a specific service providing unit, e.g. a conservation area. Bridging the gap between different approaches to conservation and adaptive management of ecosystems to support service provision is part of new global and regional biodiversity policies. However, levels of congruence between biodiversity and ecosystem services are poorly understood, and the little quantitative evidence available so far has led to mixed conclusions (Chan et al. 2006; Metzger et al. 2006). According to the Convention on Biological Diversity's definition of biodiversity and the UK National Ecosystem Assessment report, biodiversity may act as a regulator of underpinning ecosystem processes as a final ecosystem service and as a good that is subjected to valuation, whether economic or otherwise (Mace et al. 2012). Thus, to really understand this complex relationship, we need to develop an interdisciplinary science of ecosystem management, bringing together ecologists, conservation biologists as well as resource economists. Despite these challenges, comparisons between biodiversityrelated and ecosystem service assessments have the potential to viably support decision-making processes. More research on the quantification and mapping of ecosystem services would improve our understanding on synergies and trade-offs between services and biodiversity. Sustainable development should involve managing for both in order to enhance human welfare that is linked in diverse ways to biodiversity, conservation and ecosystem services (Naidoo et al. 2006).

Although the methods of the ESS and structural landscape functionality assessments have been specifically targeted to our study region, their overall framework will be applicable in other areas as well. Particularly in protected mountain landscapes, various biotic and abiotic base datasets are often available even on a broader scale, but quantification of specific ESS is still limited or incomplete. There the use of regionally adapted capacity matrices, including appropriate land cover classes, would provide a good overview of trends in ESS provision along and between entire mountain regions. Similarly, the structural assessment of landscape functionality along with the identification of key landscape elements and GI networks for certain target species or guilds could be established. Together, these concepts allow a comprehensive insight into the mutual benefits that landscapes can provide for both society and nature if sustainable development and use of natural resources is guaranteed. As the proposed methods are comprehensible as well as easily applicable along a wide range of different landscapes, it seems that they are well suited for integration into existing ecosystem monitoring techniques.

Acknowledgements

This study has been conducted within the projects TransEcoNet (Transnational Ecological Networks), which is implemented through the Central Europe Programme co-financed by ERDF, and BIOSERV (Biodiversity of ecosystem services as scientific foundation for the sustainable implementation of the redesigned Biosphere Reserve Neusiedler See) within the Man and Biosphere programme funded by the Austrian Academy of Sciences.

References

Bunce, R.G.H., M.M.B. Bogers, P. Roche, M. Walczak, I.R. Geijzendorffer & R.H.G. Jongman 2011. Manual for Habitat and Vegetation Surveillance and Monitoring: Temperate, Mediterranean and Desert Biomes. 1st edition, Wageningen, Alterra report 2154. Available at: http://www.ebone. wur.nl/NR/rdonlyres/DADAAB1E-F07C-4AA3-8621-20548A9B7DE6/135332/report2154.pdf (accessed: 17/12/2012)

Bunce, R.G.H., M.J. Metzger, R.H.G. Jongman, J. Brandt, G. De Blust, R. Elena-Rossello, G.B. Groom, L. Halada, G. Hofer, D.C. Howard, P. Kovar, C.A. Mucher, E. Padoa-Schioppa, D. Paelinx, A. Palo, M. Perez-Soba, I. Ramos, P. Roche, H. Skanes & T. Wrbka 2008. A standardized procedure for surveillance and monitoring European habitats and provision of spatial data. *Landscape Ecology* 23: 11–25.



Figure 6 – Overview of the sample plots selected in LFT Lake basin and corresponding structural functionality (histogram) and main ecosystem service distribution charts (boxplot – see also Figure 4), distinguishing between protected and unprotected sites.

Chan, K.M.A., M.R. Shaw, D.R. Cameron, E.C. Underwood & G.C. Daily 2006. Conservation planning for ecosystem services. *PLoS Biology* 4 (11): 2138–2152.

Daily, G.C. & P.A. Matson 2008. Ecosystem services: from theory to implementation. *PNAS* 105: 9455–9456.

de Groot, R.S. 2006. Function-analysis and valuation as a tool to assess land use conflicts in planning for sustainable, multi-functional landscapes. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 75 (3-4): 175–186.

Dudley, N. (ed.) 2008. *Guidelines for Applying Protected* Area Management Categories. Gland.

Egoh, B., B. Reyers, M. Rouget, D.M. Richardson, D.C. Le Maitre & A.S. van Jaarsveld 2008. Mapping ecosystem services for planning and management. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 127 (1-2): 135–140.

Egoh, B., B. Reyers, M. Rouget, M. Bode, D.M. Richardson 2009. Spatial congruence between biodiversity and ecosystem services in South Africa. *Biological Conservation* 142: 553–562.

Forman, R.T.T. 1995. Land Mosaics – The Ecology of Landscapes and Regions. Cambridge.

Harrison, P.A., M. Vandewalle, M.T. Sykes, P.M. Berry, R. Bugter, F. de Bello, C.K. Feld, U. Grandin, R. Harrington, J.R. Haslett, R.H.G. Jongman, G.W. Luck, P.M. da Silva, M. Moora, J. Settele, J.P. Sousa & M. Zobel 2010. Identifying and prioritising services in European terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 19: 2791–2821.

Haslett, J.R., P.M. Berry, G. Bela, R.H.G. Jongman, G. Pataki, M.J. Samways & M. Zobel 2010. Changing conservation strategies in Europe: a framework integrating ecosystem services and dynamics. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 19: 2963–2977. Hermann A., M. Kuttner, C. Hainz-Renetzeder, E. Konkoly-Gyuró, A. Tirászi, C. Brandenburg, B. Allex, K. Ziener & T. Wrbka 2014. Assessment framework for landscape services in European cultural landscapes – an Austrian Hungarian case study. *Ecological Indicators* 37: 229–240.

Hermann, A., S. Schleifer & T. Wrbka 2011. The concept of ecosystem services regarding landscape research: a review. *Living Reviews in Landscape Research* 5.

Konkoly-Gyuró, E., A. Tirászi, T. Wrbka, M. Prinz & C. Renetzeder 2010. *Der Charakter grenzüberschreitender Landschaften (Határon átivelo tájak karaktere)*. University of Western Hungary, Sopron.

Kuttner, M., C. Hainz-Renetzeder, A. Hermann & T. Wrbka 2013. Borders without barriers – Structural functionality and green infrastructure in the Austrian – Hungarian transboundary region of Lake Neusiedl. *Ecological Indicators* 31: 59–72.

Mace, G.M., K. Norris & A.H. Fitter 2012. Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 27 (1): 19–26.

Maes, J., M.L. Paracchini, G. Zulian, M.B. Dunbar & R. Alkemade 2012. Synergies and trade-offs between ecosystem service supply, biodiversity, and habitat conservation status in Europe. *Biological Conservation* 155: 1–12.

McGarigal, K., S.A. Cushman, M.C. Neel & E. Ene 2002. FRAGSTATS: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical Maps. Computer Software Program Produced by the Authors at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst.

Metzger, M.J., M.D.A. Rounsevell, L. Acosta-Michlik, R. Leemans & D. Schrotere 2006. The vulnerability of ecosystem services to land use change. *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment* 114 (1): 69–85.

Moser, D., H.G. Zechmeister, C. Plutzar, N. Sauberer, T. Wrbka & G. Grabherr 2002. Landscape shape complexity as an effective measure for plant species richness in rural landscapes. *Landscape Ecology* 17: 657–669.

Naidoo, R. & T.H. Ricketts 2006. Mapping the economic costs and benefits of conservation. *PLoS Biology* 4 (11): 2153–2164.

Nelson, E., G. Mendoza, J. Regetz, S. Polasky, H. Tallis, D.R. Cameron, K.M.A. Chan, G.C. Daily, J. Goldstein, P.M. Kareiva, E. Lonsdorf, R. Naidoo, T.H. Ricketts & M.R. Shaw 2009. Modelling multiple ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, commodity production, and tradeoffs and landscape scales. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 7: 4–11.

Otte, A., D. Simmering & V. Wolters 2007. Biodiversity at the landscape scale: recent concepts and perspectives for multifunctional land use. *Landscape Ecology* 22: 639–642.

R-Development Core Team 2008. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. www.r-project. org/ Syrbe, R-U. & U. Walz 2012. Spatial Indicators for the assessment of ecosystem services: Providing, benefiting and connecting areas and landscape metrics. *Ecological Indicators* 21: 80–88.

Turner, M.G., R.H. Gardner & R.V. O'Neill 2001. Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice, Pattern and Process. New York.

Walz, U. 2011. Landscape structure, landscape metrics and biodiversity. *Living in landscape research* 5 (3). Available at: http://www.livingreviews.org/lrlr-2011-3 (accessed: 21/03/2014)

Walz, U & R.-U. Syrbe 2013. Linking landscape structure and biodiversity. *Ecological Indicators* 31: 1–5.

Wrbka, T., K.H. Erb, N.B. Schulz, J. Peterseil, C. Hahn & H. Haberl 2004. Linking pattern and process in cultural landscapes. An empirical study based on spatially explicit indicators. *Land Use Policy* 21 (3): 289–306.

ZAMG 2002. Klimadaten von Österreich 1971– 2000. Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik, Wien. Available at: http://www.zamg.ac.at/fix/ klima/oe71-00/ (accessed: 21/03/2014)

Authors

Michael Kuttner*

is a graduate ecologist and PhD candidate at the Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research at the University of Vienna. Since 2010 he has worked in the field of landscape and vegetation ecology, focusing on the relation between biodiversity and landscape structures, GIS and species distribution modeling.

Anna Schneidergruber*

is a post-doc researcher at the Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research at the University of Vienna. Her main research interests are landscape and vegetation ecology, with special emphasis on biodiversity and the assessment of ecosystem services.

Thomas Wrbka*

is senior research fellow and senior lecturer at the Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research at the University of Vienna. His expertise is on classification of Austrian landscapes, development of indicators for sustainable land use, analysis of correlations between land management and biodiversity, vegetation and landscape monitoring and management concepts.

* Faculty Centre of Biodiversity, University of Vienna, Department of Conservation Biology, Vegetationand Landscape Ecology.

Section A

Article 4 (iv)

Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Schneidergruber, A., Kuttner, M., Wrbka, T. 2015. Assessing the potential supply of landscape services to support ecological restoration of degraded landscapes: A case study in the Austrian-Hungarian trans-boundary region of Lake Neusiedl.
Ecological Modelling, 295, 196-206.

doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.07.001

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIE



CrossMark

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolmodel

Ecological Modelling

Assessing the potential supply of landscape services to support ecological restoration of degraded landscapes: A case study in the Austrian-Hungarian trans-boundary region of Lake Neusiedl

C. Hainz-Renetzeder*, A. Schneidergruber, M. Kuttner, T. Wrbka

Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research, University of Vienna, Rennweg 14, A-1030 Vienna, Austria

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 23 July 2014

Keywords: Ecosystem service Constructed vegetation types Leitbild

ABSTRACT

The concept of ecosystem functions and services has increasingly gained attention in the scientific and political community in the last decade. Lot of work has been performed to assess the actual delivery of different services for society. Still, the reference of the landscape's potential to supply these actual services has not been investigated satisfactory so far. We thus aimed at assess the potential supply of landscape services in the study area of Lake Neusiedl in Austria - a region of acknowledged diversity and environmental quality – and compared these to the actual ones. We did this by setting up a map of constructed vegetation type where physiographic site conditions were used to calculate potential land cover in the area in GIS. These constructed vegetation types were linked to landscape services within a capacity matrix giving a weight between 0 (no supply) and 5 (high supply) to which amount one type can provide each single service. The resulting map showed large differences in areal extent of the different vegetation types reflecting the different landscapes in the region such as the dominance of forest steppe in the terraced landscapes or the occurrence of halophytic vegetation only in the lake basin. The same is true for the different landscape services. Some services like 'nursery' and 'raw materials' were quite highly provided throughout the area with values between 2.12 and 4.84, whereas 'genetic resources' and 'pollination' were only little provided (all values <2). On the other hand, functions like 'nutrient regulation' or 'refugium' exhibited their large potential with values >4 in the study area. The aggregation of the services by averaging values to finally derive three main service groups gave the highest values always to habitat (values between 3.1 and 4.8), followed by regulation (2.5-4.2) and then provision (1.9–3.2). Comparing the potential with the actual service supply, nearly all landscapes in the study area resulted in higher potential than the actual service supply. We further discuss possibilities to use the potential supply as a leitbild where restoration projects might be settled in the study area even though more detailed local data will be needed to set these projects up.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The concept of ecosystem functions, goods and services (MA, 2005) is an approach widely debated at the moment to quantify and to value the benefits ecosystems and landscapes provide to society. As such it is also highly dynamic with many publications and insights in a rather short period (e.g. Boyd and Banzhaf, 2007; Burkhard et al., 2013; Costanza et al., 1997; Daily and Matson, 2008; De Groot et al., 2002; Hermann et al., 2014; Willemen et al., 2012). In

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +43 1 4277 54382.

E-mail addresses: christa.renetzeder@univie.ac.at

particular, since the release of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment report (MA) in 2005 it has gained increasing attention and importance in science and policy in respect of natural resource management decision making. On a global scale one of the most recognized publications is The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity TEEB (Kumar, 2010), while at national scale it is the United Kingdom National Ecosystem Assessment (Bateman et al., 2011).

However, despite all such efforts in making the performance of ecosystems and landscapes popular, we are still far from a sustainable use of our natural capital. Instead we notice an increasing degradation of ecosystems and its natural assets worldwide (Heinberg, 2010). One most likely reason for this is the absence of ecosystem service values in environmental planning processes. Current approaches to integrate the concept into environmental planning seem to be insufficient in supporting decision processes

⁽C. Hainz-Renetzeder), anna.schneidergruber@univie.ac.at (A. Schneidergruber), michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at (M. Kuttner), thomas.wrbka@univie.ac.at (T. Wrbka).

about changing the landscape to improve ecosystem service supply.

From a European perspective, the biodiversity strategy of the European Union (EU) to 2020 demands improving the knowledge of ecosystem services and obliges its member states to map and assess the state of ecosystems and their services in their national territories by 2014. Following the EU biodiversity target 2 the member states have to preserve and enhance the supply of ecosystem services and are required to restore at least 15% of degraded ecosystems. According to the Society for Ecological Restoration (SER) both the protection of biodiversity and the sustainable provision of the necessary functions and services for human survival can be achieved by restoring ecosystems (Benavas et al., 2009; Palmer and Filoso, 2009). Ecological restoration means either removing the original cause of damage and let the system to recover on its own (passive recovery) or actively supporting the system to recover (active restoration) (SER, 2004). In particular, restoration projects with special focus on the enhancement of ecosystem services are seen as a major opportunity to reconnect people with nature and to simultaneously justify the need for restoring the damage humans have caused. As underlying ecosystem processes and consequently ecosystem services change with different restoration options, specific restoration goals have to be defined (Jones, 2013). In the quest for the optimum restoration target different environments however require different solutions. One possibility is to follow a 'landscape potential' oriented restoration process (White and Walker, 1997). This is also the reason why we chose the term 'landscape services' instead of 'ecosystem services'.

According to Bastian et al. (2012) the 'landscape potential concept' developed by landscape ecologists in the 1970s might offer such an alternative to set sustainable use levels. As Bastian et al. (2012) explained, the origin of this concept can be traced back to Bobek and Schmithüsen (1949), but Lüttig and Pfeiffer (1974) have first published 'maps of natural landscape potentials' (cp. Durwen, 1995; Leser, 1997). Focusing more on social and economic processes Neef (1966) defined a '(regional) economic potential of a landscape' which was further developed by Haase (1978). When addressing the issue on landscape's potential, it is very much driven by the reference scale which needs to be set. One way would be to look at former time points and compare land use systems and related land consumption (Biró et al., 2013; Frondoni et al., 2011; Prinz et al., 2010). This implies that former land use was oriented at the potential of the landscapes (Biró et al., 2013; Frondoni et al., 2011). As natural systems, whose components are the result of natural selection, are supposed to be ecologically sustainable (Ewel, 1999), we choose another way by excluding land use at all and try to derive the potential of the landscape regardless of any human activity.

Zampieri and Lionello (2010) stressed the fact that land cover types are closely connected to vegetation types, as vegetation together with urban areas, lakes, glaciers and ice caps are the characterizing key elements of the land surface. This concept very much refers to the concept of Potential Natural Vegetation (PNV), originally described by Tüxen (1956) and further developed by several authors, as described in detail by Chiarucci et al. (2010). The PNV concept is very much disputed in literature and its applicability is questioned by several authors (Chiarucci et al., 2010; Zerbe, 1998) whereas other authors strongly support the concept (Loidi et al., 2010). Despite the criticism mainly due to the hypothetical nature of the concept and its related methodological problems, Somodi et al. (2012) stressed the usefulness of PNV as a null model. Many studies documented the applicability of the concept, mostly to obtain the reference of potential distribution pattern of vegetation communities with the objective to develop reference lines for climate change studies (e.g. Franke and Köstner, 2007; Zampieri and Lionello, 2010), to provide a biogeographic classification (Vuerich et al., 2001) or to support decision processes in landscape planning (Brzeziecki et al., 1993; Liu et al., 2009, amongst others).

In principle, there are two ways of approaching the potential distribution of vegetation communities: either by setting up (i) equilibrium vegetation or biome models (e.g. Haxeltine and Prentice, 1996) where ecological and physiological processes are simulated until an equilibrium with climate variables are reached; or (ii) statistical models which apply relationships between site variables and observational data (Brzeziecki et al., 1993; Franke and Köstner, 2007; Liu et al., 2009; Miller and Franklin, 2002; Vuerich et al., 2001, amongst others).

In this context, we want to follow a more straight-forward, pragmatic approach where on the one hand statistical relationships of existing vegetation data cannot be used because of too little field data on natural vegetation in the area. But on the other hand, geographical and GIS-compatible data (geodata) on ecologically relevant site conditions can be applied to develop vegetation-site relationships and thus potential land cover. These relationships between community types and their environment are often presented as graphical ecological schemes which are called 'ecograms' (Brzeziecki et al., 1993; Ellenberg, 1988). We want to avoid using the term Potential Natural Vegetation because (i) of the outlined conceptual problems and (ii) of insufficient reference data on climax vegetation in the area. Thus PNV might be misleading and we introduce here the term "constructed vegetation types". We use geodata on current site factors to construct vegetation-site relationships for broadly defined vegetation types. In these terms we follow Somodi et al. (2012) who suggested a transparent and formalized estimation of potential vegetation by clearly defining the natural site factors which act as predictors. A similar approach was also proposed by Chytrý (1998) with the concept of Potential Replacement Vegetation.

In this article, we aim at mapping ecologically homogeneous units, each of them populated by a specific vegetation type and presenting a map of constructed vegetation types that are based on geodata on current site factors in the region of Lake Neusiedl. Most literature is targeting at the actual supply of services which can be yielded at the moment (Alkemade et al., 2014; Kroll et al., 2012; Nedkov and Burkhard, 2012; Seppelt et al., 2012). But this may not be in line with the potential supply of services which can be provided based on differences in site conditions.

Therefore, based on this map, we are further aiming to assess the potential supply of landscape services. We will test if the potential supply of services based on land cover regardless of any human activity is different from the actual supply of services based on current land use data. We also want discuss if the potential landscape can be used as a 'Leitbild' (Gerhards, 1997) for ecological restoration in the region Lake Neusiedl.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area

The project region covers the Austrian-Hungarian transboundary region of the Lake Neusiedl/Fertő extending over 2000 km². It is part of the Small Hungarian Plain in Central Europe representing the westernmost extension of the Pannonian Basin. Konkoly-Gyuró et al. (2010) defined seven so-called landform types, describing the main geomorphological relief features in the area (Fig. 1). The "Lake basin" embedding the shallow Lake Neusiedl in its centre is dominating the landscape view. Geological, climatic and geomorphological conditions have led to soda accumulation in the soil and to the existence of salt pans (alkaline waters). East of the lake, the landscape mainly consists of flat landform types "Marshland" and "Low terrace" representing the lowest places in Austria,



Fig. 1. Cross-border study area is divided into seven landforms: (1) Lake basin, (2) Marshland, (3) River floodplains, (4) Low terrace, (5) Elevated terrace, (6) Hilly area and hill range, and (7) Low and middle range mountains.

whereas west of the lake, gentle hills with a pronounced slope zone form the landforms "Hilly area and hill range" and "Low and middle range mountains". "River floodplains" are only marginally present at the borders of the project region as well as the "Elevated terrace". Within this relatively small area, plants and animals sharing various biogeographic origins are present, hence resulting in high α -diversity. In favour to conserve these unique landscapes, protection areas of different labels were assigned in the last decades throughout the whole region, in turn (actively) involving the local population into the regional development. Growing conflicts between agricultural production incorporating water drainage and lowering of the groundwater level as well as fertilization and nature conservation activities to maintain and restore wetland ecosystems provided the background for the development of the project.

2.2. Constructed vegetation types

In principle, we took existing vegetation maps of the region for gathering information on potential vegetation communities of the area in question. Niklfeld (1970/1989) described eight types of natural vegetation, which would evolve under current climate and soil conditions irrespective if these have undergone human-induced changes. He explicitly stresses the point not to provide PNV, since Tüxen's definition would include all irreversible anthropogenic influences even though Niklfeld's vegetation types might include types of PNV. Bohn et al. (2000/2003) aimed at "presenting natural site potential in the form of the current natural vegetation, which corresponds to the actual climatic conditions, soil properties (nutrient and water budget as well as soil depth) and the native flora in the various landscapes". Both maps work on a large scale: 1:2000000 and 1:2500000, respectively. Thus, the spatial resolution is poor and not applicable for our objectives, we want to provide a better resolution on a smaller scale. Still, both maps gave us valuable

information of the vegetation communities which are most likely to occur in the project region.

Based on Bohn et al. (2000/2003) and Willner and Grabherr (2007), specific site conditions for each vegetation type were extracted (Table 1). In principle, the region is characterized by a strong control of standing and ground water leading to the development of azonal communities like halophytic vegetation, reed belt, fens, alder swamp forests and alluvial forests. Only where the influence of water is of minor importance, zonal communities can grow. They follow a height gradient from the lowland steppe-forests, followed by communities with different oak species at higher elevations. We modified the list of vegetation types by also introducing the vegetation type of beech forest, as submontane conditions exist in the Sopron Mountains (Table 1).

We translated the site conditions into selection criteria of geodata where we used data on soil (source: Bodenkarte von Österreich, Bundesforschungs- und Ausbildungszentrum für Wald, Naturgefahren und Landschaft; Agrotopographic Map of Hungary), geology (source: Geologische Bundesanstalt; Geological Institute of Hungary (MÁFI)) and a digital elevation model (source: SRTM).

Climate variation is strongly correlated to topography (Körner, 2003) and thus not directly implemented into the niche descriptions. This construction of relationships between geodata-driven site conditions and broadly defined vegetation types allow for variation within one type (e.g. proportion of grassland in forest steppe might vary within the area due to little variations in site conditions). This construction of niche descriptions is no common PNV assessment method and therefore we call the vegetation types "constructed vegetation types".

By using ArcGIS 10.0 (ESRI, Redlands), we processed all geodata sets with the tool "identity" and cleaned the resulting shape. Additionally, we included the information on streams and rivers into the map by buffering running waterbodies by 10 m. The minimum mapping unit (MMU) for all spatial analyses has been set to 400 m². The different attributes of the geodata were assigned

Table 1

Vegetation types according to Bohn et al. (2000/2003) and Niklfeld (1970/1989) with respective site conditions used for defining the distribution pattern of the types.

	Bohn et al. (2000/2003)	Niklfeld (1970/1989)	site conditions
	water body	water body	
azonal	inland halophytic vegetation	halophytic vegetation	salty and alkaline soils, annual precipitation <450 mm; Solonchak- or Solonetz-soils
azonal	freshwater tall reed swamps	reed bed	(nearly) permanent water cover, water saturated soils, meso- to eutrophic standing water bodies on diverse subhydric to semiterrestric soils
azonal	Alder carrs and swamp forests	fens and alder swamp forests	high standing ground water in silted up water bodies, valleys, depressions; soils: different kinds of peat and gley
azonal	Hardwood alluvial forests in combination with softwood alluvial forests and wet lowland forests	Alluvial forests	coarse grained sediments with sandy-silty cover layer, periodically to episodic flooded
zonal	Beech forest ^a	Beech forest ^a	submontane forests preferring carbonate but also existing on more humid, only slightly carbonate influenced sites
zonal	colline-submontane sessile oak-hornbeam forest	oak-hornbeam forest of central European hills	flat to slightly inclined warm sites mostly on loess, but also on brown chernozem and cambisols, rather distant groundwater
zonal	Italian-Pannonian-central Balkan colline- submontane (to montane) sessile oak- (pedunculate oak-) bitter oak forests	Pannonian bitter oak- sessile oak forests	flat to slightly inclined, preferably S-,W- aspect on lime-free sediments, shallow loamy-sandy cambisols to deep stagnosols
zonal	Pannonian lowland mixed pedunculate oak forests	Submediterranean and Pannonian forests and copsewood with downy oak	dry, shallow soils (often Rendzina), substrate carbonate or lime on strongly inclined S- and W- slopes
		submediterranean influenced loess forest < steppe with mixed oak forests	slightly to strongly inclined S- and W- slopes; loess, limestone, marl
	Anthropogenic deposits ^b		

^a List of vegetation types is modified by adding Beech forest not identified by the authors in that region.

^b Classification label originating from the geological basemap kept in the list.

in a hierarchical way (first azonal, then zonal communities) to the individual vegetation types via attribute selection, eventually ending up with a map of constructed vegetation types. For example, the vegetation type of halophytic plants is characterized by salty and alkaline soils, low annual precipitation and Solonchak or Solonetz soils. No other vegetation type can be established under these conditions. So we selected all polygons which are labelled with the correct soil types and are no permanent waterbody and assigned it with the constructed vegetation type of "halophytic vegetation".

Only the vegetation type "alluvial forest" was also treated by a spatial selection of all alluvial soil polygons within a given search radius of 250 m around running waterbodies. Additionally, polygons of the geological basemap labelled with "anthropogenic deposits" were not assigned a vegetation type but we kept the label. Doing this, we followed the recommendation of Kowarik (1987) to avoid construction of vegetation types on artificial man-made habitats.

2.3. Assessment of the potential supply of landscape services

In our study we followed the concept of landscape services, which are defined as all goods and services that landscapes provide for well-being. They include materials and processes of nature (e.g. biomass, raw materials, primary productivity) and services of cultural elements and constructions that come into being through human creation (e.g. buildings, settlements, infrastructure) (Konkoly-Gyuró, 2011). Whereas the actual supply is based on the capacity of the current land use/cover types to provide landscape services, the potential supply of landscape services in

particular is defined as the ability of natural landscapes to achieve the sustainable provision of goods and services that satisfy human needs, directly and indirectly (modified after De Groot, 2006). We concentrated on those services that can be derived from the potential land cover, i.e. the constructed vegetation types. Thus, based on the list provided by De Groot (2006) and modified by Hermann et al. (2014) we assessed the actual as well as the potential supply of three main service groups (1) regulation, (2) habitat and (3) provision. The regulation group incorporates all services that regulate essential ecological processes through biogeochemical cycles, namely 'local climate regulation', 'disturbance prevention', 'water regulation', 'water supply' (including ground and surface water for industrial as well as private use), 'soil retention', 'soil formation', 'nutrient regulation' and 'pollination' of wild pant species and crops by bees and butterflies. Whereas the habitat services provide suitable living space ('refugium') and reproduction habitat ('nursery') for wild plants and animals, the provision services promote the supply of natural resources concerning 'food' (edible wild plants and animals), 'raw materials' (mainly timber and reed), 'genetic resources' (genetic material and evolution in wild plants and animals) and 'medicinal resources' (e.g. drugs and pharmaceuticals).

By means of an assessment matrix (after Hermann et al., 2014) these landscape services were linked to the constructed vegetation types by expert evaluations set up during several workshops on different disciplines of ecology (Vegetation Science, Zoology, Pedology and Climate Science). Whereas in the columns the selected landscape services were placed, in the rows the 12 constructed vegetation types were located marking the capacity for providing the services at the intersections (Table 2). The so-called 'Vegetation Type Value' (VET) ranged from categories 0 (no relevant link between the vegetation type and the specific service) and 5 (very high relevant link). The higher the category value, the higher is the capacity of a specific vegetation type to provide a service. For example, the vegetation type 'reedbed', which is very common in the study area, has a high capacity (category 5) to provide suitable habitat (refugium service) for wild animals, in particular for wading bird species. In contrast, the services 'genetic resources' and 'medicinal resources' are less provided (category 1) by this mono-dominant vegetation type (see Table 2).

For receiving the final Potential Landscape Service values, we calculated the area-weighted mean of the VET-values within each landform type. Finally, we took the mean value of the services within each main service group in order to plot the potential supply of the three main services *provision, regulation* and *habitat* onto a 3-axes spider web diagram per landform type together with the resulting values of the actual supply of landscape services which were assessed within a previous study provided by Hermann et al. (2014). The actual supply of landscape services was also assessed with the use of an expert-based assessment matrix. There, field-based land use maps with a MMU of 10 m^2 were used as service providing units whereby the expert evaluation values has been further revised by qualifiers originating also from field surveys. For detailed information on the calculation of the actual supply of services please refer to Hermann et al. (2014).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Constructed vegetation types

In general, the different vegetation communities did separate very well. Comparing the map of constructed vegetation types (Fig. 2) with the large-scaled maps of Bohn et al. (2000/2003) and Niklfeld (1970/1989), the distribution of vegetation types give the same picture, even though our map showed more detail in resolution.

Assessment matrix of differ 4= high relevant link, 5=very	ent vegetation type: y high relevant link.	s for providing i	ndividual land	lscape services	. 0=No releva	nt link betwee	n vegetation t	ype and spec	ific function,	l = low relevar	ıt link, 2	=relevant lin	ık, 3 = mediun	relevant link,
Constructed vegetation type	Local climate regulation	Disturbance prevention	Water regulation	Water supply	Soil retention	Soil N formation r	Jutrient I egulation	ollination	Refugium function	Nursery function	Food R n	aw naterials	Genetic resources	Medicinal resources
Alluvial	5	5	5	4	5	5	,	~	2	4	2 4		2	3
Anthropogen	2	2	1	0	1	0 1		-	1	0	0 0		0	0
Beech	5	5	5	33	5	5		0	2	5	3 5		2	3
Bitter + sessile oak	5	5	5	33	5	5		0	5	5	3 4		2	3
Downy oak	33	c	4	2	4	4			4	33	33		2	3
Fens	c.	4	5	4	3	5		0	2	3	1 3		0	2
Forest steppe	1	2	c	1	3	3			4	2	3 2		2	3
Halophytic	0	2	c	0	3	с, с		0	2	2	1 0		0	0
Oak-hornbeam	5	4	5	3	5	5		0	5	5	3 5		2	0
Reedbed	5	5	5	1	2	2		_	5	5	5 4		1	1
Rivers	4	4	4	2	0	0	t I	-	4	4	3		0	0
Waterbodies	5	4	5	1	0	0	1	_	4	3	4 0		1	0

Table 2

Adapted from Hermann et al. (2014)



Fig. 2. Constructed vegetation types in the cross-border study area. Types 'anthropogenic deposits' and 'Rivers' are not presented in this generalized map since their extent is too small to show.

Going more into detail, alluvial forests seem underrepresented along the rivers Leitha and Kleine Leitha in the North of the project region. Also along the Wulka flowing into Lake Neusiedl on the eastern shore, different forest types occur but alluvial forests are only present in relatively small patches. Patches of halophytic vegetation are also underrepresented or missing along the lake shore according to personal field observations. Constructed vegetation types which are mainly described by their soil properties are likely to be underrepresented in this map. In general, these problems are associated to the fact, that the dataset on soils does not cover the entire area, as information on soils of artificial areas and forests is generally excluded from the soil base map used in the frame of this study. Also additional data on hydrological levels could improve especially the spatial distribution of reed versus alder swamps stands. The information on dry grasslands is missing and must be discussed as a mosaic with forest steppe.

The distribution of the different constructed vegetation types among the landforms did to some extent follow the intrinsic definition of the landforms (Table 3). Reedbed (18 961 ha) and waterbodies (15 588 ha) were mainly located in "Lake Basin", as well as the halophytic vegetation type encompassing 2827 ha. Landform "Marshland" was dominated by fens (22 799 ha) and forest steppe (14 989 ha). Alluvial forests were mostly prominent in the "River floodplains" accounting for 1093 ha. The oak-hornbeam forests (8463 ha) and mixed oak forests (3069 ha) followed the elevation gradient in "Hilly area and hill range" as well as the even higher elevated beech forests (2516 ha) in "Low and middle range mountains". The vegetation type Forest steppe predominantly occurred in landforms "River floodplain", "Low terrace" and "Elevated terrace".

We want to stress the point that the construction solely based on geodata is reproducible and transparent despite the shortcomings of the geodata that can be attributed to (i) differences in resolution and scale and (ii) incomplete coverage. When necessary the definition of the selection criteria and the hierarchical sequence can be adapted and refined. Also validation of the resulting map showed some pitfalls: usually, validation of the models can either be achieved by dividing the original dataset into training data and test data or by taking external independent validation data, and thus getting an accuracy measure. The latter are often existing (field-based) PNV maps which are compared with the model outcome (Lapola et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009; Tichy, 1999). This might be problematic, as existing PNV maps usually were drawn on a different scale and generalisations had been conducted or these maps were developed solely by expert-knowledge and not data-driven. We therefore forwent this step, as the only validation data would be the large-scale maps of Bohn et al. (2000/2003) and Niklfeld (1970/1989).

3.2. Potential supply of landscape services

Based on the assessment matrix and the location of the constructed vegetation types, a picture of the potential supply of the individual services can also be drawn. As an example we present the potential supply of the service 'local climate regulation' (Fig. 3). 'Local climate regulation' depending on the presence of water and forests was therefore mostly located in the landforms lake basin, the wetlands and the forests along the hillsides. The potential supply of the services 'nursery', 'raw materials' and 'water supply' was also rather equally distributed in its values throughout the area (all

Table 3
Area [%] of constructed vegetation types per landform.

	Lake basin	Marshland	River floodplain	Low lying terrace	Elevated terrace	Hilly area and range	Low and middle range mountain
Alluvial	0.1	0.1	6.6	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1
Anthropogenic	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.5	0.5
Beech	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	27.7
Bitter + sessile oak	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2	1.8	15.2	3.2
Downy oak	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.3	4.6	5.1
Fens	16.0	54.7	22.0	14.3	3.1	8.9	0.3
Forest steppe	10.9	35.9	69.8	83.4	92.6	27.5	0.7
Halophytic	5.5	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.2	0.0
Oak-hornbeam	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.1	1.8	41.9	61.4
Reedbed	37.0	8.8	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2	0.0
Rivers	0.1	0.3	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.6	1.1
Waterbodies	30.4	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0

values are presented in Appendix A). 'Genetic resources' and 'pollination' were only little provided reflecting the low values in the capacity matrix. On the other hand, the services such as 'nutrient regulation' or 'refugium' exhibited the large potential in the study area.

Looking more closely to the potential supply of the landscape services per landform, the values varied from each other (see Appendix A). In Fig. 4, the example of the service group *provision* reflects the general findings also valid for the other two service groups. The majority of services with values >4 occurred in the "Low and middle range mountains". The lowest values could be determined in the landform "Elevated Terrace". "Lake Basin" showed contrasting potential in the services – within the group of *regulation* services, both, values >4 and <2 can be found. In all landforms, 'nutrient regulation' resulted in values >4, whereas 'genetic resources' was displayed nowhere >2.

The aggregation of the services by averaging values along the landform strata to finally derive three main potential service groups blurred the picture of the potential supply of the services to some extent. Therefore, the general picture of the service groups looks more or less similar in all landforms, giving the highest values always to *habitat*, followed by *regulation* and then *provision*. Depending on the area-weighting of the VET-values, the mean potential landscape service looked more differentiated among the landforms when looking at the detailed values (Table 4).



Fig. 3. Potential supply of service 'local climate regulation' throughout the study area. 0 = No provision, 1 = low provision, 2 = modest provision, 3 = medium provision, 4 = high provision, 5 = very high provision.



Fig. 4. Potential supply of service group *provision* in the seven landforms: (1) Lake basin, (2) Marshland, (3) River floodplains, (4) Low-lying terrace, (5) Elevated terrace, (6) Hilly area and hill range, and (7) Low and middle range mountains.

3.3. Comparison with actual supply of landscape services

Comparing the potential with the actual supply of landscape services revealed differences between the constructed vegetation types' and the current land use types' capacities to provide services (Fig. 5). In principle, nearly all landforms resulted in higher potential than the actual service provision. Within the present landforms "Lake Basin", "Marshland" and "Hilly area and hill range", the potential supply was nearly reached, except for the *habitat* axis which showed the least actual supply and thus the highest Potential supply of landscape service groups in each landform. The higher the value on the scale of 0–5, the higher the potential supply.

	Regulation	Habitat	Provision
Lake basin	2.959	4.082	1.928
Marshland	3.279	3.731	1.971
River floodplains	2.870	3.341	2.287
Low-lying terrace	2.606	3.171	2.340
Elevated terrace	2.493	3.101	2.486
Hilly area and hill range	3.648	4.256	2.785
Low and middle range mountains	4.200	4.875	3.164

possibilities for further development. The relatively high service values within these landforms are based on the high ecological quality of the investigated landscapes. Whereas nowadays "Lake Basin" and "Marshland" are dominated by protected areas and remaining wetland and forest patches, "Hilly area and hill range" is characterized by a diversified landscape including both extensive and intensive rural areas, accompanied by some semi-urban settlements. In contrast, the actual service supply of the landforms "River floodplain", "Low lying terrace" and "Elevated terrace" was far lower than the potential suggests, mainly due to intensive anthropogenic land use over the last decades. Whereas small river corridors with flood plain forests are still present in the land form "River floodplain", within the other two former mentioned landforms the predominantly flat surface is mainly covered by intensive arable land parcels, peri-urban zones and growing horticultural establishments. One big exception is constituted by landform "Low and middle range mountains" which exhibited higher actual regulation and provision services compared to the potential service supply.



Fig. 5. Comparison of potential supply of services vs. actual supply of services in each landform. Dotted line shows actual and dashed line shows potential supply.

This landform is presently dominated by sustainably managed forests with few grassland patches and arable fields in between.

In order to locate restoration potential within the study area, we can see that in all landforms except "low and middle range mountains", the potential supply of services is higher than the actual one which would mean that renaturation would lead to an enhancement of the regulation services. These landforms showed spatially diversified vegetation communities in the map of constructed vegetation types. As land management has concentrated the last decades on arable farming, uniformisation of land use and landscape has led to change of water level, salt content and other environmental site factors. For example, the landform "Marshland" is potentially driven by the strong control of ground water. Due to land use activities in the last decades, the ground water level has decreased enormously in order to provide suitable arable land therefore replacing reed and alder swamp communities and has led to a degradation of valuable wetland areas. Thus, many regulation services showed now lower supply which could be originally provided. Many nature conservation activities in the last years concentrated on the renaturation and restoration of the Hanság within the landform "Marshland" to establish again a higher ground water level. This would lead to a better performance of services like water regulation, soil formation, and refugium for wetland species. Other landforms like "Low terraces" showed a large spatial variation in the distribution of potential as well as the actual supply. Here, a more detailed examination of the local conditions needs to exhibit the potential for restoration projects following the landscape's leitbild where our results can only show on the regional level possibilities for the improvement of regulation services. The objective pursued is not to reconstruct landscapes of the past, but to study ways how valuable elements and areas can be preserved or restored and become functionally embedded in the modern urbanized and globalized society. The definition of reference systems at the landscape level could be a starting point to re-establish basic landscape functions by integrating the concept of landscape functions and services into restoration ecology which is a step in the right direction (Jones, 2013). For the establishment of a detailed restoration plan, not only the very local conditions but also stakeholder involvement and feasibility studies are indispensable.

The big exception in the comparison of potential with actual supply is the landform "Low and middle range mountains". The map of constructed vegetation types showed for this landform only forest communities. But nowadays, large forest patches coexist with land use types of cultural landscapes like vineyards and meadows resulting in a highly diverse and only extensively used landscape. This enhanced habitat diversity resulted in the provision of high levels of supply of their services beyond the potential supply.

Based on our results we hence conclude that landscapes shaped by humans do have the ability to provide high service values in respect to the landscape properties if they were managed in a sustainable way. According to Austad (2000) and Jones (2013) a diversified landscape managed upon knowledge of its historical development and past functioning can indeed be very valuable for humans by providing a wide range of life sustaining services.

However, we have to be aware that the potential supply of services is based on constructed vegetation types whereas the actual one derived from land use and land cover types. The fact that the actual service assessment was based on higher resolution data might explain some differences between the results. The minimal mapping unit was quite different between both methods: whereas the MMU was 400 m² for the constructed vegetation types, the MMU for the field-based land use maps was 10 m². However the results where generalized on the same level as the potential supply.

One key challenge is to explore the trade-offs and synergies between different services that specific restoration actions would entail. For example, reforesting a cultivated area will take away the service 'crop production' but reinstate 'soil retention', 'water regulation' and 'disturbance prevention'. Within the present study we have assessed the regulation services so far. In order to reach an even more detailed trade-off analysis, the study has to be extended to *production* and socio-*cultural* services as well.

4. Conclusions

In general, the direct link between the constructed vegetation types and the potential supply of regulation landscape services showed a high value for all services. Only in the details, some services would be better supported and provided by other vegetation types than the ones potentially occurring in the region of Lake Neusiedl. Looking at the different landforms within the study area, we can conclude that considering at the potential supply in order to develop a leitbild for restoration activities is worthwhile in landscapes dominated by arable farming whereas landscapes with a diverse land use system already exhibit large service supply.

The focus on these three service groups was set deliberately as we wanted to fathom the use of physiographic conditions for the assessment. Still this method cannot be applied for all services. To estimate of landscape's potential to deliver the services e.g. aesthetic values, other approaches need to be sought covering a wide array of research topics and a large community. The way forward to explicitly address each service is to develop indicator sets targeted to each of these (Crossman et al., 2013; Gulickx et al., 2013; Haines-Young et al., 2012, amongst others). But this would encompass the need of very detailed data and statistical relationships which are not available yet for the study area.

Nevertheless, our study showed the possibilities of an overview assessment appropriate to grasp the main differences between different landscapes and different vegetation and land cover types.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the Austrian Academy of Science within the research project 'Climate Change Response of Ecosystem Services in the sensitive area of Neusiedlersee-Seewinkel'. Our personal thanks are dedicated to Erich Draganits, Christoph Iglseder and Andras Zamolyi with the help of ecological interpretation of geological maps as well as our colleagues Éva Konkoly-Gyuró, Valeria Bacsardi and Pál Balázs for providing us with physiographic basemaps of the Hungarian study area. Two anonymous reviewers delivered valuable input for improving the manuscript for which we are thankful.

Appendix A.

Table A1.

Table A1

Potential supply of the landscape services per landform; landforms are described in Section 2.1.

Landform	Lake basin	Marshland	River floodplain	Low terrace	Elevated terrace	Hilly area and hill range	Low and middle range mountains
Local climate regulation	3.97	2.47	1.76	1.34	1.22	3.60	4.84
Disturbance prevention	4.04	3.37	2.67	2.33	2.16	3.55	4.24
Water regulation	4.67	4.28	3.60	3.31	3.14	4.37	4.91
Water supply	1.43	2.66	1.90	1.44	1.17	2.48	2.95
Soil retention	1.72	2.91	3.12	3.00	3.07	4.16	4.86
Soil formation	2.04	4.00	3.56	3.29	3.13	4.34	4.86
Nutrient regulation	4.48	4.64	4.29	4.15	4.06	4.69	4.96
Pollination	1.33	1.91	2.06	1.99	2.00	1.99	1.99
Refugium	4.59	4.64	4.29	4.16	4.06	4.65	4.91
Nursery	3.58	2.82	2.39	2.18	2.14	3.86	4.84
Food	3.61	2.08	2.50	2.71	2.93	2.80	2.98
Raw materials	2.18	2.72	2.35	2.15	2.12	3.68	4.76
Genetic resource	0.89	0.81	1.54	1.69	1.93	1.79	1.96
Medicinal resources	1.02	2.27	2.75	2.82	2.96	2.87	2.95

References

- Alkemade, R., Burkhard, B., Crossman, N., Nedkov, S., Petz, K., 2014. Quantifying ecosystem services and indicators for science, policy and practice. Ecol. Indic. 37, 161–162.
- Austad, I., 2000. The future of traditional agriculture landscapes: retaining desirable qualities. In: Klijn, J., Vos, W. (Eds.), From Landscape Ecology to Landscape Science. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Wageningen, pp. 43–56.
- Bastian, O., Haase, D., Grunewald, K., 2012. Ecosystem properties, potentials and services – the EPPS conceptual framework and an urban application example. Ecol. Indic. 21, 7–16.
- Bateman, I.J., Mace, G.M., Fezzi, C., Atkinson, G., Turner, K., 2011. Economic analysis for ecosystem service assessments. Environ. Res. Econ. 48, 177–218.
- Benayas, J.M.R., Newton, A.C., Diaz, A., Bullock, J.M., 2009. Enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services by ecological restoration: a meta-analysis. Science 325, 1121–1124.
- Biró, M., Szitár, K., Horváth, F., Bagi, I., Molnár, Zs., 2013. Detection of long-term landscape changes and trajectories in a Pannonian sand region: comparing landcover and habitat-based approaches at two spatial scales. Community Ecol. 14, 219–230.
- Bobek, H., Schmithüsen, J., 1949. Die Landschaft im logischen System der Geographie. Erdkunde 3, 112–120 (in German).
- Bohn, U., Neuhäusl, R., with contributions by Gollub, G., Hettwer, C., Neuhäuslová, Z., Raus, Th., Schlüter, H., Weber, H., 2000/2003. Map of the Natural Vegetation of Europe. Scale 1:2 500 000 [map]. Landwirtschaftsverlag, Münster.
- Boyd, J., Banzhaf, S., 2007. What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. Ecol. Econ. 63, 616–626.
- Brzeziecki, B., Kienast, F., Wildi, O., 1993. A simulated map of the potential natural forest vegetation of Switzerland. J. Veg. Sci. 4, 499–508.
- Burkhard, B., Crossman, N., Nedkov, S., Petz, K., Alkemade, R., 2013. Mapping and modelling ecosystem services for science, policy and practice. Ecosyst. Serv. 4, 1–3.
- Chiarucci, A., Araujo, M.B., Decocq, G., Beierkuhnlein, C., Fernandez-Palacios, J.M., 2010. The concept of potential natural vegetation: an epitaph? J. Veg. Sci. 21, 1172–1178.
- Chytrý, M., 1998. Potential replacement vegetation: an approach to vegetation mapping of cultural landscapes. Appl. Veg. Sci. 1, 177–188.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R.S., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., et al., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387, 253–260.
- Crossman, N.D., Burkhard, B., Nedkov, S., Willemen, L., Petz, K., Palomo, I., et al., 2013. A blueprint for mapping and modelling ecosystem services. Ecosyst. Serv. 4, 4–14.
- Daily, G.C., Matson, P.A., 2008. Ecosystem services: from theory to implementation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 9455–9456.
- De Groot, R.S., 2006. Function-analysis and valuation as a tool to assess land use conflicts in planning for sustainable, multi-functional landscapes. Landsc. Urban Plan. 75, 175–186.
- De Groot, R.S., Wilson, M.A., Boumans, R.M.J., 2002. A typology for the classification, description and valuation of ecosystem functions, goods and services. Ecol. Econ. 41, 393–408.
- Durwen, K.J., 1995. Naturraum-Potential und Landschaftsplanung. Nürt. Hochsch. 13, 45–82 (in German).
- Ellenberg, H., 1988. Vegetation Ecology of Central Europe, 4th ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Ewel, J.J., 1999. Natural systems as models for the design of sustainable systems of land use. Agrofor. Syst. 45, 1–21.

- Franke, J., Köstner, B., 2007. Effects of recent climate trends on the distribution of potential natural vegetation in Central Germany. Int. J. Biometeorol. 52, 139–147.
- Frondoni, R., Mollo, B., Capotorti, G., 2011. A landscape analysis of land cover change in the Municipality of Rome (Italy): spatio-temporal characteristics and ecological implications of land cover transitions from 1954 to 2001. Landsc. Urban Plan. 100, 117–128.
- Gerhards, I., 1997. Leitbilder für die Landschaftsrahmenplanung dargestellt anhand von Überlegungen für Hessen. Nat. Landsch. 72, 436–443 (in German).
- Gulickx, M.M.C., Verburg, P.H., Stoorvogel, J.J., Kok, K., Veldkamp, A., 2013. Mapping landscape services: a case study in a multifunctional rural landscape in The Netherlands. Ecol. Indic. 24, 273–283.
- Haase, G., 1978. Zur Ableitung und Kennzeichnung von Naturraumpotenzialen. Petermanns Geogr. Mitt. 22, 113–125 (in German).
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., Kienast, F., 2012. Indicators of ecosystem service potential at European scales: mapping marginal changes and trade-offs. Ecol. Indic. 21, 39–53.
- Haxeltine, A., Prentice, I.C., 1996. BIOME3: an equilibrium terrestrial biosphere model based on ecophysiological constraints, resource availability, and competition among plant functional types. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycl. 10, 693–709.
- Heinberg, R., 2010. Turning the Corner on Growth. Solutions Perspectives. http://www.thesolutionsjournal.com/node/539
- Hermann, A., Kuttner, M., Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Konkoly-Gyuró, E., Tirászi, A., Brandenburg, C., et al., 2014. Assessment framework for landscape services in European cultural landscapes – an Austrian Hungarian case study. Ecol. Indic. 37, 229–240.
- Jones, H.P., 2013. Impact of ecological restoration on ecosystem services. Encycl. Biodivers. 4, 199–208.
- Konkoly-Gyuró, É., 2011. Definition of landscape services. In: Wrbka, T. (Ed.), Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services as Scientific Foundation for the Sustainable Implementation of the Redesigned Biosphere Reserve'Neusiedler See'. Biological Sciences, ISBN-13 978-3-7001-7289-5.
- Konkoly-Gyuró, É., Tirászi, A., Wrbka, T., Prinz, M., Renetzeder, C., 2010. Der Charakter grenzüberschreitender Landschaften (Határon átivelo tájak karak-tere). University of Western Hungary, Sopron (in Hungarian and in German).
- Körner, C., 2003. Alpine Plant Life Functional Plant Ecology of High Mountain Ecosystems, 2nd ed. Springer, Heidelberg.
- Kowarik, I., 1987. Kritische Anmerkungen zum theoretischen Konzept der potentiellen natürlichen Vegetation mit Anregungen zu einer zeitgemäßen Modifikation. Tuexenia 7, 53–67 (in German).
- Kroll, F., Müller, F., Haase, D., Fohrer, N., 2012. Rural-urban gradient analysis of ecosystem services supply and demand dynamics. Land Use Policy 29, 521–535.
- Kumar, P., 2010. The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Ecological and Economic Foundations. Earthscan, London.
- Lapola, D.M., Oyama, M.D., Nobre, C.A., Sampaio, G., 2008. A new world natural vegetation map for global change studies. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 80, 397–408.
- Leser, H., 1997. Landschaftsökologie, 4th ed. Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart (in German).
- Liu, H.M., Wang, L.X., Yang, J., Nakagoshi, N., Liang, C.Z., Wang, W., et al., 2009. Predictive modeling of the potential natural vegetation pattern in northeast China. Ecol. Res. 24, 1313–1321.
- Loidi, J., del Arco, M., de Paz, P.L.P., Asensi, A., Garretas, B.D., Costa, M., et al., 2010. Understanding properly the 'potential natural vegetation' concept. J. Biogeogr. 37, 2209–2211.
- Lüttig, G., Pfeiffer, D., 1974. Die Karte des Naturraumpotentials. Ein neues Ausdrucksmittel geowissenschaftlicher Forschung für Landesplanung und Raumordnung. N. Arch. Niedersachs. 23, 3–13 (in German).
Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis Report. Island Press, Washington, DC.

- Miller, J., Franklin, J., 2002. Modeling the distribution of four vegetation alliances using generalized linear models and classification trees with spatial dependence. Ecol. Model. 157, 227–247.
- Nedkov, S., Burkhard, B., 2012. Flood regulating ecosystem services mapping supply and demand, in the Etropole municipality, Bulgaria. Ecol. Indic. 21, 67–79.
- Neef, E., 1966. Zur Frage des gebietwirtschaftlichen Potentials. Forsch. Fortschr. 40, 65–70 (in German).
- Niklfeld, H., Natürliche vegetation [map] 1970/1989. In: Breu, J. (Ed.), Atlas der Donauländer., p. 171.
- Palmer, M.A., Filoso, S., 2009. Restoration of ecosystem services for environmental markets. Science 325, 575–576.
- Prinz, M.A., Wrbka, T., Reiter, K., 2010. Landscape change in the Seewinkel: comparison among centuries. In: Andel, J., Bicik, I., Dostal, P., Lipsky, Z., Shahneshin, S.G. (Eds.), Landscape Modelling. Geographical Space, Transformation and Future Scenarios. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 123–132.
- Seppelt, R., Fath, B., Burkhard, B., Fisher, J.L., Grêt-Regamey, A., Lautenbach, S., et al., 2012. Form follows function? Proposing a blueprint for ecosystem service assessments based on reviews and case studies. Ecol. Indic. 21, 145–154.
- SER (Society for Ecological Restoration Science and Policy Working Group), 2004. The SER International Primer on Ecological Restoration. Society for Ecological Restoration International, Tucson www.ser.org

- Somodi, I., Molnár, Z., Ewald, E., 2012. Towards a more transparent use of the potential natural vegetation concept – an answer to Chiarucci et al. J. Veg. Sci. 23, 590–595.
- Tichy, L., 1999. Predictive modeling of the potential natural vegetation pattern in the Podyji National Park, Czech Republic. Folia Geobot. 34, 243–252.
- Tüxen, R., 1956. Die heutige potentielle natürliche Vegetation als Gegenstand der Vegetationskartierung. Angew. Pflanzensoziol. (Stolzenau) 13, 5–42 (in German).
- Vuerich, L.G., Poldini, L., Feoli, E., 2001. Model for the potential natural vegetation mapping of Friuli Venezia-Giulia (NE Italy) and its application for a biogeographic classification of the region. Plant Biosyst. 135 (3), 319–335.
- White, P.S., Walker, J.L., 1997. Approximating nature's variation: selecting and using reference information in restoration ecology. Restor. Ecol. 5, 338–349.
- Willemen, L., Veldkamp, A., Verburg, P.H., Hein, L., Leemans, R., 2012. A multiscale modelling approach for analysing landscape service dynamics. J. Environ. Manag. 100, 86–95.
- Willner, W., Grabherr, G., 2007. Die Wälder und Gebüsche Österreichs. Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Elsevier, Heidelberg (in German).
- Zampieri, M., Lionello, P., 2010. Simple statistical approach for computing land cover types and potential natural vegetation. Clim. Res. 41, 205–220.
- Zerbe, S., 1998. Potential natural vegetation: validity and applicability in landscape planning and nature conservation. Appl. Veg. Sci. 1, 165–172.

- Introduction to Section B -

Establishing a new spatial data source for applying various ecological implications on supra-regional level

In the second and rather short section of my thesis I present one research article (v) that addresses the generation of a new high-resolution habitat map which may serve as a basic dataset for a broad range of applications in the fields of ecological modelling, nature conservation practise and landscape planning.

Up to now, the latest version of CORINE land cover (CLC) which has been established 2006 (EEA, 2007) still serves as the most popular data source in various scientific disciplines when spatially explicit information on land cover is demanded on a mid to large scale across Europe. The advantages when applying CLC are obvious and can be grouped by four main statements: (a) CLC is freely available; (b) it covers almost all of Europe; (c) it follows a standardized mapping scheme; and (d) for major parts, short and mid-term time series are available which facilitate the quantification on land use change for roughly the last 25 years (e.g. Verburg et al., 2006). Despite these advantages, CLC faces limitations for local assessments of e.g. land cover (change) (Pachecoa & Gutiérreza, 2014) because of its relatively coarse minimum mapping unit of 25ha and, moreover, CLC categories proved to be too crude in sufficiently describing habitat heterogeneity for in-depth assessments on biodiversity-environment relationships (Keil et al., 2012).

As recently as ten to fifteen years ago, a first wave of new remote sensing based data sources derived from e.g. Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR) or Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) sensors, have been introduced to improve large scale land cover mapping. However, the rather coarse horizontal resolution of their outcomes (up to 1km) and consequently their insufficient accuracy in mapping heterogeneous land cover types such as forests, sparsely vegetated areas or wetlands (Waser & Schwarz, 2006) hampered their application in the past. During the last years, newly introduced sensors and continued growth of computational power (referred to as "Moore's law"; Moore 1965) facilitated a rapid development in remote sensing based data collection, post-processing, storage, and finally, accessibility for the scientific community. For example, pan-european, yet monothematic maps of forest distribution as provided by the Joint Research Centre (Kempeneers et al., 2011) or by the GIO land monitoring service (Langanke, 2013) represent a giant leap forward by improving the spatial resolution of the according datasets to 25m. In parallel, the coverage and guality of detailed and freely available land cover data, provided by the Open Street Map community has constantly risen over the past decade. Additionally, more and more biotope inventory datasets on rare and/or

threatened habitats which have been gathered and maintained on behalf of public authorities are becoming available.

Altogether, these recently emerged data sources facilitated the generation of a new, thematically as well as spatially high resolution habitat map as presented in article (v). The map consists of 19 different habitat classes at a horizontal resolution of 25m by covering the countries of Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, the region of South Tyrol as well as the German federal states of Bavaria and Baden-Wurttemberg. Our habitat categorization follows the CLC and EUNIS (European Nature Information System) (Davies et al., 2004) classification systems, however, we tried to overcome some issues of CLC by unravelling the mixed classes of Land principally occupied by agriculture (4.1.2) or Complex cultivation patterns (2.4.2). All source data we applied, especially the supra-national remote-sensing data on forest cover was checked and corrected beforehand by the use of e.g. exclusion layers and geospatial correction tools, followed by posterior checks on mapping accuracy with independent reference data. In order to guarantee constant guality and consistency of our map throughout all encompassing countries we carefully selected the underlying base data to ensure conformity within our designated habitat classes. However, for this reason we could not refine our classification scheme, even if thematically more fine-scaled data was available for only some parts of our mapping region. For example, we did not differentiate our grassland typology by main type of use, i.e. being utilized either as pasture or meadow but only by land use intensity. In case of artificial surfaces, a delineation of distinct sub-classes such as industrial/commercial sites or residential areas would have been possible but has not been in our focus when establishing the habitat map. Other supra-national base datasets, e.g. on mixed forests are currently being developed. As the map has been set up in a modular way, refinements, data updates and introduction of new classes can be performed either by the individual user and is also foreseen to be done by the map authors at regular intervals.

As already mentioned, the applications of this new so called Central European Habitat Map (CEH-Map) are manifold. For instance, many of the studies mentioned or referred to in the first section of my thesis that are dealing with the topics of landscape functionality or landscape/ecosystem service provision are at least partly relying on land cover data. In this context, finer resolution input data could yield more distinct results in e.g. ecosystem service assessments as Koschke et al. (2012) already stated that, despite better knowledge, they had to assume land use does not vary within each of the 100m CORINE raster cells they used in that specific study. Another current hot topic regarding 'Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services' (MAES) which is defined as target 2 of the EU Biodiversity Strategy requires the quantification of ecosystem services in order to fulfil its goal of restoring at least 15% of threatened and degraded ecosystems throughout each member state. At this,

Albert et al. (2015) propose a national assessment of ecosystem services which may serve as a superstructure not only for implementing MAES but also to better coordinate upcoming planning and decision making processes on lower administrative levels. In case of Austria, the CEH-map could be applied as one major base data set to meet these requirements.

Other fields of map application are outlined within article (v), and additionally the map has already been used within recent scientific studies as described in the associated articles (vi) and (ix).

Reference List:

Albert, C., Bonn, A., Burkhard, B., Daube, S., Dietrich, K., Engels, B., Frommer, J., Götzl, M., Grêt-Regamey, A., Job-Hoben, B., Koellner, T., Marzelli, S., Moning, C., Müller, F., Rabe, S-E., Ring, I., Schwaiger, E., Schweppe-Kraft, B., Wüstemann, H. 2015. Towards a national set of ecosystem service indicators: Insights from Germany. Ecological Indicators *in press*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.08.050

EEA 2007. CLC2006 technical guidelines. Technical report No 17/2007 – ISSN 1725.2237. Kopenhagen. DOI: 10.2800/12134.

Davies, C.E., Moss, D., O'Hill, M. 2004. EUNIS habitat Classification. Revision 2004. European Environment Agency, Kopenhagen and European Topic Centre on Nature Protection and Biodiversity, Paris.

Keil, P., Schweiger, O., Kühn, I., Kunin, W.E., Kuussaari, M., Settele, J., Henle, K., Brotons, L., Pe'er, G., Lengyel, S., Moustakas, A., Steinicke, H., Storch, D. 2012. Patterns of beta diversity in Europe: the role of climate, land cover and distance across scales. Journal of Biogeography, 39, 1473-1486.

Kempeneers, P., Sedano, F., Seebach, L., Strobl, P., San-Miguel-Ayanz, J. 2011. Data Fusion of Different Spatial Resolution Remote Sensing Images Applied to Forest-Type Mapping. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing 49/12, 4977-4986.

Moore, G. 1965. Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. Electronics 38, 114-117.

Koschke, L., Fürst, C., Frank, S., Makeschin, F. 2012. A multi-criteria approach for an integrated land-cover-based assessment of ecosystem services provision to support landscape planning. Ecological Indicators, 21, 54-66.

Langanke, T. 2013. GIO land (GMES/Copernicus initial operations land) High Resolution Layers (HRLs) – summary of product specifications; Version 6 of 2013-07-08. European Environmental Agency, Kopenhagen.

Pachecoa, J., Gutiérreza, J. 2014. Exploring limitations of CORINE Land Cover for monitoring urban land-use dynamics in metropolitan areas. Journal of Land Use Science, 9/3, 243-259.

Verburg, P.H., Schulp, C.J.E., Witte, N., Veldkamp, A. 2006. Downscaling of land use change scenarios to assess the dynamics of European landscapes. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 114, 39-56.

Waser, L.T., Schwarz, M. 2006. Comparison of large-area land cover products with national forest inventories and CORINE land cover in the European Alps. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 8/3, 196-207.

Section B - Establishing a new spatial data source for applying various ecological implications on supra-regional level

Article 5 (v)

Kuttner, M., Essl, F., Peterseil, J., Dullinger, S., Rabitsch, W., Schindler, S., Hülber, K., Gattringer, A., Moser, D. 2015. *A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland*. eco.mont, 7/2, 18-29.

doi:10.1553/eco.mont-7-2s18

A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland

Michael Kuttner, Franz Essl, Johannes Peterseil, Stefan Dullinger, Wolfgang Rabitsch, Stefan Schindler, Karl Hülber, Andreas Gattringer & Dietmar Moser

Keywords: biosphere reserves; Central Europe; Eastern Alps; EUNIS habitats; habitat distribution; land cover; mapping; national parks; nature conservation areas

Abstract

There is a growing need for fine-scale data on habitat distribution for large areas to comprehensively detect changes in biodiversity patterns, ecosystem service provision and sustainable landscape development against global change. We present a map of 19 habitat classes at a resolution of 25 m for Austria, Germany (Baden-Wurttemberg, Bavaria), Liechtenstein, Italy (South Tyrol) and Switzerland. Fine-scale data from various sources in the public domain (e.g. habitat mapping campaigns, Open Street Map, CORINE land cover 2006 (CLC2006), Joint Research Centre forest mapping, GIO-Land high resolution layers) were harmonized and supplemented by remote mapping and modelling techniques. Spatio-thematic accuracy checks with independent data sources have been conducted and the habitat classes further compared to the CLC2006 classification scheme. As a first map application we provide habitat class-specific proportions for national parks and biosphere reserves located within the mapping area in relation to their surroundings and further discuss additional fields of applications. The map will be freely available for non-commercial scientific use.

Introduction

The most widely used dataset to derive land-cover patterns in Europe is CORINE land cover 2006 (CLC2006) (EEA 2007). Its wide coverage, largely homogeneous methodology, the data quality and a resolution of 100 m are attractive for many applications. However, its limited thematic accuracy, particularly the poor differentiation of (semi)natural ecosystems, and the coarse minimum mapping area of 25 ha, make it insufficient for many ecological questions, which focus on small remnants of particularly interesting habitats like dry grasslands or wetlands. In contrast, datasets of high spatial and thematic resolution, such as national inventories of ecosystems of high conservation value (e.g. floodplains, dry grasslands, mires; Holzner 1986; Steiner 1992), biotope mapping campaigns (e.g. LfU 2012; LUBW 2014), Natura 2000 mapping (European Commission 2006), forest inventory databases (Bauerhansl et al. 2008) or agricultural databases (e.g. the land parcel information system LPI), are mainly gathered at a (sub)national level in Central Europe and therefore have a restricted spatial range. Although high-resolution layers on a larger spatial scale have become recently available for specific habitat and land cover classes, such as forests (Joint Research Centre; JRC (Kempeneers et al. 2011) and GIO land monitoring service (Langanke 2013)), built-up areas and transport networks (Open Street Map; OSM), or grasslands and waterbodies (GIO land (Langanke 2013)), substantial methodological differences (e.g. different classification schemes) have hampered their integration at a supra-national level.

Here we present the first high-resolution Central European Habitat map (CEH) (freely available at: ftp://131.130.33.15) that is focusing on semi-natural

habitat classes of high conservation value. It covers approx. 240 000 km² across Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany (Bavaria, Baden-Wurttemberg), Italy (South Tyrol) and Switzerland. Standardized procedures of resampling, harmonizing and merging of available high-resolution mapping and remote sensing data ensure a ready-to-use dataset consisting of 19 habitat classes.

We also provide a comparison with the most commonly used land-cover dataset of CLC2006.

Methods

Data preparation and map generation

Datasets from various sources (Table 1) were projected to the ETRS 1989 LAEA spatial reference system. Vector data were converted into native ESRI GRID raster format with a spatial resolution of 25 m \times 25 m. To be consistent with other European datasets, the grid origin was defined by CORINE. Original data were reclassified according to our habitat specifications and separate grid layers for each class were generated. As a general purpose we applied fine-scale data wherever available to improve the spatial and thematic accuracy of CORINE, but used CLC2006 data to fill the remaining gaps.

Roads, railways, watercourses and lakes

Data on *Roads*, *Railways* and *Watercourses* were extracted from OSM line vector datasets. For the sake of consistency with the grid cell size (25 m) only motorways, main railway lines and large rivers (i.e. wider than 30 m) were considered. Data on *Lakes* originating from the ECRINS database and provided in vector format were converted to raster format.

Built-up areas

We merged several built-up land-cover classes from OSM (village green; residential; industrial; commercial) and CLC2006 (Continuous urban fabric (1.1.1); Discontinuous urban fabric (1.1.2); Industrial and commercial units (1.2.1); Dump sites (1.3.2); Construction sites (1.3.3)) and additionally integrated high-resolution data on imperviousness from GIO-Land to capture even single farmsteads and hamlets.

Forests

Obviously misclassified forest pixels from JRC source data, located in the nival and upper alpine altitudinal belt, were deleted using exclusion masks derived from CLC2006 layers *Glaciers and perpetual snow* (3.3.5) and *Bare rock* (3.3.2).

Shrub lands

For this ecosystem class we extracted habitat-specific data from mapping campaigns (Bavaria, Baden-Wurttemberg) and a WebGIS service (*Geobrowser*) for South Tyrol. For Austria we extracted data from national biotope mapping (2656 – F2 Arctic, alpine and subalpine scrub, 2784 – F3 Temperate and mediterraneanmontane scrub, 2889 – F4 Temperate shrub heathland, 3355 – F8 Thermo-Atlantic xerophytic scrub). For Switzerland and Liechtenstein we used the CLC2006 class Transitional woodland scrub (3.2.4).

Extensive grasslands and alpine grasslands

These habitat classes comprise mesic low-impact pastures and meadows below the tree line as well as alpine grasslands. For Bavaria and Baden-Wurttemberg we compiled data from the latest available biotope and FFH mapping campaigns, particularly the Bayrisches Ökoflächenkataster and Biotopverbund Baden-Württemberg (LfU 2012; LUBW 2014). For Switzerland we used data from Réseau écologique national (Berthoud et al. 2004). For Liechtenstein extensively used grasslands were identified by a supervised image classification which was conducted using ArcGIS 10.1 and later corrected by cross-checking with data on lownutrient grassland habitats from the geodata portal of Liechtenstein. South Tyrolean data originated from a remote sensing campaign which has been conducted by the Italian Department of Agriculture (AGEA) in 2008 and were accessed via Geobrowser. Finally, Austrian data were again taken from IACS by integrating a selection of EUNIS Level III classes which indicate low-impact management (summarized under EUNIS Level II class 2182 - E2 Mesic grasslands). We additionally used EUNIS class 2302 - E4 Alpine and subalpine grasslands, derived from Dirnböck & Peterseil 2014, for completion. Remaining gaps were filled by CLC2006 class Natural grassland (3.2.1). To differentiate extensively managed lowland from alpine grasslands across all countries we modelled the actual forest lines. Forest data from JRC and GIO-Land were cleaned from misclassified pixels using CLC2006 exclusion layers and restricted to areas with a minimum mean temperature of 6.4 °C during the growth period and a minimum length of the growth period of 90 days, beyond which climate conditions are unsuitable for tree growth (Körner 2012). Altitude was derived from the latest pan-European digital elevation data (EU-DEM) with a common spatial resolution of 25 m (EEA 2013). By applying focal statistics and kriging interpolation techniques we obtained a final dataset on the actual distribution of the upper tree limit across the Alps.

Dry grasslands

This ecosystem class includes various types of dry and semi-dry meadows and pastoral lands. We used several data sources: biotope mapping campaigns (Bavaria, Baden-Wurttemberg, Liechtenstein), Bundesamt für Umwelt (BAFU, Switzerland) and an updated version of the Austrian inventory of dry grasslands (Holzner 1986 - updated 2013). For South Tyrol we again used data provided by the WEBGIS source Geobrowser. Gaps in the South Tyrolean dataset were filled by a niche modelling approach. We defined the thresholds for the potential occurrence of dry grasslands with respect to annual precipitation (< 832 mm), slope (>10° and <48°), aspect (south $155^{\circ}-205^{\circ}$) and elevation (< 1680 m) as the mean plus the twofold standard deviation of already outlined dry grassland sites across South Tyrol. Those reference values were then compared with the Swiss dataset in order to check if dimensions of the ecological space of dry grasslands appear reasonable. Topographic parameters and precipitation were derived from EU-DEM and from WorldClim (Hijmans et al. 2005; spatial resolution: 30 arc s; i. e. approx. 1 km × 1 km), respectively. Additionally, dry grassland patches complying with these rules had to be previously identified as Extensive grasslands.

Mires and wet grasslands

For the compilation of this class, which includes wet grasslands, sedge stands, reed beds, fens and mires, we compiled data from the same sources as for *Dry grasslands*. For Austria, in addition, data from the Austrian mire inventory (Steiner 1992) were used, together with several classes from Dirnböck & Peterseil 2014 (5257 - X04 Raised bog complexes; 1724 - D4 Base-rich fens and calcareous spring mires; 1589 - D2 Valley mires, poor fens and transition mires, 1515 - D1 Raised and blanket bogs, 1404 - C3 Littoral zone of inland water bodies, 1797 - D5 Sedge and reed beds without free standing water, 2238 - E3 Seasonally wet and wet grasslands) who compiled additional data sources from national habitat monitoring efforts.

Vineyards and orchards

Similar to *Built up areas*, OSM data were used to enhance the spatial coverage for vineyards and orchards which were based on CLC2006 data. For South Tyrol we integrated information on vineyards and orchards, identified by the AGEA remote sensing campaign

Habitat Class	Data source	Geographic coverage								
Coniferous forest [CFO]										
Broad leaved forest [BLFO]	JRC-torest mapping campaign	whole area								
Shrub lands [SHRUB]	CLC2006; Geobrowser; Biotope mapping data	CLC2006 = CH, LI (partly in AT, ST, BA, BW for completion); Geo- browser = ST; Biotope mapping data = AT, BA, BW								
Arable land [ARAB]	CLC2006; IACS data	CLC2006 = CH, LI, ST, BA, BW; IACS = AT								
Intensively used grasslands [IGR]	CLC2006; GIO-LAND	CL2006 = whole area; GIO-LAND = whole area								
Vineyards [VIN]	CLC2006; OSM; Geobrowser; IACS data	CLC2006 = BA, BW, CH; OSM = whole area; Geobrowser = ST; IACS = AT								
Orchards [ORC]	CLC2006; OSM; Geobrowser	CLC2006 = BA, BW, CH, AT; OSM = whole area; Geobrowser = ST								
Lakes [LAKE]	EEA data (ECRINS database)	whole area								
Major rivers [RIV]										
Major railways [RAIL]	OSM	whole area								
Major roads [ROAD]										
Built up areas [BUA]	CLC2006; OSM; GIO-LAND	whole area								
Extensive grasslands [EXTGR]	Biotope mapping data: REN: Supervised Image	Biotope mapping data = BA, BW, AT; REN = CH; SIC = LI; Geo-								
Alpine grasslands [ALPGR]	Classification; Geobrowser	browser = ST								
Mires and wet grasslands [WET]	Biotope mapping data; Geobrowser; Austrian mire inventory	Biotope mapping data = BA, BW, CH, LI; Geobrowser = ST; Ami = AT								
Dry grasslands [DRY]	Biotope mapping data; Geobrowser; Austrian Inventory of dry grasslands (updated 2013)	Biotope mapping data = BA, BW, CH, LI; Geobrowser = ST; Adg = AT								
Gravel banks [GRAVEL]	Visual classification campaign	whole area								
Rocks [ROCK]										
Glaciers [GLAC]	CLC2006	whole area								
Source of freely available data	, their original spatial resolution and date of or	igin								
JRC torest mapping Resolution: 25 m/2006	http://forest.jrc.ec.europa.eu/activities/forest-mapp	ing/forest-cover-map-2006/								
ECRINS database Vector data*/2011	http://projects.eionet.europa.eu/ecrins/library/hydr	rography/v1/ecrlakmdb								
OSM										
Vector data/**	http://download.geotabrik.de/europe.html									
CLC2006										
Resolution: 100 m/2006	http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/co	prine-land-cover-2006-raster								
GIO-LAND										
Resolution: 10m/2012	http://land.copernicus.eu/pan-european/high-reso	lution-layers/view/								
Biotope mapping BA										
Vector Data /2012	http://www.lfu.bayern.de/gdi/dls/biotopkartierung.	xml								
Biotope mapping BW										
Vector data /2012	http://www.lubw.baden-wuerttemberg.de/servlet/is,	/61722/								
Biotope mapping CH										
Vector data / 2007_2013	http://www.bafu.admin.ch/gis/02911/07403/index	x.html?lang=de								
WebGIS Liechtenstein										
Vector data /NA	http://geodaten.llv.li/geoshop/naturlandschaft.htm	I/								
Geobrowser South Tural										
Vector data/2008–	http://gis2.provinz.bz.it/geobrowser/?project=geol	browser_pro&view=geobrowser_pro_atlas-b&locale=de								
Vector data/2008–										

Table 1 – Summary of the major data sources used to compile the CEH. Geographic code: AT = Austria; BA = Bavaria; BW = Baden-Wurttemberg; CH = Snitzerland; LI = Liechtenstein; ST = South Tyrol

* Not all acquired vector datasets share a specific resolution or minimum mapping unit

** OSM-datasets are continuously updated by the user community (date of download: April 2013)

and accessed by using the Geobrowser. Vineyards in Austria were updated by data from the IACS database (reference year 2012) of the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management.

Arable land

To define *Arable land* we used IACS data for Austria, supplemented by the CLC2006 classes of *Non-irrigated arable land* (2.1.1) and *Complex cultivation patterns* (2.4.2) in the other countries.

Intensively used grasslands

We used the CLC2006 classes *Pastures* (2.3.1) and *Land principally occupied by agriculture, with significant areas of natural vegetation* (2.4.3) which had not yet been classified as another class (e.g. *Extensive grassland, Mires and wet grasslands*, etc.) in any of the fine-scale datasets. Additionally we used the *Permanent grasslands* layer from GIO-Land for areas that were already covered by the *Arable land* class.

Habitat Class	Corresponding EUNIS Level 1/2/3 habitat	Remarks – EUNIS	Corresponding CLC2006 habitat (Level 3/4)	Remarks – CLC
CFO	G3	Transition to class G4 (mixed forests) occurs	3.1.2	Transitions to 3.1.3 (Mixed forests) may occur
BLFO	G1	Transition to class G4 (mixed forests) may occur	3.1.1	Minor transitions to 3.1.3 (Mixed forests) may occur
SHRUB	F2/F3/F4/F9/E5.2	E5.2 indicates shrub dominated wood- land fringes	3.2.2.2/3.2.4	3.2.2.2 indicates Pinus mugo stands
ARAB	11/(12)	Some parts of Arable land may also be covered by class I2	2.1.1/2.4.2	_
IGR	E2.1/E2.2/E2.6	-	2.3.1/2.4.3.2	-
VIN	FB.4	_	2.2.1	-
ORC	FB.3	-	2.2.2	
LAKE	C1	-	5.1.1.1	-
RI∨	C2	-	5.1.2.1	-
RAIL	J4.3	-	1.2.2.2	-
ROAD	J4.2	_	1.2.2.1	-
BUA	J1/J2	Coverage of class J2 is limited by the minimum area corresponding J2- elements are comprising	1.1.1/1.1.2/1.2.1	_
EXTGR	E2.1/E2.2/E2.7	Classes are partly overlapping with IGR, but include areas at the extensive end of the land use gradient	3.2.1	_
ALPGR	E2.3/E4	Some low-lying parts of class E2.3 may fall into EXTGR	3.2.1	-
WET	D/E3.4/E3.5	-	4.1.1/4.1.2	-
DRY	E1/H2.5/H2.6	Semi-open thermophilous sites are covered by classes H2.5/6	3.2.1	Dry grasslands s.str. are not distinguished in CLC, thus they are covered by class 3.2.1
GRAVEL	C3.6/C3.7	_	3.3.1.3	
ROCK	H2/H3/H5	_	3.3.2	_
GLAC	H4	-	3.3.5	-

Table 2 – Nineteen habitat classes of the CEH and their corresponding CLC2006 and EUNIS habitats. Habitat class abbreviations correspond to Table 1.

EUNIS-levels are indicated by letter only (=Level 1); letter+number (=Level 2); letter+point-separated number (=Level 3). The CLC2006 classification scheme follows pointseparated number codes, the number of digits corresponding to the bierarchical level (e.g. 3-digit code =Level 3)

Gravel banks

The *Gravel banks* class was established by an onscreen visual interpretation based on Google Earth satellite imagery. Gravel banks along river systems across the entire study region with an approximate width > 25 m were digitized as vector polygons and then converted to raster format.

Glaciers, rocks

The habitat classes *Glaciers* and *Rocks* are based on the CLC2006 classes of *Glaciers and perpetual snow* (3.3.5) and *Bare rock* (3.3.2), respectively.

For setting up the final map we mosaicked the thematic layers by following the general rule that classes of high nature conservation value, which are often restricted to rather small areas, must not be overlain by more widespread classes like *Arable land*. In detail, the order for mosaicking the single class layers from top to bottom is: GRAVEL, GLAC, DRY, WET, EXT-GR / ALPGR, SHRUB, ROCK, BUA, ROAD, RAIL, RIV, LAKE, ORC, VIN, IGR, ARAB, CFO / BLFO. This leads to a refinement of the coarse CLC2006 boundaries. For map harmonization and edge clearance purposes we finally applied minor boundary cleaning and majority filtering techniques.

Habitat classification

The CEH habitat classes are tied to the European classification systems of CORINE and EUNIS. Class specific assignments and additional remarks are listed in Table 2.

Data accuracy

To assess the degree of spatio-thematic precision between several datasets used for map generation, which is particularly important for remote-sensingbased datasets, we calculated a series of Kappa statistics using the Kappa statistics add-on tool in ArcGIS 10.1 by comparing the JRC forest layers (BLFO and CFO) and the layer on Intensive used grasslands (IGR) with reference datasets from the IACS database not used for map creation. The forest evaluation data are spatially based on Austrian map OK 50 forest margins and thematically originate from GSE Forest Monitoring, while data on intensive grasslands were derived by filtering corresponding EUNIS classes. For the calculation of Kappa statistics we resampled IACS grassland data first to correspond with the final resolution of the CEH (i.e. 25 m). We applied the same procedure with forest data after integrating the class mixed forest of the evaluation data into the class coniferous forest to comply with the CEH mapping scheme. For testing



Figure 1 – The CEH (covering Austria, Baden-Wurttemberg, Bavaria, Liechtenstein, South Tyrol, Switzerland) represents 19 habitat classes

each dataset we randomly selected 250 000 data points across Austria.

In addition we calculated Kappa statistics on a larger spatial scale by applying GMES Urban Atlas datasets for all available (peri-)urban areas within our mapping region. The area covered by these data corresponds to approx. 17% of the CEH. Urban Atlas classes with artificial areas of various densities were pooled to comply with CEH habitat class Built up areas, while Fast transit roads, Railways and Water could be easily related to corresponding CEH habitat classes. In order to gain a thematically comparable class that could be related to Agricultural, Semi-natural and wetland areas, we pooled the CEH classes Arable land, Intensive used grasslands, Vineyards, Orchards, Extensive grasslands and Mires and wet grasslands. We also pooled the CEH classes Coniferous forest and Broad leaved forest to comply with Forest as defined in the Urban Atlas. Again we selected a set of 250 000 random points for computing Kappa statistics.

As independent reference data for South Tyrol and Switzerland are lacking, we extracted nationwide shares in major land-use/land-cover classes that could be related to our classification scheme from federal statistical databases. In the case of South Tyrol, forest classification also included (sub-)alpine dwarf pine stands, which have been classified as SHRUB within the CEH. The fuzzy distinction between those classes is indicated by the dot-dashed line in Table 5. Similarly, the South Tyrolean proportion of *Arable land* should be treated as land used for intensive agriculture and therefore CEH class IGR must be also considered when comparing area proportions of this class as indicated by dashed lines in Table 5.

Mapping CEH class proportions of important protected areas

As a first application of the CEH we calculated proportional shares of habitat classes for all national parks (NPs) and biosphere reserves (BRs) and their environs within the CEH region. To do so, we calculated minimum bounding geometries of each conservation area in ArcGIS 10.1. To allow for a comparison of reserve areas with their surroundings, we extended the bounding envelopes to include at least 1.5 times the conservation area and calculated the proportional shares of habitat classes also for the surrounding areas.

Results

The CEH consists of more than 383 million grid cells, covering an area of approximately 240 000 km², and consists of 19 habitat classes (Figure 1). The four most abundant habitat classes are *Coniferous forests* (28.8%), *Arable land* (21.4%), *Intensively used grassland* (11.6%) and *Broad leaved forests* (9.6%), which jointly

cover approx. 71% of the study region. Proportional shares of all habitat classes for individual countries and federal states are given in Table 3.

The proportional shares of habitat classes differ markedly across the study region depending on altitude, geomorphology, land-cover proportions, landcover diversity, and land-use intensity as exemplified for selected landscapes in Figure 2.

Table 2 shows a crosslink between the habitat classification of the CEH and higher hierarchical levels of the most widely used European classification schemes, i.e. the EU Nature Information System (EUNIS) and CORINE (CLC2006). Clearly characterized CLC2006 classes, such as urban areas, arable lands or rock outcrops, are well represented by corresponding CEH classes, while complex CLC2006 categories, such as Complex cultivation patterns (2.4.2) or Transitional woodland-shrub (3.2.4), were split up and are represented by various CEH classes (Figure 3). The class Natural grasslands (3.2.1) (Figure 3 (b)) in particular was subdivided into EXTGR and ALPGR and the mixed class of Moors and heathland (3.2.2) was split up into classes CFO, SHRUB and EXTGR. Moreover, Complex cultivation patterns (2.4.2) as well as Land principally occupied by agriculture (4.1.2) (Figure 3 (c)) were divided into an agricultural matrix mainly consisting of ARAB, IGR, EXTR and BUA.

Map validation

A verification of the modelled forest limit was conducted by comparison with an available dataset on Swiss tree lines commissioned by the AGROSCOPE Institute (Szerencsits 2012). The mean deviation of our dataset from the Swiss treeline data equals at 128.5 m, which corresponds well with the findings of Szerencsits (2012) who calculated mean deviations between forest lines and tree lines for major climatic regions of Switzerland between 81 m and 213 m.

The results of the Kappa statistics revealed an observed agreement rate among GIO-LAND *Intensive used grassland* and IACS grassland data of 90.7% and a corresponding Kappa coefficient of 45.6%. In case of the compared forest datasets, the observed agreement rate was 86.3% and the Kappa coefficient 75.5%. Evaluation statistics of classes extracted from Urban Atlas data resulted in an overall observed agreement rate of 87.8% and a Kappa coefficient of 79.7%.

The comparison between land cover derived from federal area statistic databases and proportional shares of CEH habitat classes is summarized in Table 5. Forests, arable land, grasslands and urban areas correspond well.

Habitat distribution within major conservation areas and their environs

To provide a first application of CEH, we calculated the proportion of the habitat classes within NPs and BRs and their environs (Table 6). We found substantial differences in habitat proportions between protected

Habitat Class	Mean overall share (%)	% AT	% BAV	% BW	% LI	% CH	% ST
CFO	28.8	35.1	27.3	23.1	34.7	22.5	33.3
BLFO	9.6	9.7	8.1	14.5	4.9	9.2	3.1
SHRUB	2.4	4.8	0.7	0.6	1	1.3	5.4
ARAB	21.4	16.7	32.3	27.1	9.4	10.7	1.4
IGR	11.6	7.3	17.1	12.5	7.7	11.2	6.7
VIN	0.6	1	0.1	0.9	0.03	0.3	1
ORC	0.2	0.02	0.03	0.5		0.1	2.9
LAKE	1.2	0.6	0.8	1		2.2	0.2
RIV	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.2
RAIL	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.1
road	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.3
BUA	6.8	5.2	7.8	9.8	11.9	6.9	1.4
EXTGR	7.7	10.3	3	5.2	21.8	10.7	17.3
ALPGR	3.3	3.6	0.1		4.9	9.1	12.2
WET	1	0.5	1.1	2.2	1.7	0.8	0.2
DRY	0.6	0.4	0.3	1.3	0.7	0.8	1.1
GRAVEL	0.04	0.04	0.02		0.00	0.1	0.04
ROCK	3	3	0.2		0.1	8.9	11.1
GLAC	0.7	0.7				2.9	1.6
Total Shares (km²)	239005	83855	70553	35752	160	41 285	7 400

areas and their environs. In particular, there often is a higher proportion of habitat classes of high nature conservation value, such as extensive grasslands, forests, dry and wetlands, in protected areas. Conversely, the proportions of heavily modified habitats, such as arable land, intensive grassland or built up areas, are higher outside nature reserves in most cases.

Discussion

Advances over previous ecosystem distribution maps

The CEH combines high spatial resolution with a thematic resolution that is suitable for an advanced and standardized representation of Central European habitats, allowing for analyses beyond that are supported by previous trans-national or national sources. For instance, the widely used European CLC2006 has a minimum mapping unit of 25 ha and a thematic resolution of 44 land-cover classes for the whole of Europe (EEA 2007). However, about 20% are complex land-cover classes containing fundamentally different habitats (e.g. mixed arable land). This is a great obstacle for many ecological studies that depend on clearly delineated and fine-scale land-cover data (Schmit et al. 2006). In contrast, the CEH avoids mixed classification and aims at a spatially and thematically explicit distinction of individual habitats. For instance, we differentiate areas of intensively managed grassland from arable lands, whereas CLC2006 partly merges these classes into Land principally occupied by agriculture (4.1.2) or Complex cultivation patterns (2.4.2), together



Figure 2 – Habitat classes of the CEH for sample landscapes: (a) a (peri)urban landscape (Munich, Germany); (b) an intensively used agricultural landscape (south-east of Linz, Austria); (c) an extensively used agricultural landscape (east of Lake Geneva, Switzer-land); and (d) a high-altitude landscape with low land-use intensity in the Alps (Mount Großvenediger in the Hohe Tauern, Austria)



Figure 3 – CEH proportions compared to the most widely distributed CLC2006 classes, sectioned by (a) forest and shrub land classes, (b) grasslands and heath classes and (c) agriculturally dominated classes across the study region. Each circle represents one CLC2006 class.

with other minor land-use classes (cf. Figure 3). Further, we differentiate various types of (semi-)natural grasslands, such as *Extensive grasslands*, *Alpine grasslands*, *Dry grasslands* and *Wet grasslands*, which are of particular high value for nature conservation and serve as a reference point to analyse changes in habitat area and connectivity for rare and / or endangered species on large spatial scales (e.g. Hooftman & Bullock 2012). In sum, the CEH substantially advances existing data sources on ecosystem distribution for the study region.

Map validation

We used Kappa statistics to test if transnational data sources, derived from remote sensing campaigns represent certain habitat classes adequately in terms of spatial and thematic accuracy. We found that this condition was met with some variability between different classes, documented by a range of Kappa coefficients from 45% for a subset of the *Intensively used grassland* habitat class (indicating a *moderate strength* of agreement according to Landis & Koch 1977) to 75% for the forest classes, which corresponds to *substantial strength* of agreement. Good results were also achieved by the statistical validation using Urban Atlas Data (observed agreement rate: 87.8%; Kappa coefficient: 79.7%), see Table 4.

Those results should be interpreted in the context of observed agreement rates, which turned out even higher (> 90%) in cases of grasslands, even though Kappa coefficients only indicated *moderate strength*. The likely main reason for these somewhat divergent results is a high prevalence of negative cases (approx. 88% of *NoData* points) in our grassland data, as already explained by Kundel & Polansky (2003). Vice versa, agreement rates and Kappa coefficients for Urban Atlas Data are

rather close to each other because of almost full coverage of the respective point dataset within the test areas, which in turn means only few negative cases.

Spatial and thematic accuracy and their limitations

We aimed at using only current data sources (2006 or younger) for creating the CEH to account for rapid changes in landscape structure and ecosystem distribution in Central Europe (Falcucci et al. 2007). However, we occasionally had to resort to older datasets (e.g. Steiner 1992) to fill gaps in the distribution of high nature value habitat classes. We are aware that this approach might bias the maps towards greater spatial extension and lower fragmentation of habitat classes on high conservation value, particularly for the classes *Mires and wet grasslands* and *Dry grasslands*, because these ecosystems have continuously declined in recent decades (Klötzli & Grootjans 2001; Cremene et al. 2005).

Table 4 – Confusion matrix obtained from Kappa statistic evaluation between Urban Atlas and CEH-map classes. AGRI=[ARAB, IGR, VIN, ORC]; FOREST=[CFO, BLFO]; ARTIFICIAL=[BUA]; WATER=[LAKE, RIV]; RAIL=[RAIL]; ROAD=[ROAD]

	AGRI	FOREST	ARTIFICIAL	WATER	RAIL	ROAD
AGRI	99789	6746	2820	550	147	62
FOREST	4874	66178	699	565	27	51
ARTIFICIAL	4008	1491	19253	161	124	41
WATER	368	248	90	1 2 0 0	5	1
RAIL	341	121	282	20	362	11
ROAD	454	201	288	10	11	403
Counts	109834	74985	23432	2 506	676	569
	Observed ment: 87.	Agree- 88 %	Chance Agr 40.1%	eement:	Карра Со 79.76%	efficient:

CH

D

IT

LI

Bundesamt für Statistik

Agrarbericht 2009

Statistisches Landesamt Baden-Württemberg

Abtlg. Natur, Landschaft und Raumentwicklung

Bayrisches Landesamt für Statistik

Flächenstatistik der Realnutzungskarte

	1 5	(L 0	17		0 5 62					2	
Habitat class	AT %	CEH-AT%	СН %	CEH-CH %	BW %	CEH-BW %	BA %	CEH-BA %	ST %	CEH-ST %	LI %	CEH-LI %
CFO	44.0	44.0	20.0	21.7	20	27.4	25.1	25.4	44.7	24.2	41	20.4
BLFO	44.2	44.8	32.8	31./	38	37.0	35.1	35.4	40./	30.3	41	39.0
SHRUB			2.1	1.3						5.4		
ARAB	16.2	16.7	9.9	10.7	26.6	27.1	29.6	32.2	0.4	1.4	8.8	9.4
IGR	6.7	7.3	04.0	01.0	17/	177	10.5	00.1	8.4	6.7	05.0	00.5
EXTGR	8.7	10.3	24.8	21.9	17.0	1/./	19.5	20.1	17.5	17.3	25.3	29.5
VIN	0.6	0.9	3.7	0.3	0.8	0.9				2.0		
ORC	0.1	0.01							4	3.9		
BUA	3.6	5.1	5.1	6.9	8.5	9.8	6.7	7.8	1.6	1.4	10	11.9
WET									0.2	0.2		
ROCK			8.7	8.9					8	11.1		
GLAC			2.8	2.9					1.6	1.6		
	1				1							
Country	Source				Links							
AT	Statistik A	ustria			http://ww	/w.statistik.at/\	veb_de/s	tatistiken/land	_und_for	stwirtschaft/in	dex.html	
AI	Waldinver	inventur 2007/2009 http://bfw.ac.at/030/pdf/1818 pi24.pdf										

Table 5 – Area statistics (%) of major land cover classes, derived from federal statistical databases within the mapping region, compared to CEH-class-specific shares (CEH-[country name]). Dotted line: indicating a fuzzy distinction between the classes; dashed lines: intenivly used arable land.

Furthermore, variation in data quality, spatial resolution and coverage between data sources might have caused differences in map quality across geographic regions (countries and federal states). For example, gaps in datasets of *Dry grasslands* in South Tyrol were filled by modelling approaches which potentially introduce errors. However, such effects on model quality should be low, because i) only very small parts of the CEH were complemented by modelling and ii) we carefully checked the additionally delineated cells by visual comparison with orthophoto imagery. Nevertheless, it is still possible that a few of the designated patches of *Dry grasslands* are irrigated and, thus, should be classified as extensive grasslands.

Applicability and outlook

A first application of the CEH has already been presented by calculating habitat distribution inside and outside the NPs and BRs covered by the map. However, those proportions must be considered case by case, as the location of the investigated conservation areas ranges from rather intensively used low-altitude landscapes to marginally utilized high-alpine space.

Other fields of application of habitat maps are manifold and relevant in various scientific disciplines, such as ecology, geography or nature conservation and landscape planning at different spatial scales, ranging from local case studies to trans-national analyses. For instance, the spatial extension and distribution of ecosystems are key indicators for the status of biodiversity, species extinction risks (IUCN 2010) and, by definition, of ecosystem status (Keith et al. 2013). Further, the quantitative and qualitative potential in provision of most ecosystem services is intimately linked to the composition and spatial configuration of the underlying habitat classes within the landscape of interest (Burkhard et al. 2012; Helfenstein & Kienast 2014). The distribution of habitats may form the basis for relating structural and functional landscape heterogeneity to analyse biodiversity patterns in landscapes (Fahrig et al. 2011; Schindler et al. 2013) and may be useful to identify high nature value farmlands (Paracchini et al. 2008). The explanatory power of species distribution models can also be improved by using more accurate spatial information on ecosystems (Thuiller et al. 2004). Data on habitat distribution may also serve as a basis for quantifying the impact of invasive biota (Chytry et al. 2012). Finally, ecological network analysis, especially on broader scales, and associated conservation and planning actions (Groves et al. 2002; Watts et al. 2010) also need high-resolution ecosystem distribution data, e.g. to measure degrees of habitat fragmentation (Ostapowicz et al. 2006). In conclusion, we think that the CEH map represents a valuable tool for advancing both ecological research and spatial management planning in Central Europe.

Data status and accessibility

http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/themen/02/03/blank/data/01.html

http://www.statistik-bw.de/BevoelkGebiet/Landesdaten/geb_Flaechennutzung.asp

http://www.provincia.bz.it/natur-raum/themen/landeskartografie-realnutzungskarte.asp

https://www.statistik.bayern.de/statistik/landwirtschaft/

http://www.llv.li/files/au/pdf-llv-au-agrarbericht_2009.pdf

Latest update

15.02.2015

Proprietary restrictions

This dataset is freely available for non-commercial scientific use.

27

Table 6 – Proportional shares (%) of habitat classes in conservation areas and their surroundings (columns marked with asterisks) within the CEH mapping region. National parks and biosphere reserves are given in the upper and lower section, respectively. Highlighted fields either indicate greater (green) or reduced (red) shares of the corresponding habitat classes within protected areas.

CELL		National Parks																				
class	Austri	Austria										Germany					Italy		Switz land	er-		
	DON*	DON	GES*	GES	HOT*	HOT	KAL*	KAL	NEU*	NEU	THA*	THA	BRW*	BRW	BER*	BER	SCH*	SCH	STJ*	STJ	GRB*	GRB
CFO	0.3	1.4	67.5	49.6	35.2	8.4	44.0	46.2	0	0	6.4	1.1	55.9	58.4	44.4	39.4	76.2	79.5	20.6	25.3	34.9	25.8
BLFO	11.5	72.3	11.4	9.5	1.5	0.2	33.7	34.4	1.1	0.4	58.6	91.7	4.0	24.9	5.6	1.7	1.0	0.7	0.9	0.4	0.0	0.0
SHRUB	0	0	4.3	14.7	12.1	16.7	0.5	11.1	0	0	0	0	0.1	14.8	11.0	11.2	6.1	13.0	6.0	9.0	1.5	1.7
ARAB	65.3	4.4	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	43.9	1.7	32.1	0.4	0.5	0.0	0.1	0.0	1.6	0.0	2.7	1.0	0	0
IGR	1.0	1.8	2.0	0.1	4.0	0.1	10.1	0.0	2.8	3.1	0.3	0.0	28.1	0.3	5.2	0.1	1.6	0.1	6.1	2.0	5.4	0.0
VIN	0.2	0.0	0	0	0	0	0	0	21.2	1.7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0	0
ORC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	0.0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6.2	0.2	0	0
LAKE	0.7	1.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.0	19.4	30.1	0	0	0.2	0.0	0.1	2.8	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.1
RIV	0.8	6.9	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.0	0.5	0.5	0	0	0.0	1.9	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.6	0.2
RAIL	1.4	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	0	0	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	0	0
ROAD	1.8	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2
BUA	14.4	0.3	0.8	0.0	1.6	0.0	1.5	0.0	4.6	0.1	2.1	0.4	6.4	0.1	2.2	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.5	0.2	0.5	0.0
EXTGR	0.9	3.1	8.7	4.4	21.2	10.9	7.3	7.5	2.2	9.7	0.2	1.4	2.1	0.5	8.0	8.3	6.5	0.2	20.3	16.4	12.9	14.2
ALPGR	0	0	0.4	0.5	14.8	21.3	0.0	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.6	6.3	0.0	0.0	17.2	14.3	23.2	21.7
WET	0.1	1.2	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.0	2.8	43.6	0	0	1.7	0.7	0.7	0.2	1.4	4.5	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0
DRY	1.7	7.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	1.4	0.0	1.7	9.7	0	3	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.7	1.2	1.4	4.0	0.2	1.5	0.0
GRAVEL	0	0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	0.5	0	0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0
ROCK	0	0	3.1	20.1	7.3	34.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	19.6	28.7	0	0	11.6	23.2	18.7	36.0
GLAC	0	0	0	0	0.4	7.7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.9	6.9	0.2	0.0
DON = Do	nauauen	; GES =	Gesäuse	; HOT =	= Hohe	Tauern;	KAL = H	Kalkalp	en; NEL	J = Neu	siedler	See; Th	IA = Tho	ayatal;	BRW = B	ayrisch	er Wald	; BER =	Berchte	sgaden	;	
SCH = Sch	warzwald	; STJ = 5	Stilfser Jo	ch; GR	3 = Grau	ubünde	n															

CEH **Biosphere reserves** class Austria Germany Switzerland NFU* NOC* NOC UI B* WAI * WAI WIW* SCA* SCA RHÖ* ENT* ENT VAM* VAM NFU UIR BGI * BGI RHÖ WIW CFO 0.0 53.0 49.5 0.0 0.2 28.4 11.1 3.9 4.2 17.1 24.2 0.1 25.4 12.4 33.0 43.8 25.5 49.3 48.2 23.4 BLFO 12.4 0.0 0.9 36.1 5.4 24.3 60.3 24.9 9.8 24.2 25.2 5.4 0.1 1.3 65.5 3.6 36.4 8.6 3.2 0.0 SHRUB 0.1 9.5 9.2 0 0 9.9 12.0 0 0 0.1 0.0 5.3 5.0 0.1 0.3 1.0 0.1 2.2 1.4 ARAB 18.4 31.8 31.6 31.8 19.8 1.3 38.3 0.8 0.1 1.1 0.1 3.8 0.7 0.0 7.7 2.0 16.3 0.4 0.9 0.0 IGR 2.7 0.1 3.9 2.2 1.9 0.3 3.8 3.9 3.9 8.0 3.1 13.7 5.3 21.1 17.1 11.7 14.6 30.4 5.9 3.0 VIN 40.5 0 0 0 0 2.0 2.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ORC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0.0 LAKE 3.5 1.6 0.2 2.5 0 0 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.2 0.9 0 0 0.7 0.0 0.1 55.2 5.1 0.6 RIV 0.3 0.2 4.7 0.4 0.7 1.2 0.3 0.2 0.5 0.7 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.3 0.2 0 0 0.1 RAIL 0.2 0 0 0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.1 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0 0 0 0 ROAD 0.2 0 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.5 0.3 1.3 0.8 0.5 0.3 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 1.5 0.8 6.0 0.1 2.5 7.7 0.0 18.1 11.6 8.9 6.1 4.7 4.8 1.6 0.8 0.3 BUA 3.4 8.0 7.4 1.4 EXTGR 39.6 5.5 13.7 5.4 0.1 18.0 22.9 4.0 1.4 34.2 3.3 6.1 5.1 13.4 7.2 2.3 12.7 18.0 6.9 16.9 8.4 AL PGR 0 0 12.1 0 0 107 8.4 0 0 0 0 0.6 1.6 0 0 1.3 0.5 287 26.3 WET 4.5 0.2 0.1 3.2 0.0 0.4 1.4 0.4 1.7 5.3 0.2 0.1 44.4 0.5 0.0 1.2 0.1 0.2 5.9 DRY 0 10.8 0.9 6.1 0 0.4 0.2 1.9 2.9 1.6 3.8 0.2 0.6 1.0 0.3 0.3 1.6 0.4 GRAVEL 0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 ROCK 0 0 0 1.2 2.1 0 0 0 9.1 7.3 0 0.9 18.3 27.7 0 0 0 0 0 1.3 GLAC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1.8 0 0.0 NOC = Nockberge; ULB = Untere Lobau; WAL = Großes Walsertal; WIW = Wienerwald; SCA = Schwäbische Alp; BGL = Berchtesgadener Land; RHÖ = Rhön; ENT = Entlebuch; VAM = Val Muestair

Citation

Data users must cite this Data Paper properly in any publication that results from an analysis using the provided data as a whole or in parts as: Kuttner, M., F. Essl, J. Peterseil, S. Dullinger, W. Rabitsch, S. Schindler, K. Hülber, A. Gattringer & D. Moser 2015. A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland. eco.mont 7(2): 18–29.

Collaboration

Data users might consider collaboration and/or coauthorship with the data owners.

Storage location ftp://131.130.33.15

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge funding by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management (reference BMLFUW-UW.1.3.3/0013-V/4/2013) and by the Austrian Climate and Energy Fund carried out within the framework of the "ACRP" Program (Project Number KR11AC0K00355, SpecAdapt; Project Number KR12AC5K01308; CCN-Adapt).

References

Bauerhansl, C., T. Koukal & K. Schadauer 2008. Erste österreichweite Waldkarte basierend auf der Österreichischen Waldinventur. Available at: http:// www.waldwissen.net/themen/inventur_monitoring/ fernerkundung/bfw_waldlayer_2008_DE/

Berthoud, G., R.P. Lebeau & A. Righetti 2004. Nationales ökologisches Netzwerk REN. Schlussbericht. Schriftenreihe Umwelt Nr. 373. Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft. Bern.

Bundesamt für Statistik 2014. Dokumentation Waldmischungsgrad. Bundesamt für Statistik, Neuchâtel. Available at: http://www.bfs.admin.ch/ bfs/portal/de/index/dienstleistungen/geostat/ datenbeschreibung/waldmischungsgrad.parsys.0003. downloadList.00031.DownloadFile.tmp/dh404.pdf/

Burkhard, B., F. Kroll, S. Nedkov, F. Müller 2012. Mapping ecosystem service supply, demand and budgets. *Ecological Indicators* 21: 17–29.

Chytrý, M., J. Wild, P. Pyšek, V. Jarošík, N. Dendoncker, I. Reginster, J. Pino, L.C. Maskell, M. Vilà, I. Kühn, J.H. Spangenberg, J. Settele 2012. Projecting trends in plant invasions in Europe under different scenarios of future land use change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21: 75–87.

Cremene, C., G. Gheorghe, L. Rakosy, A.A. Schileyko, A. Baur, A. Erhardt &< B. Baur 2005. Alterations of Steppe-Like Grasslands in Eastern Europe: a Threat to Regional Biodiversity Hotspots. *Conservation Biology* 19 (5): 1606–1618.

Dirnböck, T. & J. Peterseil 2014. Zwischenbericht zur CL Bewertung in Natura 2000 Gebieten Österreichs. In: Dirnböck, T. (ed.), Endbericht zur Eigentümerweisung "Critical Loads für Schwefel- und Stickstoffeinträge in Ökosysteme – Datenanfrage 2013/14": 4–14. Project report, Umweltbundesamt, Wien.

EEA 2007. CLC2006 technical guidelines. Technical report No 17/2007 – ISSN 1725-2237. Kopenhagen. DOI: 10.2800/12134.

EEA 2013. EU-DEM. Available at: http://www. eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/eu-dem (accessed 04/11/14)

ESRI 2011. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research 1999–2011.

European Commission 2006. Assessment, monitoring and reporting under Article 17 of the habitats Directive: explanatory notes & guidelines. Final draft 5, October 2006. European Commission, Brussels.

Fahrig, L., J. Baudry, L. Brotons, F.G. Burel, T.O. Crist, R.J. Fuller, C. Sirami, G.M. Siriwardena & J.L. Martin 2011. Functional landscape heterogeneity and

animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Ecology Letters* 14/2: 102–112.

Falcucci, A., L. Maiorano & L. Boitani 2007. Changes in land-use/land-cover patterns in Italy and their implications for biodiversity conservation. *Land-scape Ecology* 22: 617–631.

Groves, C.R., D.B. Jensen, L.L. Valutis, K.H. Redford, M.L. Shaffer, M. Scott, J.V. Baumgartner, J.V. Higgins, M.W. Beck & M.G. Anderson 2002. Planning for Biodiversity Conservation: Putting Conservation Science into Practice. *BioScience* 52 (6): 499–512.

Helfenstein, J. & F. Kienast 2014. Ecosystem service state and trends at the regional to national level: A rapid assessment. *Ecological Indicators* 36: 11–18.

Hijmans, R.J., S.E. Cameron, J.L. Parra, P.G. Jones & A. Jarvis 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal* of *Climatology* 25: 1965–1978.

Hooftman, D.A.P. & J.M. Bullock 2012. Mapping to inform conservation: A case study of changes in seminatural habitats and their connectivity over 70 years. *Biological Conservation* 145: 30–38.

Holzner, W. (ed.) 1986. Österreichischer Trockenrasenkatalog. Grüne Reihe des Bundesministeriums für Gesundheit und Umweltschutz Band 6. Styria Medienservice, Graz.

IUCN 2010. Guidelines for using the IUCN Red List categories and criteria. Version 8.1. Available at: http://intranet.iucn.org/webfiles/doc/SSC/RedList/ RedListGuidelines.pdf/

Keith, D., J.P. Rodríguez, K.M. Rodríguez-Clark, E. Nicholson, K. Aapala, A. Alonso, M. Asmussen, S. Bachman, A. Basset, E. g. Barrow, J.S. Benson, M.J Bishop, R. Bonifacio, T.M. Brooks, M.A. Burgman, P. Comer, F.A. Comín, F. Essl, D. Faber-Langendoen, P.G. Fairweather, R.J. Holdaway, M. Jennings, R.T. Kingsford, R.E. Lester, R. Mac Nally, M.A. McCarthy, J. Moat, M.A. Oliveira-Miranda, P. Pisanu, B. Poulin, T.J. Regan, U. Riecken, M.D. Spalding & S. Zambrano-Martínez 2013. Scientific foundations for an IUCN Red List of Ecosystems. *PLoS One* 8(5): e62111.

Kempeneers, P., F. Sedano, L. Seebach, P. Strobl & J. San-Miguel-Ayanz 2011. Data Fusion of Different Spatial Resolution Remote Sensing Images Applied to Forest-Type Mapping. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 49 (12): 4977–4986.

Klötzli, F. & Ab.P. Grootjans 2001. Restoration of Natural and Semi-Natural Wetland Systems in Central Europe: Progress and Predictability of Developments. *Restoration Ecology* 9 (2): 209–219.

Körner, C. 2012. Alpine Treelines – Functional Ecology of the Global High Elevation Tree Limits. Springer Basel. DOI: 10.107/978-3-0348-0396-0

Kundel, H.L. & M. Polansky 2003. Measurement of Observer Agreement. *Radiology* 228: 303–308.

Landis, J.R. & G.G. Koch 1977. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics* 33: 159–174. Langanke, T. 2013. GIO land (GMES/Copernicus initial operations land) High Resolution Layers (HRLs) – summary of product specifications; Version 6 of 2013-07-08. European Environmental Agency, Copenhagen. Available at: http://land.copernicus.eu/ user-corner/publications/gio-land-high-resolutionlayers/view/

LfU 2012. Biotopkartierung Bayern – Stand 2012. Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt. Available at: http://www.lfu.bayern.de/natur/doc/liesmich_ bk.pdf

LUBW 2014. Kartieranleitung FFH-Lebensraumtypen und Biotoptypen Baden-Württemberg. Landesanstalt für Umwelt, Messungen und Naturschutz Baden Württemberg. Available at: http:// www.lubw.baden-wuerttemberg.de/servlet/ is/11168/?shop=true/

Ostapowicz, K., C. Estreguil, J. Kozak & P. Vogt 2006. Assessing forest fragmentation and connectivity: a case study in the Carpathians. SPIE Digital Library, The Remote Sensing for Environmental Monitoring, GIS Applications and Geology VI Conference Proceedings Vol. 6366/ 636608 ss. 10.

Paracchini, M.L., J.-E. Petersen, Y. Hoogeveen, C. Bamps, I. Burfield & C. van Swaay 2008. High Nature Value Farmland in Europe – An Estimate of the Distribution Patterns on the Basis of Land Cover and Biodiversity Data. EUR – Scientific and Technical Research series. Luxembourg. DOI: 10.2788/8891.

Schindler, S., H. von Wehrden, K. Poirazidis, T. Wrbka & V. Kati 2013. Multiscale performance of landscape metrics as indicators of species richness of plants, insects and vertebrates. *Ecological Indicators* 31: 41–48.

Schmit, C., M.D.A. Rounsevell & I. La Jeunesse 2006. The limitations of spatial land use data in environmental analysis. *Environmental Science & Policy* 9: 174–188.

Steiner, G.M. 1992. Österreichischer Moorschutzkatalog. Graz.

Thuiller, W., M.B. Araújo & S. Lavorel 2004. Do we need land-cover data to model species distributions in Europe? *Journal of Biogeography* 31: 353–361.

Watts, K., A.E. Eycott, P. Handley, D. Ray, J.W. Humphrey & C.P. Quine 2010. Targeting and evaluating biodiversity conservation action within fragmented landscapes: an approach based on generic focal species and least-cost networks. *Landscape Ecology* 25: 1305–1318.

Authors

Michael Kuttner¹

has been working in the fields of landscape and vegetation ecology. His research focuses on the relation between biodiversity and landscape structure, GIS and species distribution modelling. Corresponding author. Email: michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at

Franz Essl^{1,2}

is mainly interested in the causes and impacts of biological invasions, the effects of global change on the distribution of species, and in understanding the processes and patterns of biodiversity. In addition, he is involved in biodiversity conservation and implementing conservation policies.

Johannes Peterseil²

is interested in biodiversity and landscape ecology. His research is ranging from landscape ecology, biodiversity monitoring, ecosystem services and environmental data management.

Stefan Dullinger¹

is mainly interested in the effects of global change on the distribution of species and on spatio-temporal biodiversity patterns, with a special focus on mountain plant diversity. He also works on biological invasions and issues of conservation biogeography.

Wolfgang Rabitsch²

works at the science-policy-interface with a focus on nature conservation, biological invasions, risk assessments, climate change, biodiversity indicators, and conservation biogeography. He is fond of insects.

Stefan Schindler²

is interested in biodiversity and nature conservation. His research covers a diverse set of disciplines such as landscape ecology, agro-, grassland and forest ecology and management, ecosystem services and invasion biology. His taxonomic expertise is focused on birds.

Karl Hülber¹

is interested in plant biogeography and various aspects of plant ecology with a special focus on evolutionary ecology of mountain plants.

Andreas Gattringer¹

is a computer scientist, mainly responsible for programming and maintenance of dynamic distribution models at the Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research of the University Vienna.

Dietmar Moser^{1,2}

is an ecologist with his main interests in plant-animal interactions, in vegetation dynamics, in diversity patterns, in causes and pattern of biological invasions and in the impact of climate change on distribution of biota.

¹ Department of Conservation Biology, Vegetation and Landscape Ecology, University of Vienna, Rennweg 14, 1030 Vienna, Austria

² Environment Agency Austria, Spittelauer Lände 5, 1090 Vienna, Austria

- Introduction to Section C -

Spatio-temporal assessments in nature conservation: Quantification of biodiversity patterns and identification of species ´vulnerabilities due to environmental change

In the last section my thesis I included four recent research articles originating from different scientific projects I have been involved in during the last years, but altogether they are dealing with the overarching topic of how biodiversity patterns have evolved over time and will sustain already ongoing global change. The underlying processes of change are affecting our environment on almost all spatial scales, from entire ecosystems down to intraspecific patterns, but they have one thing in common: Human-caused environmental change has rapidly sped up since beginning of the 'Anthropocene' (Steffen et al., 2011; Ellis, 2015).

At this, in particular climate change is directly affecting both ecosystem equilibria and consequently also biodiversity patterns, which adversely affect ecosystem service provision, and on the other hand climate change influences socio-economic decisions that, in turn, are altering ecosystem service provision as well (Schröter et al., 2005).

All of the articles presented in this section are focusing on (potential) climate change impacts on biodiversity, though article (vi) investigates on the invasion risk by the non-native Emerald Ash Borer (*Agrilus planipennis*) who appears as the major threat to Common Ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) populations across (Central) Europe in the upcoming decades under climate warming. Common Ash trees are among the most widespread and important key tree species among Europe's temperate forests and already being endangered due to another invasion by the so called ash dieback (*Hymenoscyphus pseudalbidus*). This pathogen fungi started to infest European Ash populations back in the 1990ies and has been first observed in North-Eastern Poland (Pautasso et al., 2013). Furthermore, current climate warming facilitates the spread of the neobiotic Emerald Ash Borer from Russia towards Central Europe in the upcoming decades. On the basis of the previously introduced CEH-map (see also Section B) we established a distribution map of the Common Ash throughout the mapping region and consequently deduced a risk assessment of Emerald Ash Borer invasion for the area.

Article (viii) also deals with the distribution of a single plant species, namely the endangered *Cerastium dinaricum*, a member of the Caryophyllaceae family which is endemic to only some mountainous screes and rock outcrops in the Western Balkan Peninsula. Here, the central questions were to examine its phylogeographic structure, which turned out to significantly differ between north-western and south-eastern populations and to set up correlative species distribution models in order to predict the potential impact of climate

change on the species' current range size for the second half of the 21st century. Long-time isolation on several non-glaciated mountain top refugia during glacial periods of the Pleistocene which were followed by yet rather limited upward migration capabilities due to warming by beginning of the Holocence have shown primarily responsible for the highly fragmented current distribution pattern of the investigated species. In general, high mountain endemic species are seemingly most affected by changing climates due to their restricted ranges and their limited possibility in in shifting their current ranges further upward to track climate change (Dirnböck et al., 2011). Though static modelling approaches, as used in this current study, tend to overestimate range decline it is most likely that most mountain species will be able to bear unsuitable climatic conditions for a few decades before either going extinct or managing to adapt to the altered environmental conditions (Dullinger et al., 2012). Hence, in case of *Cerastium dinaricum* (which is most likely true for other high mountain endemic plants as well), immediate implementation of nature conservation actions is required, for example by translocation of single specimen to adjacent mountains where environmental conditions remain suitable, as proposed by Thomas (2011).

The remaining articles are not solely focusing on one single species of interest but are either directly (article ix) or indirectly (article vii) dealing with human-caused effects on biodiversity patterns at higher functional levels. At this, within the study presented by article (vii) we applied a so-called integrated modelling framework in order to outline different storylines of farm production under a changing environment and their impact towards farm incomes and the environment. In detail, single scenarios were drawn under the assumptions of graduated mitigation, adaptation or combined strategies in response to climate change till 2040 by integrating several kinds of economic data on e.g. average crop yields, gross margins and subsidies as well as environmental indicators on landscape appearance, habitat quality in terms of landscape functionality (also refer to article (i)), farmland plant species richness and hemeroby. Overall, there is no doubt that climate change will affect agricultural ecosystem service provision in the future (e.g. Kirchner et al., 2015, Fezzi et al., 2015). Within this study we quantified its effect on farmland productivity which in turn directly affects the ecological state across our target landscape by applying various climate and policy scenarios. Although we did not aim to directly address the provision of certain ecosystem services, our outcomes can nevertheless be related to certain service groups such as food production, habitat quality or landscape aesthetics. It turned out that the rather moderately accounted climate change impact (+1.5K mean warming by 2040) will likely have no detrimental effects on species richness and landscape functionality at all in the investigated case study area where altered precipitation and warming patterns are seemingly still within a range to be able to deal with, provided that mitigation policies and actions are conducted. Accordingly, related ecosystem service groups such as 'habitat', 'provision' or 'regulation' are neither likely to be affected. On the other hand, economic outcomes might even improve as also revealed by a nationwide study by Bateman et al., 2013.

The last article (ix) I present within the frame of my dissertation introduces a current study targeting on varying patterns of species distribution between the Alpine region and adjacent lowlands. Basically, future projections on species distributions conducted by the use of correlative species distribution models (SDMs) generally tend to either over- or underestimate predicted ranges due to the basic assumptions of "unlimited" or "no" species dispersal (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). While on a larger scale, climatic variables are foremost determining species distribution patterns (Thuiller et al., 2004), land cover data may serve as an with-determining co-variable on finer-scaled modelling approaches to predict future species distributions (Luoto et al., 2007; Randin et al., 2009). At this, we conducted a multispecies modelling approach by investigating 58 target species of butterflies, grasshoppers and vascular plants at a rather fine resolution of 100m. The study encompassed the same countries as already outlined in section B (see also article (v)), thus including substantial parts of the (eastern) Alps. We projected potential current and future distributions (for the second half of the 21st century) and according changes in range size by applying three different scenarios of climate change and further corrected those outcomes by speciesspecific demands on certain habitats. This enabled us to gain new insights on the (mis)match of climatically suitable space and the distribution of suitable habitats for the present situation as well as compared to the future predictions. Moreover, we detected significant differences of outcomes within our pool of target species, namely between the two main groups of lowland and alpine species.

Reference List:

Bateman, I.J., Harwood, A.R., Mace, G.M., Watson, R.T., Abson, D.J., Andrews, B., Binner, A., Crowe, A., Day, B.H., Dugdale, S., Fezzi, C., Foden, J., Hadley, D., Haines-Young, R., Hulme, M., Kontoleon, A., Lovett, A.A., Munday, P., Pascual, U., Paterson, J., Perino, G., Sen, A., Siriwardena, G., van Soest, D., Termansen, M. Bringing Ecosystem Services into Economic Decision-Making: Land Use in the United Kingdom. Science, 341, 45-50.

Dirnböck, T., Essl., F., Rabitsch, W. 2011. Disproportional risk for habitat loss of highaltitude endemic species under climate change. Global Change Biology 17, 990-996.

Dullinger, S., Gattringer, A., Thuiller, W., Moser, D., Zimmermann, N.E., Guisan, A., Willner, W., Plutzar, C., Leitner, M., Mang, T., Caccianiga, M., Dirnböck, T., Ertl, S., Fischer, A., Lenoir, J., Svenning, J.-C., Psomas, A., Schmatz, D.R., Silc, U., Vittoz, P., Hülber, K. 2012. Extinction debt of high-mountain plants under twenty-first-century climate change. Nature Climate Change 2, 619-622.

Ellis, E.C. 2015. Ecology in an anthopogenic biosphere. Ecological Monographs 85/3, 287-331.

Guisan, A., Thuiller, W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters, 8, 993-1009.

Kirchner, M., Schmidt, J., Kindermann, G., Kulmer, V., Mitter, H., Prettenthaler, F., Rüdisser, J., Schauppenlehner, T., Schönhart, M., Strauss, F., Tappeiner, U., Tasser, E., Schmid, E. 2015. Ecological Economics, 109, 161-174.

Luoto, M., Virkkala, R., Heikkinen, R.K. 2007. The role of land cover in bioclimatic models depends on spatial resolution. Global Ecology and Biogeogrpahy, 16, 34-42.

Pautasso, M., Aas, G., Queloz, V., Holdenrieder, O. 2013. European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) dieback – A conservation biology challenge. Biological Conservation 158, 37-49.

Randin, C.F., Jaccard, H., Vittoz, P, Yoccoz, N.G., Guisan, A. 2009. Land use improves spatial predictions of mountain plant abundance but not presence-absence. Journal of Vegetation Science, 20, 996-1008.

Schröter, D., Cramer, W., Leemans, R., Prentice, I.C., Araújo, M.B., Arnell, N.W., Bondeau, A., Bugmann, H., Carter, T.R., Gracia, C.A., de la Vega-Leinert, A.C., Erhard, M., Ewert, F., Glendinning, M., House, J.I., Kankaanpää, S., Klein, R.J.T., Lavorel, S., Lindner, M., Metzger, M.J., Meyer, J., Mitchell., T.M., Reginster, I., Rounsevell., M., Sabaté, S., Sitch, S., Smith, B., Smith, J., Smith, P., Sykes, M.T., Thonicke, K., Thuiller, W., Tuck, G., Zaehle, S., Zierl, B. 2005. Ecosystem Service Supply and Vulnerability to Global Change in Europe. Science, 310, 1333-1337.

Steffen, W., Persson, Å., Deutsch, L., Zalasiewicz, J., Williams, M., Richardson, K., Crumley, C., Crutzen, P., Folke, C., Gordon, L., Molina, M., Ramanathan, V., Rockström, J., Scheffer, M., Schellnhuber, H.J., Svedin, U. 2011. The Anthropocene: From Global Change to Planetary Stewardship. AMBIO, 40, 739-761.

Thomas, C.D. 2011. Translocation of species, climate change, and the end of trying to recreate past ecological communities. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 26/5, 216-221.

Thuiller, W., Araújo, M.B., Lavorel, S. 2004. Do we need land-cover data to model species distributions in Europe? Journal of Biogeography, 32/3, 353-361.

Section C

Article 6 (vi)

Valenta, V., Moser, D., **Kuttner, M.**, Peterseil, J., Essl, F. 2015. *A High-Resolution Map of Emerald Ash Borer Invasion Risk for Southern Central Europe*. Forests, 6/9, 3075-3086.

doi:10.3/j.ecolmodel.2014.07.001



Article

A High-Resolution Map of Emerald Ash Borer Invasion Risk for Southern Central Europe

Viktoria Valenta¹, Dietmar Moser¹, Michael Kuttner¹, Johannes Peterseil² and Franz Essl^{1,*}

- ¹ Division of Conservation, Vegetation and Landscape Ecology, University Vienna, Rennweg 14, 1030 Vienna, Austria; E-Mails: viktoria.valenta@aon.at (V.V.); dietmar.moser@univie.ac.at (D.M.); michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at (M.K.)
- ² Environment Agency Austria, Spittelauer Lände 5, 1090 Vienna, Austria;
 E-Mail: johannes.peterseil@umweltbundesamt.at
- * Author to whom correspondences should be addressed: E-Mail: franz.essl@univie.ac.at; Tel.: +43-1-4277-45382 ; Fax.:+43-1-4277-9575.

Academic Editors: Jarmo K. Holopainen and Eric J. Jokela

Received: 2 July 2015 / Accepted: 17 August 2015 / Published: 31 August 2015

Abstract: Ash species (Fraxinus spp.) in Europe are threatened by the Emerald Ash Borer (Agrilus planipennis, EAB), an invasive wood boring beetle native to East Asia and currently spreading from European Russia westwards. Based on a high-resolution habitat distribution map (grid cell size: 25×25 m) and data on distribution and abundance of Common Ash (Fraxinus excelsior), the most widespread and highly susceptive host species of EAB in Europe, we assess the spatial distribution of EAB invasion risks for southern Central Europe (Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol). We found highest F. excelsior abundance and thus invasion risks in extensive lowland floodplain forests, medium risks in zonal lowland forests and low risks in upper montane and subalpine forests. Based on average velocities of spread in Russia (13-31 km/year) and North America (2.5-80 km/year) from flight and human-assisted transport, EAB is likely to cover the distance (1500 km) between its current range edge in western Russia and the eastern border of the study region within few decades. However, secondary spread by infested wood products make earlier introductions likely. The high susceptibility and mortality of F. excelsior leave no doubt that this beetle will become a major forest pest once it reaches Central Europe. Therefore, developing and testing management approaches with the aim to halt or at least slow down the invasion of EAB in Europe have to be pursued with great urgency.

Keywords: Agrilus planipennis; alien species; EAB; forests; Fraxinus; impact; management

1. Introduction

Ash species (*Fraxinus* spp.) are widespread in temperate and subtropical zones of the northern hemisphere. Three of the 43 species of this genus are native in Europe and also occur in Central Europe: the Common Ash (*F. excelsior*), the Narrow-leaved Ash (*F. angustifolia*) and the Manna Ash (*F. ornus*) [1]. Those ash species are widespread components of mixed deciduous forests—*F. excelsior* throughout Europe, *F. angustifolia* in the South and Southeast, and *F. ornus* in South and South-East Europe [2]. Another ash species occurring in Europe is the American species *F. pennsylvanica*, which has been planted across Europe for timber or as ornamental tree [2,3]. This species has become a fast-spreading alien species in parts of Central Europe, in particular in floodplain forests [4].

European ash species are at risk of getting- or already are -attacked by the Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) (*Agrilus planipennis* Fairmaire, Coleoptera: Buprestidae) (Figure 1). This wood-boring beetle native to Asia has been introduced to North America probably in the 1990s and has had substantial impact on ecosystems and economy since then [3,5]. EAB has also been found in European Russia in 2003 (Figure 2) and is making its way westwards towards Central Europe [6] putting European forestry and environment in danger [7].



Figure 1. Pictures of adults (**a**) and galleries (**b**) of *Agrilus planipennis*. (Sources: Wikimedia Commons)

Therefore, here we assess the risk of EAB invasion for the by far most widespread ash species (*F. excelsior*) in southern Central Europe, *i.e.*, Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, and South Tyrol. We use a recently compiled high-resolution habitat distribution map [8], data on ash distribution and abundance, and on the impact caused by EAB on *F. excelsior* in Russia, to assess the spatial distribution and scale of impacts by future EAB invasion.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Forest Distribution Map

We used a recently compiled high-resolution habitat distribution map with a spatial resolution of 25×25 m [8]. This map is based on fine-scaled data from a range of data sources (e.g., habitat mapping campaigns, biotope inventories), which were harmonized and supplemented by remote mapping and modeling techniques (see [8] for details). This habitat distribution map contains two forest land cover classes (Broad Leaved Forests; Conifer Forests), which were refined by additional data from various sources in the public domain (e.g., forest inventory databases; [9,10]) to assess the distribution and abundance of *F. excelsior*. These data were harmonized and supplemented by remote mapping and modeling techniques (see [8] for details).



Figure 2. European range of *Agrilus planipennis*, showing infested regions of Russia (orange) and cities (red) where the beetle has been detected together with the distribution of *Fraxinus excelsior* [11]. Based on [6,12].

We note that *F. excelsior* also occurs as an important species in small landscape elements (e.g., hedgerows) in cultural landscapes and public urban spaces, which—due to their small spatial extent—are not shown in the habitat distribution map and hence excluded here.

2.2. Regionalizing Common Ash Distribution and Abundance

Fraxinus excelsior is a widespread species in Central Europe which is a constant and sometimes (sub) dominant component in a range of different forest types (Supplementary Table S1). Highest constancies of occurrence are documented for floodplain forests (Alnenion glutinoso-incanae, Ulmenion, Tillio-Acerion), but also in some zonal (Fagion sylvaticae) and sub-mediterranean extrazonal forests (Quercion pubescenti-petraeae) [13]. In the Austrian Alps, forest inventory data and relevé data from the Austrian Phytosociological Database ([14], Starlinger pers. comm.) show that the species only exceptionally occurs above 1200 m above sea level (a.s.l.) This altitudinal distribution limit holds true across all of Austria, without any conspicuous regional differences.

Below this altitude, Austrian Forest Inventory data [15] show that *F. excelsior* abundance increases towards lower altitudes as the share of ash in deciduous forests is ~2% (900–1200 m a.s.l.) and is ~6% (<900 m a.s.l.). Hence, we applied these altitudinal thresholds by intersecting the distribution of broad leaved forests with a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) to identify forests with different abundance of *F. excelsior* (Table 1). In addition, as *F. excelsior* is a particularly abundant in floodplain forests (>8%), we integrated the data of the Austrian [16], German [17] and Swiss [18] floodplain inventories to delineate the distribution of floodplain forests.

Criteria	Austria	Germany (BW/BAV)	Switzerland	South Tyrol	References
Proportion of					[19–22],
Fraxinus excelsior	2.7%	4.9%/1.1%	3.4%	<2%	Buechsenmeister
in forests					pers. comm.
A 1/1/2 11 1	<900: ~6%	<900: ~6%	<900: ~6%	<900: ~6%	
Altitudinai	900–1200: ~2%	900–1200: ~2%	900–1200: ~2%	900–1200: ~2%	[15]
distribution	>1200: 0%	>1200: 0%	>1200: 0%	>1200: 0%	_
Distribution of floodplain forests	Floodplain Inventory	Floodplain Inventory	Floodplain Inventory	Not available	[16–18]

Table 1. Criteria used for mapping the regional distribution of *Fraxinus excelsior* in the study region (Austria, Germany—Baden-Wurttemberg (BW) and Bavaria (BAV)—Switzerland, South Tyrol).

3. Results

The distribution of broad leaved forests of different *F. excelsior* abundance is highly heterogenous on the landscape scale (Figure 3, Table 2). Highest abundances are found in extensive lowland floodplain forests along major rivers (e.g., Danube, Inn, Isar, Rhine), medium abundances are found in forests of the lowlands outside the Alps, whereas abundance in forests in the Alps is low.

The total area of broad leaved forest with *F. excelsior* occurrence in the study region—based on the second-level NUTS regions of the European Union (= sub-national socio-economic regions within Europe, [23])—varies notably (Table 2). Forests of medium *F. excelsior* abundance are most wide-spread, whereas forests of high and low abundance are more restricted.

Based on the NUTS2 regions we found that *F. excelsior* amounts to 2% of the total forest area in Austria, 1.9% in Switzerland and 1.8% in Southern Germany (Table 2). The proportions are considerably lower in Liechtenstein (0.7%) and South Tyrol (0.4%).

The digital high-resolution map of EAB invasion risk is available on request from the authors.



Figure 3. Risk map of future infestation by *Agrilus planipennis* based on *F. excelsior*-distribution for Austria, Bavaria, Baden-Wurttemberg, Liechtenstein, Switzerland and South Tyrol; with examples of landscapes differing in abundance of *F. excelsior* in the study region (see Table 2 for definitions): (**a**) mountainous landscape of the upper Inn Valley in Tyrol (near Innsbruck); (**b**) an agricultural landscape in the Bavarian Alpine Foothills (near Miesbach); (**c**) lowland floodplain forests along the Danube (east of Vienna) and adjacent remnant forests in a intensively used agricultural landscape. The acronyms and location of the NUTS2 (second-level Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics) regions used in Table 2 are given. Study region: Austria (AT), Switzerland (CH), South Germany (DE), South Tyrol (ITH), and Liechtenstein (LI).

Forests 2015, 6

Table 2. Forest extent and distribution of *Fraxinus excelsior* in the NUTS2 (second-level Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics) regions in the entire study region: Austria (AT), Switzerland (CH), South Germany (DE), South Tyrol (ITH), and Liechtenstein (LI). The total area of forest, broad leaved forests (BL) and the percentage of forested area of *F. excelsior* with different levels of abundance—low (~2%), medium (~6%) and high (~10%) are given. The total extent of *Fraxinus* forests and the proportions of different classes of *Fraxinus* forests on broad-leaved forest extent are also given. See Figure 3 for location of NUTS2 regions.

NUTS ID	NUTS Name	Nuts Region Area (km²)	Forest Area (km²)	BL Forest Area (km²)	Low <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance,	Medium <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance,	High <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance, Forest (~10%)	Total <i>Fraxinus</i> Forests	Proportion Low Abundance, <i>Fraxinus</i>	Proportion Medium Abundance, <i>Fraxinus</i>	Proportion High Abundance <i>Fraxinus</i>	Percentage Fraxinus Forests
					rorest (~2%) (km ²)	rorest (~0%) (km ²)	(km ²)	(km²)	Forest on BL	Forest on BL	Forest on BL	in %
					()	()			Forest Area	forest Area	Forest Area	
AT11	Burgenland	3944.1	1272.1	918.7	0.0	846.5	65.2	911.7	0	66.6	5.1	71.7
AT12	Lower Austria	19,184.7	7971.3	3143.0	80.4	2544.3	468.5	3093.2	1.0	31.9	5.9	38.8
AT13	Vienna	413.4	90.7	84.6	0.0	60.3	24.3	84.6	-	66.5	26.8	93.2
AT21	Carinthia	9525.7	5363.5	309.2	56.4	156.5	63.5	276.4	1.1	2.9	1.2	5.2
AT22	Styria	16,436.0	9748.8	1948.0	141.8	1627.6	71.7	1841.1	1.5	16.7	0.7	18.9
AT31	Upper Austria	11,966.4	5081.6	1408.7	171.3	1030.3	133.9	1335.5	3.4	20.3	2.6	26.3
AT32	Salzburg	7155.5	3168.6	416.1	87.8	232.9	28.4	349.0	2.8	7.4	0.9	11.0
AT33	Tyrol	12,644.2	4327.5	149.6	30.0	57.0	39.3	126.2	0.7	1.3	0.9	2.9
AT34	Vorarlberg	2591.7	860.8	152.3	30.1	89.3	23.4	142.8	3.5	10.4	2.7	16.6
AT total	Austria	83,861.6	37,884.9	8530.3	597.7	6644.7	918.1	8160.6	1.5	24.9	5.2	31.6
CH01	Lake Geneva region	8737.7	2327.5	481.7	57.9	323.0	58.0	438.8	2.5	13.9	2.5	18.9
CH02	Espace Mittelland	10,016.4	3454.3	1034.3	127.1	767.1	65.2	959.3	3.7	22.2	1.9	27.8
CH03	Northwestern Switzerland	1969.2	692.9	481.3	2.9	469.2	9.2	481.3	0.4	67.7	1.3	69.5
CH04	Zurich	1734.1	484.9	199.2	1.6	191.8	5.6	199.1	0.3	39.6	1.2	41.1
CH05	Eastern Switzerland	11,524.4	3483.0	715.4	124.4	395.1	70.3	589.8	3.6	11.3	2.0	16.9
CH06	Central Switzerland	4483.3	1324.1	199.4	26.8	140.7	17.9	185.4	2.0	10.6	1.4	14.0
CH07	Ticino	2831.6	1434.5	864.9	170.2	435.6	19.7	625.4	11.9	30.4	1.4	43.6

NUTS ID	NUTS Name	Nuts Region Area (km²)	Forest Area (km²)	BL Forest Area (km²)	Low <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance Forest (~2%) (km²)	Medium <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance Forest (~6%) (km²)	High <i>Fraxinus</i> Abundance Forest (~10%) (km ²)	Total <i>Fraxinus</i> Forests (km²)	Proportion Low Abundance <i>Fraxinus</i> Forest on BL Forest Area	Proportion Medium Abundance <i>Fraxinus</i> Forest on BL forest Area	Proportion High Abundance <i>Fraxinus</i> Forest on BL Forest Area	Percentage Fraxinus Forests in %
CH total	Switzerland	41,296.7	13,201.1	3976.3	510.9	2722.4	245.9	3479.2	3.5	28.0	1.7	33.1
DE11	Stuttgart	10,568.2	3402.8	2127.0	0.0	2126.2	0.8	2127.0	-	62.5	0.0	62.5
DE12	Karlsruhe	6909.7	2948.4	1088.0	0.0	1004.2	83.8	1088.0	-	34.1	2.8	36.9
DE13	Freiburg	9493.2	4343.8	995.5	9.2	897.3	88.6	995.1	0.2	20.7	2.0	22.9
DE14	Tübingen	9093.9	2897.0	1088.8	16.8	1059.1	13.0	1088.8	0.6	36.6	0.5	37.6
DE21	Oberbayern	17538.4	6076.4	1090.8	45.7	824.0	209.9	1079.6	0.8	13.6	3.5	17.8
DE22	Niederbayern	10,332.3	3551.0	510.2	44.5	394.5	65.0	503.9	1.3	11.1	1.8	14.2
DE23	Oberpfalz	9663.3	3952.5	384.4	0.6	382.0	1.7	384.4	0.0	9.7	0.0	9.7
DE24	Oberfranken	7224.3	2744.3	570.6	0.0	565.8	4.9	570.6	-	20.6	0.2	20.8
DE25	Mittelfranken	7286.6	2439.6	543.6	0.0	542.7	1.0	543.6	-	22.3	0.0	22.3
DE26	Unterfranken	8542.5	3392.0	2161.8	0.2	2157.6	4.0	2161.8	0.0	63.6	0.1	63.7
DE27	Schwaben	10,030.2	2794.6	577.6	9.1	423.3	143.0	575.5	0.3	15.2	5.1	20.6
DE total	Germany	106,682.6	38,542.2	11,138.3	126.1	10,376.6	615.5	11,118.2	0.3	28.2	1.5	29.9
ITH1	Bolzano	7425.0	2680.5	225.2	35.8	178.4	0.0	214.2	1.3	6.7	0.0	8.0
L100	Liechten-stein	163.7	66.9	8.2	0.5	7.4	0.1	7.9	0.7	11.0	0.1	11.8

4. Discussion

4.1. Distribution and Abundance of F. excelsior

Fraxinus excelsior is able to grow under highly different environmental conditions, from riparian zones to mountains forests and on nutrient-rich and poor soil [24]. In addition, *F. excelsior* has been widely planted in cities, parks and along roads as shade or ornamental trees. Its native range in Europe is limited by cold winter temperatures, late spring frosts and dry, hot summers [1,3]. Common Ash has an intermediate status between pioneer species and old-growth forest components. It usually occurs in groups within broad leaved forests, is often a dominant species in juvenile forest stands, but rarely attains dominance in older forest stages [1,24].

In southern Central Europe, *F. excelsior* occurs in a range of habitats and thus it is the 4th most common broadleaved tree species ([25], Büchsenmeister pers. comm.). We found that *F. excelsior* amounts to 1.8%–2.0% of the total forest area in Austria, Switzerland and Southern Germany, while proportions are considerably lower in the smaller regions Liechtenstein (0.7%) and South Tyrol (0.4%). However, recent forest inventory data report somewhat higher proportions of *F. excelsior*, maybe due to differing inventory methods: It is assumed that the proportion of *F. excelsior* in Austria is ca. 2.7% of all forest trees, 3.4% in Switzerland, 4.9% in Baden-Wurttemberg and 1.1% in Bavaria [19–21]. No data are available for South Tyrol and Liechtenstein.

4.2. EAB Invasion Risks into Central Europe

The spread of *A. planipennis* is facilitated by two spread mechanisms—*i.e.*, endogenous spread (by flight) and human-assisted transportation [7]. Whereas the first mechanism is most relevant for short-range dispersal and range-infilling, the second one is particularly so for long-distance dispersal. Given observed average velocities of spread in Russia (13–31 km year⁻¹) and North America (2.5–80 km year⁻¹) [7], it is likely that EAB will cover the distance (1500 km) between its current range edge in western Russia and the eastern border of the study region within a few decades. In addition, spread of EAB in the study region will be facilitated by the rather continuous distribution of *F. excelsior*. In the study region, potential corridors for spread can be found particularly along rivers and more generally in the lowlands (Figure 2), while the higher elevations of the Alps may serve as a barrier slowing or halting regional spread. Given the high connectivity of occurrences of *F. excelsior* in low and medium altitudes, it seems unlikely that the availability of host trees will be a major factor for limiting spread outside the Alps.

Human-assisted secondary long-range dispersal is most likely with infested wood and wood products. Although import restrictions of ash wood products from infested regions into the European Union have been introduced (e.g., [26,27]), secondary spread (e.g., by infested wood products) into Central Europe is increasingly likely to occur, the larger the infested area in Eastern Europe becomes. Thus, introduction into Central Europe may occur at any time. Invasion history shows that ports and trade centers are main gateways for such accidental introductions of alien species through international trade [28]. As EAB is able to cope with wide range of climatic condition [29,30], it is likely that it will be able to colonize the full range of *F. excelsior*-habitats in Central Europe.

We note that although the results of this study are not based on modeling the spread of EAB using habitat characteristics and the species' ecological needs as has been done for North America [31,32], our study is the first one which provides a spatially explicit analyses of the invasion risks posed by EAB into a European region. Due to the high-resolution habitat distribution map [8] as the foundation of our analyses, we were able to regionalize invasion risks to a high extent. This information provides a basis for quantifying the scale of the likely impacts caused by EAB, and it identifies likely corridors of spread once EAB spreads into the study region

5. Conclusions

The high susceptibility and mortality of *F. excelsior* to infestations of EAB in Russia [7] leave no doubt that this beetle will become a major forest pest once it reaches Central Europe. This will put additional pressure on *F. excelsior*, which is also suffering from a fungal disease for several years, leading to wide spread ash dieback [24].

Although experience from the spread of EAB in North America has shown that halting its spread is difficult (reviewed by [7]), developing and testing management approaches with the aim to halt or at least slow down the invasion of EAB in Europe must be pursued with great urgency. Therefore, Central European countries not yet infested should develop dedicated precautionary measures to prevent inadvertent import of EAB into their territory. Additional education campaigns will help to raise awareness of the potential risk of *A. planipennis* invasions with the wider public, forest managers, and also in the scientific community.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Richard Büchsenmeister, Franz Starlinger and Wolfgang Willner for information on the distribution of *Fraxinus excelsior*. Jessica Wiesinger and Thomas Ehlert provided the data on the distribution of floodplain forests in southern Germany. The comments of two anonymous reviewers are highly appreciated.

Author Contributions

V.V., F.E. and D.M. led the analyses and writing. M.K. and J.P. contributed land cover data, discussed the results and commented on the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. FRAXIGEN. *Ash Species in Europe: Biological Characteristics and Practical Guidelines for Sustainable Use*; Oxford Forestry Institute, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2015; p. 128.
- 2. EPPO. Data Sheet Agrilus planipennis. Bull. OEPP/EPPO Bull. 2005, 35, 436–438.
- Baranchikov, Y.; Mozolevskayam, E.; Yurchenko, G.; Kenis, M. Occurrence of the Emerald Ash Borer, *Agrilus planipennis* in Russia and its potential impact on European forestry. *EPPO Bull.* 2008, *38*, 233–238.
- 4. Schmiedel, D.; Tackenberg, O. Hydrochory and water induced germination enhance invasion of *Fraxinus pennsylvanica*. *Forest Ecol. Manag.* **2014**, *304*, 437–443.
- Kovacs, K.F.; Haight, R.G.; McCullough, D.G.; Mercader, R.J.; Siegert, N.W.; Liebhold, A.M. Cost of potential Emerald Ash Borer damage in U.S. communities, 2009–2019. *Ecol. Econ.* 2010, 69, 569–578.
- 6. Orlova-Bienkowskaja, M.J. Ashes in Europe are in danger: The invasive range of *Agrilus planipennis* in European Russia is expanding. *Biol. Invasions* **2013**, *16*, 1345–1349.
- Valenta, V.; Moser, D.; Essl, F. A new forest pathogen in Europe: A review of the biology, ecology, and impacts caused by the Emerald Ash Borer (*Agrilus planipennis*). *Biod. Conserv.* 2015, submitted.
- 8. Kuttner, M.; Essl, F.; Peterseil, J.; Dullinger, S.; Rabitsch, W.; Schindler, S.; Hülber, K.; Gattringer, A.; Moser, D. A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland. *Eco.Mont* **2015**, *7*, doi:10.1553/eco.mont-7-2s18.
- 9. Kempeneers, P.; Sedano, F.; Seebach, L.; Strobl, P.; San-Miguel-Ayanz, J. Data Fusion of Different Spatial Resolution Remote Sensing Images Applied to Forest-Type Mapping. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2011**, *49*, 4977–4986.
- Bauerhansl, C.; Koukal, T.; Schadauer, K. Erste österreichweite Waldkarte basierend auf der Österreichischen Waldinventur. Available online: http://www.waldwissen.net/themen/ inventur_monitoring/fernerkundung/bfw_waldlayer_2008_DE. 02.01.2008 (accessed on 08 December 2014).
- 11. EUFORGEN. Distribution map of Common Ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*). EUFORGEN Secretariat: Rome, Italy. Available online: http://www.euforgen.org (accessed on 08 December 2014).
- 12. Straw, N.A.; Williams, D.T.; Kulinich, O.; Gninenko, Y.I. Distribution, impact and rate of spread of Emerald Ash Borer *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) in the Moscow region of Russia. *Forestry* **2013**, *86*, 515–522.
- 13. Die Wälder und Gebüsche Österreichs. Ein Bestimmungswerk mit Tabellen; Willner, W., Grabherr, G., Eds.; Spektrum Akademischer Verlag: Heidelberg, Germany, 2007.
- 14. Willner, W.; Berg, C.; Heiselmayer, P. Austrian Vegetation Database. Biod. Ecol. 2012, 4, 333.
- Schadauer, K. Baumartenatlas für Österreich: Die Verbreitung der Baumarten nach Daten der Oesterreichischen Waldinventur. In *FBVA-Berichte*; Forstl. Bundesversuchsanst, Waldforschungszentrum: Vienna, Austria, 1994; Volume 76, p. 126.
- 16. Lazwoski, W.; Schwarz, U.; Essl, F.; Götzl, M.; Peterseil, J.; Egger, G. *Aueninventar Österreich*; Final Report; BMLFUW: Vienna, Austria, 2011.
- Brunotte, E.; Dister, E.; Günther-Diringer, D.; Kuenzen, U.; Mehl, D. Flussauen in Deutschland: Erfassung und Bewertung des Auenzustandes. In *Naturschutz und Biologische Vielfalt*; BfN-Schriftenvertrieb im Landwirtschaftsverl: Bonn, Germany, 2010; Volume 87, p. 244.
- BAFU. Bundesinventar der Auengebiete von nationaler Bedeutung. GIS-Daten Biodiversität. Bundesamt f
 ür Umwelt. 2014. Available online: http://www.bafu.admin.ch/gis/02911/07403/ index.html?lang=de (accessed on 24 July 2014).
- Schweizerisches Landesforstinventar: Ergebnisse der dritten Erhebung 2004–2006; Brändli, U.B., Ed.; Eidgenössische Forschungsanstalt für Wald, Schnee und Landschaft WSL: Birmensdorf, Switzerland, 2010; p. 312.
- Immler, T. Die Esche im Staatswald der Forstdirektion Oberbayern-Schwaben. In *Beiträge zur Esche—Fachtagung zum Baum des Jahres 2001. LWF-Wissen 34*; Bayerische Landesanstalt für Wald und Forstwirtschaft (LWF): München, Germany, 2002.
- 22. Autonome Provinz Bozen-Südtirol. Abteilung Forstwirtschaft Abteilung Forstwirtschaft: Die Hauptbaumarten Südtirols. 2014. Available online: http://www.provinz.bz.it/forst/ wald-holz-almen/1846.asp (accessed on 8 December 2014).
- 23. Eurostat. Available online: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/nuts/overview (accessed on 9 December 2014).
- 24. Pautasso, M.; Ass, G.; Queloz, V.; Holdenrieder, O. European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) dieback— A conservation biology challenge. *Biol. Conserv.* **2013**, *158*, 37–49.
- 25. Hauk, E. Bäume und Sträucher-Ihre Verbreitung. Beilage zur Österreichischen Forstzeitung 12/1997. Available online: https://bfw.ac.at/inst7/publ/oefz12-97/hauk.html (accessed on 8 December 2014).
- EFSA. Statement on a heat treatment to control *Agrilus planipennis*. *Eur. Food Saf. Auth. J.* 2012. Available online: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/2646.pdf. (accessed on 19 November 2014).
- Forestry Commission. *Importing Wood, Wood Products and Bark*, 2nd ed.; Forestry Commission: Edinburgh, UK. Available online: http://www.forestry.gov.uk/pdf/FCPH001.pdf/\$FILE/ FCPH001.pdf (accessed on 15 November 2014).
- 28. Banks, N.C.; Paini, D.R.; Bayliss, K.L.; Hoddda, M. The role of global trade and transport network topology in the human-mediated dispersal of alien species. *Ecol. Lett.* **2014**, *18*, 188–199.
- 29. Crosthwaite, J.C.; Crosthwaite, J.C.; Sobek, S.; Lyons, D.B.; Bernards, M.A.; Sinclair, B.J. The overwintering physiology of the Emerald Ash Borer, *Agrilus planipennis* Fairmaire (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). *J. Insect Phys.* **2011**, *57*, 166–173.
- 30. Sobek, S.; Rajamohan, A.; Dillon, D.; Cumming, R.C.; Sinclair, B.J. High temperature tolerance and thermal plasticity in Emerald Ash Borer *Agrilus planipennis*. *Agric. Forest Entomol.* **2011**, *13*, 333–340.
- Muirhead, J.R.; Leung, B.; van Overdijk, C.; Kelly, D.W.; Nandakumar, K.; Marchant, K.R.; MacIsaac, H.J. Modelling local and long-distance dispersal of invasive Emerald Ash Borer *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera) in North America. *Divers. Distrib.* 2006, 12, 71–79.

- 32. Prasad, A.M.; Iverson, M.R.; Peters, M.P.; Bossenbroek, J.M.; Matthews, S.N.; Syndor, T.D.; Schwartz, M.W. Modeling the invasive Emerald Ash Borer risk of spread using a spatially explicit cellular model. *Landsc. Ecol.* **2010**, *25*, 353–369.
- 33. Essl, F.; Egger, G. Lebensraumvielfalt in Österreich; Environment Agency: Vienna, Austria, 2010.

 \bigcirc 2015 by the authors; licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Section C

Article 7 (vii)

Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., **Kuttner, M.**, Kirchner, E., Schmid, E. 2015. *Climate change impacts on farm profits, landscape appearance, and the environment: policy scenario results from integrated field-farm-landscape modelling in Austria.*

Submitted to Agricultural Systems; currently under revision

Climate change impacts on farm profits, landscape appearance, and the environment: policy scenario results from integrated field-farm-landscape modeling in Austria

Martin Schönhart^{1, \veestyle }}, Thomas Schauppenlehner², Michael Kuttner³, Mathias Kirchner⁴, Erwin Schmid⁵

¹Institute for Sustainable Economic Development, BOKU University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences; Feistmantelstraße 4, 1180 Vienna, Austria; martin.schoenhart@boku.ac.at (corresponding author)

²Institute for Landscape Development, Recreation and Conservation Planning; BOKU University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences; Peter-Jordan-Straße 65, 1180 Vienna, Austria; thomas.schauppenlehner@boku.ac.at

³Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research; Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation Ecology and Landscape Ecology; University of Vienna; Rennweg 14, 1030 Vienna, Austria; michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at

¹Institute for Sustainable Economic Development, Feistmantelstraße 4, BOKU University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences; Feistmantelstraße 4, 1180 Vienna, Austria; mathias.kirchner@boku.ac.at

¹Institute for Sustainable Economic Development, Feistmantelstraße 4, BOKU University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences; Feistmantelstraße 4, 1180 Vienna, Austria; erwin.schmid@boku.ac.at

Abstract

Climate change is among the major drivers of agricultural land use change and demands autonomous farm adaptation as well as public mitigation and adaptation policies. In this article, we present an integrated modeling framework (IMF) combining bio-physical models and a bio-economic farm model at field, farm and landscape level. The IMF is applied on a cropland dominated landscape in Austria to analyze impacts of climate change and mitigation and adaptation policy scenarios on farm production as well as on the abiotic and biotic environment. Changes in aggregated total farm gross margins from three climate change scenarios for 2040 range between +1% and +5% without policy intervention and compared to a reference situation under the current climate. Changes in aggregated gross margins are even higher if adaptation policies are in place. However, increasing productivity from climate change leads to deteriorating environmental conditions such as declining plant species richness and landscape appearance. It has to be balanced by mitigation and adaptation policies taking into account the considerable spatial heterogeneity revealed by the IMF.

Keywords

integrated land use modeling, climate change impacts, mitigation, adaptation, landscape, environment

1 Introduction

Climate change will cause major changes in agricultural land use systems in the upcoming decades (Howden et al., 2007). While mitigation of climate change is a global concern demanding immediate and concerted global efforts, adaptation is required at different spatial and temporal scales, i.e. from field and farm to global levels and from immediate to postponed action. Such heterogeneity results from spatially and temporally diverse climate change impacts, which are mediated by location, farming systems, and farm resource constraints (c.f. Niles et al., 2015). Farmers autonomously adapt to direct climate change impacts, such as local changes in temperature and precipitation patterns, in order to alleviate losses, exploit gains, and protect their production resources (for recent and ancient examples see Niles et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2015). More indirectly, agricultural land use decisions are driven by climate change affected market impacts and incentivized by adaptation and mitigation policies. Knowledge on farm level vulnerability, mitigation potentials, and adaptation options is crucial to understand climate change impacts and adaptation responses even at larger scales of spatial aggregation beyond the farm level (Reidsma et al., 2010). It can help to design efficient adaptation policies that alleviate negative and utilize positive climate change effects. Environmentally adverse autonomous adaptation by farmers, such as increasing land use intensity, can be detected early enough to counteract if demanded by the society. Knowledge on the mitigation potential of agricultural land use at the farm scale and its trade-offs to other environmental and socio-economic objectives supports the design of efficient mitigation policies at the national to EU level.

Research approaches that combine multiple scales are required to manage such policy issues. They should be interdisciplinary, quantitative, and should cover multiple scales. Integrated land use modeling (ILM) has emerged in agricultural sciences to fulfill such demands. ILM on climate change impacts and adaptation frequently consist of economic land use optimization models and bio-physical process models on plant and livestock production. Consequently, ILM usually rely on interdisciplinary knowledge about systems behavior, which is often analyzed by integrating disciplinary concepts, data, models, and scenarios. Such demanding prerequisites enable ex-ante analyses of systems with high complexity and uncertainty.

Climate change impact and adaptation studies based on ILM are available at different spatial scales ranging from field (e.g. Lehmann et al., 2013) to regional (e.g. Henseler et al., 2009; Leclère et al., 2013; Schönhart et al., 2014; Kirchner et al., 2015) and global levels (e.g. Nelson et al., 2014). Global as well as large-scale regional studies usually model price effects from climate change endogenously. Such representation of market effects is accompanied by coarse spatial resolution of bio-physical impact characteristics and superficial representation of farm management and endowments. Consequently, large scale studies hardly take farm level adaptation into account so far. On the contrary, field level studies can consider high resolution bio-physical impact data to evaluate the effectiveness of farm adaptation measures. As in the case of large scale models, lacking interactions at the farm level, such as competition for land, labor and capital resources aggravate conclusions on the economic efficiency of adaptation from a farm perspective (Gibbons and Ramsden, 2008).

Consequently, farm scale analysis are required to represent land use choices in ILM studies on climate change adaptation and complement global, regional, and field level studies. ILM at the farm level is synonymous to bio-economic farm modeling (Janssen and van Ittersum, 2007). A number of different studies on climate change impacts and farm adaptation are available at this scale. They analyze responses of different farming systems to mainly external changes (e.g. Dono et al., 2013; Kanellopoulos et al., 2014), which shall support farm and policy decision making. Other applications focus on inter-annual farm processes and decision making such as scheduling of field work (e.g. Aurbacher et al., 2013). Land use decisions are taken at the farm scale but many land use impacts on environmental quality and social welfare – e.g. soil sediment loads, ecological functionality, or landscape appearance – are effective at the landscape scale. Hence, another group of studies apply bio-economic farm models to analyze climate change effects on land use and the environment at the landscape to small regional level (e.g. Briner et al., 2012). These studies aggregate farm level model output, either from all individual or selected farms in a small region. A high spatial resolution provides interfaces for landscape level analysis such as on landscape appearance and issues related to nature conservation (Boyle et al., 2015).

Climate change impact analyses for Austria indicate moderate increases of average producer rents up to 2040 due to more favorable production conditions and autonomous adaptation in agriculture (Schönhart et al., 2014). However, the impacts are expected to be i) heterogeneous with winners and losers among regions and farm types, ii) uncertain concerning changes in precipitation patterns and extreme events, and iii) unclear with respect to environmental consequences such as on biodiversity and landscape appearance. We present an integrated modeling framework (IMF) at the field, farm, and landscape level. It builds on former studies on the effectiveness of agri-environmental programs in an Austrian case study landscape (Schönhart et al., 2011a; b). In this article, the IMF is extended to analyze impacts from climate change as well as mitigation and adaptation measures on farm profitability, landscape appearance, and the abiotic and biotic environment. It is applied on a cropland dominated landscape in Austria and addresses the research demands i-iii raised above. Results should serve both scientific and policy objectives by developing a novel research method and by providing guidance for farm management and in developing mitigation and adaptation policies. Section 2 describes the method and data, the case study landscape as well as the applied climate and policy scenarios. Section 3 presents results, which are discussed in section 4. Section 5 concludes on the modeling results and raises emerging research questions.

2 Methods and data

2.1 Integrated modeling framework (IMF)

2.1.1 IMF overview and crop rotation modeling

The IMF combines the crop rotation model CropRota (Schönhart et al., 2011d), the bio-physical process model EPIC (Williams, 1995) and the bio-economic farm model FAMOS[space] (Schönhart et al., 2011c). The latter provides optimal choices on livestock and plant production, which are drivers of abiotic and biotic environmental as well as landscape outcomes (see Figure 1).

The choice on crop rotations is fundamental to the economic and environmental outcomes of agricultural systems. Nevertheless, knowledge on applied crop rotations at farm scale is usually limited. In the IMF, the crop rotation optimization model CropRota shall fill this knowledge gap. It generates typical crop rotations at farm and regional level based on observed land use and agronomic judgments on the value of crop sequences. CropRota also provides a relative share for each generated crop rotation such that the observed land use is reproduced at the highest attainable agronomic value

of the crop rotations. In this article, we run CropRota for each individual farm and select up to four crop rotations ranked by their relative share. To increase the adaptive capacity of a farm towards impacts from markets, policies, and climate, we add three crop rotations to each farm, which have the highest shares at the landscape level according to CropRota.

2.1.2 Bio-physical process modeling of crop yields and environmental outcomes

Crop rotations are input to EPIC complementing a portfolio of crop management measures (i.e. tillage, intensity, irrigation, mowing frequency), geo-referenced field data (i.e. soil, slope, elevation) and climate data (i.e. temperature, precipitation, humidity, wind speed and solar radiation as well as assumptions on CO₂ concentrations) to simulate crop yields and environmental outcomes such as soil sediment losses and soil organic carbon stocks (see Appendix A). EPIC has already been applied several times at 1km² resolution to support climate change impact and adaptation studies for Austria (e.g. Mitter et al., 2014; Schönhart et al., 2014; Kirchner et al., 2015). In this study, the individual fields of a case study landscape are the simulation units. EPIC simulates at daily resolution and output is available for each simulated year. To account for variability in weather conditions, we average EPIC outputs to a 15-year time period in the reference period and the future (Appendix A). Consequently, the crop yield and environmental outcomes transferred to FAMOS[space] are unique for each crop on a particular field under a specific management and climate. CropRota and EPIC outputs are sequentially linked to FAMOS[space].

2.1.3 Farm optimization

FAMOS[space] is a static spatially explicit generic mixed-integer mathematical programming model at farm level. The model – typical to bio-economic farm models (cf. Janssen and van Ittersum, 2007) – seeks for gross margin maximizing production choices subject to field and farm resource endowments. Production choices are taken under perfect information about bio-physical, market, and policy conditions and the resulting land use and livestock activities are typical to a defined period. Interactions among farms are not considered yet but sales and purchases of livestock, feed, and fertilizer are management variants. The farm specific resource endowments include on-farm family labor, livestock housing capacity, as well as land represented by field size and soil quality. Resource endowments are transformed by Leontief-type production technologies to economic outputs and

environmental outcomes. The latter include crop rotation choices, establishment or removal of landscape elements (i.e. orchard trees), soil management (e.g. cover crops and minimum tillage), land use intensity levels (i.e. fertilizer application rates, mowing frequency on meadows), and irrigation. Besides production and management alternatives within a particular land cover category, transitions between four different land covers, i.e. cropland, grassland, forestry, and abandoned land are possible subject to the policy scenario. If not stated otherwise, grassland is synonymous to different permanent grassland categories such as meadows and pastures in this article. With respect to forests, only afforestation and reforestation on former agricultural land are considered. Existing forests are neither represented in FAMOS[space] nor in the output indicators.

Model validation is crucial to any integrated modeling study but frequently difficult due to lacking observations at high spatial resolution and uncertain future developments. We tackle model uncertainty by a four step approach at the level of model development and output validation. With respect to model development (i), we build upon validated, documented, and reviewed single model components. The experience of the involved scientists from applications in similar regions, spatial scales, or research topics reduces the risks of unrecognized misbehavior of models. Furthermore, the rich detail in economic and bio-physical processes within the models and data reduces the risks of biases from poor systems representation. Model results are face-validated by the scientists based on (ii) plausibility checks and descriptive statistics such as on extreme values. Major model assumptions and model results are discussed using the scientific literature (iii) (see section 4.1 and 4.3) to allow for judgements on the robustness of the results. Finally, face validation included a one-time focus group discussion of results with local stakeholders, i.e. farmers and farm advisors, in the project region (iv) (see section 4.1).

2.1.4 Indicator calculation

All output indicators are calculated ex-post to the optimization. Maximized gross margins at farm and landscape level indicate the profitability of production. Total farm gross margins are the sum of market revenues, subsidies, and annuities for forestry and short rotation forestry (SRF) minus variable costs. Market revenues are obtained from crop and livestock product sales and subsidies are granted for certain crop and livestock production measures. Variable costs result from crop and livestock

production and off-farm labor demand. FAMOS[space] also provides data on on-farm labor demand and nutrient balances. The indicators provided by EPIC, such as soil sediment load and soil organic carbon content, were weighted by the resulting area of a particular management. Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are calculated according to IPCC guidelines (IPCC, 2006) and Austrian specific data (Anderl et al., 2014). GHG relevant activities in FAMOS[space] such as livestock production (enteric fermentation) and fertilization (soil emissions) represent ca. 84% of all GHG emissions from agriculture in Austria (for further details see Kirchner et al., 2015). Biodiversity indicators on vascular plant species richness, shannon index on the vegetation (Shannon_{veg}), hemeroby index, and landscape functionality are based on field observations in the case study landscape (see chapter 2.2.3). Local plant species diversity was assessed following a standardized method for surveying vegetation and phytosociological analysis (Braun-Blanquet, 1964) within pre-selected land use categories. It was accompanied by a multiparametric classification of site-specific hemeroby levels (Pollheimer et al., unpublished report). The indicator value on landscape functionality (cf. Kuttner et al., 2013) quantifies the contribution of distinct landscape elements to various ecological key functions such as ecosystem functioning and safeguarding of local biodiversity based on their spatial composition and configuration.

Similar to biodiversity, impacts of changes in agricultural land use on landscape appearance is assessed using diverse indicators to cover the multiple dimensions of this topic. Landscape metrics provide well-known spatially explicit indicators to assess biodiversity effects as well as impacts on landscape aesthetics and structural richness, such as patch density (PD), mean patch size (MPS), edge density (ED), and Shannon diversity index (SDI) (McGarigal and Marks, 1995; Uuemaa et al., 2009). Patch density represents the number of different patches (i.e. land uses) per 100 ha and can be used to compare decreases or increases of different land use classes among the scenarios. Together with MPS it indicates the fragmentation of a certain landscape. ED is defined as edges (in meters) per ha. An increasing edge density indicates an increase in the complexity of a landscape (Palmer, 2004). The Shannon diversity index (SDI) is a wide spread indicator in ecology and landscape aesthetics (Franco et al., 2003; Dramstad et al., 2006) as it measures the diversity of species or land use patterns in a community or landscape. It is applied on both the vegetation (Shannon_{veg}) to indicate biodiversity and

on land use classes to indicate landscape appearance (SDI). We assume that visual quality increases with increasing landscape complexity because small structured landscapes are rated higher by citizens regarding scenic beauty (e.g. Schüpbach et al., 2009). A major disadvantage of these metrics-based indicators is that visual qualities of specific landscape elements are undervalued. Therefore, we complement the analysis by calculating an agricultural crops and vegetables value (ACVV). This indicator is based on Schüpbach et al. (2009), who surveyed citizens on their value judgements about individual crops and landscape elements in Swiss landscapes. We present many indicators at landscape level as well as on smaller sub divisions, i.e. hexagons with 50 ha each (diameter approx. 900m). Results in this article are processed with the R software package (R Core Team, 2014). Indicators based on landscape metrics are calculated using the PatchAnalyst software package (Rempel et al., 2012).

2.2 Data

2.2.1 Data on socio-economic development, farms, and field characteristics

The IMF consists of data on farm resource endowments, markets, bio-physical site characteristics, land use and management as well as landscape structure. IACS data from several years (2000-2008) serve as central data source. It describes fields and farms in detail with respect to crop and livestock production, agri-environmental management measures, and subsidies from the 1st and 2nd pillar of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). Gross margins on annual farm production activities are calculated from the standard gross margins catalogue (BMLFUW, 2008) and literature surveys. Annuities for production activities with investment character are calculated for permanent crops such as SRF (maintained on land cover class cropland) or permanent forestry (individual land cover class). Annuity calculations for SRF are based on data from the Austrian advisory board for agricultural engineering and development (ÖKL) as well as expert interviews. Economic data on forestry are based on the standard gross margins catalogue (BMLFUW, 2008). Region specific forestry yield data is derived from Kirchner et al. (2015) based on results from the forest growth model Caldis vâtis (Kindermann, 2010). Farm labor demand is based on a detailed set of standard working units (Handler et al., 2006) and literature reviews. Family farm labor endowments result from farm survey data from the year 1999. A digital soil map (Bundesforschungs- und Ausbildungszentrum für Wald,

Naturgefahren und Landschaft, BFW), and a digital elevation map (Bundesamt für Eich- und Vermessungswesen, BEV) complement the field characteristics of the case study landscape. Future market price developments are based on OECD-FAO (2013) and adapted to national circumstances.

2.2.2 Landscape element data

Spatial information on landscape elements like hedgerows, small forest patches and orchard meadows are derived from ortho-rectified aerial images applying automatic pixel segmentation and semiautomatic classification (for a description of this method, see Schauppenlehner et al., 2010). We process 3-band color aerial images from 2008 to digitalize recent landscape elements. The historic patterns of landscape elements are derived from grey-scale aerial images from the first Austrian forest inventory in the 1960s. These images show the distribution of landscape elements slightly after a peak of orchard cultivation for juice and cider production in the Mostviertel region. Since the 1960s, orchard meadows have decreased rapidly due to changing consumer preferences and increasing opportunity costs from mechanization in agriculture. Consequently, we consider the historic and recent distribution of orchard meadows as potential sites in the policy scenarios.

2.2.3 Biodiversity indicator data

Data on local plant species richness was collected by local field surveys during May 2011 and 2012. In order to obtain a statistically representative set of relevés we pre-stratified observed land use data for cropland, grassland, and landscape elements (see also 2.2.2) and randomly sampled subsets within derived categories of land use intensity. We conducted 121 vegetation surveys that have been complemented by a comprehensive grading scheme to assess site specific hemeroby levels (Pollheimer et al., unpublished report). It consists of 12 single parameters: frequency of use, biomass extraction, damage on plants, accumulation of matter, soil compaction, ploughing, water balance, fertilizer input, biocide input, replanting, potential of plant regeneration and state of succession. By aggregating and rescaling those parameters we gain final values on hemeroby for each vegetation plot. Shannon_{veg} (Shannon and Weaver, 1949) is directly derived from respective relevés by using the software package JUICE (Tichý, 2002). Apart from vegetation sampling we also mapped landscape structure across four randomly selected quadrants (500m × 500m) that were equally distributed in the case study landscape. The dataset was further complemented by mapping data from 2007 and 2008 where the same

classification system has been applied as in our study. The procedure used for the calculation of landscape functionality is adapted from Kuttner et al. (2013) by quantifying land use class specific capabilities to support ecological key processes based on structural parameters. Thus, this index also acts as a proxy to quantify levels of farmland biodiversity. Table 1 presents indicator values, which are linked to land use results from FAMOS[space]. Changes in vascular plant species richness, Shannon_{veg}, and hemeroby index are estimated for agricultural areas only, but afforested areas are taken into account by the landscape functionality indicator.

2.3 Case study landscape

We apply the IMF on a landscape in the Lower Austrian Mostviertel region. This region has been chosen due to its variety in land uses, the importance of landscape elements such as orchard meadows, and its pronounced land use intensity and climate gradients. The core of the case study landscape is a rectangle covering ~2,000 ha. It includes all agricultural fields which are represented by the IACS system, i.e. nearly all agricultural areas excluding forest patches, infrastructure and open water. We model those 113 farms that manage at least one field within the core of the case study landscape. Furthermore, we model all fields belonging to an individual farm. Consequently, the case study consists also of farms and fields situated outside the core of the case study landscape. These fields and farms are represented in most results except for spatial indicators and maps.

The case study landscape is intensively managed, rather homogeneous with respect to landscape elements and dominated by cropland (84% cropland, 16% grassland). It is likely prone to further intensification in the future. Observed average annual precipitation is about 1.000 mm and the average annual temperature ranges between 8 to 9°C (unpublished data from Strauss et al., 2013). Predominant arable crops in the period 2005 to 2009 have been corn (31%), winter wheat (23%), winter barley (12%) and silage maize (7%). Red clover – grass mixtures and rapeseed account for 3% each and thus are the most important non-grain crops.

2.4 Climate and policy scenarios

Simulations in the IMF are based on scenarios to anticipate plausible future changes in climate and policies (see Table 2 and Table 3). Market prices and other socio-economic parameters are kept invariant among the scenarios. With respect to policies, three mitigation and adaptation scenarios have

been developed and combined with three climate scenarios until 2040. In the IMF, the climate signal drives the bio-physical output of EPIC and is subsequently transmitted to FAMOS[space], while the mitigation and adaptation policies directly impact land use and livestock choices in FAMOS[space]. The climate and policy scenario impacts are compared to a reference scenario *REF_2040*. *REF_2040* is presented in Table 2 and includes major changes of the CAP reform 2014-2020 and market policies such as the abolition of the dairy quotas and suckler cow premiums, the introduction of regional single farm payments and greening. A major difference to the current situation is the absence of any agrienvironmental program (AEP). AEPs are not represented in *REF_2040* because they are similar to many mitigation and adaptation policies and therefore covered in the policy scenarios. The scenario analysis aims at assessing the effectiveness of mitigation and adaptation policies, which is achieved by comparing scenario results to a counterfactual reference. Furthermore, *REF_2040* is defined by the current climate situation.

To analyze climate change impacts, we apply three contrasting climate change scenarios (Table 2). The climate change scenarios cover six climate parameters at daily resolution and are based on a statistical climate model and historic trend observations (Strauss et al., 2013). A significant temperature trend has been observed in the past for Austria, which is linearly extrapolated to $+1.5^{\circ}$ C in 2040. Scenarios on precipitation have been developed to capture the inherent uncertainties of precipitation changes in the future (Gobiet et al., 2014). Scenario *CS01* imitates past precipitation patterns. Total daily precipitation increases by 20% in *CS05* and decreases by 20% in *CS09*, i.e. patterns of daily precipitation events are similar to past observations but different with respect to rainfall volumes.

We define four policy scenarios to model i) climate change impacts including autonomous adaptation (*CSXX_i*, were *CSXX* is synonymous to all the three climate change scenarios *CS01*, *CS05*, and *CS09*), ii) mitigation policies (*CSXX_m*), iii) planned adaptation policies (*CSXX_a*) and iv) a combination of mitigation and adaptation policies (*CSXX_m&a*). All policy scenarios as well as *REF_2040* have in common identical market conditions and most elements of the CAP reform but are different with respect to their specific policies (Table 3). The CAP reform is implemented differently only with respect to the greening measures, i.e. relaxed in *CSXX_m* and abolished in *CSXX_a* and *CSXX_m&a*.

In the impact scenario CSXX_i no additional policies beyond REF_2040 are introduced. Compared to REF_2040 this scenario presents climate change impacts based on autonomous adaptation such as crop and crop rotation choices, dietary choices for livestock, irrigation, fertilization and land cover change. The portfolio of policies in CSXX_m supports soil carbon sequestration and the production of agro-fuels. Establishment of SRF and cultivation of energy crops (i.e. corn, rye, soybean, sunflower, winter wheat, winter barley, rapeseed) is allowed on fallow land in the greening measure. Premiums for orchard meadows and SRF (120€/ha per year (p.a.)) as well as afforestation (one-time payment of 3850€/ha) should enhance soil carbon and agro-fuels supply in the future. Reduced tillage (40€/ha p.a.) and reduced tillage including sowing of cover crops (150€/ha p.a.) enhance soil carbon sequestration. Measures on reduced fertilization intensity aim on N₂O emission reductions and biodiversity enhancement. Participation in the latter is possible only for the whole farmland and additionally requires extensification of grassland (5% of total grassland area on a farm) and establishment of fallow land on cropland (2% of total cropland area on a farm). All premium levels in *CSXX_m* imitate the Austrian AEP ÖPUL in the rural development programming period 2007-2013. Apart from the expected positive climate impacts, the measures in CSXX_m should be favorable to other environmental concerns, such as biodiversity enhancement, landscape protection, reduced nutrient leakage, and erosion control. The overarching strategy of CSXX_a is to maintain the adaptive capacity of farmers towards climate change and agricultural production. Consequently, the greening measures (see Table 3) are abolished. Annual premiums for maintenance of steep meadows (slope \geq 25% and < 35%: 105 €/ha, ≥ 35% and < 50%: 235 €/ha, > 50%: 370 €/ha) and an irrigation premium of 40 \in /ha p.a. are introduced in CSXX_a. Scenario CSXX_m&a combines the policy portfolios of CSXX_m and CSXX_a. It offers most freedom to the modelled farms with respect to land use choices and consequently will show equal or higher total farm gross margins than either CSXX_m or CSXX_a.

3 Results

3.1 Climate change impacts on crop yields

Climate change impacts are simulated in EPIC for each individual field and management variant. Figure 2 presents changes on modelled crop yields under the current climate for the five most dominant arable crops. Each data point represents an individual field for standard ploughing averaged over all crop rotations and intensity levels in the case study landscape. Impacts on 1-cut and 3-cut grasslands are presented in Appendix B. Climate change increases average yield potentials for most crops according to EPIC. This tendency is mainly independent from the climate scenarios and is particularly true for winter wheat and grassland categories. Differences among the climate scenarios appear moderate but follow a unique pattern: CS09 achieves the largest yield increases followed by CS01 and CS05. Maize crop variants such as corn and silage maize behave differently in EPIC and result in yield losses on average in all three climate scenarios compared to the current climate. In EPIC, corn cannot benefit from temperature increases such as wheat does due to an already low number of low temperature stress days under current climate conditions. Water stress is low for both arable crops even under diminishing precipitation in CS09. Under humid conditions, such as for the case study landscape, additional rainfall can even reduce yields, e.g. by increasing nutrient leaching. Nitrogen appears to be the most limiting growth factor because nitrogen stress increases in all three climate scenarios for winter wheat and corn. Results for disaggregated yield changes under different fertilization levels in EPIC support such conclusion as well: the lower the fertilization level, the lower are the yield gains for wheat and the larger become the losses for corn and silage maize.

3.2 Land use and livestock effects

Land use and land cover changes in the reference scenario *REF_2040* in FAMOS[space] result from climate change impacts on crop yields and mitigation and adaptation policies. Figure 3 presents fallow land on cropland and orchard meadows because both are important drivers of biodiversity enhancement and landscape appearance. Results for further land use categories, i.e. cropland, intensive and extensive grassland, forests, and SRF, are presented in Appendix C.

Apparently, neither climate change nor the policy scenarios lead to substantial land abandonment in the model. Only a few hectares become idle at all and are neither under forest nor agricultural land use. However, there are some shifts among land use and land cover categories such as a transition from agricultural to forest land use in *REF_2040* compared to the observed endowment. Afforestation premiums stimulate forest growth by additional 3ha to 12ha in both *CSXX_m* and *CSXX_m&a*. It shows a considerable relative change in forest conversion although still minor in absolute levels.

Grassland consists of the following categories: extensive grassland, intensive grassland, and orchard meadows. Impacts are considerable especially for extensively managed grassland such as 1-cut meadows and extensively managed pastures. Premiums for orchard meadows maintain 56 ha in the *CSXX_m* scenarios – i.e. the observed endowment of orchard meadows – compared to hardly any orchard meadows in *REF_2040*. The abolishment of greening in *CSXX_a*, which prevented conversion of grassland to cropland before, reduces grassland by 27% on average among all climate change scenarios. No orchard meadows and hardly any extensively managed grassland remain in this scenario. The pressure from *CSXX_m&a* on total grassland is moderate compared to *CSXX_a* with losses of 8%. However, the area of orchard meadows is also only about 89% its value in *CSXX_m*. Furthermore, the model results in land use change towards SRF. It is the consequence of both climate change impacts that increase cropland productivity, and both mitigation and adaptation policies favoring cropland management and permitting conversion of grassland to cropland.

Variation among arable crops is modest among the scenarios (Appendix D). Climate change increases the profitability of SRF in *CSXX_i* but a major increase in SRF is modelled for *CSXX_m* due to supporting policies. On average across all climate change scenarios (*CSXX_m*), SRF is cultivated on 4% of total cropland, i.e. the sum of the categories cropland and SRF in Appendix C, compared to hardly any SRF in *REF_2040*. Increasing SRF areas come at the cost of fallow land, which is reduced by 61% in *CSXX_m* compared to *REF_2040* (see Figure 3) and more or less disappears in *CSXX_a*. The combined mitigation and adaptation policies in *CSXX_m&a* lead to fallow land between the levels in *REF_2040* and *CSXX_a*. This is due to a mitigation measure coupled to both the provision of fallow land extensive grassland management.

Figure 4 presents the aggregated area (ha) devoted to a particular soil management on cropland. Autonomous adaptation in *CSXX_i* increases the area under reduced tillage. Reduced tillage combined with cover crops (see category cover crops in Figure 4) is hardly observed. Policies targeted towards soil conservation in *CSXX_m* strongly increase the area under reduced tillage combined with cover crops indicating sufficient incentives from premiums. However, incentives and climate change impacts do not attract irrigation. It is chosen in the model only for a few hectares and crops. Livestock

is hardly impacted by both climate change and policies in the model. Farms produce livestock more or less at their assumed housing capacities in all scenarios (Table 4).

3.3 Effects on abiotic agri-environmental indicators

From an economic point of view, choices on fertilization intensity are a function of natural production potentials and market and policy opportunities, i.e. driven by the marginal value product of fertilization and the marginal fertilization costs. The marginal value product is impacted by climate change and mitigation and adaptation policies (Table 4). In *REF_2040*, FAMOS[space] results in average nitrogen application rates of 141 kg/ha. Climate change increases average fertilization levels (*CSXX_i*) by 1% to 2% at the landscape level, but fertilization intensities are strongly reduced on cropland and grassland in the mitigation scenario (*CSXX_m*). It is triggered by effective policies reducing land use intensity. In total, nitrogen amounts decrease by 6% to 9% compared to *CSXX_i*. Changes in phosphorus fertilization are similar to those of nitrogen in general. Policy driven enhanced adaptive capacity in the adaptation scenario (*CSXX_a*) increases fertilization rates on cropland due to the loss of fallow land and the conversion from grasslands to croplands. Fertilization intensity in *CSXX_m&a* ranges between *CSXX_i* and *CSXX_a* results.

GHG emissions are mainly impacted by changes in livestock numbers and land use management in the IMF (Figure 5). Climate change leads to increasing emissions in the case study landscape. The effective mitigation policies in $CSXX_m$ as well as $CSXX_m$ &a reduce emissions by 2% - 6% compared to REF_2040 . However, autonomous ($CSXX_i$) and planned adaptation ($CSXX_a$) both increase emissions compared to REF_2040 triggered mainly by changing fertilization levels.

The development of soil organic carbon (SOC) content represents another component of the global carbon cycle in agriculture (Figure 6). SOC is impacted by both climate change and policies. Precipitation patterns determine the direction of change with increasing precipitation (*CS05*) leading to SOC losses and vice versa. Changes are between -12% and +1% on cropland and -2% to +3% on grassland. Obviously, the variability of relative changes is much larger on cropland than grassland. Absolute changes are smaller between both due to higher SOC contents on grassland.

Soil sediment load from water erosion impacts both soil fertility and nutrient losses and, consequently, determines farm incomes and environmental impacts of land use in the long run. Soil sediment load on

cropland in the IMF is sensitive to both precipitation patterns and policies (Figure 7). Relative changes range from -43% to +59%. Soil protection policies turn out to be particularly effective in $CSO5_m$ but less so in $CSO9_m$, which indicates potential public benefits from targeting agri-environmental policies towards climate change.

3.4 Effects on biodiversity and landscape

In the IMF, biodiversity is influenced by changes in land use, i.e. choices of land use categories, crops or land use intensity (see Table 1 and Figure 8). Impacts from climate change (*CSXX_i*) are moderate due to moderate land use changes. However, policies strongly impact biodiversity indicators in the IMF. Mitigation policies foster biodiversity due to less intensive land use on both cropland and grassland and the establishment of orchard meadows. For example, average vascular plant species richness increases between 3% and 5% in *CSXX_m*. On the contrary, more flexibility in land use gained from adaptation policies (*CSXX_a*) reduces habitat quality and species richness. Similar to other indicators, the combined mitigation and adaptation policies (*CSXX_m* and *CSXX_a*, whereby indicators tend towards *CSXX_m*.

Figure 9 presents the results from *CS09* and all four policy scenarios on landscape appearance. Values are aggregated at the landscape level. PD, SDI, and ACVV perform in a comparable way but with varying intensity. ACVV reacts strongly on the reduction of landscape elements with a high visual value such as orchard meadows or extensive grasslands. This explains the strong decrease of ACVV in *CS09_i* and *CS09_a* while SDI shifts more slightly in these scenarios. ED does not vary substantially among the different scenarios as there are little changes in field sizes and subdivisions of fields. An increasing MPS indicates larger homogenous agricultural production units and therefore a decreasing scenic beauty in *CS09_a*.

Besides aggregated landscape-based indicators, we estimate the indicator values also for regularly distributed hexagonal subdivisions (50 ha; see Figure 10 and Figure 11 for *REF_2040* and *CS09_m*) in order to identify local differences among the scenarios. The maps show considerable differences between the two scenarios depending on the local position. Again, ACVV reacts stronger than the SDI. It results from orchard meadows established in scenario *CS09_m*. They strongly influence the

visual quality and scenic beauty but have little impact on the performance of structural indicators, which do not differentiate among land uses as long as the field patterns remain unchanged.

3.5 Farm economic effects

Land use change, climate change, and policies affect farm profitability. Figure 12 presents changes in total farm gross margins from the reference scenario REF_2040 aggregated at the landscape level. The distribution of changes for the individually modelled farms is presented in Appendix E. In the absence of mitigation and adaptation policies ($CSXX_i$), climate change and corresponding autonomous adaptation increase total farm gross margins on average. Aggregated at the landscape level (i.e. sum over all total farm gross margins in the landscape), it increases by 1% to 5% depending on the three climate change scenarios (Figure 12). At farm level and for different climate change scenarios, gross margins range between the first and third quartile by -2% and +8% (Appendix E). Therefore, climate change impacts lead to higher farm profitability, but the effects are heterogeneous among the different assumptions on precipitation patterns.

The introduction of mitigation policies (*CSXX_m*) increases aggregated total farm gross margins by 6% to 9% (Figure 12). Among individual farms, ranges between the first and third quartile are between +3% and +14% (Appendix E). Average changes in total farm gross margins aggregated at the landscape level (see Figure 12) are lower than average values over all individual farms (Appendix E) due to larger relative impacts for smaller farms. Total farm gross margins increase if constraints are relaxed (e.g. enhanced production of energy crops and SRF on fallow land) and agri-environmental measures are in place that foster climate change mitigation in *CSXX_m*. In *CSXX_a*, the greening requirement is abolished and irrigation subsidized. While the latter hardly shows any impact – irrigation is introduced on only 1ha in *CS09_i* and *CS09_a*, respectively – ceasing the greening requirement enhances flexibility in the model. Consequently, aggregated total farm gross margins increase by 3% to 7% compared to *REF_2040*. At the individual farm level, changes from adaptation policies (*CSXX_a*) are between +3% and +9% on average among the three climate change scenarios. The combined mitigation and adaptation scenario (*CSXX_m&a*) further enhances production flexibility and leads to the highest farm gross margins among all scenarios. Total farm gross margin at landscape level increases by 6% to 10% (Figure 12). For individual farms, ranges between the first and

third quartile are between -1% and +11% (Appendix E). Apparently, climate change effects are robust among all policy scenarios, i.e. *CS09* leads to the largest increases in total farm gross margins followed by *CS01* and *CS05*. The results are also robust with respect to the mitigation and adaptation policies. Climate change scenarios induce larger variability but the impacts from the policy scenarios on farm gross margins are still in clear order for a particular climate scenario with *CSXX_m&a* > *CSXX_m* > *CSXX_a* > *CSXX_i*. Nevertheless, the combination of climate change scenarios and policies increase uncertainty about the ranking of policies. For example, gains from beneficial adaptation policies under increasing temperature, CO₂-levels and precipitation (*CS05_a*) are lower than benefits from increasing temperature, but decreasing precipitation even in the absence of any beneficial policy (*CS09_i*) in the IMF.

From the perspective of public budget spending, there is a clear order among the policy scenarios with little variation among the climate change scenarios (Figure 13). Mitigation policies in $CSXX_m$ considerably increase spending by 27% to 28% compared to REF_2040 . On the contrary, adaptation policies hardly impact public budgets because changes in greening requirements are budget neutral and the uptake of other measures in $CSXX_a$ is minor. In $CSXX_m$ are the combination of mitigation and adaptation policies increases spending to more or less $CSXX_m$ levels. Figure 13 (left) splits farm revenues and costs into single components. In REF_2040 , subsidies account for 13% to the total revenues from market sales and subsidies. In $CSXX_m$ it increases by 16% to 17% compared to REF_2040 due to increasing subsidy levels and decreasing market income. Nevertheless, higher total gross margins in $CSXX_m$ compared to REF_2040 indicate economic benefits to farmers from the proposed mitigation management measures and therefore provide economic incentives for a management transition.

Labor demand is a socio-economic indicator at farm level determining quality of life to farmers and, consequently, land use choices. In FAMOS[space], autonomous climate change adaptation ($CSXX_i$) slightly reduces labor demand by 1% to 2% (Table 5). Further reductions are the result of mitigation policies ($CSXX_m$). Adaptation triggered by policies in $CSXX_a$ increase demand even above REF_2040 levels.

4 Discussion

4.1 Climate change impacts on farm production

We present an integrated modeling framework (IMF) combining the bio-physical process model EPIC and forest growth data from the Caldis vâtis model with the bio-economic farm model FAMOS[space]. The IMF has been applied to analyze climate change impacts and the effectiveness of mitigation and planned adaptation policies in an Austrian case study landscape. The reference situation in 2040 (*REF_2040*) assumes a liberalized agricultural sector lacking any agri-environmental program. Climate change scenarios include a single temperature trend of $+1.5^{\circ}$ C up to 2040 but different precipitation patterns with no changes in annual precipitation sums (CS01) compared to the current climate as well as -20% (CS09) and +20% (CS05) in annual precipitation. The modelled climate change and CO_2 fertilization impacts are beneficial on average to most farms within the IMF independent from the particular climate scenarios. Yields of most crops and grassland forage are increasing, despite minor yield losses for maize. Contrary to our initial expectations, reduced precipitation (CS09) turns out to be more beneficial on average than increasing precipitation (CS05) according to the results from EPIC. This may be explained by currently sufficient average annual precipitation levels of 1.000 mm. In CS09, average annual precipitation decreases to 800 mm, which is still sufficient for cropland and grassland production in the bio-physical model EPIC to sustain or even increase yields. Such result is also driven by enhanced CO₂ levels that can decrease water stress for grasslands (Soussana and Lüscher, 2007). Furthermore, reduced precipitation in humid regions can decrease soil sediment loads and nutrient leakage, which both are beneficial to crop yields and environmental outcomes.

Discussions with regional experts confirmed some but not all of our results. In general, our results appeared plausible to the experts especially concerning the variation of impacts among farms such as depicted in Figure 2 and Appendix E. It is justified by the considerable regional heterogeneity in slope and soil conditions ranging from wet heavy clay rich soils to light sandy soils with low water retention capacity. According to the stakeholders, precipitation levels are sufficient in the region. They even face wet periods and extreme rain events, which can challenge the timing of harvest and can lead to soil erosion. Increasing intensification is considered plausible, but irrigation will hardly play a major

role in the future, which is confirmed by our model results. Nevertheless, stakeholders also challenged some of the bio-physical results and thereby revealed future research demand. It includes the losses in corn and silage maize yields despite the future warming trend or the modelled increases in winter wheat yields. The latter appear implausible to the stakeholders due to elevated temperatures, which likely shorten the grain filling period in the future.

The validation of our results with the scientific literature is ambiguous. Kirchner et al. (2015) and Schönhart et al. (2014) provide spatial analysis on climate change impacts for all over Austria based on methods similar to our study. Their results show similar impacts concerning productivity gains on grassland and cropland for the wider case study region. Ciscar et al. (2011) modeled crop yield increases of 5% on average under more pronounced temperature increases of 2.5°C for Austria. In the case of +4.1°C and -4% in precipitation levels, yields are still positive on average with +3% but become moderately negative (-3%) in case of severe temperature changes of +5.4°C and precipitation reductions of 16%. Finger et al. (2010) modeled grassland yield increases for Switzerland of up to 40% considering a CO₂ fertilization effect and substantial decreases of precipitation during the vegetation period and Fuhrer et al. (2013) confirm productivity increases on grassland in the Swiss Rhone catchment subject to sufficient irrigation water availability. However, Mitter et al. (2014) provided estimates for a larger case study region including our case study landscape. They applied the same climate change scenarios and bio-physical process model, but derived decreasing average dry matter yields of typical arable crops for scenario CS09 in contrast to CS05, which may result from heterogeneous local soil and climate conditions. Schaumberger (2011) applied a statistical grassland model to estimate yield impacts from drought all over Austria. A simulation of the drought year 2003 implying reductions in precipitation of about 30% leads to forage yield losses for large parts of Austria. Such results indicate the sensitivity of bio-physical production on climate change and the interplay with crops and crop management, soil conditions and slope. The inherent uncertainty within climate change impact studies due to location and applied models proves the need for multiple impact studies even for similar locations. Additional research should examine these uncertainties, such as by applying ensembles of bio-physical models (for an example on the AgMIP model intercomparison project see Rosenzweig et al., 2013). Another uncertainty comes from livestock production. We considered only one indirect climate change impact, i.e. availability of forage. Model results for heat stress based on temperature humidity indices do not indicate significant challenges to Austrian cattle production on average (Schönhart and Nadeem, 2015). It is unclear so far whether these results hold at regional level – impacts may be significant for particular locations even within alpine regions (Fuhrer et al., 2013) – and whether new pests and diseases will harm livestock under climate change in the future.

4.2. Effects, trade-offs and synergies between mitigation and adaptation policies

Climate change mitigation and adaptation measures likely occur simultaneously with mutual impacts and trade-offs among different environmental objectives (Smith et al., 2007). Our study shows that the effects from mitigation and adaptation policies are mediated by location. Location factors such as soil type and slope determine the endowment of cropland and grassland on a farm and its production potential under alternative managements and thereby impact land use choices in the model. Total farm gross margins, aggregated at the landscape level, increase by about 5%-points to 6%-points if mitigation policies are introduced. Mitigation measures considered in our study include premiums for maintenance of orchard meadows and reduction of fertilization intensity on grasslands, soil protection measures on croplands, as well as relaxed management constraints on mandatory fallow land. Mitigation policies increase extensively managed grassland, orchard meadows and SRF areas and stimulate afforestation. Soil protection is facilitated by supporting minimum tillage and planting of cover crops although the effectiveness of minimum tillage on SOC is unclear in general (Powlson et al., 2014) and thus should be subject to further analysis. As a result of mitigation policies, environmental quality improves according to the IMF. For example, plant species richness increases in CSXX_m compared to REF_2040, while in CSXX_i vascular plant biodiversity levels remain stable or even decline. Gains in CSXX_m occur despite allocations of more than half of the fallow land in CSXX_i towards the production of agro-fuels in CSXX_m. Soil sediment loads are reduced in all three climate scenarios, although with low effectiveness for CS09 m due to reduced precipitation levels. It indicates potentials to increase cost-effectiveness of the applied soil protection measures to local precipitation patterns and field slope and to consider long-term climate change impacts. SOC is increasing in CSXX m compared to CSXX i in most cases and greenhouse gas emissions are

decreasing by 2% to 6% mainly due to reduced fertilization levels of 6% to 9%. These directions of changes are expected results of mitigation policies. However, the magnitude of change is smaller compared to other studies. The IMF takes account of the economic mitigation potential, which can be up to 80% below the technical mitigation potential in agriculture (Smith et al., 2007). Blandford et al. (2014) modelled mitigation policies in the Norwegian farm sector. They constrained GHG emissions to 70% compared to the baseline via a Pigouvian tax. It results in N fertilizer reductions of only 5%, but substantial increases in milk yields of 19% and shifts from beef cattle to dairy and poultry production. Such results indicate the large mitigation potential in livestock management, which has not been considered in CSXX m. Consequently, mitigation policies that are oriented towards particular management alternatives likely do not capture the full mitigation potential of the agricultural sector. Adaptation policies (CSXX_a) increase gross margins with levels of about 2%-points to 3%-points above CSXX_i values. Relaxing the management constraints via abolished greening requirements mainly impacts cropland production and to a lesser degree grassland management. The irrigation premium, which is part of the policy portfolio in CSXX_a, is ineffective in the IMF due to sufficient precipitation levels in the case study landscape. However, there is a trade-off between relaxing policy constraints to increase adaptive capacity of farmers on the one hand and decreasing environmental quality on the other. Despite moderate impacts on farm gross margins, considerable land use changes from CSXX_a occur in the model. From an environmental perspective, the most important impacts are the loss of fallow land and the increase in cropland at the cost of extensive and intensive grasslands. Fallow land and orchard meadows diminish nearly completely in CSXX a, hence leading to a homogenization of habitats within the landscape. Cropland increases at the cost of extensive and intensive grasslands due to relaxing constraints on grasslands maintenance. Such results indicate the effectiveness of current CAP policies that restrict management options based on environmental concerns. The costs of such constraints, mainly opportunity costs, increase with increasing land productivity, which – according to the model results – appears likely for the case study region in the coming decades under climate change. Environmental and landscape quality decreases with the adaptation policies proposed in CSXX_a. Biodiversity indicators decline compared to REF_2040 meaning a loss in habitat functionality and in plant species richness of about -5% to -7%. Conversely,

hemeroby levels increase under this scenario compared to *REF_2040*. This development suggests that the measures applied in *CSXX_a* are detrimental in terms of preserving ecosystem functioning and safeguarding local species pools (Peterseil et al., 2004; Walz, 2015). Soil sediment losses are at higher levels approaching those under autonomous adaptation by farmers (*CSXX_i*). Changes in SOC are heterogeneous between land use types and climate scenarios but less so among the policy scenarios, which indicates limited effectiveness of short term policies. Greenhouse gas emissions in *CSXX_a* increase and reveal a trade-off between mitigation of climate change and farm adaptation in this particular landscape. It is driven by increasing production potentials and cropland intensification but further studies are required to assess a more elaborated set of adaptation policies and management measures.

Scenario CSXX_m&a combines mitigation and adaptation scenarios. It imitates a policy of flexible land management to adapt to climate change while at the same time offering financial incentives to mitigate climate change. There are several likely conflicts of public interests such as with the maintenance of grasslands to sequester carbon (mitigation) and the conversion of grasslands to cultivate arable crops under a warming climate. Total farm gross margins in CSXX_m&a are about 1%-point above CSXX m levels. Clearly both policy portfolios, i.e. mitigation and adaptation policies, do not simply add up due to conflicting objectives, and farms in the IMF cannot benefit from both simultaneously. The most obvious example is the requirement of mitigation policies to fulfill minimum ecological standards on fallow land and crop rotations. This outweighs adaptation policies such as the abolishment of greening. Premiums are obviously large enough in the model to trigger adoption of minimum ecological standards by the modeled farms. Land use change in CSXX_m&a ranges between CSXX_m and CSXX_a results tending towards the former especially for fallow land and orchard meadows. Expansion of croplands take place at a lower rate than in CSXX_a. Land use changes determine the environmental outcomes of CSXX_m&a. Changes in habitat quality and species richness as well as soil sediment losses are close to results from CSXX m. Changes in SOC tend towards larger CSXX_a levels, but greenhouse gas emissions are close to CSXX_m. To sum up, scenario CSXX_m&a is clearly beneficial to farmers as it offers most freedom in land use choices among all four policy scenarios. Similar to CSXX m, CSXX m&a is beneficial to the environment compared to *CSXX_i* and *CSXX_a* but both, *CSXX_m* and *CSXX_m&a*, show a clear trade-off between environmental impacts and public budget spending.

4.3 Model assumptions and uncertainty

Rosenzweig et al. (2013) elaborated a cascade of uncertainties in global crop modeling including the development of greenhouse gas emissions, related climate simulation results, the choice on crop models, and represented management. For integrated land use modeling as applied in this study, further sources of uncertainty include the full range of climate change impacts, farm level behavior towards climate change, the relationship between environmental indicators and environmental quality, the choice of land use model, and assumptions on market conditions. By choosing three contrasting climate scenarios with one significant temperature trend and varying precipitation patterns, we intended to depict a reasonable range of future climate conditions although we cannot quantify the likelihood of each of these scenarios to become reality. We applied one bio-physical process model to transfer climate change signals into crop yield impacts. Model inter-comparison projects such as AgMIP (e.g. Rosenzweig et al., 2013) show a plausible range of uncertainty from crop model choices and future research should build on such results to reduce uncertainty from the application of a single crop model. In the IMF farm management is chosen according to its contribution to gross margins subject to farm specific constraints. We provide a broad range of farm management options that are essential in order to gain meaningful optimal management choices on livestock production and land use. These choices imitate rational farming behavior under perfect information. Uncertainty emerges from unknown behavior of land users in reality, who likely consider objectives for their land use decisions besides maximization of farm gross margins. They may also face other personal constraints beyond on-farm labor supply. Empirical studies on farm level adaptation reveal such constraints and determining factors of adaptation and complement quantitative model applications (Niles et al., 2015). Furthermore, the full range of future adaptation options is unknown today. It is subject to the particular farm (e.g. the management skills of a farmer), future technological developments, or legal constraints. We have chosen a bio-economic farm model that maximizes gross margins, which is common to climate change impact assessments in agriculture. A major advantage compared to economic models considering both variable and fixed costs is the lower demand on model parameters and simpler model

structure. However, a crucial aspect in our IMF is the rigid behavior towards investment decisions particularly in livestock production. We constrained maximum values in the model to observed livestock numbers, which can moderate adaptations in grassland intensity despite increasing yield potentials. A model version based on full-cost accounting may be beneficial particularly for adaptation decisions in livestock production. Crop prices have to be assumed due to a lacking representation of demand in the IMF. Our price coefficients are derived from OECD-FAO (2013), but are not specific to the climate scenarios due to a lack of data. Productivity increases on larger scales in the agricultural sector likely reduce market prices and vice versa, which can buffer climate change impacts or can even lead to losses in competitiveness (cf. Hermans et al., 2010). Leackage effects from regional mitigation policies can trigger GHG emissions globally (Pelikan et al., 2015). Consequently, further research should also include sensitivity analysis on the mutual impacts of climate, policy, and price developments at the international level despite the considerable challenges with respect to data and model development.

5 Conclusions

Quantitative analyses of complex systems require integrated modeling tools. If spatially explicit at high spatial resolution such as the field scale, they offer multiple opportunities to pursue interdisciplinary research questions. In this article, we applied an IMF to analyze climate change impacts, mitigation, and adaptation for an Austrian case study landscape. Its spatially explicit representation of fields belonging to an individual farm improves the representation of mechanization costs (e.g. distances of fields to the farm, size of fields), yield impacts, and environmental outcomes from field to landscape level. Vector-based landscape data within the IMF enables analysis of landscape structure and land use intensity at field scale and serve as proxies of landscape appearance and biodiversity under a changing climate. However, the assessment of impacts on the scenic beauty requires a set of indicators. An approach driven only by landscape metrics neglects the overarching importance of certain landscape elements such as orchard meadows, tree rows or extensively managed fields. Therefore, a weighted approach concerning the visual importance of specific landscape structures supplements the pure structural approach in assessing the scenic beauty. Case study results frequently have limited significance beyond its boundaries. However, we may still be able to derive some general policy conclusions. Our study indicates that farm incomes may increase from climate change in those parts of Austria that are currently limited by temperature in plant production but less so with respect to precipitation levels. While there is much debate in the scientific literature on possible productivity gains from climate change in northern latitudes, equal arguments should be valid for regions with large diversity in altitudes such as in alpine areas. Potential benefits from climate change require farm level adaptation efforts. Autonomous adaptation by farmers as well as mitigation and planned adaptation policies turn out to be effective in maintaining or even increasing farm profitability but face several trade-offs between farm profits, public budget spending, and environmental outcomes. However, such model results are based on important assumptions including sufficient autonomous adaptation by farmers, limited impacts from extreme weather events, infestation from pests and diseases, or the effectiveness of CO_2 -fertilization.

While climate change mitigation may not be a main interest of farmers, farm level adaptation will become increasingly important in the future. It is subject to the awareness of farmers on climate change, the availability of adaptation options and adaptation costs. All of those are affected by policies and policy adaptation to climate change may be required to maintain the productive potential of agriculture in the future. For example, it may include a revision of management guidelines and legislation such as for fertilization governed by the EU nitrate directive. With respect to rural development programs, increasing productivity from climate change increases the opportunity costs of AEP participation on croplands. Impacts on grasslands are driven by the utilization options of forage crops. The effects are similar to increasing market prices and likely challenge the design and affordability of AEPs in the future. AEP programs will therefore have to capture changing market and productivity conditions to maintain participation rates.

Appendices

[Appendix A-E]

Acknowledgement

This article was prepared within the project "Analysing climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies for sustainable rural land use and landscape developments in Austria" (CC-ILA) funded by

the Austrian Academy of Sciences (ÖAW) as well as within the FACCE-JPI MACSUR project supported by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management (BMLFUW) under DAFNE contract number 100875. The computational results have been achieved (in part) using the Vienna Scientific Cluster (VSC). We are grateful to Hermine Mitter for her support in processing EPIC outputs and to Franz Sinabell for providing economic scenario parameters. Georg Kindermann provided forest growth data based on the ACRP project CAFEE.

References

- Anderl, M., Freudenschuß, A., Haider, S., Jobstmann, H., Kohlbach, M., Köther, T., Kriech, M., Lampert, C., Mossmann, L., Pazdernik, K., Pinterits, M., Poupa, S., Schmid, C., Stranner, G., Schwaiger, E., Schwarzl, B., Weiss, P., Zechmeister, A., 2014. Austria's National Inventory Report 2014. Environment Agency Austria, Vienna.
- Aurbacher, J., Parker, P.S., Calberto Sánchez, G.A., Steinbach, J., Reinmuth, E., Ingwersen, J., Dabbert, S., 2013. Influence of climate change on short term management of field crops – A modeling approach. Agric. Syst. 119, 44–57.
- Blandford, D., Gaasland, I., Vårdal, E., 2014. The trade-off between food production and greenhouse gas mitigation in Norwegian agriculture. Agric., Ecosyst. & Environ. 184, 59–66.
- BMLFUW, 2008. Deckungsbeiträge und Daten für die Betriebsplanung 2008. Bundesministerium für Land-, Forst-, Umwelt- und Wasserwirtschaft, Vienna.
- Boyle, P., Hayes, M., Gormally, M., Sullivan, C., Moran, J., 2015. Development of a nature value index for pastoral farmland—A rapid farm-level assessment. Ecol. Indic. 56, 31–40.

Braun-Blanquet, J., 1964. Pflanzensoziologie. 3. Auflage. Springer, Vienna, New York.

Briner, S., Elkin, C., Huber, R., Grêt-Regamey, A., 2012. Assessing the impacts of economic and climate changes on land-use in mountain regions: A spatial dynamic modeling approach. Agric., Ecosys. & Environ. 149, 50–63.

- Chen, F.H., Dong, G.H., Zhang, D.J., Liu, X.Y., Jia, X., An, C.B., Ma, M.M., Xie, Y.W., Barton, L., Ren, X.Y., Zhao, Z.J., Wu, X.H., Jones, M.K., 2015. Agriculture facilitated permanent human occupation of the Tibetan Plateau after 3600 B.P. Sci. 347, 248–250.
- Ciscar, J.-C., Iglesias, A., Feyen, L., Szabó, L., Van Regemorter, D., Amelung, B., Nicholls, R., Watkiss, P., Christensen, O.B., Dankers, R., Garrote, L., Goodess, C.M., Hunt, A., Moreno, A., Richards, J., Soria, A., 2011. Physical and economic consequences of climate change in Europe. PNAS 108, 2678–2683.
- Dono, G., Cortignani, R., Doro, L., Giraldo, L., Ledda, L., Pasqui, M., Roggero, P.P., 2013. Adapting to uncertainty associated with short-term climate variability changes in irrigated Mediterranean farming systems. Agric. Syst. 117, 1–12.
- Dramstad, W.E., Tveit, M.S., Fjellstad, W.J., Fry, G.L.A., 2006. Relationships between visual landscape preferences and map-based indicators of landscape structure. Landsc. and Urban Plan. 78, 465–474.
- Finger, R., Lazzarotto, P., Calanca, P., 2010. Bio-economic assessment of climate change impacts on managed grassland production. Agric. Syst. 103, 666–674.
- Franco, D., Franco, D., Mannino, I., Zanetto, G., 2003. The impact of agroforestry networks on scenic beauty estimation: The role of a landscape ecological network on a socio-cultural process. Landsc. and Urban Plan. 62, 119–138.
- Fuhrer, J., Smith, P., Gobiet, A., 2013. Implications of climate change scenarios for agriculture in alpine regions — A case study in the Swiss Rhone catchment. Sci. of The Total Environ. 493, 1232–1241.
- Gibbons, J.M., Ramsden, S.J., 2008. Integrated modeling of farm adaptation to climate change in East Anglia, UK: Scaling and farmer decision making. Agric., Ecosyst. & Environ. 127, 126–134.

- Gobiet, A., Kotlarski, S., Beniston, M., Heinrich, G., Rajczak, J., Stoffel, M., 2014. 21st century climate change in the European Alps—A review. Sci. of The Total Environ. 493, 1138–1151.
- Handler, F., Stadler, M., Blumauer, E., 2006. Standardarbeitszeitbedarf in der österreichischen Landwirtschaft. BLT Wieselburg, Wieselburg.
- Henseler, M., Wirsig, A., Herrmann, S., Krimly, T., Dabbert, S., 2009. Modeling the impact of global change on regional agricultural land use through an activity-based non-linear programming approach. Agric. Syst. 100, 31–42.
- Hermans, C.M.L., Geijzendorffer, I.R., Ewert, F., Metzger, M.J., Vereijken, P.H., Woltjer, G.B., Verhagen, A., 2010. Exploring the future of European crop production in a liberalised market, with specific consideration of climate change and the regional competitiveness. Ecol. Model. 221, 2177–2187.
- Howden, S.M., Soussana, J.-F., Tubiello, F.N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., Meinke, H., 2007. Adapting agriculture to climate change. PNAS 104, 19691–19696.
- IPCC ,2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhous Gas Inventories Programme, Egglestone H.S., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T. and Tanabe K. (eds.). IGES, Japan.
- Janssen, S., van Ittersum, M.K., 2007. Assessing farm innovations and responses to policies: A review of bio-economic farm models. Agric. Syst. 94, 622–636.
- Kanellopoulos, A., Reidsma, P., Wolf, J., van Ittersum, M.K., 2014. Assessing climate change and associated socio-economic scenarios for arable farming in the Netherlands: An application of benchmarking and bio-economic farm modeling. Eur. J. of Agron. 52 Part A, 69–80.
- Kindermann, G., 2010. Weiterentwicklung eines Kreisflächenzuwachsmodells refining a basal area increment model. In: Nagel, J. (Ed.), Deutscher Verband Forstlicher Forschungsanstalten Sektion Ertragskunde. Jahrestagung 17.-19. Mai 2010, Möhnesee, pp. 82-95.

- Kirchner, M., Schmidt, J., Kindermann, G., Kulmer, V., Mitter, H., Prettenthaler, F., Rüdisser, J.,
 Schauppenlehner, T., Schönhart, M., Strauss, F., Tappeiner, U., Tasser, E., Schmid, E., 2015.
 Ecosystem services and economic development in Austrian agricultural landscapes The
 impact of policy and climate change scenarios on trade-offs and synergies. Ecol. Econ. 109, 161–174.
- Kuttner, M., Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Hermann, A., Wrbka, T., 2013. Borders without barriers Structural functionality and green infrastructure in the Austrian–Hungarian transboundary region of Lake Neusiedl. Ecol. Indic. 31, 59–72.
- Leclère, D., Jayet, P.-A., de Noblet-Ducoudré, N., 2013. Farm-level Autonomous Adaptation of European Agricultural Supply to Climate Change. Ecol. Econ. 87, 1–14.
- Lehmann, N., Finger, R., Klein, T., Calanca, P., Walter, A., 2013. Adapting crop management practices to climate change: Modeling optimal solutions at the field scale. Agric. Syst. 117, 55–65.
- McGarigal, K., Marks, B.J., 1995. FRAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland.
- Mitter, H., Kirchner, M., Schmid, E., Schönhart, M., 2014. The participation of agricultural stakeholders in assessing regional vulnerability of cropland to soil water erosion in Austria. Reg. Environ. Change 14, 385–400.
- Nelson, G.C., Valin, H., Sands, R.D., Havlík, P., Ahammad, H., Deryng, D., Elliott, J., Fujimori, S., Hasegawa, T., Heyhoe, E., Kyle, P., von Lampe, M., Lotze-Campen, H., Mason d'Croz, D., van Meijl, H., van der Mensbrugghe, D., Müller, C., Popp, A., Robertson, R., Robinson, R., Schmid, E., Schmitz, C., Tabeau, A., Willenbockel, D., 2014. Climate change effects on agriculture: Economic responses to biophysical shocks. PNAS 111, 3274–3279.
- Niles, M.T., Lubell, M., Brown, M., 2015. How limiting factors drive agricultural adaptation to climate change. Agric., Ecosyst. & Environ. 200, 178–185.

- OECD-FAO, 2013. OECD/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Agricultural Outlook 2013, OECD Publishing (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/agr_outlook-2013-en;</u> last download on 9 June 2015).
- Palmer, J.F., 2004. Using spatial metrics to predict scenic perception in a changing landscape: Dennis, Massachusetts. Landsc. and Urban Plan. 69, 201–218.
- Pelikan, J., Britz, W., Hertel, T.W., 2015. Green Light for Green Agricultural Policies? An Analysis at Regional and Global Scales. J. of Agric. Econ. 66, 1–19.
- Peterseil, J., Wrbka, T., Plutzar, C., Schmitzberger, I., Kiss, A., Szerencsits, E., Reiter, K., Schneider,
 W., Suppan, F., Beissmann, H., 2004. Evaluating the ecological sustainability of Austrian agricultural landscapes--the SINUS approach. Land Use Policy 21, 307–320.
- Pollheimer, M., Wrbka, T., Zechmeister, H.G., (unpublished report). Moose, Gefäßpflanzen und Vögel als Bioindikatoren nachhaltiger Nutzung österreichischer Kulturlandschaften. Modul IN5 "Bioindikationssysteme mit überregionaler Gültigkeit" des Leitschwerpunktes "Kulturlandschaftsforschung" des Bundesministeriums für Bildung, Wissenschaft und Kultur. Universität Wien, Vienna.
- Powlson, D.S., Stirling, C.M., Jat, M.L., Gerard, B.G., Palm, C.A., Sanchez, P.A., Cassman, K.G.,
 2014. Limited potential of no-till agriculture for climate change mitigation. Nat. Clim. Change
 4, 678–683.
- R Core Team, 2014. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna.
- Reidsma, P., Ewert, F., Lansink, A.O., Leemans, R., 2010. Adaptation to climate change and climate variability in European agriculture: The importance of farm level responses. Eur. J. of Agron. 32, 91–102.
- Rempel, R.S., Kaukinen, D., Carr, A.P., 2012. Patch Analyst and Patch Grid. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources. Centre for Northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay.
- Rosenzweig, C., Elliott, J., Deryng, D., Ruane, A.C., Müller, C., Arneth, A., Boote, K.J., Folberth, C.,
 Glotter, M., Khabarov, N., Neumann, K., Piontek, F., Pugh, T.A.M., Schmid, E., Stehfest, E.,
 Yang, H., Jones, J.W., 2013. Assessing agricultural risks of climate change in the 21st century
 in a global gridded crop model intercomparison. PNAS 111, 3268-3273.
- Schaumberger, A., 2011. Räumliche Modelle zur Vegetationsdynamik im Wirtschaftsgrünland. Forschungsbericht. Lehr- und Forschungszentrum für Landwirtschaft Raumberg-Gumpenstein, Irdning.
- Schauppenlehner, T., Schönhart, M., Muhar, A., Schmid, E., 2010. Landschaftsstruktur in der Landnutzungsmodellierung: GIS-basierte Analyse zur Bewertung von Biodiversität und Landschaftsästhetik in Kulturlandschaften am Beispiel von Streuobst. in: Strobl, G., Blaschke, T., Griesebner, G. (Eds.), Angewandte Geoinformatik 2010. Beiträge zum AGIT-Symposium Salzburg. Wichmann, Heidelberg, pp. 661–670.
- Schönhart, M., Nadeem, I., 2015. Direct climate change impacts on cattle indicated by THI models. Adv. in Anim. Biosci. 6, 17–20.
- Schönhart, M., Mitter, H., Schmid, E., Heinrich, G., Gobiet, A., 2014. Integrated Analysis of Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation Measures in Austrian Agriculture. Ger. J. of Agric. Econ. 63, 156–176.
- Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Schmid, E., 2011a. Integrated bio-economic farm modeling for biodiversity assessment at landscape level. In: Flichman, G. (ed.), Bio-Economic Models applied to Agricultural Systems. Springer, Dordrecht et al., pp. 185–213.
- Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Schmid, E., Muhar, A., 2011b. Integration of bio-physical and economic models to analyze management intensity and landscape structure effects at farm and landscape level. Agric. Syst. 104, 122–134.

- Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Schmid, E., Muhar, A., 2011c. Analysing maintenance and establishment of orchard meadows at farm and landscape level applying a spatially explicit integrated modeling approach. J. of Environ. Plan. and Manag. 54, 115–143.
- Schönhart, M., Schmid, E., Schneider, U.A., 2011d. CropRota A crop rotation model to support integrated land use assessments. Eur. J. of Agron. 34, 263–277.
- Schüpbach, B., Junge, X., Briegel, R., Lindemann-Mathies, P., Walter, T., 2009. Ästhetische Bewertung landwirtschaftlicher Kulturen durch die Bevölkerung. Forschungsanstalt Agroscope Reckenholz-Tänikon ART, Ettenhausen.
- Shannon, C.E., Weaver, W., 1949. The mathematical theory of communication. The University of Illinois Press, Urbana.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F., Rice, C., Scholes, B., Sirotenko, O., Howden, M., McAllister, T., Pan, G., Romanenkov, V., Schneider, U., Towprayoon, S., 2007. Policy and technological constraints to implementation of greenhouse gas mitigation options in agriculture. Agric., Ecosyst. & Environ. 118, 6–28.
- Soussana, J.-F., Lüscher, A., 2007. Temperate grasslands and global atmospheric change: a review. Grass and Forage Sci. 62, 127–134.
- Strauss, F., Formayer, H., Schmid, E., 2013. High resolution climate data for Austria in the period 2008–2040 from a statistical climate change model. Int. J. of Climatol. 33, 430–443.

Tichý, L., 2002. JUICE, Software for Vegetation Classification. J. of Veg. Sci. 13, 451–453.

Uuemaa, E., Antrop, M., Mander, Ü., Marja, R., Roosaare, J., 2009. Landscape Metrics and Indices: An Overview of Their Use in Landscape Research. Living Rev. in Landsc. Res. 3, 1 (doi: 10.12942/lrlr-2009-1; <u>http://www.livingreviews.org/lrlr-2009-1</u>; last download on 9 June 2015).

Walz, U., 2015. Indicators to monitor the structural diversity of landscapes. Ecol. Model. 295, 88–106.

Williams, J.R., 1995. The EPIC Model. In: Singh, V.P. (ed.), Computer Models of Watershed Hydrology. Water Resources Publications, Colorado, pp. 909–1000.

Crop and grassland activity	Intensity	Landscape functionality	Plant species richness	Shannon _{veg}	Hemeroby index
Root crops and maize	high	25	7.7	1.8	81.7
Root crops and maize	medium	28	9.5	2.0	73.1
Root crops and maize	low	31	10.3	2.0	69.3
Other arable crops	high	33	7.7	1.8	81.7
Other arable crops	medium	35	9.5	2.0	73.1
Other arable crops	low	38	10.3	2.0	69.3
Fallow land	low	45	10.3	2.0	69.3
Orchard meadows	high, medium, low	58	28.9	2.6	2.8
Short rotation forestry	high, medium, low	39	13.5	2.1	36.2
Extensive pastures	low	56	24.2	2.5	37.7
Pastures	high	36	20.0	2.4	40.9
Pastures	medium	38	25.5	2.6	28.9
Pastures	low	41	24.2	2.6	38.0
Meadows, 1-cut	low	40	24.3	2.5	19.7
Meadows, >1-cut	high	47	22.6	2.5	52.8
Meadows, >1-cut	medium	45	23.7	2.5	46.5
Meadows, >1-cut	low	40	24.0	2.5	33.1
Forestry	high	60	-	-	-
Forestry	medium	62	-	-	-
Forestry	low	65	-	-	-

Table 1: Biodiversity indicator values

Source: own data

Table 2: Agricultural policy assumptions and climate change scenarios

Scenario name	Agricultural policies	Climate change			
REF_2040	 no dairy quota no livestock premiums regional farm payment greening: max 75% of single crop, min 5% fallow land, no permanent grassland conversion 2008 levels of less favored area payments no agri-environmental program 	no			
CS01_i/m/a/m&a CS05_i/m/a/m&a CS09_i/m/a/m&a	like REF_2040 if not stated otherwise (see Tab. 2) like REF_2040 if not stated otherwise (see Tab. 2) like REF_2040 if not stated otherwise (see Tab. 2)	+1.5°C / ±0% precipitation +1.5°C / +20% precipitation +1.5°C / -20% precipitation			

Note: i: impact, m: mitigation, a: adaptation Source: own illustration

Table 3:	Mitigation	and ada	ptation j	policy	scenarios

Scenario	Mitigation policies	Adaptation policies
REF_2040	no	no
CS01_i CS05_i CS09_i	no	no
CS01_m CS05_m CS09_m	 energy crops and SRF on fallow land premium for orchard meadows and SRF premium for afforestation premium for reduced tillage & cover crops premium for reduced fertilization intensity 	no
CS01_a CS05_a CS09_a	no	 irrigation premium abolishment of greening (see Tab. 2) premium for maintenance of steep grassland
CS01_m&a CS05_m&a CS09_m&a	 premium for orchard meadows and SRF premium for afforestation premium for reduced tillage (& cover crops) premium for reduced fertilization intensity 	like CS01_a – CS09_a
Note: i: impac	t m mitigation a adaptation SRE short rotation fore	stry min · minimum

Note: i: impact, m: mitigation, a: adaptation, SRF: short rotation forestry, min.: minimum Source: own illustration

Table 4: Changes in fertilization intensity (average nitrogen N and phosphorus P per ha) on cropland and grassland and livestock numbers (all in % from REF_2040) for four policy (i, m, a, m&a) and three climate (CS01, CS05, CS09) scenarios

Sconario	crop	land	grass	sland	cattle	nia	pou	small
Scenario	N P N P		Р	cattle	pig	ltry	nants	
CS01_i	1	3	1	0	0	0	0	1
CS05_i	1	2	1	-2	0	1	0	1
CS09_i)9_ <i>i</i> 2 3		1	-3	0	1	0	0
CS01_m	-6	-5	-3	8	0	0	0	2
CS05_m	-9	-7		9	0	0	0	2
CS09_m	-4	-4	-4	8	0	0	0	1
CS01_a	6	6	-1	-3	0	0	-2	1
CS05_a	4	4	-2	3	0	0	-2	1
CS09_a	7	6	-2	-5	0	0	-2	0
CS01_m&a	-4	-4	-3	8	0	0	0	2
CS05_m&a	-8	-6	-4	10	0	0	0	2
CS09_m&a	-2	-3	-4	9	0	0	0	1
a	1 .							

Source: own data



Figure 1: The integrated modeling framework (IMF)



Source: own illustration

Figure 2: Crop yield changes from climate change scenarios at field level by EPIC for the five most dominant arable crops with standard ploughing (average over all intensity levels and crop rotations; REF_2040: current observed climate)



Source: own illustration

Figure 3: Total fallow land (ha) and total orchard meadows area (ha) at landscape level for four policy and three climate scenarios (grey line = result from REF_2040)



Note: plough: standard soil management with mould board plough, irrig.: irrigation, cover crop: reduced tillage with cover crops were appropriate in the crop rotation, reduced till.: reduced tillage. Source: own illustration

Figure 4: Soil management on cropland (ha) for the reference without climate change (REF_2040) and four policy and three climate scenarios (order of climate change scenarios in each block: CS01, CS05, CS09)



Source: own illustration

Figure 5: Changes of agricultural greenhouse gas emissions from REF_2040 for four policy and three climate scenarios



Source: own illustration

Figure 6: Changes of soil organic carbon (SOC) from REF_2040 on cropland (left and grassland (right) for four policy and three climate scenarios



Source: own illustration Figure 7: Changes in soil sediment load from REF_2040 on cropland for four policy and three climate scenarios



Figure 8: Changes of vascular plant species richness, Shannon_{veg}, hemeroby index, and landscape functionality from REF_2040 for four policy and three climate scenarios



Figure 9: Landscape indicators (all indicator values are normalized) for REF_2040 and four policy scenarios under climate scenario CS09



Source: own illustration

Figure 10: Local differentiation of the ACVV indicator for the scenarios REF_2040 and CS09_m







Figure 12: Changes in total farm gross margin from REF_2040 aggregated at the landscape level for four policy and three climate scenarios



Note (upper figure): Black bars indicate total farm gross margins aggregated at landscape level, i.e. revenues + subsidies + annuity forestry + annuity SRF - variable costs; SRF: short rotation forestry.

Source: own illustration

Figure 13: Public budget spending: aggregated farm revenues, subsidies, and costs (ϵ) at landscape level for the reference without climate change (REF_2040) and four policy and three climate scenarios (above; order of climate change scenarios in each block: CS01, CS05, CS09) and changes in total aggregated subsidies from REF_2040 at landscape level for four policy and three climate scenarios (below)



Appendix A: Overview on the management options considered in EPIC

Source: own illustration

Appendix B: Average grassland yield changes from climate change scenarios at field level by EPIC for one-cut and 3-cut regimes (average over all intensity levels; REF_2040: current observed climate)









Note: SRF can be established on cropland only in the model but is presented as individual land use category. The category "forest" only indicates afforestation and reforestation but does not take existing forests into account. Source: own illustration

Appendix D: Total area of arable crops at landscape level (crop categories, ha) for the reference without climate change (REF_2040) and four policy and three climate scenarios (order of climate change scenarios in each block: CS01, CS05, CS09)



Source: own illustration

Appendix E: Distributions of changes in total farm gross margin from REF_2040 for four policy and three climate scenarios at farm level (N=113)



Source: own illustration.

Section C

Article 8 (viii)

Kutnjak, D., **Kuttner, M.**, Niketić, M., Dullinger, S., Schönswetter, P., Frajman, B. 2014. *Escaping to the summits: Phylogeography and predicted range dynamics of Cerastium dinaricum, an endangered high mountain plant endemic to the western Balkan Peninsula.* Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, 78, 365-374.

Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 78 (2014) 365-374

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution

ELSEVIER



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ympev

Escaping to the summits: Phylogeography and predicted range dynamics of *Cerastium dinaricum*, an endangered high mountain plant endemic to the western Balkan Peninsula



Denis Kutnjak^{a,b}, Michael Kuttner^c, Marjan Niketić^d, Stefan Dullinger^c, Peter Schönswetter^a, Božo Frajman^{a,*}

^a Institute of Botany, University of Innsbruck, Sternwartestraße 15, 6020 Innsbruck, Austria

^b Department of Biotechnology and Systems Biology, National Institute of Biology, Večna pot 111, Ljubljana, Slovenia

^c Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research, University of Vienna, Rennweg 14, A-1030 Vienna, Austria

^d Natural History Museum, Njegoševa 51, 11000 Belgrade, Serbia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 March 2014 Revised 5 May 2014 Accepted 8 May 2014 Available online 23 May 2014

Keywords: Balkan Peninsula Dinaric Mountains Global warming Habitat modeling Phylogeny Rare endemic plant

ABSTRACT

The Balkans are a major European biodiversity hotspot, however, almost nothing is known about processes of intraspecific diversification of the region's high-altitude biota and their reaction to the predicted global warming. To fill this gap, genome size measurements, AFLP fingerprints, plastid and nuclear sequences were employed to explore the phylogeography of *Cerastium dinaricum*. Range size changes under future climatic conditions were predicted by niche-based modeling. Likely the most cold-adapted plant endemic to the Dinaric Mountains in the western Balkan Peninsula, the species has conservation priority in the European Union as its highly fragmented distribution range includes only few small populations. A deep phylogeographic split paralleled by divergent genome size separates the populations into two vicariant groups. Substructure is pronounced within the southeastern group, corresponding to the area's higher geographic complexity. *Cerastium dinaricum* likely responded to past climatic oscillations with altitudinal range shifts, which, coupled with high topographic complexity of the region and warmer climate in the Holocene, sculptured its present fragmented distribution. Field observations revealed that the species is rarer than previously assumed and, as shown by modeling, severely endangered by global warming as viable habitat was predicted to be reduced by more than 70% by the year 2080.

© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The Balkan Peninsula is a hot spot of European biodiversity and endemism (Kryštufek and Reed, 2004; Kier et al., 2009). The underlying processes are complex, with environmental stability through geologic history (Hewitt, 2004; Tzedakis, 2004; Médail and Diadema, 2008) and topographic as well as climatic diversity likely acting as key factors (Kryštufek and Reed, 2004). The mountain range shaping the western Balkan Peninsula are the mostly calcareous Dinaric Mountains (Dinaric Alps, Dinarides). Their topography is highly complex, with summits reaching far up into the alpine zone and deeply incised valleys with thermophilous submediterranean vegetation (Surina et al., 2011).

* Corresponding author. Fax: +43 51250751099. *E-mail address:* bozo.frajman@uibk.ac.at (B. Frajman).

The Dinaric Mountains have been less affected by Pleistocene glaciations than other southern European mountain systems such as the Alps and the Pyrenees (Bognar et al., 1991; Milivojević et al., 2008). The combination of incomplete glaciation and topographical complexity generated multiple glacial refugia which were facilitating strong genetic differentiation on a small geographical scale (Kryštufek et al., 2007; Médail and Diadema, 2008). Divergence in multiple Pleistocene microrefugia has already been highlighted as a key factor for the evolution of intraspecific diversity within the Iberian macrorefugium ('refugia-within-refugia hypothesis'; Gómez and Lunt, 2007). The few available studies of animal (Podnar et al., 2004; Kryštufek et al., 2007; Ursenbacher et al., 2008; Previšić et al., 2009) and plant species (Frajman and Oxelman, 2007; Surina et al., 2011) suggest that this pattern also applies to biota of the Balkan Peninsula. So far, no general patterns have emerged, and the area remains largely neglected despite of its importance for understanding and conserving European biodiversity on a broader scale (Hewitt, 2004).

Pleistocene climatic fluctuations and gradual warming after the Last Glacial Maximum have likely shaped both phylogeographic structure and today's highly fragmented distribution of the Dinaric endemic Cerastium dinaricum Beck & Szyszył. (Caryophyllaceae). This (paleo)tetraploid (Niketić et al., 2013) species shows a highly disjunct distribution in the (sub)alpine zone from Mt. Snežnik in Slovenia in the northwest to the Prokletije Mts. in Montenegro in the southeast (Wraber, 1995; Niketić, 2007; Fig. 1). It inhabits north-facing limestone screes, rocky grounds and rock crevices with cold microclimate in the altitudinal range of 1430-2200(2370) m a.s.l. (Niketić, 2007). Cold-adapted species like C. dinaricum likely had larger, more connected distribution ranges during cold stages and were restricted to small, isolated highaltitude habitats during periods of warmer climate (Stewart et al., 2010). The two disjunct partial distribution areas of *C. dinaricum* differ in topographical complexity - whereas the southeastern part is highly structured with mountain ranges separated by deep valleys, the northwestern part is more homogeneous and lacks obvious barriers. Partly based on the results derived from Edraianthus serpyllifolius, another endemic high-alpine mountain plant of the southern Dinaric Mountains (Surina et al., 2011), we hypothesize that in the south of its range C. dinaricum most likely responded to Quaternary climatic oscillations with altitudinal range shifts on a small geographical scale, whereas in the North horizontal range expansions during cold periods may also have occurred. This scenario results in stronger genetic differentiation among southern populations as compared to northern ones.

Recent continent-wide plant diversity studies on multiple European mountain summits (Gottfried et al., 2012; Pauli et al., 2012) showed increasing impact of global warming in such environments. The underlying process was termed 'thermophilization' and results in a progressive decline of more cold-adapted species and an increase of more warm-adapted species (Gottfried et al., 2012). The effects of the current climate warming are anticipated to have strong deleterious effects for cold-adapted, high-alpine biota of the Dinaric Mountains, as their elevation is substantially lower compared to, e.g., the Alps. Consequently, the possibilities for upward altitudinal migrations of alpine biota are very limited. This seems especially relevant for rare endemics such as *C. dinaricum*, whose populations only comprise a few individuals at some sites (Wraber, 1995; B. Frajman, D. Kutnjak, personal field observations). Accordingly, the risk of habitat loss by upward displacement is considerable (Rull and Vegas-Vilarrúbia, 2006; Gottfried et al., 2012). Further, *C. dinaricum* is also a species of high conservation priority in Europe, listed in the Annex II of the EU Habitats directive, and therefore a qualification species for the NATURA 2000 network of protected areas.

Here, we examine the phylogeographic structure of *C. dinaricum* using amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs), nuclear ribosomal ITS and plastid *trnT-ndhJ* sequences as well as relative genome size data obtained from almost all known extant populations. Our specific aims were (i) to unravel the species' response to Quaternary climatic oscillations and to test the refugia-withinrefugia hypothesis; as well as (ii) to compare the genetic structure between the topographically less structured northwestern and the more complex southeastern part of the occurrence. Finally, (iii) we search for evolutionary significant units (ESUs) within the species and (iv) model the contraction of its distribution area under increasing global warming. The results will provide a better understanding of the processes, which have shaped the spatial distribution of biodiversity on the western Balkans and will also be relevant for designing specific conservation strategies for this highly threatened species. The gained insights into the range dynamics of this cold-adapted southern European species will additionally contribute to our understanding of influences and risks of global warming in the near future.



Fig. 1. Distribution, sampled populations, modeled habitat suitability and habit of *Cerastium dinaricum*. (a) Black dots numbered 1–10, sampled populations; empty circles, not sampled populations documented with herbarium specimens; squares, not sampled populations indicated in the literature for which we could not trace herbarium specimens; crosses, populations, where *C. dinaricum* could not be found in spite of considerable efforts. (b) *C. dinaricum* on its locus classicus, Kom Kučki in the Komovi mountain range, Montenegro (photo: P. Schönswetter).

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study species and sampling

We visited 14 localities of *C. dinaricum* known from literature and/or herbaria along its entire distribution range. Presence of the species was confirmed in 10 localities (for details see Table 1 and Fig. 1) and leaf material from four to thirty individuals per population was sampled in silica gel. *Cerastium dinaricum* was also reported from two localities positioned within the distribution gap between populations 4 and 5 (Fig. 1, see Niketić, 2007, for details), but we were not able to find it there in spite of considerable efforts. The indications are likely erroneous as no herbarium material exists; alternatively the current absence could be the result of recent extirpations. Voucher specimens are deposited in the herbaria of the Universities of Innsbruck (IB) and Zagreb (ZA), and in the Natural History Museum Belgrade (BEO).

2.2. Genome size measurements using flow cytometry

Flow cytometry (FCM) of 40,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI)-stained nuclei was used to estimate relative genome size and DNA ploidy level of silica gel-dried C. dinaricum samples. Pisum sativum cv. Kleine Rheinländerin (2C = 8.84 pg) was selected as a reference standard (Greilhuber and Ebert, 1994). Desiccated green leaf tissue (c. 0.5 cm²) of two individuals from the same population was co-chopped with an appropriate amount of fresh reference standard and processed as described by Suda and Trávnícek (2006). The relative fluorescence intensity of 3000 particles was recorded using a Partec (Münster, Germany) CyFlow Space flow cytometer. Generally, only histograms with both peaks (sample and standard) of approximately the same height were considered. If the coefficient of variation (CV) of the G_0/G_1 peak of the sample exceeded the 5% threshold, the analysis was discarded and the sample re-measured. The number of measurements per population yielding high quality FCM histograms is given in Table 1.

Relative genome size was calculated as a ratio between the relative fluorescence of sample and standard. Statistical analyses were performed using R 2.13.1 (R Development Core Team, 2011). The data were visualized using the 'R ggplot2' package (Wickham, 2009). After testing for normal distribution, the difference between two observed subgroups was tested using Student's *t*-test. The genome size difference between two groups of populations was also tested experimentally with simultaneous isolation, staining and measurement of nuclei of two individuals from populations 1 and 9.

2.3. DNA isolation and AFLP fingerprinting

Total genomic DNA was extracted from silica gel-dried tissue (c. 10 mg) with DNeasy 96 Plant Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's protocol.

The AFLP procedure followed Vos et al. (1995) with the modifications described in Schönswetter et al. (2009). In addition, 0.25 U of polymerase were used in the preselective and selective amplifications (0.4 U for the NED-labeled primer combination). The two final primer combinations for the selective PCR (fluorescent dye in brackets) were *Eco*RI (6-Fam)-ATC/*Mse*I-CTG and *Eco*RI (VIC)-AAG/ *Mse*I CTG. Purification and visualization of PCR products were done as described in Rebernig et al. (2010). Two blanks were included to test for contamination and seven individuals were replicated to test the reproducibility (Bonin et al., 2004).

Raw data were collected and aligned with the internal size standard using ABI Prism GENESCAN software 3.7.1 (Applied Biosystems). Subsequently, the GeneScan files were imported into GENOGRAPHER 1.6.0 (Montana State University) for scoring of the fragments. Each AFLP fragment was scored using the 'thumbnail' option. The results of the scoring were exported as a presence/absence matrix. The error rate (Bonin et al., 2004) was calculated as the ratio of mismatches (scoring 0 vs. 1) over matches (1 vs. 1) in AFLP profiles of replicated individuals. Fragments present in only one individual and low quality fragments (for which presence/absence was inconsistent in at least two pairs of replicates) were excluded from further analyses.

2.4. Analysis of AFLP data

Nei's (1987) gene diversity index and frequency downweighted marker values (DW; Schönswetter and Tribsch, 2005; Winkler et al., 2010) were calculated for each population using

Table 1

Locality details, herbarium voucher, number of individuals included in AFLP analyses (N_{AFLP}), genetic diversity (Nei's GD) and rarity (DW), number of genome size measurements with two pooled individuals each (N_{GS}), relative genome size with standard deviation (SD), number of individuals for which the plastid *trnT-ndhJ* region was sequenced (N_{CpDNA}), corresponding haplotypes (H_{cp}), and GenBank accession numbers of all investigated populations of *Cerastium dinaricum*. SLO, Slovenia; CRO, Croatia; BiH, Bosnia and Herzegovina; MNE, Montenegro. For population 6 only ploidy level could be determined (the same as for other populations) owing to the low quality of the genome size measurements.

				-						-	-	
Pop. number	Sampling locality	Latitutde/ longitude	Elevation (m)	Herbarium voucher	N _{AFLP}	Nei's GD	DW	N _{GS}	Genome size ± SD	N _{cpDNA}	H _{cp}	GenBank accession numbers (<i>trnT-ndhJ</i> ; ITS)
1	SLO: Notranjska, Snežnik	45.5953 N 14.4539 E	1431	IB-12813	15	0.0535	1.387	7	0.3011 ± 0.0029	4	Ι	KJ716517; KJ716507
2	CRO: Velebit, Malovan	44.6502 N 15.0313 E	1579	ZA-H-011	4	-	-	2	0.3066 ± 0.0017	4	III	KJ716518; KJ716508
3	CRO: Velebit, Vaganski vrh	44.3655 N 15.5042 E	1690	ZA-H-010	11	0.0519	1.217	6	0.3060 ± 0.0016	5	II	KJ716519; KJ716509
4	CRO: Dinara, Dinara	44.0626 N 16.3833 E	1831	ZA-H-023	15	0.1204	2.035	10	0.3081 ± 0.0031	3	II	KJ716520; KJ716510
5	BiH: Hercegovina, Prenj	43.5486 N 17.8817 E	1864	IB-12864	18	0.0910	1.528	10	0.3202 ± 0.0051	5	VI	KJ716521; KJ716511
6	BiH: Bosna, Volujak	43.2535 N 18.6934 E	2100	BEO-016	16	0.1129	1.682	-	-	4	v	KJ716522; KJ716512
7	MNE: Durmitor, near Škrčko jezero, Ćuskija	43.1283 N 19.0300 E	1883	IB-12909	17	0.0384	0.999	12	0.3226 ± 0.0035	5	V	KJ716523; KJ716513
8	MNE: Durmitor, Velika Kalica	43.1189 N 19.0719 E	1977	IB-12902	17	0.0714	1.332	11	0.3265 ± 0.002	5	v	KJ716524; KJ716514
9	MNE: Komovi, Kom Kučki	42.6775 N 19.6458 E	2259	IB-12930	18	0.0915	1.423	19	0.3228 ± 0.0038	6	V	KJ716525; KJ716515
10	MNE: Žijevo, Žijevo	42.5539 N 19.5064 E	2140	IB-13017	17	0.0858	1.215	10	0.3249 ± 0.0033	4	V	KJ716526; KJ716516

the R script AFLPdat (Ehrich, 2006). To balance the unequal sample sizes, both indices were calculated with eleven (randomly chosen) individuals per population, excluding population 2 from which only four individuals were found. Analyses of molecular variance (AMOVAs) were calculated with ARLEQUIN 3.11 (Excoffier et al., 2005).

Using SplitsTree 4.12.3 (Huson and Bryant, 2006), a Neighbour-Net diagram was produced from Nei–Li distances (Nei and Li, 1979) calculated with TreeCon 1.3b (Van de Peer and De Wachter, 1997). A neighbor-joining analysis was conducted based on the same distance matrix and bootstrapped (2000 pseudoreplicates) with the same program.

Structure 2.2 with a Bayesian clustering approach developed for dominant markers (Falush et al., 2007) was used with an admixture model with uncorrelated allele frequencies and recessive alleles. Ten replicate runs for each *K* (number of groups) ranging from 1 to 10 were carried out, using a burn-in of 10^5 iterations followed by 10^6 additional Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) iterations. Similarity among results of different runs for the same *K* was calculated according to Nordborg et al. (2005) using the R-script Structure-sum-2009 (Ehrich, 2006). We identified the number of groups as the value of *K* where the increase in likelihood started to flatten out, the results of replicate runs were identical (similarity coefficients 1; for an exception see below; Rosenberg et al., 2002) and the clusters were non-empty. For each group identified at the optimal *K*, a separate STRUCTURE analysis was carried out.

The genetic covariance structure among sampled populations was modeled within a graph theoretic framework (Population Graphs: Dyer and Nason, 2004) using POPGRAPHS (available from http://dyerlab.bio.vcu.edu/software/). Populations, which constitute the nodes, were connected into a population network only if significant genetic covariance existed between the populations after removing the covariance each population had with the remaining populations (see Dyer and Nason, 2004 for a more detailed description of the method). If genetic covariance was spatially structured, the physical distances should be proportional to the genetic distances; otherwise the populations were either closer (compressed edges) or further apart (extended edges) than expected given the genetic distances. Isolation by Graph Distance analysis defining normal, extended and compressed edge sets was conducted with Graph from the GENETIC STUDIO program suite (Dyer, 2009). Stability of edges among geographic groups was assessed using a bootstrap approach with 200 bootstrap pseudoreplicates, which were generated using seqboot from the PHYLIP package (Felsenstein, 1989) and analysed as the original data set. The proportion of replicates where a certain edge is found constitutes its bootstrap support. Edges with bootstrap support of 50% or more were considered stable (Escobar García et al., 2012).

In order to reconstruct the potential extant source populations of the genetically depauperate and divergent population 7, which is located in close proximity of the large and genetically more diverse population 8, assignment tests were performed using AFL-POP 1.1 (Duchesne and Bernatchez, 2002) with the default settings. All other populations were considered as potential source populations, and allocation was tested using three levels (0, 1 and 2) of minimal log-likelihood differences with frequency values of zero replaced by 1/(sample size +1).

2.5. Sequencing of plastid trnT-ndhJ and nuclear ribosomal ITS

The *trnT–ndhJ* region was sequenced for three to six individuals per population. Amplification was done in reaction volumes of 30 μ L, comprising 12 μ L REDTaqReadyMix (Sigma–Aldrich, Vienna, Austria), 0.3 μ L BSA (10 mg/mL, New England Biolabs), 1 μ L template DNA of unknown concentration, and the primers TabA (Taberlet et al., 1991) and ndhJ (Shaw et al., 2007) at a final concentration of 0.2 $\mu M.$ PCR conditions were 5 min at 95 °C, 35 cycles of 30 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 60 °C and 4 min at 65 °C, followed by 10 min at 65 °C.

The ITS region was sequenced for one to two individuals per population. Sequences were amplified using primers 17SE/26SE (Sun et al., 1994) or P17/26S-82R (Popp and Oxelman, 2001). Reaction volumes were 16.5 μ L, comprising 6 μ L REDTaqReadyMix, 0.7 μ L BSA (10 mg/ml), 1 μ L template DNA of unknown concentration and primers at final concentration of 0.24 μ M. PCR conditions were 4 min at 94 °C, 35 cycles of 1 min at 95 °C, 1 min at 56 °C and 70 s at 72 °C, followed by 10 min at 72 °C.

PCR products were purified using Exonuclease I and Calf Intestine Alkaline Phosphatase (CIAP; MBI-Fermentas, St Leon-Rot, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cycle sequencing was performed using BigDye Terminator chemistry (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The *trnT-ndhJ* was sequenced using the primers TabA, TabD, TabE (Taberlet et al., 1991) and ndhJ (Shaw et al., 2007), whereas ITS was sequenced using both PCR primers. Electrophoresis was performed on ABI 3130xl sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

Contigs were assembled and aligned using Geneious 5.5.6 (Biomatters Ltd., 2010). A statistical parsimony network was constructed from the plastid sequences using TCS 1.21 (Clement et al., 2000), coding indels longer than 1 bp as single characters and treating sequence gaps as fifth character state. *Cerastium subtriflorum* (Rchb.) Pacher, which is – to the best of our knowledge – the closest relative of *C. dinaricum* (B. Frajman, unpublished data), was used as outgroup (GI accession number: KJ716527). A NeighbourNet diagram of ITS sequences was constructed using Splits-Tree 4.12.3 (Huson and Bryant, 2006).

2.6. Species distribution modeling

Spatially explicit modeling of viable habitat for *C. dinaricum* under current and changing environmental conditions was conducted using the R-package 'biomod2' (Thuiller et al., 2012). We used all available occurrence data of *C. dinaricum* (17 data points, details given in Appendix A1 in Supplementary material). Bioclimatic variables for present conditions were obtained from the WORLDCLIM database (Hijmans et al., 2005, spatial resolution: $30^{\prime\prime}$, i.e. c. 1×1 km). For the climate of the two future target years 2050 and 2080 we selected emission scenario 'mpi_echam5_A1B' (IPCC, 2007), assuming an average global temperature rise of 2.8 K (1.7–4.4) until 2100. In addition, we used the digital elevation model 'srtm90_100m' (Jarvis et al., 2008) and spatially extrapolated it to align with the grain size of the other environmental variables.

In order to reduce collinearity, we only included variables with Kendall's Tau (τ) rank correlation (\leq |0.7|) in the predictor set. Hence, the number of bioclimatic variables could be reduced from 19 to eight. The variable 'elevation' was added to the set of predictors as it is a useful compound proxy for the physical environment in high mountain habitats (Körner, 2007).

As true absence data for *C. dinaricum* was not available, 3×500 pseudo absence (PA) points were randomly selected with 'biomod2'. For modeling purposes we selected the default set of parametric and non-parametric regression techniques and machinelearning algorithms in the ensemble modeling and forecast routines (generalized linear models, GLM; generalized additive models, GAM; artificial neural networks, ANN; surface range envelops, SRE; classification trees, CTA; random forests, RF; multivariate adaptive regression splines, MARS and flexible discriminant analysis, FDA). Further, we conducted a fivefold cross validation of the input data as suggested by Araújo et al. (2005) and Guisan & Thullier (2005). We used True skill statistics (TSS) and Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) to evaluate the performance of each of the 120 single models (3 PA datasets \times 8 algorithms \times 5 repetitions) and defined a threshold of TSS > 0.7 for the respective models to be considered in the subsequent ensemble modeling procedure. The final ensemble forecast was based on 'committee averaging' across single projections. Consensus model predictions for current and future climatic conditions were finally compared in terms of potential range size changes to quantify the potential habitat loss of *C. dinaricum* in the future. All outcomes of the 'biomod2'-projections and range size change evaluations were saved as multilayer raster data in IMAGINE file format (.img) with a spatial resolution of 1 \times 1 km and post-processed for map creation in ArcGIS 10.1. (ESRI 2013).

3. Results

3.1. Genome size variation

The estimated DNA ploidy level was the same for all measured samples (the FCM histograms of population 6 were discarded from further analyses due to the high CV of the measurements, but evidently suggested the same ploidy level as measured for the other populations). Average relative genome size ranged from 0.301 in population 1 to 0.327 in population 8 (Table 1), with evident bimodal distribution. One mode corresponds to the northwestern populations (populations 1-4) and the other to the southeastern ones (populations 5, 7–10; Fig. 2a). The difference between the means of the groups' relative fluorescence was highly significant (t-test, p < 0.001). Differences in DNA content between the two groups were confirmed by the presence of double peaks of simultaneously measured samples (Fig. 2b): the genome size of the sample from population 1 was 8.3% smaller than the genome size of the sample from population 9. The mean relative genome size of the NW group was 5.8% smaller than that of the SE group.

3.2. AFLPs

After the removal of fragments present in only one individual and after discarding low quality fragments the two AFLP primer combinations yielded 170 fragments in 148 individuals from ten populations, out of which 88.8% were polymorphic. The error rate (Bonin et al., 2004) was 2.2% before and 0.85% after the exclusion of low quality fragments. The values of both, Nei's gene diversity and frequency down-weighted marker values (DW) were highest in population 4 and lowest in population 7 (Table 1, Figs. 3c and d). Non-hierarchical AMOVA attributed 61.94% of the overall genetic variation to the among-population component. In the hierarchical AMOVA (NW group, SE group; see below) 42.41% of variation was attributed to the between-group component (details in Appendix A2).

Analyses of the AFLP data set strongly support separation of the northwestern populations 1-4 from the southeastern populations 5-10 with 100% bootstrap support (BS) from the neighbor-joining analysis (Fig. 3b). Within both groups the northernmost population is separated from the other populations. Bayesian clustering (Fig. 3e) revealed the same overall genetic structure. Separate analysis of the SE group supported two possible substructures. In the first case (lower likelihood, ln(P) = -5777.83, but identical solutions among replicates) two genetic clusters were identified, corresponding to the NeighbourNet diagram. The second solution (with higher likelihood, $\ln(P) = -5070.87$, but a similarity coefficient of 0.82 among replicated runs) suggested five genetic clusters: populations 6 and 8 clustered together, whereas each of the other four populations formed its own genetic cluster. There was no or little admixture between clusters. Population membership coefficients for different values of K are presented in Fig. 3e.

Populations were connected in two separate graphs in the Population Graphs analysis (Fig. 3a), which are congruent with the two groups identified with the other methods. Most of the edges had a bootstrap support of \geq 50%. In the NW group each population was connected with all other populations of the group and the covariance structure within this group was characterized by extended edges. In the SE group the connectivity of populations was lower and some compressed edges were present.

The assignment test, using a cut-off level of 0, suggested populations 8 (in 70.6% of cases) and 9 (in 29.4% of cases) as most likely source populations for population 7. Using a cut-off level of 1, nine of 17 individuals were allocated, eight of them to population 8 and one to population 9. With a cut-off level of 2 only one individual was allocated to population 8.

3.3. Nuclear ribosomal ITS and cpDNA haplotypes

The alignment of 45 plastid *trnT–ndhJ* sequences was 2273 bp long and included six variable characters (all indels). There was no intrapopulational variability in sequence data. Using statistical parsimony analysis five closely related haplotypes were identified (Table 1, Fig. 3f).

The alignment of ITS sequences of 11 individuals was 819 bp long and sequences showed very little variability. The test analysis (NeighbourNet, not shown) failed to provide any informative genetic structure.



Fig. 2. Genome size variation within *Cerastium dinaricum*. (a) Relative genome size values for all measurements (black dots) with population means (bigger grey circles with population numbers), measurements for individuals from the same population are arranged vertically; (b) FCM histogram of simultaneous measurement of relative genome size of pooled samples from populations 1 and 9, measured together with *Pisum* as an internal standard; the peaks between 200 and 300 correspond to nuclei in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle.



Fig. 3. Phylogeographic structure of *Cerastium dinaricum*. (a) Population graphs based on AFLP profiles; dashed yellow lines represent normal edges, red lines extended and blue lines compressed edges; numbers next to the edges represent their bootstrap support; (b) NeighbourNet diagram based on AFLPs, numbers from 1 to 10 are population numbers (see Table 1 and Fig. 1), numbers next to the bold lines are bootstrap support values for splits derived from a neighbor-joining analysis; (c) Nei's gene diversity; (d) frequency down-weighted marker values (DW); (e) STRUCTURE clustering of the AFLP data from separate analyses of the NW and the SE groups: for the SE group two solutions (K = 2, K = 5) were resolved; (f) geographic distribution and statistical parsimony network of plastid DNA haplotypes of *C. dinaricum* and the closely related *C. subtriflorum* as outgroup (the size of a circle in the network is proportional to a haplotype's frequency).



Fig. 4. Outcomes of niche based modeling of *Cerastium dinaricum* under future climatic conditions (2050; 2080) and corresponding range size change plots. Plots a and c illustrate the degree of habitat suitability for *C. dinaricum* over time, while plots b and d provide further details on changing spatial distribution patterns due to altered climatic conditions. Habitat suitability under current conditions is shown in Fig. 1.

3.4. Evaluation of 'biomod2' modeling

TSS and ROC evaluation scores revealed 'good' to 'excellent' (cf. Swets, 1988; Coetzee et al., 2009) overall performances for most statistical models. Overall mean values across the three PA datasets and associated repetition runs suggested highest scoring of the

GAM model, followed by RF, MARS, FDA and CTA, all scoring at TSS values >0.9. GLM and ANN models still reached TSS scores greater than 0.85 and ROC scores greater than 0.9, respectively. Only SRE showed rather poor scores (TSS = 0.41; ROC = 0.7) and was not further considered for ensemble modeling. Evaluation scores for the computed ensemble models suggested high

discrimination ability and predictive accuracy with TSS > 0.95 and ROC c. 0.99.

3.5. Predicted distribution and range size changes of C. dinaricum

Modeled current and future potential distributions of *C. dinaricum* are plotted in Fig. 4. *Cerastium dinaricum* is modeled to lose about 37% of its current potential range under a climate as forecasted for the year 2050. Under a 'full dispersal' assumption, i.e. if the species could in exchange colonize all sites that become suitable to it under this new climate, habitat loss would reduce to approximately 24%. Under the climatic conditions predicted for 2080, *C. dinaricum* is modeled to lose nearly 73% of its current potential range and only an area of 4% of this current range will become newly suitable for it.

4. Discussion

The rare and disjunctly distributed cold-adapted mountain plant Cerastium dinaricum, which is endemic to the Dinaric Mountains, the backbone of the western Balkan Peninsula, exhibits a deep phylogeographic split strongly supported by nuclear data (AFLPs and relative genome size; Figs. 2 and 3) splitting the northwestern populations 1-4 (NW group) from the southeastern populations 5–10 (SE group). The groups are separated by a distribution gap of about 100 km (Fig. 1). The northern border of the SE group is formed by the Neretva river valley (Bosnia and Herzegovina), a region coinciding with strong intraspecific breaks in animal (rodent Dinaromys bogdanovi: Kryštufek et al., 2007; lizard Podarcis melisellensis: Podnar et al., 2004) and plant species (Edraianthus tenuifolius: Surina et al., 2011). In groups that underwent speciation the Neretva valley functions as a contact zone of vicariant species pairs (Campanula portenschlagiana and C. poscharskyana: Park et al., 2006; Frajman and Schneeweiss, 2009; Campanula pyramidalis group: Lakušić et al., 2013: Cardamine maritima group: Kučera et al., 2010). However, the aforementioned plants are thermophilous and such pattern was not observed in cold-adapted species (e.g., Edraianthus serpyllifolius: Surina et al., 2011). At present, the Neretva valley is characterized by submediterranean vegetation very different from the mountain biomes on the upper slopes of the valley. Similar differences in vegetation might have been present also in the Pleistocene and possibly acted as barrier to dispersal, triggering allopatric divergence. In addition to the Neretva valley, the vast lower-altitude Livno karst field separating the Cvrsnica and Dinara mountain ranges may have acted as barrier for C. dinaricum. Alternatively, Lakušić et al. (2013) suggested that the genetic break in the Campanula pyramidalis complex along the lower Neretva valley was caused by divergent environmental conditions north and south of that valley during the Last Glacial Maximum, when the northern coast of the Adriatic was shifted southward to the Neretva estuary (Correggiari et al., 1996). The proximity of the sea has a detrimental influence on the distribution of extent vegetation types on the western Balkans (Horvat et al., 1974), and has likely played a similar role in the Pleistocene. In any event, further studies of Dinaric mountain biota and dating of divergence events based on external calibrations will be necessary to search for pervasive patterns and to identify the underlying processes.

The strongly disjunct distribution of *C. dinaricum* coinciding with patterns of genetic divergence supports the hypothesis of multiple refugia on the western Balkan Peninsula (Surina et al., 2011). Within both major population groups, the geographically isolated northernmost populations 1 and 5 are also genetically most divergent. This is supported both by AFLPs (Fig. 3b and e) and plastid DNA (Fig. 3f), suggesting relatively long isolation

(Schönswetter and Tribsch, 2005). Both populations are small; the genetically impoverished (Fig. 3c) population 1, restricted to the lowermost point of a karst sinkhole characterized by temperature and vegetation inversion (Wraber, 1995) comprised only 15 individuals in July 2010 (B. Frajman, D. Kutnjak, personal field observations). Their genetic divergence might thus be a result of stochastic allelic drift due to severe population contractions (Freeland et al., 2011; Masel, 2011).

Except for the separation of populations 1 and 5 the patterns of plastid and nuclear AFLP divergence within both major groups are not congruent. Small isolated populations are more susceptible to stochastic events (faster spread and fixation, but also faster elimination of new mutations) as compared to larger populations interconnected by gene flow (Freeland et al., 2011; Masel, 2011). This might, in combination with the uniparental mode of plastid inheritance, explain the observed incongruences. In the NW group three plastid haplotypes were found whereas AFLPs revealed a fairly uniform gene pool (Fig. 3), suggesting a continuous distribution in lower elevations of the geographically close Velebit and Dinara mountain ranges during cold stages of the Pleistocene. This is also supported by high genetic diversity observed in population 4 from Mt. Dinara (Fig. 3c) and by extended edges in the Population Graphs analysis (Fig. 3a). On the other hand, populations 6–10 from the SE group share the same plastid DNA haplotypes, but AFLPs (STRUCTURE analysis at K = 5 as well as the NeighbourNet; Fig. 3) revealed several genetic groups roughly corresponding to major mountain ranges (Volujak plus Durmitor, Komovi, Žijevo). Some compressed edges in the Population Graph analysis of the SE group indicated low connectivity among populations suggesting vicariance (Fig. 3a). Phylogeographic patterns observed within this group thus likely reflect upslope migration of increasingly fragmented populations in the Holocene, followed by shallow genetic divergence. Especially within the topographically complex landscapes of Montenegro and southern Bosnia and Herzegovina mountain ranges are separated by deep valleys with heat-tolerant, submediterranean vegetation. These valleys are restricting migration and gene flow among populations at present, and will do so even more in the future due to global warming.

Whereas our data suggest a scenario of prevalent range stasis, they also provide evidence for a recent limited range expansion accompanied by a strong founder effect within the Durmitor mountain range in Montenegro. Population 7, separated from population 8 by only 3 km but positioned on the other side of the main ridge, represents a unique AFLP (sub)cluster, even though it is geographically positioned between populations 6 and 8, which in turn have been assigned to the same (sub)cluster. From all investigated populations, population 7 exhibited the lowest value of both genetic diversity and rarity (Fig. 3c and d). Assignment tests suggested population 8 as the most likely source. Therefore, the divergence of this population observed with STRUCTURE is likely the consequence of shifts of allele frequencies accompanying a recent founder effect (Templeton, 1980).

The strong AFLP and genome size divergence between NW and SE groups (Figs. 2 and 3) suggests presence of cryptic biological species. If the difference in genome size confers a crossing barrier or not (Roux et al., 2010) is biologically meaningless because of the entities' allopatric distribution that precludes gene flow. We suggest that the two divergent groups within *C. dinaricum* should be treated as Evolutionary Significant Units (ESUs) and future conservation strategies should focus on both entities, even if no consistent morphological differences between the two groups could be observed (M. Niketić, personal observations).

Areas identified as refugia likely have special properties important for the long-term persistence of species (Médail and Diadema, 2008). Therefore, special effort should be taken for their conservation. The genetic structure of *C. dinaricum* illustrates that the topographic complexity of the western Balkan Peninsula was crucial for long-term persistence of isolated populations of high mountain species. The increasingly evident global warming, however, might endanger the existence of such populations - or even of entire species - in the future (Gottfried et al., 2012; Pauli et al., 2012). This is even more threatening due to the relatively low altitudes of the Dinaric Mountains as compared to, e.g., the Alps and thus strongly reduced possibilities for upslope migration. Spatially explicit modeling of viable habitat for C. dinaricum suggested a decrease of up to 70% by the year 2080 (Fig. 4). We concede that the relatively coarse scale of our models might have drawn a slightly too pessimistic picture (Randin et al., 2009; Scherrer and Körner, 2011). However, as populations of *C. dinari*cum are usually small, environmental and demographic stochasticity will likely play an important role and even reaching nearby climatic microrefugia might be highly problematic for the species. At the coarser scale, C. dinaricum presently only inhabits a very small fraction of its potentially suitable habitat and the predicted habitat loss could actually result in range-wide extinction of the species in the very near future.

Acknowledgments

The study was financed by the European Commission in the SEE-ERA.NET PLUS framework (project 'BalkBioDiv' to PS) and the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Grant 173030). The sampling permission for *C. dinaricum* on Snežnik was granted by the Slovenian Environment Agency ARSO (35603-6/2010-4). Thanks to Ivana Rešetnik, Sandro Bogdanović and Antun Alegro for help with sampling and to Marianne Magauer, Daniela Pirkebner and Manuela Winkler for help with the laboratory work.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2014. 05.015.

References

- Araujo, M.B., Pearson, R.G., Thuiller, W., Erhard, M., 2005. Validation of speciesclimate impact models under climate change. Glob. Change Biol. 11, 1504– 1513.
- Biomatters Ltd., 2010. Geneious v5.5. Biomatters Ltd., New Zealand, Auckland. Bognar, A., Faivre, S., Pavelić, J., 1991. Glaciation traces on the Northern Velebit.
- Geografski Glasnik 53, 27–39. Bonin, A., Bellemain, E., Eidesen, P.B., Popanon, F., Brochmann, C., Taberlet, P., 2004. How to track and assess genotyping errors in population genetic studies. Mol. Ecol. 13, 3261–3273.
- Clement, M., Posada, D., Crandall, K., 2000. TCS: a computer program to estimate gene genealogies. Mole. Ecol. 9, 1657–1660.
- Coetzee, B.W.T., Robertson, M.P., Erasmus, B.F.N., van Rensburg, B.J., Thuiller, W., 2009. Ensemble models predict Important Bird Areas in southern Africa will become less effective for conserving endemic birds under climate change. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 18, 701–710.
- Correggiari, A., Roveri, M., Trincardi, F., 1996. Late Pleistocene and Holocene evolution of the North Adriatic Sea. Il Quaternario 9, 697–704.
- Duchesne, P., Bernatchez, L., 2002. AFLPOP: a computer program for simulated and real population allocation based on AFLP data. Mol. Ecol. Notes 3, 380–383.
- Dyer, R.J., Nason, J.D., 2004. Population graphs: the graph theoretic shape of genetic structure. Mol. Ecol. 13, 1713–1727.
- Dyer, R.J., 2009. Genetic studio: a suite of programs for the spatial analysis of genetic marker data. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 9, 110–113.
- Ehrich, D., 2006. AFLPdat: a collection of R functions for convenient handling of AFLP data. Mol. Ecol. Notes 6, 603–604.
- Escobar García, P., Winkler, M., Flatscher, R., Sonnleitner, M., Krejčíková, J., Suda, J., Hülber, K., Schneeweiss, G.M., Schönswetter, P., 2012. Extensive range persistence in peripheral and interior refugia characterizes Pleistocene range dynamics in a widespread Alpine plant species (*Senecio carniolicus*, Asteraceae). Mol. Ecol. 21, 1255–1270.
- Excoffier, L., Laval, G., Schneider, S., 2005. Arlequin ver. 3.0: an integrated software package for population genetics data analysis. Evol. Bioinform. Online 1, 47–50.

- Falush, D., Stephens, M., Pritchard, J.K., 2007. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data: dominant markers and null alleles. Mol. Ecol. Notes 7, 574–578.
- Felsenstein, J., 1989. PHYLIP-phylogeny inference package (version 3.2). Cladistics 5, 164–166.
- Frajman, B., Oxelman, B., 2007. Reticulate phylogenetics and phytogeographical structure of *Heliosperma* (Sileneae, Caryophyllaceae) inferred from chloroplast and nuclear DNA sequences. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 43, 140–155.
- Frajman, B., Schneeweiss, G.M., 2009. A campanulaceous fate: the Albanian stenoendemic Asyneuma comosiforme in fact belongs to isophyllous Campanula. Syst. Bot. 34, 595–601.
- Freeland, J.R., Kirk, H., Petersen, S.D., 2011. Molecular Ecology, 2nd ed. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.
- Gómez, A., Lunt, D.H., 2007. Refugia within refugia: patterns of phylogeographic concordance in the Iberian Peninsula. In: Weiss, S., Ferrand, N. (Eds.), Phylogeography of Southern European Refugia. Springer, Berlin, pp. 55–188.
- Gottfried, M., Harald, P., Andreas, F., et al., 2012. Continent-wide response of mountain vegetation to climate change. Nat. Climate Change 2, 111–115.
- Greilhuber, J., Ebert, I., 1994. Genome size variation in *Pisumsativum*. Genome 37, 646–655.
- Guisan, A., Thuiller, W., 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Lett. 8, 993–1009.
- Hewitt, G.M., 2004. Genetic consequences of climatic oscillations in the Quaternary. Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. B 359, 183–195.
- Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L., Jones, P.G., Jarvis, A., 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol. 25, 1965–1978.
- Horvat, I., Glavač, V., Ellenberg, H., 1974. Vegetation Südosteuropas. G. Fischer, Stuttgart.
- Huson, D.H., Bryant, D., 2006. Application of phylogenetic networks in evolutionary studies. Mol. Biol. Evol. 23, 254–267.
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. In: Core Writing Team, Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Pachauri RK, Reisinger A. IPCC, Geneva.
- Jarvis, A., Reuter, H.I., Nelson, A., Guevara, E., 2008. Hole-filled seamless SRTM data V4, International Centre for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Available from http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org
- Kier, G., Kreft, H., Lee, T.M., Jetz, W., Ibisch, P.I., Nowicki, C., Mutke, J., Barthlott, W., 2009. A global assessment of endemism and species richness across island and mainland regions. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 9322–9327.
- Körner, C., 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends Ecol. Evol. 22, 569–574.
- Kryštufek, B., Buzan, E.V., Hutchinson, W.F., Hänfling, B., 2007. Phylogeography of the rare Balkan endemic Martino's vole, *Dinaromys bogdanovi*, reveals strong differentiation within the western Balkan Peninsula. Mol. Ecol. 16, 1221–1232.
- Kryštufek, B., Reed, J.M., 2004. Pattern and process in Balkan biodiversity an overview. In: Griffiths, H.I., Kryštufek, B., Reed, J.M. (Eds.), Balkan Biodiversity Pattern and Process in the European Hotspot. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Kučera, J., Marhold, K., Lihová, J., 2010. Cardamine maritima group (Brassicaceae) in the amphi-Adriatic area: A hotspot of species diversity revealed by DNA sequences and morphological variation. Taxon 59, 148–164.
- Lakušić, D., Liber, Z., Nikolić, T., Surina, B., Kovačić, S., Bogdanović, S., Stefanović, S., 2013. Molecular phylogeny of the *Campanula pyramidalis* species complex (Campanulaceae) inferred from chloroplast and nuclear non-coding sequences and its taxonomic implications. Taxon 62, 505–524.
- Masel, J., 2011. Genetic drift. Curr. Biol. 21, pp. R837-R838.
- Médail, F., Diadema, K., 2008. Importance of refugia in shaping plant diversity in the Mediterranean Basin. J. Biogeogr. 36, 1333–1345.
 Milivojević, M., Menković, L., Ćalić, J., 2008. Pleistocene glacial relief of the central
- Milivojević, M., Menković, L., Čalić, J., 2008. Pleistocene glacial relief of the central part of Mt. Prokletije (Albanian Alps). Quatern. Int. 190, 112–122.
- Nei, M., Li, W.H., 1979. Mathematical model for studying genetic variation in terms of restriction endonucleases. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 5269–5273.
- Nei, M., 1987. Molecular Evolutionary Genetics. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Niketić, M., 2007. Endemic representatives of genus Cerastium L. in southeastern Europe. Taxonomy, chorology and ecology – PhD thesis (in Serbian, with English abstract) University of Belgrade, Belgrade.
- Niketić, M., Siljak-Yakovlev, S., Frajman, B., Lazarević, M., Stevanović, B., Tomović, G., Stevanović, V., 2013. Towards resolving the systematics of *Cerastium* subsection *Cerastium* (Caryophyllaceae): a cytogenetic approach. Bot. J. Linn. Soc. 172, 205– 224.
- Nordborg, M., Hu, T.T., Ishino, Y., et al., 2005. The pattern of polymorphism in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. PLoS Biol. 3, 1289–1299.
- Park, J.M., Kovačić, S., Liber, Z., Eddie, W.M.M., Schneeweiss, G.M., 2006. Phylogeny and biogeography of isophyllous species of *Campanula* (Campanulaceae) in the Mediterranean area. Syst. Bot. 31, 862–880.
- Pauli, H., Gottfried, M., Dullinger, S., et al., 2012. Recent plant diversity changes on Europe's Mountain summits. Science 336, 353–355.
- Podnar, M., Mayer, W., Tvrtković, N., 2004. Mitochondrial phylogeography of the Dalmatian wall lizard, *Podarcis melisellensis* (Lacertidae). Org., Div. Evol. 4, 307– 317.
- Popp, M., Oxelman, B., 2001. Inferring the history of the polyploid *Silene aegaea* (Caryophyllaceae) using plastid and homoeologous nuclear DNA sequences. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 20, 474–481.

- Previšić, A., Walton, C., Kučinić, M., Mitrikeski, P.T., Kerovec, M., 2009. Pleistocene divergence of Dinaric *Drusus* endemics (Trichoptera, Limnephilidae) in multiple microrefugia within the Balkan Peninsula. Mol. Ecol. 18, 634–647.
- Randin, C., Engler, R., Normand, S., Zappa, M., Zimmermann, N.E., Pearman, P.B., Vittoz, P., Thuiller, W., Guisan, A., 2009. Climate change and plant distribution: local models predict high-elevation persistence. Glob. Change Biol. 15, 1557– 1569.
- R Development Core Team, 2011. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rebernig, C.A., Schneeweiss, G.M., Bardy, K.E., Schönswetter, P., Villaseñor, J.L., Obermayer, R., Stuessy, T.F., Weiss-Schneeweiss, H., 2010. Multiple Pleistocene refugia and Holocene range expansion of an abundant southwestern American desert plant species (*Melampodium leucanthum*, Asteraceae). Mol. Ecol. 19, 3421–3443.
- Roux, J.J., Geerts, S., Ivey, P., Krauss, S., Richardson, D.M., Suda, J., Wilson, J.R.U., 2010. Molecular systematics and ecology of invasive Kangaroo Paws in South Africa: management implications for a horticulturally important genus. Biol. Invasions 12, 3989–4002.
- Rosenberg, N.A., Pritchard, J.K., Weber, J.L., Cann, H.M., Kidd, K.K., Zhivotovsky, L.A., Feldman, M.W., 2002. The genetic structure of human populations. Science 298, 2381–2385.
- Rull, V., Vegas-Vilarrúbia, T., 2006. Unexpected biodiversity loss under global warming in the neotropical Guayana Highlands: a preliminary appraisal. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 1–9.
- Schönswetter, P., Solstad, H., Escobar García, P., Elven, R., 2009. A combined molecular and morphological approach to the taxonomically intricate European mountain plant *Papaver alpinum* s.l. (Papaveraceae). Taxa or informal phylogeographical groups? Taxon 58, 1326–1343.
- Schönswetter, P., Tribsch, A., 2005. Vicariance and dispersal in the alpine perennial Bupleurum stellatum L. (Apiaceae). Taxon 54, 725–732.
- Scherrer, D., Körner, C., 2011. Topographically controlled thermal-habitat differentiation buffers alpine plant diversity against climate warming. J. Biogeogr. 38, 406–416.
- Shaw, J., Lickey, E.B., Schilling, E.E., Small, R.L., 2007. Comparison of whole chloroplast genome sequences to choose noncoding regions for phylogenetic studies in angiosperms: the tortoise and the hare III. Am. J. Bot. 94, 275–288.
- Stewart, J.R., Lister, A.M., Barnes, I., Dalén, L., 2010. Refugia revisited: individualistic responses of species in space and time. Proc. Roy. Soc. B: Biol. Sci. 277, 661–671.
- Suda, J., Trávníček, P., 2006. Estimation of relative nuclear DNA content in dehydrated plant tissues by flow cytometry. In: Robinson, J.P., Darzynkiewicz,

Z., Dobrucki, J., Hyun, W., Nolan, J., Orfao, A., Rabinovitch, P. (Eds.), Current Protocols in Cytometry. Wiley, New York, pp. 7.30.1–7.30.14.

- Sun, Y., Skinner, D.Z., Liang, G.H., Hulbert, S.H., 1994. Phylogenetic analysis of Sorghum and related taxa using internal transcribed spacers of nuclear ribosomal DNA. Theor. Appl. Gen. 89, 26–32.
- Surina, B., Schönswetter, P., Schneeweiss, G.M., 2011. Quaternary range dynamics of ecologically divergent species (*Edraianthus serpyllifolius* and *E. tenuifolius*, Campanulaceae) within the Balkan refugium. J. Biogeogr. 38, 1381–1393.
- Swets, J.A., 1988. Measuring the accuracy of diagnostic systems. Science 240, 1285– 1293.
- Taberlet, P., Gielly, L., Pautou, G., Bouvet, J., 1991. Universal primers for amplification of three non-coding regions of chloroplast DNA. Plant Mol. Biol. 17, 1105–1109.
- Templeton, A.R., 1980. The theory of speciation *via* the founder principle. Genetics 94, 1011–1038.
- Thuiller, W., Georges, D., Engler, R., 2012. Biomod2: ensemble platform for species distribution modeling, http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/biomod2/ index.html.
- Tzedakis, P.C., 2004. The Balkan as prime glacial refugial territory of European temperate trees. In: Griffiths, H.I., Kryštufek, B., Reed, J.M. (Eds.), Balkan Biodiversity Pattern and Process in the European Hotspot. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Ursenbacher, S., Schweiger, S., Tomović, L., Crnobrnja-Isailović, J., Fumagalli, L., Mayer, W., 2008. Molecular phylogeography of the nose-horned viper (*Vipera ammodytes*, Linnaeus (1758)): evidence for high genetic diversity and multiple refugia in the Balkan peninsula. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 46, 1116–1128.
- Van de Peer, Y., De Wachter, R., 1997. Construction of evolutionary distance trees with TREECON for Windows: accounting for variation in nucleotide substitution rate among sites. Comput. Appl. Biosci. 13, 227–230.
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., van de Lee, T., Hornes, M., Frijters, A., Pot, J., Peleman, J., Kuiper, M., Zabeau, M., 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucl. Acid Res. 23, 4407–4414.
- Wickham, H., 2009. Ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer, New York.
- Winkler, M., Tribsch, A., Paun, O., Englisch Th, Intrabiodiv Consortium, Schönswetter, P., 2010. Pleistocene distribution range shifts were accompanied by breeding system divergence within Hornungia alpina (Brassicaceae) in the Alps. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 54, 571–582.
- Wraber, T., 1995. Cerastium dinaricum G. Beck & Szysz. a new species in the flora of Slovenia. Hladnikia 4, 11–18.

Section C

Article 9 (ix)

Kuttner, M., Hülber, K., Moser, D., Rabitsch, W., Schindler, S., Wessely, J., Gattringer, A.,
*Essl, F.,*Dullinger, S. 2015. *Habitat availability disproportionally amplifies climate change risks for lowland compared to alpine species.**joint last authorship
To be submitted to *Ecography* in November 2015

Title: Habitat availability disproportionally amplifies climate change risks for lowland compared to alpine species

†Kuttner, Michael¹, Hülber, Karl¹, Moser, Dietmar^{1,2}, Rabitsch, Wolfgang², Schindler,
Stefan², Wessely, Johannes¹, Gattringer, Andreas ¹, *Essl, Franz^{1,2}, *Dullinger,
Stefan¹¹Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation and Landscape Ecology, Department of
Biodiversity Research, University of Vienna, Rennweg 14, 1030, Vienna, Austria

² Environment Agency Austria, Spittelauer Lände 5, 1090, Vienna, Austria

†Correspondence author. Email: michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at
*joint last authors

Abstract

At present, numerous studies have focussed on the issue of climate change impact on species distributions by the use of correlative distribution models (SDMs) which, in turn, have served as the most widely acknowledged tool for quantifying current and upcoming climate induced species' range shifts. However, one major caveat that restricts the interpretability of such modelling outcomes is owed to the fact that they are not considering any other environmental constraints which will hinder species forthcoming persistence, first and foremost the distribution of suitable habitats. Although several studies have already evaluated the importance to integrate land cover within SDM environments, the mostly coarse spatial resolution of such data has been a limiting factor towards applicability. This is particularly the case in regions that have either been shaped by fine-scaled agricultural use over centuries or characterized by steep environmental gradients that are naturally determining a succession of various habitat types on a narrow geographical extent, such as the European Alps. In this study, we compared potential range shifts of 58 species originating from three different taxonomic groups (butterflies, grasshoppers, vascular plants) until the second half of the 21st century to their current distributions under the use of SDMs within a Central European case study region, thus covering major parts of the Eastern Alps and adjacent areas. We subsequently intersected individual SDM outcomes with a lately established high resolution habitat map to refine potential species' ranges. We discovered that also accounting for the availability of appropriate habitat types can alter purely climate-driven risk assessments for species significantly. In this context, we revealed different patterns for alpine vs. lowland species, where for the latter human-caused habitat fragmentation may increase climate induced risk of persistence. In comparison, alpine species will likely be less affected due to the enhanced distribution of required (semi-)natural habitat types.

Key-words: Alpine species; Butterflies; Conservation; Ecological niches; Grasshoppers; Habitats; Land use; Lowland species; Plants; Species distribution modelling

Introduction

Climate warming and land use change are supposed to be the two most important drivers of expected 21st century biodiversity loss worldwide (Pereira et al. 2010). Indeed, many studies have already documented how species' populations have declined and/or shifted their geographical distributions in response to one of these two drivers (e.g. Tilman et al. 1994, Walther et al. 2002, Parmesan and Yohe 2003, Thuiller et al. 2005, Pauli et al. 2012, Jantz et al. 2015). In addition, their interactions are expected to create a "deadly anthropogenic cocktail" (Travis 2003) inasmuch as human destruction and fragmentation of (semi-)natural habitats may impede species migration. However, migration processes allow for an adaptation of geographical ranges to changing climatic conditions (e.g. Ellis and Ramankutty 2008, Klein Goldewijk et al. 2011, Dullinger et al. 2015).

The interplay of land use and climate change may affect species' ranges and biodiversity patterns. In particular, climate change may shift the climatically suitable ranges of species to regions where land use has already reduced or fragmented appropriate habitat types to a large extent; or, vice versa, where larger and less fragmented areas of such habitat types are still available. For example, a warmer climate might drive central European forest understorey species farther to the north-west of the continent, where land use intensification has greatly reduced the natural forest cover, or more to the north-east (Scandinavia), where forest cover is largely intact (Dullinger et al. 2015). As a consequence, purely climate based risk assessments will either under- or overestimate the actual threat to such species.

The extent to which the geographically varied availability of suitable habitat types will alter climate driven risks to species has been little explored so far (but see e.g. Oliver et al. 2015). Idiosyncratic land use histories will certainly play an important role in this context, but some general trends might nevertheless be expected because land use patterns often follow climatic gradients (Thuiller et al. 2004). In Europe, for example, land use intensity is highest in lowland areas, but much lower in the subalpine and alpine belts of mountain systems (Kampmann et al. 2012). It appears hence likely that shifts of potentially suitable climates that are confined within lower altitudes could drive species into areas where suitable habitat types have been drastically reduced and fragmented. By contrast, if climate warming shifts a species range towards higher altitudes, human fragmentation of suitable habitat types will rarely be an issue. As a corollary, the interplay with land use patterns could even buffer mountain species against climate threats to a certain degree and hence compensate for the formers' expected (e.g. Dirnböck et al. 2011, Engler et al. 2011) higher vulnerability to climate change.

Correlative species distribution models (SDMs) are the most frequently used tool to evaluate climate threats to biodiversity so far (e.g. Thuiller et al. 2005, Elith et al. 2010, Araújo et al. 2011, Engler et al. 2011). These models statistically relate occurrence data of species to environmental variables and are used to project altered (potential) species distributions in response to shifting climatic conditions (e.g. Guisan and Thuiller 2005). Interactive effects of land use can, in theory, be easily integrated into such models by using land use types as additional predictor variables in the models (e.g. Dirnböck et al. 2003, Luoto et al. 2007, Stanton et al. 2012.). In practice, however, this approach may face severe data limitations. Whereas climatic conditions are a more or less continuously varying feature of landscapes, and can thus be interpolated from point measurements with reasonable accuracy at a broad range of different spatial grains (e.g. Zimmermann et al. 2009, Pradervand et al. 2014), land use patterns represent a complex mosaic of possibly small units with sharp and often unpredictable boundaries which defies common downscaling procedures. Model accuracy is thus limited by the spatial resolution of both, mapping products and species occurrence data. These limitations are particularly relevant when modelling species in regions which are strongly modified by long-lasting human land use like the many cultural landscapes of Europe. Here, particularly the rare and endangered species are usually restricted to scattered remnants of natural and semi-natural habitats which often are (much) smaller than the grain size of species atlas or other occurrence datasets (e.g. Kurtto et al. 2013).

A way to circumvent this problem is overlaying the projections of coarser-grain species distribution models, which predict the response of species to climatic gradients, with finer-scale land use/cover maps that represent the template of habitat types suitable to a particular species (e.g. Broennimann et al. 2006). This approach is particularly applicable where regional floras and faunas are well known and individual species can hence be assigned to particular habitat types based on additional information on the species' autecology as provided in distribution atlases (e.g. Baur et al. 2006, Kudrna et al. 2015), by expert knowledge or monographs (SBN 1987, Ebert and Rennwald 1993, Bühler-Cortesi 2009, Zuna-Kratky et al. 2009).

In this paper, we apply this approach to evaluate whether potential ranges derived from climate-driven projections are altered when also considering the availability of suitable habitat types. Our study has been conducted for 58 species stemming from three taxonomic groups (grasshoppers, butterflies, vascular plants) in a central European study region covering (parts of) five countries under three different climatic scenarios. We thereby particularly address the following hypotheses: 1) Geographically varied availability of appropriate habitat types can alter purely climate-driven risk assessments for species significantly. 2) Habitat fragmentation may increase climate induced risk for species persistence in lowland regions whereas for alpine species this risk may be attenuated due to lower land use intensity.

Methods

Study area

The study area encompasses the countries of Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, the Federal States of Bavaria and Baden-Wurttemberg (Germany) and South Tyrol (Italy), i.e. approximately 240,000 km². Climate is mostly temperate humid with mean annual
temperatures of ~7.5-10.0°C and annual precipitation sums of 600-1300 mm in the lowlands, whereas in alpine regions, annual mean temperatures decrease to < 0°C and precipitation sums may reach > 2000 mm. A long history of human land use has transformed the natural vegetation cover of this landscape considerably (e.g. Ellenberg 2009). Today, the lowlands are dominated by arable land and intensively used grasslands, with often only small remnants of (semi-)natural vegetation types like deciduous forests, wetlands or dry grasslands. By contrast, in mountain regions natural or near-natural forests still cover considerable parts of the landscape (Kuttner et al. 2015). Above the treeline, natural alpine grasslands predominate, together with rock and scree vegetation.

Species distribution and habitat data

Across the entire study region we collected 16,328, 16,510 and 50,050 occurrence records for 19 butterfly, 18 grasshopper and 21 plant species, respectively (see Appendix Table A1). Species were selected such that they represent a variety of ecological profiles, e.g. various range sizes, habitat affiliations and nature conservation status. They were mainly sampled from habitats of cultural landscapes such as of all sorts of grasslands (dry to wet, low to high intensity usage, lowland to alpine), and some other non-forest vegetation types (e.g. mires, river alluvions), as well as from deciduous and coniferous forests. Moreover, we took care to only include species with ranges that are largely restricted to the study area, or to areas with similar climates, to avoid truncated response curves in SDMs. In particular, we did not consider southern European species with northern range margins in the study area. Different spatial resolution in occurrence data of different origin needed to be harmonized to a combined dataset (see Appendix A1 for details). Information regarding habitat affiliation of the species was extracted from distribution databases and atlases, from a literature review and by expert knowledge. For vascular plant species, we used the information provided in the

181

Austrian Vegetation Database (Willner et al. 2012), for grasshoppers, we used information on habitat affiliation in Baur et al. (2006), Zuna-Kratky et al. (2009) and supplemented it by information from the Austrian Orthoptera Database (Zuna-Kratky et al. unpubl.). In case of butterflies, we used information provided in SBN (1987), Ebert and Rennwald (1993), Settele et al. (2000), Huemer (2004), Bühler-Cortesi (2009), Stettmer et al. (2011), and Bräu et al. (2013). This information on habitat affiliation combined with a recently published fine-scaled habitat distribution map of the area (Kuttner et al. 2015) – individual habitats are listed in Appendix Table A2 – was used to generate a binary map of the distribution of suitable habitat types for each species (called habitat map henceforth). Using the same data sources, species were moreover categorized according to their altitudinal centre of distribution into alpine, i.e. species mainly occurring above the treeline, and lowland species (see Appendix Table A2).

Climate data

Current climatic conditions

Maps of current climatic conditions were taken from WorldClim climate grids available online (www.worldclim.org). The WorldClim database provides monthly climate averages for the period of 1950-2000 for precipitation and temperature (minimum, average, maximum) (Hijmans et al. 2005). We scaled precipitation and temperature data down to 100 m horizontal resolution by applying a statistical downscaling procedure (Zimmermann et al. 2009, Tabor and Williams 2010; see Appendix A2 for further details). Subsequently, we used these spatially refined temperature and precipitation grids to derive maps of six bioclimatic variables. To reduce collinearity among these variables we only selected those that showed some independent variation across the study region (Pearson r < |0.75|, cf. Dormann et al. 2013): the maximum temperature of the warmest month (bio5), the minimum temperature of the coldest month (bio6), the temperature annual range (bio7), as well as the precipitation

seasonality (bio15), the precipitation sum of the wettest quarter (bio16) and the precipitation sum of the driest quarter (bio17).

Future climatic conditions

Projections of monthly temperature and precipitation series until the end of the 21st century were taken from simulations of the regional climate downscaling experiment ENSEMBLE (http://ensembles-eu.metoffice.com/papers.html), which provides regional circulation models for Europe for the IPCC4 SRES scenario family (IPCC 2007). In detail, we applied: (i) The Hadley Centre Regional Climate Model (HadRM3.0) model runs (Collins et al. 2006), which are based on the Hadley Centre Coupled Model (hadcm3) general circulation model (GCM) for the A1B scenario with an original resolution of 25km; (ii) The climate limited-area modelling community (CLM) model runs (Hollweg et al. 2008), based on the ECHAM5 GCM for the A1B scenario that have been generated by the Max Planck Institute at a resolution of ca. 35km; and (iii) The Rossby Centre regional atmospheric climate model (RCA3) model runs (Kjellström et al. 2005), estimating from the Community Climate System Model (CCSM3) GCM for the B2 scenario and generated by the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute at a resolution of 50km. For the sake of simplicity, the presented climate forecast scenarios are henceforth called 'ccsm3/B2', 'echam5/A1B' and 'hadcm3/A1B'. Downscaling and derivation of bioclimatic variables was conducted similarly as for the current climatic dataset (see also Appendix A2).

SDM parameterization

SDMs were calibrated by linking species distribution data with the current climate conditions (named 'base' from here on) at the central 100×100 m raster cell of each angular minute field across the study region. Based on these parameterized models, we subsequently

generated ensemble projections of potential species distribution under current climate (mean of period 1950 – 1999) and under climatic conditions corresponding to the aforementioned climate forecast scenarios for the period 2050 - 2090. Species distribution modelling was conducted within the *biomod2* modelling framework (Thuiller et al. 2009), run under R 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team 2013). For modelling purposes we selected the default set of parametric and non-parametric regression techniques and machine-learning algorithms in the ensemble modelling and forecast routines (generalized linear models, GLM; generalized additive models, GAM; boosted Regression trees, GBM; artificial neural networks, ANN; random forests, RF; multivariate adaptive regression splines, MARS; maximum entropy, MAXENT and flexible discriminant analysis, FDA). To evaluate model quality for each species and modelling technique, we conducted data partitioning by randomly splitting it into two sub-sets, one for calibrating the models (80%) and one for evaluating them (remaining 20%) using the True Skill Statistic score (TSS, Allouche et al. 2006). Further, we applied a threefold cross validation of the input data. We gave equal weights to presence and absence records and determined the lower TSS threshold for using a particular model in the final ensemble projections at a value of 0.5. These ensemble projections were defined as mean consensus models where contributions of selected single models to the projected occurrence probability were applied according to their respective TSS scores.

Analyses

Probability-scaled ensemble forecasts were translated into binary projections (suitable vs. unsuitable) using the threshold that maximizes the TSS score (Liu et al. 2005). These maps (further referred to as climate-only projections) were then overlaid with the corresponding habitat maps in ArcGIS 10.1 (ESRI 2011) to identify all cells that are both climatically suitable to a species and belonging to a suitable habitat type (referred to as habitat-filtered

projections). Current and potential future range sizes were defined as the number of cells suitable to the species in either the climate-only or the habitat filtered projections and were computed separately for each species and each climate scenario. Two ratios were derived from range sizes to be used as responses in linear mixed-effects models (LMMs): i) Temporal changes in range size were computed as the range size under each of the three climate forecast scenarios (ccsm3/B2, echam5/A1B, hadcm3/A1B) divided by the range size under current climatic conditions (base), separately for climate-only and habitat-filtered projections. We regressed the temporal change in range sizes against the type of projection (climate-only vs. habitat-filtered), Altitudinal Centre of Distribution (ACD; alpine/lowland), and their interaction. To test if additionally accounting for land use alters purely climate-based risk assessments differently for lowland and alpine species; ii) Habitat-induced effects in range size were defined as the range size of a species derived from habitat-filtered projections divided by those derived from climate-only projections and regressed against climate scenario, ACD, and their interaction. We used LMMs instead of (simple) linear regressions to account for potential clusters of data derived from the same species (both LMMs) and the same climate forecast scenario (only the second LMM) by including a random effect intercept term for the variable(s). Coefficients were estimated by optimizing the Restricted Maximum Likelihood criterion. As the contribution of each data point to the degrees of freedom (d.f.) is still under discussion in LMMs we used a conservative approach and calculated d.f. for t-tests as number of observations - number of fixed effects - number of random effects + number of random terms.

All statistical analyses were performed in R 3.0.2 (*R* Development Core Team 2013) using the package *lme4* (Bates et al. 2011) to fit LMM-models and *ggplot2* (Wickham and Chang 2015), *coefplot* (Lander 2013) as well as *lattice* (Sarkar 2015) for illustration purposes.

Results

Climate-only projections

Temporal changes in range size indicate an average loss of suitable ranges under future climates for both lowland and even more pronounced for alpine species (Figs. 1a, 2b; onesided Wilcoxon signed ranks for climate only projections all p < 0.001), under each climate scenario (Fig. 2a). However, there are considerable differences among the taxonomic groups and their altitudinal centre of distribution (ACD). While alpine plants may lose up to \sim 70% of their currently suitable climatic range under the more severe climatic scenarios (Fig. 1c), lowland butterflies may rather profit from a warmer climate with predicted climatic range size gains of up to ~50% (Figs. 1b, c). In general, alpine butterfly and plant species show a more pronounced decrease than the respective lowland species. In contrast, for grasshoppers an idiosyncratic pattern is predicted: in particular, alpine grasshoppers are projected to lose a considerable proportion of their climatically suitable area (~ 60%) under ccsm3/B2, but even to gain (10 - 20%) climatically suitable area under the more pronounced scenarios (Fig. 1c). Lowland grasshoppers, by contrast, are predicted to face an approximately even and rather small reduction of their average climatically suitable range size (~ 10%) under all climatic scenarios (Figs. 1b, 1c). Overall, these differences among the investigated taxonomic groups make the effect of current altitudinal distribution on predicted future range size change statistically insignificant (Fig. A1).



Fig. 1: Temporal changes in range size between the current and predicted future climate conditions for 2050-2090 based on climate-only (left column of each panel) and habitat-filtered projections (right columns). The panels illustrate projections grouped by (a) altitudinal centres of distribution (grey - alpine species; black – lowland species), (b) taxonomic groups (G – grasshoppers, B – butterflies, P – vascular plants), and (c) additionally separated for each climate forecast scenario. The dashed line highlights no projected change in range size.

Habitat-filtered projections

In general, predicted range sizes are much smaller (one-sided Wilcoxon signed ranks, p < 0.001) in habitat-filtered than in climate-only projections (Figs. 2a, A1). This difference is more pronounced under current climatic conditions (ratio ~ 1:5) than under the future climate scenarios (ratio ~ 1:3) (see also Fig. A2). However, temporal changes in range size are, on average, lower in habitat-filtered than in climate-only projections only for alpine species. Their predicted range sizes have been reduced to ca. 58% and 91% under climate-only, compared to habitat-filtered projections, respectively (Fig. 1a). Put it another way, for alpine

species a warmer climate improves the match between the remaining climatically suitable areas and the distribution of appropriate habitat types: the habitat-induced effect on range size increases from ~30% under current climatic conditions, to 45 - 55% under future climates (Fig. 3a). By contrast, for lowland species, differences in the average temporal change in range size between climate-only (89%) and habitat-filtered projections (82%) are marginal, except for plants which follow the general pattern as revealed for alpine species (Fig. 1c).

The interaction between the altitudinal distribution of species and the effect of the habitat filter has been consistent across all climatic scenarios (Fig. 3b). It has been, however, not uniform across taxonomic groups but mainly driven by plants and, to a lesser extent, by butterfly species (Fig A3). By contrast, for alpine grasshopper species it has only been observed under the least pronounced climatic scenario (Fig. A3).



Fig. 2: Area predicted to be suitable to 58 study species from three taxonomic groups (butterflies, grasshoppers, vascular plants) with respect to climate (grey; climate-only projections) or with respect to climate and habitat affiliation (white; habitat-filtered projections) as a proportion of the overall study area. Species were (a) either pooled, or (b) separated by their altitudinal centre of distribution. Outlier values > 50% were omitted to enhance clarity of illustration.



Fig. 3: Panel (a) illustrates habitat-induced effects in range size (i.e. range sizes derived from habitat-filtered projections as a proportion of those from climate-only projections) predicted under current climate (base) and three climate forecast scenarios for 28 alpine and 30 lowland species from three taxonomic groups (grasshoppers, butterflies, vascular plants). Panel (b) shows fixed-effect coefficients (lines indicating for the twofold standard deviation of the 95%-confidence intervals) of a Linear Mixed-effects Model relating these ranges to the species' altitudinal centre of distribution (alpine versus lowland, ACD), the climate forecast scenarios (ccsm3/B2, echam5/A1B, hadcm3/A1B) and their interactions. (ACD: p=0.015, t=-2.467; ccsm3/B2 / echam5/A1B / hadcm3/A1B: p < 0.0001, t=6.924 / 6.344 / 5.553; ccsm3/B2:ACD / echam5/A1B:ACD / hadcm3/A1B:ACD: p<0.001, t=-4.833 / -4.290 / -3.522).

Discussion

As hypothesized, our results demonstrate that accounting for habitat suitability considerably alters SDM-based climate risk assessments for plant and insect species. However, the effect of

updating climate-based projections by a habitat filter differs markedly for lowland and alpine species as well as among the investigated taxonomic groups. Although absolute range sizes are generally predicted to decrease, alpine species appear buffered against climate induced range losses by habitat availability to a certain extent, because a warmer climate increases the spatial match between climatically suitable ranges and the distribution of appropriate habitat types. Vice versa, in case of lowland species this mitigating effect was much weaker (for plants) or did not occur at all. Despite all this, lowland butterflies were projected to even expand their current distribution ranges in both cases, either when considering climate-only or habitat-filtered projections.

Uncertainties and stochastic variation within and across correlative species distribution models

Although we did not account for the factors of population dynamics or species interaction, the direction of species range changes that is triggered by environmental predictors and thereof predominantly by (bio)climatic variables can nevertheless be revealed by the use of SDMs (Araújo et al. 2011, Bucklin et al. 2015). Within the *biomod2* framework we used the mean ensemble modelling and forecasting approach in order to achieve most accurate and robust predictions on future distribution ranges of our target species (cf. Araújo and New 2007, Marmion et al. 2009). However, we have to acknowledge that correlative SDM outcomes always involve a number of uncertainties, either based on incompleteness of species specific dispersal traits (Wiens et al. 2009) and are thus leading to predictions reflecting an approximation between fundamental and realized species niches (Beale and Lennon 2012). However, we tried to reduce model inherent uncertainties by carefully selecting only recent (> 1990) and reliable species distribution data and accounting for the suggestions already

outlined by Araújo and Guisan (2006) during the modelling phase of this study.

Further, calculating mean species distributions from five consecutive decades (2050-2090) shares the decisive advantage to cover a broader array of variation within climate forecasts than merely relying to only one specific point in time. Although not only climatic envelopes but also soil properties such as preference to a certain substrate are often with-determining plant species' distribution ranges (Dubuis et al. 2013) we did not consider this variable in order to keep model parametrization constant also for the investigated insect taxa over which soil acidity has no decisive influence.

Range size effects of climate change

Previous assessments of climate-induced risk to biodiversity have mostly suggested that range loss is increasing along an elevation gradient from colline through montane to alpine species (e.g. Engler et al. 2011). This pattern is strongly driven by the distribution of land area among elevational belts and is usually pronounced where mountains are shaped like pyramids as in case of the European Alps (Elsen and Tingley 2015). In our study, climate-only predictions for vascular plants and in particular for butterflies corroborate these earlier results. Surprisingly, the common patterns appear even reversed, however, in the case of grasshoppers, at least under the more severe climate scenarios (Fig. 1c). As we basically assigned emission scenarios that are representing a step from moderate up to a more pronounced rise of greenhouse gases (B2 vs. A1B) to three general circulation models (ccsm3 / echam5 / hadcm3), the resulting scenarios of climate change impact are thus graduated in terms of rising temperature. However, the bandwidth of simulated environmental vectors of precipitation and temperature varied considerably, both within and between the single GCMs. According to a hindcast simulation study that compared GCM outcomes to observational datasets, results showed that e.g. the ccsm3 model generally underestimated summer

191

precipitation rates and in turn overestimated summer temperature, whereas echam5 tended to overestimate precipitation and hadcm3 appeared mostly balanced according precipitation but slightly underestimated temperature in the transitional seasons of spring and autumn (Bozkurt et al. 2011). We hypothesize that the inter-model variabilities somewhat co-influenced SDM outcomes as well, which rather applies for alpine grasshopper species that seemingly responded to underestimated precipitation patterns within the ccsm3 model. Conversely, precipitation sums that are predicted to generally increase within the echam5 and hadcm3 models across the Eastern Alpine region in the forthcoming decades, may thus contribute to the potential increase of climatically suitable space as noticed for this taxonomic group. On the other hand, the presumed effects of intra– and inter-GCM variability were not apparent in case of the lowland species group.

Interacting effects of climate change and habitat patterns on range size

Our results clearly underpin that current land use in Central Europe represents a highly selective filter that allows the studied species to only occupy roughly 20% of their (macro)climatically suitable ranges, on average, under current climatic conditions. As expected, lowland and high mountain regions differ widely in this respect, with percentages of ~ 10% and ~ 30%, respectively. Many (semi-)natural lowland habitats have become severely degraded, especially after World War II, by an array of measures like intensified application of fertilizers, herbicides and insecticides, multiple mowing of grasslands, land consolidation or amelioration techniques, or abandonment and afforestation of economically marginal sites (Poschlod et al. 2005, Graf et al. 2014). On the other hand, extensively managed habitat types characterized by low or moderate human usage, such as moderately fertilized grasslands that are mown once or twice a year, and/or by non-standard site conditions, such as dry and wet grasslands or other wetland ecosystems, have become increasingly rare throughout the study

region (Jentsch and Beyschlag 2003, Henle et al. 2008, Čop et al. 2009, Janišová et al. 2011). Our selection of study species contains many taxa that are affiliated to such low-impact land use types as they represent a characteristic part of the non-forest central European flora and fauna that has been shaped over centuries (Tscharntke et al. 2005, van Swaay et al. 2006, Marini et al. 2008, Ellenberg 2009). It is hence not surprising that the current land use pattern imposes strong restrictions on the geographical distribution of many of them even where climatic conditions would be highly suitable. At higher elevations, by contrast, land cover becomes increasingly dominated by (semi-)natural and natural vegetation types, and hence the species affiliated to them, are naturally rare in the study area (e.g. snowbeds), others like forests (in the montane and subalpine belts) and grasslands (in the alpine belt), cover most of the terrain and the match between climatically suitable areas and appropriate habitat types is hence predicted to strongly increase for species of these habitats until the end of the century.

Although under a warming climate the majority of our study species are predicted to face decline of their climatically suitable ranges in absolute terms, we found that within the remaining areas, those parts that are also suitable in view of habitat lead to a slightly further decrease for lowland species ranges in general. Equally the reverse effect has been observed for the group of alpine species, where the higher abundance of suitable habitats mitigates the detrimental effect of range decline caused by climate change, so that overall loss rates in species' ranges may be less severe than expected from climate-only projections under almost all scenarios. This general finding is in line with the results presented by Thuiller et al. (2014) who state that montane species are projected to face more severe decline in suitable areas by environmental change than alpine species till 2080. As already discussed, climate warming generally shifts the species' potential climatic ranges upward in elevation. Thus, new habitats will become potentially reachable by alpine species, provided that they are capable to keep track with the changing conditions (Thuiller at al. 2014). Oppositely, the decreasing share of

appropriate habitat types in case of lowland species, of which many are adapted to open habitats (Table A2), mainly results from this upward shift into montane elevations where forests successively replace grasslands and arable land as the predominant vegetation type. Species that occur in extensively used grasslands and other low-intensity non-forest land use types might hence be driven from climatic ranges where land use intensity is too high towards climatic ranges where former agricultural land of marginal use has been afforested, which in turn mainly has happened in the montane altitudinal zone.

Many of our investigated alpine species have climatic requirements that would allow them to thrive at lower elevations. In fact, they are mainly excluded from such lower elevations by biotic interactions, in particular by competition (e.g. Alexander et al. 2015), but can occasionally be found there if competitive intensity is reduced e.g. by natural or human disturbance like in avalanche paths or on subalpine summer pastures cleared from forests. As a consequence, their current climatically suitable range actually includes at least parts of the subalpine belt where they are relatively rare, however, because the predominant forest cover constricts their distribution. Under a warming climate these ranges will shift upwards, mainly above the current treeline. As a consequence, the total size of the climatically suitable range decreases but the match with appropriate habitat types increases.

While these results suggest a certain buffer effect of habitat patterns on climatic threats to alpine species there is, however, an important caveat: our models assume that the current distribution of land use and vegetation types will remain constant over time. This assumption is unlikely to hold, at least in the long run. First, the future socio-economic development will alter economic interests in particular land use types (e.g. Spangenberg et al. 2012); and second, climate warming itself will change both the ecological suitability of landscapes and regions towards certain types of land use and the distribution of natural vegetation types. In particular, an upward shift of the alpine treeline under a warmer climate might reduce the

detected buffer effect of land use for alpine species. Even if this upward shift will probably take a long time (Dullinger et al. 2004, Harsch et al. 2009, Rabasa et al. 2013) it will eventually make climatic threats to the distribution of alpine species even more severe than predicted from SDMs (Dirnböck et al. 2011). Under this perspective, the maintenance, or even the intensification of traditional high-mountain summer pasturing appears as an important land-use strategy to mitigate the negative long-term effects of climate warming on alpine species (cf. Dirnböck et al. 2003, Dullinger et al. 2003). Moreover, maintenance or revitalization of the currently declining traditional land use practises in montane areas, particular the usage of pastures and meadows (Chemini and Rizzoli 2003), may also help species from current low-intensity land use types of the lowlands to find appropriate habitats when their climatic ranges are shifted upward in elevation. Taken together, a re-adjustment of land use intensity gradients appears as a sensible strategy to help a considerable part of the species of Central European landscapes to cope with forthcoming climate warming to a certain extent: while decreasing land use intensity, combined with habitat restoration (Török et al. 2011, Prach et al. 2013, Joyce 2014) will reduce the combined pressure from climate and land use in lowland areas, (re-)establishing current low land use levels at higher elevations may conserve the necessary areas of retreat that species can colonize when climate warms. Such a mitigating strategy would, however, require that agricultural policies try to reverse current trends towards increasing disparities among regions of high rent and high intensity and those of low rent where rural activities decline or vanish altogether.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge funding by the Austrian Climate and Energy Fund carried out within the framework of the "ACRP" Program (Project Number KR11AC0K00355). We are very grateful to the Floristic Mapping Projects of Austria, Switzerland, South Tyrol, Bavaria and Baden-Wurttemberg, the Austrian Working Group on Orthoptera, the Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, the Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, the Tiroler Landesmuseen-Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H., the Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, the Naturmuseum Südtirol, Heinz Habeler, Josef Pennerstorfer, Helmut Höttinger, Peter Detzel, Stephen Maas, Aloysius Staudt and all other colleagues and institutions that provided distribution data for this study (see Appendix Table A1).

References

Alexander, J.M. et al. 2015. Novel competitors shape species' responses to climate change. -Nature 525: 515-518.

Allouche, O. et al. 2006. Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). - J. Appl. Ecol. 43: 1223-1232.

Araújo, M.B. and Guisan, A. 2006. Five (or so) challenges for species distribution modelling.J. Biogeogr. 33: 1677-1688.

Araújo, M.B. and New, M. 2007. Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. - Trends Ecol. Evol. 22: 42-47.

Araújo, M.B. et al. 2011. Climate change threatens European conservation areas. - Ecol. Lett. 14: 484-492.

Bates, D. et al. 2011. lme4: Linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes. < <u>http://cran.R-</u>project.org/package=lme4 > accessed 13 May 2015.

Baur, B. et al. 2006. Die Heuschrecken der Schweiz. – Haupt.

Beale, C.M. and Lennon, J.J. 2012. Incorporating uncertainty in predictive species distribution modelling. Philos. T. R. Soc. B. 367: 247-258.

Bozkurt, D. et al. 2012. Downscaled simulations of the ECHAM5, CCSM3 and HadCM3 global models for the eastern Mediterranean – Black Sea region: evaluation of the reference period. - Clim. Dynam. 39: 207-225.

Bräu, M. et al. 2013. Tagfalter in Bayern. – Ulmer.

Broennimann, O. et al. 2006. Do geographic distribution, niche property and life form explain plants' vulnerability to global change? - Glob. Change Biol. 12: 1079–1093.

Bucklin, D.N. et al. 2015. Comparing species distribution models constructed with different subsets of environmental predictors. - Divers. Distrib. 21: 23-35.

Bühler-Cortesi, T. 2009. Schmetterlinge, Tagfalter der Schweiz. - Haupt.

Čop, J. et al. 2009. Influence of cutting regime and fertilizer application on the botanical composition, yield and nutritive value of herbage of wet grasslands in Central Europe. - Grass Forage Sci. 64: 454-465.

Chemini, C. and Rizzoli, A. 2003. Land use change and biodiversity conservation in the Alps.Journal of Mountain Ecology 7: 1-7.

Collins, M. et al. 2006. Towards quantifying uncertainty in transient climate change. - Clim. Dynam. 27: 127-147.

Dirnböck, T. et al. 2003. A regional impact assessment of climate and land-use change on alpine vegetation. - J. Biogeogr. 30: 401-417.

Dirnböck, T et al. 2011. Disproportional risk for habitat loss of high-altitude endemic species under climate change. - Glob. Change Biol. 17: 990-996.

Dormann, C.F. et al. 2013. Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. - Ecography 36: 27-46.

Dubuis, A et al. 2013. Improving the prediction of plant species distribution and community composition by adding edaphic to topo-climatic variables. - J. Veg. Sci. 24: 593-606.

Dullinger, S. et al. 2003. A resampling approach for evaluating effects of pasture

abandonment on subalpine plant species diversity. - J. Veg. Sci. 14: 243-252.

Dullinger, S et al. 2004. Modelling climate change-driven treeline shifts: relative effects of temperature increase, dispersal and invasibility. - J. Ecol. 92: 241-252.

Dullinger, S. et al. 2015. Modelling the effect of habitat fragmentation on climate-driven migration of European forest understorey plants. - Divers. Distrib. 21: 1375-1387.

Ebert, G. and Rennwald, E. 1993. Die Schmetterlinge Baden-Württembergs. Band 1 und 2. – Ulmer.

Elith, J. et al. 2010. The art of modelling range-shifting species. - Methods Ecol. Evol. 1: 330-342.

Ellenberg, H. 2009. Vegetation ecology of Central Europa, 4th edn. Translated by Gordon K. Strutt. - Cambridge Univ. Press.

Ellis E.C. and Ramankutty, N. 2008. Putting people in the map: anthropogenic biomes of the world. - Front. Ecol. Environ. 6: 439-447.

Elsen, P.R. and Tingley, M.W. 2015. Global mountain topography and the fate of montane species under climate change. - Nat. Clim. Chang. 5: 772-776.

Engler, R. et al. 2011. 21st century climate change threatens mountain flora unequally across Europe. - Glob. Change Biol. 17: 2330-2341.

ESRI 2011. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. - Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.

Graf, R. et al. 2014. 20% loss of unimproved farmland in 22 years in the Engadin, Swiss Alps. - Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 185: 48-58.

Guisan, A. and Thuiller, W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. - Ecol. Lett. 8: 993-1009.

Harsch, M.A. et al. 2009. Are treelines advancing? A global meta-analysis of treeline response to climate warming. - Ecol. Lett. 12: 1040-1049.

Henle, K. et al. 2008. Identifying and managing the conflicts between agriculture and

biodiversity conservation in Europe – A review. - Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 124: 60-71.

Hijmans, R.J. et al. 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. - Int. J. Climatol. 25: 1965-1978.

Hollweg, H.-D. et al. 2008. Ensemble simulations over Europe with the regional climate CLM forced with IPCC AR4 global scenarios. - In: Technical Report No. 3, Max Planck Institute for Meteorology, Hamburg, 152 pp.

Huemer, P. 2004. Die Tagfalter Südtirols. - Folio.

IPCC 2007. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. - In: Parry et al. (eds.), Contribution of Working Group II to the fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge Univ. Press, 976 pp. Janišová, M. et al. 2011. Advances in the conservation of dry grasslands: Introduction to

contributions from the seventh European Dry Grassland Meeting. - Plant Biosyst. 145: 507-513.

Jantz, S.M. et al. 2015. Future habitat loss and extinctions driven by land-use change in biodiversity hotspots under four scenarios of climate change mitigation. - Conserv. Biol. 29: 1122-1131.

Jentsch, A. and Beyschlag, W. 2003. Vegetation ecology of dry acidic grasslands in the lowland area of Central Europe. - Flora 198: 3-25.

Joyce, C.B. 2014. Ecological consequences and restoration potential of abandoned wet grasslands. - Ecol. Eng. 66: 91-102.

Kampmann, D. et al. 2012. Agri-environment scheme protects diversity of mountain

199

grassland species. - Land Use Policy 29: 569-576.

Kudrna, O. 2015. Distribution Atlas of European Butterflies and Skippers. - PEKS.

Marini, L. et al. 2008. Vascular plant and Orthoptera diversity in relation to grassland management and landscape composition in the European Alps. - J. Appl. Ecol. 45: 361-370. Kjellström, E. et al. 2005. A 140-year simulation of European climate with the new version of the Rossby Centre regional atmospheric climate model (RCA3). - In: SMHI Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 108. SMHI, Norrköping, 70 pp.

Klein Goldewijk, K. 2011. The HYDE 3.1 spatially explicit database of human-induced

global land-use change over the past 12,000 years. - Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 20: 73-86.

Kurtto, A. et al.(eds.) 2013. *Atlas Florae Europaeae*, vol. 16. - The Committee for Mapping the Flora of Europe & Societas Biologica Fennica Vanamo.

Kuttner, M. 2015. A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland. - eco.mont 7: 18-29.

Lander, J.P. 2013. coefplot: Plots Coefficients from Fitted Models. < https://cran.r-

project.org/web/packages/coefplot/index.html > accessed 14May 2015

Liu, C.R et al. 2005. Selecting thresholds of occurrence in the prediction of species distributions. - Ecography 28: 385-393.

Luoto, M. 2007. The role of land cover in bioclimatic models depends on spatial resolution. -Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 16: 34-42.

Marmion, M. et al. 2009. Evaluation of consensus methods in predictive species distribution modelling. - Divers. Distrib. 15: 59-69.

Oliver, T.H. et al. 2015. Interacting effects of climate change and habitat fragmentation on drought-sensitive butterflies. - Nat. Clim. Chang. 5: 941-945.

Parmesan, C. and Yohe, G. 2003. A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. - Nature 421: 37-42.

Pauli, H. et al. 2012. Recent Plant Diversity Changes on Europe's Mountain Summits. -

Science 336: 353-355.

Pereira, H.M. et al. 2010. Scenarios for Global Biodiversity in the 21st Century. - Science 330: 1496-1501.

Poschlod, P. et al. 2005. Changing land use and its impact on biodiversity. - Basic Appl. Ecol. 6: 93.98.

Prach, K. et al. 2013. Large-Scale Restoration of Dry Grasslands on Ex-Arable Land Using a Regional Seed Mixture: Establishment of Target Species. - Restor. Ecol. 21: 33-39.

Pradervand, J.-N. et al. 2014. Very high resolution environmental predictors in species

distribution models: Moving beyond topography? - Prog. Phys. Geog. 38: 79-96.

R Development Core Team 2013. *R*: A language and environment for statistical computing. *R* Foundation for Statistical Computing.

Rabasa, S.G. et al. 2013. Disparity in elevational shifts of European trees in response to recent climate warming. - Glob. Change Biol. 19: 2490-2499.

Sarkar, D. 2015. lattice: Trellis Graphics for R. < http:/lattice.r-forge.r-project.org/ > accessed 14May 2015

SBN 1987. Tagfalter und ihre Lebensräume. - Schweizerischer Bund für Naturschutz.

Settele, J. et al. 2000. Die Tagfalter Deutschlands. - Ulmer.

Spangenberg, J.H. et al. 2012. Scenarios for investigating risks to biodiversity. - Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 21: 5-18.

Stanton, J.C. 2012. Combining static and dynamic variables in species distribution models under climate change. - Methods Ecol. Evol. 3: 349-357.

Stettmer, C. 2011. Die Tagfalter Bayerns und Österreichs. - ANL.

Tabor, K. and Williams, J.W. 2010. Globally downscaled climate projections for assessing the conservation impacts of climate change. - Ecol. Appl. 20: 554-565.

Thuiller, W. et al. 2004. Do we need land-cover data to model species distributions in

Europe? - J. Biogeogr. 31: 252-361.

Thuiller, W. et al. 2005. Climate change threats to plant diversity in Europe. - P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102: 8245-8250.

Thuiller, W. et al. 2009. BIOMOD – a platform for ensemble forecasting of species distributions. - Ecography 32: 369-373.

Thuiller, W. et al. 2014, Are different facets of plant deiversity well protected against climate

and land cover changes? A test study in the French Alps. - Ecography, 37: 1254-1266.

Tilman, D. et al. 1994. Habitat destruction and the extinction debt. - Nature 371: 65-66.

Török, P., et al. 2011. Grassland restoration on former croplands in Europe: an assessment of applicability of techniques and costs. - Biodivers. Conserv. 20: 2311-2332.

Travis, J.M.J. 2003. Climate change and habitat destruction: a deadly anthropogenic cocktail.Philos. T. R. Soc. B. 270: 467-473.

Tscharntke, T. et al. 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity – ecosystem service management. - Ecol. Lett. 8: 857-874.

van Swaay, C.A.M. et al. 2006. Biotope use and trends of European butterflies. - J. Insect Conserv.10: 189–209.

Walther, G.-R. et al. 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate change. - Nature, 416: 389-395.

Wickham, H. and Chang, W. 2015. ggplot2: An Implementation of the Grammar of Graphics. < <u>http://ggplot2.org</u>, https//github.com/hadley/ggplot2 > accessed 14May 2015

Wiens, J.A. at al. 2009. Niches, models, and climate change: Assessing the assumptions and

uncertainties. - P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106: 19729-19736.

Willner, W. et al., 2012. Austrian Vegetation Database. - In: Dengler, J. et al. (eds.),

Vegetation databases for the 21st century. Biodiversity & Ecology 4, pp. 333–333.

Zimmermann, N.E. et al. 2009 Climatic extremes improve predictions of spatial patterns of

tree species. - P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106: 19723-19728.

Zuna-Kratky, T. et al. 2009. Verbreitungsatlas der Heuschrecken und Fangschrecken

Ostösterreichs. - Naturhistorisches Museum Wien.

Supplementary Figures



Fig. A1: Fixed-effect coefficients (lines indicating the twofold standard deviation of the 95%confidence intervals) of a Linear Mixed-effects Model comparing the change of suitable range size under future climates from climate-only and habitat-filtered projections (Habitat filter) and for alpine and lowland species (ACD). (p-Habitat filter: p<0.0001, t=-4.464; p-ACD: p=0.214, t=1.243; Habitat filter:ACD: p<0.0002, t=-3.755).



Figure A2: Habitat-induced effects on range size averaged for alpine (dark grey) and lowland species (light grey). Values refer to projections under current climate (base) and three climate forecast scenarios for the period 2050-90 (ccsm3/B2; echam5/A1B; hadcm3/A1B). Vertical lines indicate medians of taxonomic groups (solid: vascular plants; dashed: butterflies; dot-dashed: grasshoppers).



Figure A3: Habitat-induced effects on range size under current climate (base) and three climate forecast scenarios, separately plotted for investigated taxonomic groups of butterflies, grasshoppers and plants. Species were classified according their altitudinal centre of distribution as alpine or lowland.

Supplementary information (Appendix)

Appendix A1

Harmonization of Species Record Data

As we obtained species distribution data from various federal institutions, research groups and databases, spatial reference systems partly differed and resolution of the data was ranging from precise point data up to grid mapping specifications on angular minute or quadrant (i.e. 3 x 5 angular minutes) level. We consequently chose the minute field grid for data harmonization purposes: Fine-scaled point data was assigned to the centroid of the underlying minute field. We applied the same procedure for the minute-field data while in case of the coarser quadrant data we randomly selected one minute field within the target quadrant for the assignment. In case of overlapping data provision we always selected the finer-scaled and more recent data source. We set a threshold year for the occurrence data applied within this study by 1990; older records have not been considered. Further details on the accessed species distribution data, summarizing the number occurrence points per country and taxon is given in Table A1. Within every quadrant where a target species was not recorded we randomly set one minute-field as 'absent' and assigned all remaining fields as 'NULL' (i.e. NoData). Further, to avoid double counting we cleared the database and only kept the most recent entries. This procedure was iteratively conducted for all individual target species datasets to establish a standardized input table, consisting of 105,428 rows that regularly covered the entire study region of approx. 240,000 km².

Appendix A2

Statistical downscaling of current and future climate data

We downscaled the climate projections to a horizontal resolution of 100 m by using a statistical downscaling procedure that operates on the basis of spatially interpolated differences (i. e. the delta) between predicted historic and future climate conditions derived from low resolution data sets which are added to the observed historic climate data with higher resolution (WorldClim; http://www.worldclim.org/, Hijmans et al. 2005). The delta method had already been applied in studies of climate change effects (Zimmermann et al. 2009; Ramirez-Villegas & Jarvis 2010; Tabor & Williams 2010; Dullinger et al. 2012).

In detail, downscaling of the climate data was achieved by: (i) Calculation of long year mean values from hindcast projections of the same climate model, e.g. 1950-2000 corresponding to the reference period of WorldClim; (ii) Calculation of differences between future climate projections and the reference period (deltas); (iii) Spatial interpolation of the anomalies to the high resolution surface of the baseline observed climate date using thin plate spline methods;

and (iv) the interpolated anomalies were added to the high resolution observed climate data. Consequently, we were able to create monthly temperature and precipitation series for the time period from 2010 to 2090. In order to cope with particularly long computation times of the subsequent SDMs, we calculated averages of the climate parameters at 9-year mean intervals (2016-2024... 2086-2094). Based on these means, six bioclimatic variables following the WorldClim definition for bio5, bio6, bio7, bio15, bio16 and bio17 were computed.

Aeropadellus veringenia 2 - - 18 19 Data Data Data Bohemonelle flogide 56 - - 133 120 309 Umman, Autor Data Data </th <th></th> <th>Species Name</th> <th>AT^{1,2}</th> <th>BW^3</th> <th>BAV^4</th> <th>CH⁵</th> <th>ST⁶</th> <th>Total (species)</th> <th></th>		Species Name	AT ^{1,2}	BW^3	BAV^4	CH⁵	ST ⁶	Total (species)	
Accyalera fusca Butomenela frigina 100 19 45 17.2 7.7 419 Byodenela (homonela frigina) 59 - 133 120 300 Byodenela (homonela frigina) 50 - 191 12 32 Byodenela (homonela frigina) 50 - 191 12 32 Byodenela (homonela frigina) 55 - - 108 Concorphulus (kosalis 711 103 410 502 64 Meriopiera Sussifiana 35 - - 201 0410 Meriopiera Sussifiana 51 - 23 70 23 - Polysensitia 104 74 24 207 35 - - 231 - - 231 - - 231 - - 231 - - 231 - - - 131 - - - 131 - - - 131 - -		Aeropedellus variegatus	2	-	-	18	19	39	Data Sources
Bohammente ingide Bryckennela huberochenis 56 - - 133 120 300 Other instruction Other instruction Bryckennela huberochenis 10 - 264 - - 284 Chorthpus pullus 50 - 191 12 3 256 Bryckensola 101 12 - 226 - 276 Miramelia alpine 571 603 410 225 - 2150 Miramelia alpine 571 603 410 226 167 5772 Decipoods permanice 201 370 220 188 33 634 Standochus alphane 171 226 277 35 - 738 Amachovas alphane Mass. Aloysau alphane		Arcvptera fusca	106	19	45	172	77	419	Dataphank AG Housebrockon
By-octomela ubservatura 19 2 244 - - 223 Usena. Austra ¹ 9 Concephalas donadis 171 124 741 27 20 1083 Concephalas donadis 171 124 741 27 20 1083 Ceffrindingeninge dor Houschrockin Matricipers aussuriana 35 - - 235 - 270 Soutationage, Cemmy Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingeningenitatiag Ceffrindingenitatiag		Bohemanella frigida	56	-	-	133	120	309	Österreichs, c/o Thomas Zuna-Kratky,
Concordingus pulsa bacophus divisant bacophus divisant bacoph		Brvodemella tuberculatum	19	-	264	-	-	283	Vienna, Austria ¹
g Conceptuals donatis 171 124 741 27 20 1083 Celtificung segmental ung ung sentations g Bogope Saussuriana 35 - - 255 - 210 Metriopters assurana 35 - - 225 - 210 Celtificung segmental ung ung sentations Celtificung segmental ung		Chorthippus pullus	50	-	191	12	3	256	
geg Methylop brevkauda Miramella ajona Miramella ajonajo Miramella ajona Miramella ajona Miramella ajona Miramella ajon		Conocephalus dorsalis	171	124	741	27	20	1083	Geffährdungsanalyse der Heuschrecken
Best Descriptions assurance 35 - - 235 - 210 Description assurance Description assurance Bernobus sylvestis 501 1270 3216 679 157 577 270 Overtopola germanic 233 70 20 70 720 788 788 Standolins a cluario 174 248 32 8 571 100 246 1753 100 788 Anencolutas apprint Mane.Abysius Stauct, Germany 3 Sternobothus a triburnation assurance 130 794 1 502 286 571 Indexes	S	Isophya brevicauda	106	-	-	-	-	106	Deutschlands: Verbreitungsatlas,
Open Biologics Minamelia alpina Distribution Structure (Composition (Compositions) Control (Composition) Control (Composition) Control (Composition) Standodus sylvesitis 450 722 188 33 854 Compositions (Composition) Composition) Distribution Composition) Composition Composition <t< td=""><td>be</td><td>Metrioptera saussuriana</td><td>35</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>235</td><td>-</td><td>270</td><td>Schutzkonzepte. Germany²</td></t<>	be	Metrioptera saussuriana	35	-	-	235	-	270	Schutzkonzepte. Germany ²
9 Nemobius sylvestris 450 1270 3216 679 157 5772 Distribution database of Orthogona in Germany, to Perefrained. Distribution database of Orthogona in Sector Dis	do	Miramella alpina	571	603	410	502	64	2150	
B Oedipode germanica 2.3 370 2.20 188 3.3 8.34 Common vision of the theory. Simplem Polysarcus denticauda 174 264 207 93 - 738 Stemotoftus signameculatus 136 147 248 286 1753 - - 136 - - 136 - - 136 - - 136 - - 136 - - 130 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 246 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 1308 - - 130	ŝ	Nemobius sylvestris	450	1270	3216	679	157	5772	Distribution database of Orthoptera in
B Prioritoging a falax 210 - 21 - 231 Mass, Applies Staud, Germany ² B Polysaccus dentifications 174 244 207 33 - 738 Stenobothnus scelaris 136 147 248 32 8 571 Cartes Subse de Cartographie de la Fauer, Nuclière, Massimi, Ibay Subtotal (Taxon/country) 2895 4063 6182 2691 733 Bistricta officinalis 412 22 1271 74 99 3634 Carastium uniforum 296 - 16 158 263 733 Unification Magnegregies of Austria 106 Carastium uniforum 296 - 16 158 263 733 Unification Magnegregies of Austria 106 Gentraine duo temitor 36 -	as	Oedipoda germanica	23	370	220	188	33	834	Germany, c/o Peter Detzel, Stephen
Polysarcus denticauda 174 264 207 93 - 738 Antenschutzkantierung Bayern - Bayer. Lundesamt für Umwelt, Bayern - Bayer. Stenobothrus nigromaculatus 136 147 248 32 8 571 Stenobothrus nigromaculatus 136 147 248 32 8 571 Stenobothrus nigromaculatus 280 472 551 5 - 130 Centro Suisea de Cartographie de la Faure. Neuchtàis, Switzantano ⁵ Stenobothrus stigmather 27 - 88 216 6 142 Diathityo, Muschaia, Switzantano ⁵ Stenobothrus stigmather 284 403 146 74 274 99 3634 Atsterbellidastrum 644 85 630 1330 268 3033 266 3033 266 3033 266 3034 Pointus denos Molecularia Pointus denos Molecularia 246 1374 206 3034 146 184 2044 1474 147 267 300 300 266 3034	Ū	Pholidoptera fallax	210	-	-	21	-	231	Maas, Aloysius Staudt, Germany ³
Staurodorus scalaris 190 794 1 500 266 175.3 Antesenting and turney layern ¹ . Eagen ¹ . Stenobothrus rubicundulus 88 - - 51 106 245 Stenobothrus rubicundulus 88 - 51 106 245 Terms tueris Centre Suisse de Catographie de la Faue, Neuchtaie, Switzerlaura ¹⁸ Subtotal (Taxon/country) 2695 4063 6182 2691 879 10510 Distribuicon distabase of Orthopira in South 'Tyol. Nature Suiton. Bistotate of distastrum 684 85 638 1330 296 3333 Environment Agency, Austria Distrotate of distastrum 684 85 638 1330 296 3333 Environment Agency, Austria Distrotate of distriation 436 140 1146 18 134 2044 Environment Agency, Austria Statistastruit agency, Austria Gernianelus bothemica 36 - 146 - 1183 241 1177 248 373 Statitastruit agenomentina Gerni		Polysarcus denticauda	174	264	207	93	-	738	
Sterobothrus rubiculus 136 147 248 32 8 571 Centre Suise de Catrographie de la Flaction de la Flactin de la Flactin de la Flaction de la Flaction de la Flaction de		Stauroderus scalaris	190	794	1	502	266	1753	Artenschutzkartierung Bayern - Bayer.
Stenobothus subjeundulus 89 - - 51 106 246 Carre Susse de Catographie de la Founce Autoritation d'abases of Orthoptera in Souff Type, Naturnageum Subicito, Subicitator Officinalis 412 Subicitat Status Participant Status Database of Austrian Endemic Species, Environment Agengin, Paster Austria Bistoria Officinalis 412 820 - - - 131 - - - 131 Corastium uniflorum 296 - 16 158 263 733 Database of Austria Endemic Species, Environment Agengin, Paster Austria Floristic Mapping Project of Austria, University Vienna, Austria Floristic Mapping Project of Austria, University Vienna, Austria Statabebeing Paster Austria Statabebeing Paster Austria Statabebeing Paster Austria Floristic Mapping Project of Bavaria, University Vienna, Austria Statabebeing Paster Austria Statabebeing Paster Austria Statabebeing P		Stenobothrus nigromaculatus	136	147	248	32	8	571	Landesant für Onweit, Dayern
Stenobothrus signaticus 280 472 551 5 - 1308 Paure, Neuchtel, Switzerland ⁵ Tetrix tuerki 27 - 88 21 6 142 Alchemilla anisiaca 131 - - - 131 Darthbulon drahase of Orhoptera in South Tyrol, Natura Endemic Species, Natria Alchemilla anisiaca 131 - - - 131 Alchemilla anisiaca 131 - - - 131 Alchemilla anisiaca 131 - - - 131 Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - 275 Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - 275 Gentancel bohemica 36 - 148 134 2044 Jasione montana 124 137 660 110 34 1065 Jasione montana 124 137 660 110 34 1065 Phyteuma spicatum 130 - 552		Stenobothrus rubicundulus	89	-	-	51	106	246	Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la
Tetrix tuarki 27 - 88 21 6 142 Distribution database of Orthopter an South Tryot, Naturnisesum Solution, Italy ⁶ Subtotal (Taxon/country) 2695 4063 6182 2691 879 16510 Bod Monther Solution, Italy ⁶ Althermilla anisiaca 131 - - - 131 Environment Agency, Nastial Bistoria officinalis 412 822 1227 1074 99 3633 Distribution difficinalis 412 822 1227 1074 99 3643 Distribution difficination 42 822 1227 1074 99 3654 Distribution difficination 436 140 1146 188 134 2044 Gernianelia bohemica 36 - 146 - - 1825 Gymnadenia conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Jasione montana 124 137 660 110 34 1065 Phyteuma spi		Stenobothrus stigmaticus	280	472	551	5	-	1308	Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁵
Subtotal (Taxon/country) 2695 4063 6182 2691 879 16510 South 1yd, Naturneeum subtro, italy ² Achemilla arisiaca 131 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Tetrix tuerki	27	-	88	21	6	142	Distribution database of Orthoptera in
Art ¹² BW ² BAV ^{4.86} CH ² ST ⁸ Alcherrilla anislaca 131 - - - 131 Bistora officinalis 142 822 1227 1074 99 3634 Carastium unifforum 296 - 16 158 263 733 Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - - 275 Drosera rotundifolia 436 140 1146 - 182 Statiches Museum tiru Naturkunde Gentiana clusiti 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Gymnadenia conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Nardus stricta 1096 283 1494 1917 404 5194 1065 699 12 5507 3102 Prioreita Mapping Project of Baarria, Germany ¹ Pripteum spicatur 645 1501 1650 1659 12 5507 3102 Switzeriand ² Natumuseum Sudtroi, clo Tomas		Subtotal (Taxon/country)	2695	4063	6182	2691	879	16510	South Tyrol, Naturmuseum Sudtirol, Italy ⁶
Alchemila anistaca Aster bellidiastrum 131 - - - 131 Database of Austria 1 Environment Agency, Austria 1 Diastrum uniforum Bistora officinalis Dianthus alpinus 128 822 1227 1074 99 3033 Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - 275 Statution Endemic Species, Drosera rotunifolia 436 140 1146 88 134 2044 Vinvestly Vienna, Austria 1 Univestly Vienna, Austria 1 Antenschutzkanterung Bayern - Bayerisches Landesamt für Univekt, Germany 1 Horis Guernany 6 Horis Chapta project of Bavaria, Germany 6 Horis Chapta project of Bavaria, Germany 6 Horis Chapta chamaebuxus 126 127 507 3102 Statution Endemic Species, Germany 6 Horis Chapta chamaebuxus 126 127 127 Horis 6 Horis Chapta chamaebuxus 128 127 105 148 143 143 143 143 143 143 143 144 140 140 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>AT^{1,2}</td><td>BW³</td><td>BAV^{4,5,6}</td><td>CH^7</td><td>ST⁸</td><td></td><td></td></t<>			AT ^{1,2}	BW ³	BAV ^{4,5,6}	CH^7	ST ⁸		
Aster beliciliastrum 684 85 638 1330 296 3033 Environment Agency, Austria. ¹ Bistorta officinalis 412 822 1227 1074 99 3634 Floristic Mapping Project of Austria. Dianthus alpinus 296 - - - - 275 - - - 275 Stattliches Museum für Naturkunde Dianthus alpinus 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Stattliches Museum für Naturkunde Gernianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gernianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gernianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Mardus stricta 1096 283 1494 1917 404 5194 Horstic Mapping Project of Bavaria. Phyteuma spicatum 645 1501 1650 169 12 5507 Alterbergrin 21.031 Barn. Stattliche 17 report of the EU Horeee attrick 1010 Ma		Alchemilla anisiaca	131	-	-	-	-	131	Database of Austrian Endemic Species,
Bistoria officinalis 412 822 127 1074 99 3634 Fortset Mapping Project of Austria. Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - - 275 Statifiches Museum für Naturkinde Drosera rotundifolia 436 140 1146 188 134 2044 Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Gentiane clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Gernianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gormadeia conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Jasione montana 124 137 660 110 34 1065 Polygala chamaebuxus 552 18 817 1458 257 1010 1468 1149 18307 16060 100 1594 Natumuseum Südirol, co Thomas Wilhalm, Italy ⁶ Pringula animaticula 213 137 548 </td <td></td> <td>Aster bellidiastrum</td> <td>684</td> <td>85</td> <td>638</td> <td>1330</td> <td>296</td> <td>3033</td> <td>Environment Agency, Austria¹</td>		Aster bellidiastrum	684	85	638	1330	296	3033	Environment Agency, Austria ¹
Sector Cerastium uniforum 296 - 16 158 263 733 University Vienna, Austina ² Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - - 275 Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Gentianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gymandenic conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Ardrus stricta 1096 283 1494 1971 404 5194 Nardus stricta 645 1501 1650 1699 12 5507 Phyteuma spicatum 645 1501 1650 1699 12 5507 Primula auricula 252 - 297 378 24 951 Rhinanthus glaciais 600 - 131 548 307 138 Sakifraga aizoides 608 - <td></td> <td>Bistorta officinalis</td> <td>412</td> <td>822</td> <td>1227</td> <td>1074</td> <td>99</td> <td>3634</td> <td>Floristic Mapping Project of Austria,</td>		Bistorta officinalis	412	822	1227	1074	99	3634	Floristic Mapping Project of Austria,
Dianthus alpinus 275 - - - - 275 Statistiches Museum für Naturkunde Gentiane clusii Gentiane clusii 260 - 798 437 120 1635 Statistiches Museum für Naturkunde Gentiane clusii Stuttgart, c'o Amo Wörz, Germany ³ Gentiane clusii 36 - 146 - - 182 Stuttgart, c'o Amo Wörz, Germany ³ Gentiane clusii 36 - 146 - - 182 Gymnadenia conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 187 11279 Floristic Mapping Project of Bavaria, Germany ⁶ Leontopodium alpinum 130 - 55 286 238 709 Natus stricta 1096 223 144 1917 404 5194 June Floria, c/o Banischer Garten, Alenbergraia 21, 3013 Bern, Subtacials 1606 - 131 548 307 1594 Saxifrage aizoides 608 - 131 548 307 1594 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 305 - 229 <		Cerastium uniflorum	296	-	16	158	263	733	University Vienna, Austria ²
Drosera rotundifolia 436 140 1146 188 134 2044 Stutgart, do Amo Worz, Germany ³ Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Stutgart, do Amo Worz, Germany ³ Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Gentiana clusii 200 552 286 238 709 Narcus stricta 1096 283 1494 1917 404 5194 Distic Mapping Project of Bavaria, Germany ⁵ Phyteuma spicatum 645 1501 1650 1699 12 5507 Stutestand ² Phyteuma spicatum 645 1501 1650 1699 12 5507 Matemiscura 2.013 Bayerisches Landesam tif Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany ⁵ Selinum carrifolia 522 18 817 1458 257 3102 Natumiscura 2.013 Natumiscura 2.013 Natumiscura 2.013 Natumiscura 2.013 Natumiscura		Dianthus alpinus	275	-	-	-	-	275	Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde
Gentiana clusii 280 - 798 437 120 1635 Aftenschutzkattierung Bayen - Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Germany ⁴ Gentianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gentianella bohemica 36 - 146 - - 182 Gymnadenia conopsea 941 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Jasione montana 124 137 660 110 34 1066 Germany ⁶ Nardus stricta 1096 283 1494 1917 404 5194 Hind Files, c/o Botanischer Gaten, Altenbergrai 21, 3013 Bern, Stwitzerland ⁷ Phyteuma spicatum 552 18 817 1458 257 3102 Naturmuseum Soldtirol, c/o Thomas Withalm, Italy ⁶ Sakiraga aizoides 608 - 131 548 267 1540 Selbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 366 Trollius europaeus 707 300 652 1141 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Drosera rotundifolia</td><td>436</td><td>140</td><td>1146</td><td>188</td><td>134</td><td>2044</td><td>Stuttgart, c/o Arno Wörz, Germany ³</td></t<>		Drosera rotundifolia	436	140	1146	188	134	2044	Stuttgart, c/o Arno Wörz, Germany ³
Gentianella bohemica 36 - 146 - 182 Beyensches Landesamt für Umwelt, Germany ⁴ Gynnadenia conopsea Jasione montana 124 971 2076 5804 1487 11279 Floristic Mapping Project of Bavaria, Germany ⁴ Leontopodium alpinum 130 - 55 226 233 709 Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany ⁵ Phyteuma spicatum 645 1501 1650 1699 12 5194 Primula auricula 252 - 297 378 24 951 Natumuseum Súdtiol, do Thomas Withalm, Italy ⁸ Sakifraga aizoides 608 - 131 548 307 1594 Selinum cavrifolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 386 Trollius europaeus 707 300 652 113 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4885 13148 18326 260 <td></td> <td>Gentiana clusii</td> <td>280</td> <td>-</td> <td>798</td> <td>437</td> <td>120</td> <td>1635</td> <td>Artenschutzkartierung Bayern -</td>		Gentiana clusii	280	-	798	437	120	1635	Artenschutzkartierung Bayern -
But and the second se	~	Gentianella bohemica	36	-	146	-	-	182	Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt,
Bit Bit <td>nts</td> <td>Gymnadenia conopsea</td> <td>941</td> <td>971</td> <td>2076</td> <td>5804</td> <td>1487</td> <td>11279</td> <td>Floristic Manning Project of Bayaria</td>	nts	Gymnadenia conopsea	941	971	2076	5804	1487	11279	Floristic Manning Project of Bayaria
Leonito information 130 - 550 135 0.05 100 100 Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany ⁶ Polygala chamaebuxus 552 18 817 1456 257 3102 Statusterian Statusterian Polygala chamaebuxus 552 18 817 1458 257 3102 Switzerian ⁷ Naturmusein Switzerian Wilhalm, Italy ⁸ Naturmusein Switzerian ⁷ Naturmusein Switzerian Naturmusein Switzerian <td< td=""><td><u> </u></td><td>Jasione montana</td><td>124</td><td>137</td><td>660</td><td>110</td><td>34</td><td>1065</td><td>Germany⁵</td></td<>	<u> </u>	Jasione montana	124	137	660	110	34	1065	Germany ⁵
BOD Description Tool	ular F	Leontopodium alpinum	130	-	55	286	238	709	Baverisches Landesamt für Limwelt
Open Notation Disk of the second		Nardus stricta	1096	283	1494	1917	404	5194	Augsburg, Germany ⁶
No. Mathematical Staturage Staturage Staturage No. N	sc	Phyteuma spicatum	645	1501	1650	1699	12	5507	Info Flora, c/o Botanischer Garten,
Boloria eunomia 32 10 011 1430 24 951 Naturmuseum Südtiol, c0 Thomas Wilhalm, Italy ⁶ Rhinanthus glacialis 622 235 224 418 243 1740 Naturmuseum Südtiol, c0 Thomas Wilhalm, Italy ⁶ Saxifraga aizoides 608 - 131 548 307 1594 Selinum carvifolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ² 105 7 442 Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive ¹ Boloria itania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database	< a	Polygala chamaehuxus	552	18	817	1/58	257	3102	Altenbergrain 21, 3013 Bern,
Primula auncula 252 - 291 378 24 951 Naturmuseum Súdirol, co Thomas Wilhalm, Italy ^a Rhinanthus glacialis 620 235 224 418 243 1740 Wilhalm, Italy ^a Saxifraga aizoides 608 - 131 548 307 1554 Selinum carvifolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ⁵ Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ² Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Boloria thore 31 54 1628 279 <td></td> <td>Princela anniaebuxus</td> <td>050</td> <td>10</td> <td>017</td> <td>070</td> <td>257</td> <td>3102</td> <td>Switzerland '</td>		Princela anniaebuxus	050	10	017	070	257	3102	Switzerland '
Rhimathinus glacialitis 620 2.23 2.24 4.18 2.43 1.740 William, it.aly Saxifraga aizoides 608 - 131 548 307 1594 Selinum carvifolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 Artice 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive 1 Directive 1 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Code os of Austria, Envionment Agency Austria 4 1628		Primula auricula	252	-	297	378	24	951	Naturmuseum Südtirol, c/o Thomas
Sakirraga aizoides 603 - 131 548 307 1594 Selinum carvifolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ⁵ Directive 1 Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Boloria thore 32 1 297 10 570 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria 3 Colias palaeno 31 54 1628 279 20		Rhinanthus glacialis	620	235	224	418	243	1740	
Selinium carvinolia 213 187 997 83 19 1499 Sibbaldia procumbens 305 - 29 235 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ⁵ Directive ¹ Directive ¹ Boloria eunomia 32 94 1484 - 4 1614 Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive ¹ Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ² Brenthis daphne 84 197 279 10 570 Database Lendemic species of Austria, Environment Agency Austria ³ Colias palaeno 31 54 1628 279 20 2012 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Saxifraga aizoides</td><td>608</td><td>-</td><td>131</td><td>548</td><td>307</td><td>1594</td><td></td></td<>		Saxifraga aizoides	608	-	131	548	307	1594	
Sibbaldia proclimberis 305 - 29 23 267 836 Trollius europaeus 707 300 695 1790 374 3866 Veronica fruticans 308 6 52 413 262 1041 Subtotal (Taxon/country) 9051 4685 13148 18326 4840 50050 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ⁵ Boloria eunomia 32 94 1484 - 4 1614 Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive ¹ Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ² Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria ³ Colias phicomone 68 - 462 428 77 1035 Database Endemic species of Austria, Environment Agency Austria ³ Euphydrys maturna 870 4 122 - 996 Database Tiroler Landesm		Selinum carvifolia	213	187	997	83	19	1499	
Image: Second		Sibbaidia procumbens	305	-	29	235	267	836	
Signature Solution		Trollius europaeus	707	300	695	1790	374	3866	
Subblai (1300)/Country) 9031 4663 13143 16326 4840 50030 AT ¹⁻⁵ BW ⁶ BAV ⁷ CH ⁸ ST ⁵ Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive 1 Boloria eunomia 32 94 1484 - 4 1614 Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive 1 Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Brenthis daphne 84 197 279 10 570 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria 3 Colias palaeno 31 54 1628 279 20 2012 Höttinger, Austria 3 Colias phicomone 68 - 462 428 77 1035 Database Endemic species of Austria, Environment Agency Austria 4 Lopinga achine 298 174 547 95 1 1115 Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria 5 Lycaena helle 53 8 281 76 4118 Staatliches Museum für Maurkunde Karlsruhe, Germany 6 <td></td> <td>Veronica fruticaris</td> <td>308</td> <td>6</td> <td>52</td> <td>413</td> <td>262</td> <td>1041</td> <td></td>		Veronica fruticaris	308	6	52	413	262	1041	
Boloria eunomia 32 94 1484 - 4 1614 Article 17 report of the EU Habitats Directive 1 Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Directive 1 Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria 2 Brenthis daphne 84 197 279 10 570 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria 3 Colias palaeno 31 54 1628 279 20 2012 Höttinger, Austria 3 Colias phicomone 68 - 462 428 77 1035 Database Endemic species of Austria, Environment Agency Austria Euphydryas maturna 870 4 122 - 996 Database Tiroler Landesmuseen Eupinga achine 298 174 547 95 1 1115 Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria 5 Lycaena helle 53 8 281 76 - 418 Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, Germany 6 Melitaee		Subiolal (Taxon/country)	9051	4000 P\// ⁶	13146 RAV ⁷	16326 СЦ ⁸	4040 ст ⁵	50050	1
Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Atticle 17 report of the EU Habitats Boloria thore 32 1 297 105 7 442 Directive ⁻¹ Boloria titania 81 38 1269 521 1 1910 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ⁻² Brenthis daphne 84 197 279 10 570 Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ⁻² Colias palaeno 31 54 1628 279 20 2012 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria ⁻³ Colias phicomone 68 - 462 428 77 1035 Database Josef Pennerstorfer & Helmut Höttinger, Austria ⁻⁴ Euphydryas maturna 870 4 122 - 996 Database Tiroler Landesmuseen Lopinga achine 298 174 547 95 1 1115 Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria ⁻⁵ Lycaena helle 53 8 281 76 - 418 Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, Germany		Boloria eunomia	32	94	1484	-	4	1614	Article 17 report of the EUL Hebitete
Boloria titania8138126952111910Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, AustriaBrenthis daphne8419727910570Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, AustriaDatabase Josef Pennerstorfer & HelmutColias palaeno31541628279202012Database Endemic species of Austria,Colias phicomone68-462428771035Database Endemic species of Austria,Erebia nivalis728585Database Tiroler LandesmuseenLopinga achine2981745479511115Database Tiroler LandesmuseenLopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, AustriaMaculinea teleius74516597981-1970Karlsruhe, GermanyMelitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, GermanyParnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland &Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Boloria thore	32	1	297	105	7	442	
SignatureBit is daphne8419727910570Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, AustriaBrenthis daphne8419727910570Database Josef Pennerstorfer & HelmutColias palaeno31541628279202012Database Josef Pennerstorfer & HelmutColias phicomone68-462428771035Database Endemic species of Austria,Erebia nivalis728585Environment Agency Austria ⁴ Lopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria ⁵ Lycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, Germany ⁶ Melitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany ⁷ Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁸ Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Boloria titania	81	38	1269	521	1	1910	Database Heinz Habeler, Graz, Austria ²
SignatureDistributionColias palaeno31541628279202012Database Joser Perinterstorer a TreinfutColias phicomone68-462428771035Database Joser Perinterstorer a TreinfutErebia nivalis728585Environment Agency Austria ⁴ Euphydryas maturna8704122996Database Tiroler LandesmuseenLopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria ⁵ Lycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, Germany ⁶ Melitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany ⁷ Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁸ Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Brenthis danhne	84	197	1205	279	10	570	Database losof Popportorfor & Holmut
SingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingleSingl		Colias nalaeno	31	54	1628	270	20	2012	Höttinger, Austria
SignadeErebia nivalis72-8585Environment Agency Austria 4Euphydryas maturna8704122996Database Tiroler LandesmuseenLopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria 5Lycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für NaturkundeMaculinea teleius74516597981-1970Karlsruhe, Germany 6Melitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany 7Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland 8Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Colias phicomone	68	-	462	428	20 77	1035	Database Endomic species of Austria
Euphydryas maturna8704122-996Database Tiroler LandesmuseenLopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, AustriaLycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, GermanyMaculinea teleius74516597981-1970Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, GermanyMelitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, GermanyOeneis glacialis21-7719118307Augsburg, GermanyParnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, SwitzerlandParnassius phoebus34-621957316	S	Frebja nivalis	72	_		8	5	85	Environment Agency Austria ⁴
Lopinga achine2981745479511115Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, AustriaLycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für NaturkundeMaculinea teleius74516597981-1970Karlsruhe, GermanyMelitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, GermanyOeneis glacialis21-7719118307Augsburg, GermanyParnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, SwitzerlandParnassius phoebus34-621957316	flie	Fuphydrvas maturna	870	4	122	-	-	996	Database Tiroler Landesmuseen
DescriptionLos in the striptionStriptionStriptionStriptionStriptionLycaena helle53828176-418Staatliches Museum für Naturkunde Karlsruhe, Germany 6Maculinea teleius74516597981-1970Karlsruhe, Germany 6Melitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany 7Oeneis glacialis21-7719118307Augsburg, Germany 7Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland 8Parnassius phoebus34-621957316	ter	l opinga achine	298	174	547	95	1	1115	Betriebsges. mbH, Innsbruck, Austria ⁵
Image: Constraint of the constr	3ut	Lycaena helle	53	8	281	76	-	418	Staatliches Museum für Naturkundo
Melitaea asteria4121567Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt, Augsburg, Germany 7Oeneis glacialis21-7719118307Augsburg, Germany 7Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland 8Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Maculinea teleius	745	165	979	81	-	1970	Karlsruhe, Germany ⁶
Oeneis glacialis 21 - 77 191 18 307 Augsburg, Germany ⁷ Parnassius apollo 411 27 515 479 122 1554 Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Parnassius mnemosyne 538 33 166 148 - 885 Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁸ Parnassius phoebus 34 - 6 219 57 316		Melitaea asteria	41	-	-	21	5	67	Baverisches Landesamt für Limwolt
Parnassius apollo411275154791221554Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la Barnassius mnemosyneParnassius mnemosyne53833166148-885Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland 8Parnassius phoebus34-621957316		Oeneis alacialis	21	-	77	191	18	307	Augsburg, Germany ⁷
Parnassius mnemosyne 538 33 166 148 - 885 Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁸ Parnassius phoebus 34 - 6 219 57 316		Parnassius anollo	411	27	515	479	122	1554	Centre Suisse de Cartographie de la
Parnassius phoebus 34 - 6 219 57 316		Parnassius mnemosyne	538	33	166	148	-	885	Faune, Neuchâtel, Switzerland ⁸
		Parnassius phoebus	34	-	6	219	57	316	

1	Plebeius optilete		28	263	176	19	528
	Pontia callidice		-	22	185	21	245
	Pyrgus armoricanus	15	13	127	103	1	259
	Subtotal (Taxon/country)	3485	836	8245	3394	368	16328
	Total (country)	15231	9584	27575	24411	6087	82888

Appendix Table A1: Complete list of the species distribution data used in this study. (Sub)total sums are separately given for each taxon and country. We included only records collected 1990 or later in the analyses. Abbreviations: AT = Austria, BAV=Bavaria, BW=Baden-Wurttemberg, CH=Switzerland, ST=South Tyrol.

Species Name	Taxon	Trait	ALLUV	ALPGR	BLFO	CFO	DRY	EXTGR	ROCK	SHRUB	WET
Aeropedellus variegatus	G	а		Х							
Alchemilla anisiaca	Р	а		Х					Х	Х	
Arcyptera fusca	G	а					Х	Х			
Aster bellidiastrum	Р	а	Х	Х					Х	Х	
Bistorta officinalis	Р	n						Х			Х
Bohemanella frigida	G	а		Х					Х		
Boloria eunomia	В	n									Х
Boloria thore	В	n			Х	Х					
Boloria titania	В	а		Х							Х
Brenthis daphne	В	n			Х						
Bryodemella tuberculatum	G	n	Х								
Cerastium uniflorum	Р	а		Х					Х		
Chorthippus pullus	G	n	Х								
Collas palaeno	В	а								Х	Х
Colias phicomone	В	а		Х							
Conocephalus dorsalis	G	n									Х
Dianthus alpinus	P	а		Х					Х	Х	
Drosera rotundifolia	P	n									Х
Erebia nivalis	В	а		Х					Х		
Euphydryas maturna	В	n			Х						
Gentiana clusii	Р -	а		Х					Х	Х	
Gentianella bohemica	P	n						Х			
Gymnadenia conopsea	Р	n		Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Isophya brevicauda	G	n					Х	Х			
Jasione montana	Р -	n					Х	Х			
Leontopodium alpinum	P	а		Х					Х	Х	
Lopinga achine	В	n			Х						
Lycaena helle	В	n									X
Maculinea teleius	В	n									Х
Melitaea asteria	В	а		X							
Metrioptera saussuriana	G	а		X							
Miramella alpina	G	а		X				X	V	V	V
Nardus stricta	P	n		X	X	X		X	X	X	Х
Nemobius sylvestris	G	n			X	Х	V		V	X	
Oedipoda germanica	G	a		V			X		X		
Deneis giacialis	В	a		X			V		X		
Parnassius apolio		a					^	v	~		
Parnassius minemosyne		n		v				^		v	v
Parnassius prioebus		a		^			V	v		~	^
Pholidoptera raliax	G	n m			v	v	^	^			
Phyleuma spicalum Dishaiwa antilata	P	n n			~	^				v	×
Piebeius Opliiele Belvaele ebemeebuvue		11 2	v			v	×		v		^
Polygala chamaebuxus		11 2	^			^	×	v	^	^	
Polysaicus denticauda	B			v			^	^	v		
		a		×					×		
Prinnula auricula		a		^			×	v	^		
Phinanthus alacialis			v	v		Y	^	× v	v	Y	
Kriinantinus glaciails		a		×		^		^	×		×
Sakinaya aizoides	Г D	a	^	~				v	~	~	×
Sibbaldia procumbana	Г D			v				~	v		~
Stauroderus scalaris	6	a		~			Y	¥	^		
Stanobothrus nigromaculatus	G	a n					Ŷ	^			
Stenobothrus rubicundulus	G	2		¥			× ×				
Stenobothrus stiamaticus	G	n		~			X	×			
Tatriv tuarki	G	n	×				Λ	Λ			
Trollius europaeus	P	n	^	×				×		X	x
Veronica fruticans	P	a		x				~	х	X	~
	•	Š		~					~	~	

Appendix Table A2: Complete Species list. Taxon abbreviations (B=Butterflies;G=Grasshoppers; P=Plants). Trait abbreviations (a=alpine; l=lowland). Habitat

abbreviations (ALLUV=Alluvions; ALPGR=Alpine Grasslands; BLFO=Broad-leaved Forest; CFO=Coniferous Forest; DRY=Dry Grasslands; EXTGR=Extensive Grasslands; ROCK=Rocklands /Scree; SHRUB=Shrublands /Dwarf Tree Stands; WET=Wet Grasslands)

Danksagung

Mein besonderer Dank gilt

Dr. Thomas Wrbka, der es mir durch die Mitarbeit in seiner Arbeitsgruppe überhaupt erst ermöglichte diese Dissertation zu bestreiten und durch seine stetige Hilfestellung und Wissensvermittlung meinen permanenten Lern- und Entwicklungsprozess im Rahmen des wissenschaftlichen Arbeitens anleitete.

Prof. Stefan Dullinger, der als neuer Leiter unserer Abteilung die Betreuung dieser Arbeit übernahm, mich ebenfalls immer bei offenen Fragen und Diskussionspunkten unterstützte und unter dessen Leitung ich während der letzten Jahre in mehreren spannenden und herausfordernden Forschungsprojekten abseits der klassischen Landschaftsökologie mitwirken durfte.

Weiters danke ich allen meinen KollegInnen der Arbeitsgruppe Landschaftsökologie für die angenehme und konstruktive Arbeitsatmosphäre, den regen wissenschaftlichen Austausch und die gegenseitige Unterstützung: Anna Schneidergruber, Christa Hainz-Renetzeder, Katharina Zmelik, Tamara Zhuber, Martin Prinz, Stefan, Schindler, Sonja Völler, Michaela Kropik, Katrin Euller, David Paternoster und Christian Lettner.

Auch bei meinen KollegInnen innerhalb der Abteilung möchte ich mich für deren Bereitschaft und Hilfeleistung bei der Diskussion und Lösung verschiedenster Herausforderungen in der täglichen Arbeit bedanken: Iwi Dullinger, Johannes Wessely, Bine Rumpf, Günther Klonner, Didi Moser, Franz Essl, Karl Hülber, Karl Reiter und Andreas Gattringer.

Abseits all der fachlichen Unterstützung möchte ich mich noch generell für das besonders gute Arbeitsklima und die Hilfsbereitschaft aller KollegInnen aufs Herzlichste bedanken.

Abseits der Kollegenschaft gilt mein Dank natürlich meiner Familie die mich immer tatkräftig auf meinem Weg begleitet und unterstützt haben, insbesondere meinen Eltern und meiner Schwester.

...und natürlich der Person die mich tagtäglich in allen Facetten unterstützt hat und ohne die diese Arbeit womöglich nicht zustande gekommen wäre – Danke Julia!

Curriculum Vitae

Personal Data					
Name	Mag.rer.nat. Michael Kuttner				
Address	University of Vienna - Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation- and				
	Landscape Ecology, Rennweg 14, 1030, Vienna, Austria				
Phone	+43/676/5500265				
E-mail	michael.kuttner@univie.ac.at				
Nationality	Austria				
Date of Birth	28.09.1982				
Gender	Male				

Education	
11 / 15	Submission of my doctoral thesis for external evaluation
06 / 15	Beginning of the course of forest-related education
03/09	Start of my doctoral thesis "Biodiversity and Landscapes – where is the missing link?"
03 / 09	Graduation with honors from diploma studies of Ecology Title of my Master Thesis: "Die Abhängigkeit der lokalen pflanzlichen Biodiversität von den großen Landnutzungssystemen in der Region Mostviertel - Eisenwurzen"
10/01-03/09	Diploma Studies of Biology with focus on Ecology at the University of Vienna
10/00 - 10/01	Civilian Service as paramedic (Samariterbund Pöchlarn)
05 / 00	Graduation from highschool (BRG Waidhofen an der Ybbs)

Working Experience	
01 /15 – 11 / 15	Employment at the Department of Botany & Biodiversity Research at the University of Vienna – Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation- and Landscape Ecology
01 / 13 – 12 / 14	Employment at the Vienna Institute For Nature Conservation & Analyses (VINCA)
01 / 10 – 06 / 13	Employment at the Department of Botany & Biodiversity Research at the University of Vienna – Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation- and Landscape Ecology
11 / 09 – 12 / 09	Feasibility study for the implementation of Important Plant Areas in Austria in the frame of the GSPC project
08 / 09 — 10 / 09	Establishment of a Metadata-catalogue and geodata management for the <i>Central Europe project</i> "TransEcoNet"
03/09-07/09	Project assistance, photo editor and authorship in the frame of the exhibition "Grünes Band Europas – Grenze, Wildnis, Zukunft"
09 / 08	Biotope and vegetation mapping in the frame of the Fugnitz river monitoring project (at the National Park Thayatal)

Teaching Experience at the University of Vienna					
10 / 09 – 02 / 10 10 / 08 – 02 / 09	Tutor in the frame of the course "UE: Anwendung geographischer Informationssysteme, Geostatistik und Raumanalyse in den Biowissenschaften"				
07/09	Tutor in the frame of the course "UE: Kenntnis mitteleuropäischer Lebensräume"				
03 /09 – 07 / 09	Tutor in the frame of the course "UE: Vegetations- und Landschaftsökologie- Monitoring in Großschutzgebieten"				

My scope of activities covered: active participation during project application; field work; data analyses; reporting; communication with stakeholders (e.g. in workshops); conference participation; scientific dissemination.

Working experience in scientific projects (overview)

AGRALE	Comparative analysis on change of landscape structure caused by agricultural abandonment and its impact on local biodiversity patterns throughout four Balkan countries. Geodata preparation; coordination.
BIOSERV	Modelling, calculation, and illustration of ecosystem services in the project region Neusiedler See. Scenario development of potential ecosystem service provision with respect to reorientation of the biosphere reserve Neusiedler See.
CCILA	Establishment of a random stratified sampling design and field survey (vegetation and biotope mapping) in the project region Mostviertel. in der Region Mostviertel; generation of sets of indicators for predictive economic farmland modelling; map creation.
HABITCHANGE	Classification and quantification of Lake Neusiedl reed beds in order to detect changes in the open lake area for the time frame of 1985 to 2008.
TRANSECONET	Spatial analyses on green infrastructure and assessment on landscape structure-based functionality in the project region Neusiedler See. Comparison of landscpape structural patterns along the green belt of Europe. Comparative study on historical ecological network structures.
SPEC-ADAPT	Establishment of a high-resolution habitat map for selected countries (AT, CH, Bavaria, Baden-Wurttemberg; South Tyrol). Supra-national network analysis on the distribution of protected areas. Scenario-building for optimized conservation planning. Climate data processing. Modelling of future species distribution patterns (till 2100)
Participation at conferences, workshops and other courses	
-----------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
04 / 15	16. Österreichischen Klimatag, Wien (Presentation)
06 / 13	5. Symposium zur Forschung in Schutzgebieten, Mittersill (Presentation)
10 / 12	Jahreskonferenz der deutschen Gesellschaft für Landschaftökologie "Klimawandel: Was tun!", Eberswalde (DE) (Presentation)
03 / 12	Final Symposium "Transnational Ecological Networks in Central Europe – History, Status Quo and Potentials", Dresden (DE) (Presentation)
11/11	Expert Workshop "Sevillakonforme Neuzonierungsoptionen des Biosphärenparks Neusiedler See anhand potentieller Ökosystemdienstleistungsszenarien" (Co-organization, participation)
11/11	Symposiun "Landschaftsleistungen und ökologische Netzwerke", Illmitz
10/11	Jahreskonferenz der deutschen Gesellschaft für Landschaftökologie "MMM – Modelle, Monitoring und andere quantitative Methoden in der Landschaftsökologie", Berlin (DE) (Presentation)
11 / 10	ALTER-Net conference "Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity – What is the link between the two?", Vienna (Poster presentation)
09 / 10	European Conference on Landscape Ecology (IALE Europe) "Landscape structures, functions and management: response to global ecological change", Brünn (CZ) (Presentation)
04 / 10	"Workshop on Landscape History", Sopron (HU) (Participation)
02 / 10	2. Jahrestagung der Plattform Biodiversität Forschung Austria (BDFA)", Gumpenstein (Co-organization, participation)
11/09	Extended workshop "GIS & Remote Sensing Applications for Environmental Sciences", Coimbra (PRT) (Participation)
07/09	European Conference on Landscape Ecology (IALE Europe) "European Landscapes in Transformation: Challenges for Landscape Ecology and Management", Salzburg (Participation)

Selected publications in scientific journals Kuttner, M., Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Hermann, A., Wrbka, T. Borders without barriers - Structural functionality and green infrastructure in the Austrian -Hungarian transboundary border region of Lake Neusiedl. Ecological Indicators 31: 59-72.(2013) Hermann, A., Kuttner, M., Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Konkoly-Gyuró, E., Tirászi, A., Brandenburg, C., Allex, B., Ziener, K., Wrbka, T.: Assessment framework for landscape services in European cultural landscapes – an Austrian Hungarian case study. Ecological Indicators 37: 229-240. (2014) Kutniak, D., Kuttner, M., Niketic, M., Dullinger, S., Schönswetter, P., Fraiman, B. Escaping to the summits: Phylogeography and predicted range dynamics of Cerastium dinaricum, an endangered high mountain plant endemic to the western Balkan Peninsula. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 78: 365-374. (2014) Kuttner, M., Schneidergruber, A., Wrbka, T. Do landscape patterns reflect ecosystem service provision? - A comparison between protected and unprotected areas throughout the Lake Neusiedl region. *EcoMont* 6/2: 13-20. (2014) Hainz-Renetzeder, C., Schneidergruber, A., Kuttner, M., Wrbka, T. Assessing the potential supply of landscape services to support ecological restoration of degraded landscapes: A case study in the Austrian-Hungarian trans-boundary region of Lake Neusiedl. Ecological Modelling 295: 196-206 (2015) Kuttner, M., Essl, F., Peterseil, J., Dullinger, S., Rabitsch, W., Schindler, S., Hülber, K., Gattringer, A., Moser, D. A new high-resolution habitat distribution map for Austria, Liechtenstein, southern Germany, South Tyrol and Switzerland. EcoMont 7/2: 18-29. (2015) Valenta, V., Moser, D., Kuttner, M., Peterseil, J., Essl, F. A High-Resolution Map of Emerald Ash Borer Invasion Risk for Southern Central Europe. Forests 6: 3075-3086. (2015) Schönhart, M., Schauppenlehner, T., Kuttner, M., Kirchner, M., Schmid, E. Climate change impacts on farm profits, landscape appearance, and the environment: policy scenario results from integrated field-farm-landscape modeling in Austria. Submitted to Agricultural Systems, currently under review (July, 2015) Dullinger, I., Wessely, J., Bossdorf, O., Dawson, W., Essl, F., Gattringer, A., Klonner, G., Kreft, H., Kuttner, M., Moder, D., Pergl, J., Pyšek, P., Thuiller, W., van Kleunen, M., Weigelt, P., Winter, M., Dullinger, S. 2015. Ornamental plants as a pool of future invaders in Europe under climate change. Submitted to Global Change Biology, currently under review (September, 2015) Kuttner, M., Hülber, K., Dullinger, S., Moser, D., Rabitsch, W., Schindler, S., Wessely, J., Gattringer, A., Essl, F. Habitat availability disproportionally amplifies climate change risks for lowland compared to alpine species. In preparation to be submitted to *Ecography* in November 2015